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          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES COMMITTEES

          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: This meeting of

          3  the General Welfare Committee is called to order. I

          4  apologize to everyone for the delay in getting

          5  started this morning, but the Captain tells me we'll

          6  have a good head wind and we'll make up time in

          7  flight.

          8                 I want to thank all the folks who

          9  have helped to make this hearing possible, not only

         10  the HRA part, but the other agencies we'll be

         11  looking at going forward, most especially Peter

         12  Bruno of the Finance Division, who has done great

         13  work on this as always and my wonderful Counsel

         14  Jackie Sherman. I thank them both.

         15                 I also want to welcome two new

         16  members of the General Welfare staff team Freya Reel

         17  (phonetic), who is our new Policy Analyst, and

         18  Christina Stathis (phonetic), who is working on

         19  capital budget issues. So, we welcome them, and are

         20  very happy to have them working with us and thank

         21  them for the work in preparing this hearing.

         22                 And now, with no further ado, the

         23  always interesting, always informative, Commissioner

         24  Verna Eggleston.

         25                 We welcome you. Wasn't that a nice
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          2  lead-in. I was worried about the word "interesting"

          3  because it's often vague and meaningless, but I

          4  guess that's about --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: You know, I

          6  started out on a positive note, and once again, the

          7  jousting has begun. Are you calling this Council

          8  vague and meaningless?

          9                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: No. I find

         10  that people use the word interesting when they lack

         11  really good things to say. I would never accuse you

         12  of that.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Delightful. I

         14  should have said delightful.

         15                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: But I'm glad

         16  to be here.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: We welcome your

         18  testimony.

         19                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: I need to

         20  apologize first, to start by apologizing, a page in

         21  the testimony is being corrected. There's a little

         22  mix-up with a number, and so somebody just popped

         23  the page out, but I'm going to go ahead and read the

         24  others. So, the portion that I will leave out until

         25  that page is corrected is the number of HIV beds,
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          2  AIDS' beds coming on line, if that's okay? Thank you

          3  very much.

          4                 So, good morning, Chair, and members

          5  of the General Welfare Committee. Since I last

          6  testified before this Committee, the long-awaited

          7  federal legislation reauthorizing the Temporary

          8  Assistance for Needy Families, TANF as we all know

          9  it, Program, has finally been enacted. And we waited

         10  a long time for that.

         11                 In February, President Bush signed

         12  the legislation reauthorizing the TANF program. As

         13  many of you know, the Congressional Reauthorization

         14  Debate has been a long process. This Administration

         15  throughout the process continue its advocacy for

         16  provisions that would best serve our clients in

         17  moving towards self-sufficiency.

         18                 The enacted legislation fully funds

         19  the TANF block grant through 2010, and continues the

         20  50 percent federal work participation rate for TANF

         21  families, which New York City fought to maintain,

         22  and I want to thank you for all of the work that

         23  you've done and the members for helping us do that.

         24                 Early on in our testimonies before

         25  Council, I expressed a great deal of concern about
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          2  us going to 70 percent. Earlier proposals approved

          3  in both the House of Representatives and the Senate

          4  would have raised the required participation rate to

          5  70 percent. Although the participation rate remains

          6  50 percent, the new law greatly reduces the credit

          7  toward the participation rate that states have

          8  received for declines in their public assistance

          9  caseload.

         10                 This change eliminates the credit for

         11  all past caseload reductions, preserving only a

         12  credit for current and future caseload reductions.

         13                 On October 1st, the City and State

         14  faced a challenge of meeting a true 50 percent

         15  participation rate without the assistance of a

         16  substantial offset in credit.

         17                 The new law also requires families

         18  who have exhausted their 60-month time limit on TANF

         19  and have converted to New York State Safetynet

         20  Assistance Program to be included in the federal

         21  work participation rate. From the start of this

         22  Administration, we have implemented programs,

         23  drafted legislation and provided services to

         24  actively engage those clients to participate in

         25  activities that would lead them toward
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          2  self-sufficiency.

          3                 Currently, 405,328 people are

          4  receiving public assistance in New York City, down

          5  from 462,595 in the beginning of this

          6  Administration.

          7                 Of these, 186,243 people are

          8  receiving TANF benefits, and 106,430 are receiving

          9  SafetyNet assistance after having exhausted their

         10  60-month TANF time limit.

         11                 The remainder are households without

         12  children, who were never part of the TANF program.

         13  As people have moved into employment, and the TANF

         14  assistance caseload has dramatically decreased,

         15  those remaining have become more challenging to

         16  serve.

         17                 In its TANF advocacy, New York City

         18  sought to maximize flexibility in the definition of

         19  allowable work activities, to include vocational,

         20  educational and rehabilitation activities.

         21                 This crucial element of TANF

         22  administration will be resolved through regulations

         23  to be issued by the Federal Department of Health and

         24  Human Services, HHS, by June 30th.

         25                 These regulations will determine
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          2  whether clients who are engaged in barrier-removal

          3  activities, such as substance abuse treatment,

          4  wellness activities, those with physical or mental

          5  health problems, will be counted as meeting their

          6  federal work participation requirement.

          7                 The regulations will also govern the

          8  definition of all work activities, as well as the

          9  monitoring and verification of client participation.

         10                 This Administration is continuing to

         11  advocate on these issues, despite HHS decision to

         12  solicit no formal comments prior to the issuance of

         13  interim regulations.

         14                 Reauthorization law retains the

         15  original TANF sanctions for states, states that fail

         16  to satisfy the work participation rate requirements

         17  are sanctioned by a five percent reduction of their

         18  TANF block grant for their first failure.

         19                 And the penalty increases by two

         20  percent each year until corrective action is

         21  accepted and compliance is achieved.

         22                 New York State can lose $237 million

         23  for failure to meet the 50 percent participation

         24  rate for the next federal fiscal year.

         25                 State law provides that the sanctions
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          2  are passed through the localities responsible for

          3  the State's failure to meet that required rate.

          4                 With two-thirds of the State's

          5  caseload, New York City could bear a large share of

          6  the penalty, if we fail to achieve that rate.

          7                 In addition to HRA, the Department of

          8  Homeless Services, the Administration for Children's

          9  Services, the Department of Youth and Community

         10  Development, the Department for the Aging, the

         11  Department of Education, the City University of New

         12  York, the Department of Housing, Preservation and

         13  Development, the Police Department, the Department

         14  of Health and Mental Hygiene, the Department of

         15  Parks and Recreation, the Department of Sanitation,

         16  and the Department of Citywide Administrative

         17  Services all utilize TANF funds through

         18  intergovernmental transfers.

         19                 All of these agencies must now work

         20  together toward achieving the participation rate

         21  goal.

         22                 In January, the Mayor testified

         23  before the New York State Legislature regarding the

         24  Governor's 2006/2007 budget and focused on this

         25  challenge in his testimony.
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          2                 The City and other localities in the

          3  State have met workforce participation requirements

          4  based on credits for reducing caseload since 1995.

          5                 This credit is about to be eliminated

          6  from the law. The result will be that in the future

          7  if TANF clients don't meet workforce participation

          8  requirements, we at the local level may well face

          9  stiff new State and federal penalties paid for from

         10  the TANF surplus.

         11                 To avoid these penalties, and to

         12  achieve what we all want, getting more people to

         13  work, we need the State's help.

         14                 Currently our participation rates for

         15  families who are on TANF or who have moved to

         16  SafetyNet is 40 percent.

         17                 I set a goal of achieving 60 percent

         18  rate, as a part of our longstanding effort to help

         19  our clients move on the path to self-sufficiency.

         20                 This will be a challenge, given the

         21  composition of our caseload.

         22                 As of January 2006, 58.1 percent of

         23  our public assistant cases were temporarily or

         24  permanently unengageable under federal, State or

         25  local public assistance rules.
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          2                 Twenty-nine percent of these were

          3  child-only cases, and are exempt by federal law.

          4  17.7 percent were HASA cases and are exempt by State

          5  law. 9.2 percent were more than 60 years old and

          6  also exempt by State law. 5 percent were on SSI, or

          7  applying, or appealing for SSI, and the remainder

          8  have children less than three months of age or are

          9  temporarily incapacitated or exempt.

         10                 HRA has placed a stronger emphasis on

         11  reaching out to clients who are not in compliance

         12  with program requirements and who have had their

         13  cash benefits reduced by a pro rata sanction as a

         14  result.

         15                 In May 2, '05, as a part of our

         16  effort to help these clients reconnect to employment

         17  activities, HRA opened the Intensive Services Center

         18  as the Citywide site for public assistance clients

         19  who need more intensive assistance.

         20                 Clients referred to the center are

         21  those who have been in sanction status, and

         22  consequently have been receiving a reduced benefit

         23  for more than 60 days, nearly 10,000 cases have been

         24  served at the Center.

         25                 The Intensive Service Center has a
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          2  strong emphasis on employment, and provides job

          3  counseling service at the first point of contact

          4  with the client.

          5                 For Calendar Year 2005, the Center

          6  achieved over 1,700 job placements. During the

          7  eligibility recertification process, and at other

          8  points of contact, workers discussed sanction issues

          9  with clients and explained the process that led to

         10  their reduced benefit.

         11                 Child care and other support services

         12  are also available for those who need them in order

         13  to work. Clients who are unable to work are

         14  connected to other appropriate services. If clients

         15  agree to participate, they are referred to on-site

         16  employment services and their benefits are restored

         17  when they comply.

         18                 HRA's Wellness Comprehensive

         19  Assessment Rehabilitation and Employment, WE CARE

         20  Program, has been in operation since February 2005.

         21                 Helping clients with medical and/or

         22  mental health barriers to employment reach their

         23  highest attainable level of health and

         24  self-sufficiency. Through March 13th, 1,087 WE CARE

         25  clients have attained employment and 229 have
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          2  received federal disability benefits.

          3                 By the same day, job center staff had

          4  made 68,608 referrals for biopsychosocial

          5  assessments.

          6                 Of those who completed all phases of

          7  the assessment process, 45 percent were found to be

          8  employable with limitations and referred for

          9  vocational rehabilitation services.

         10                 39.1 percent were found to be

         11  temporarily unemployable due to unstable medical

         12  and/or mental health conditions and were referred

         13  for wellness plans. 10.1 percent were found to be

         14  fully employable and were referred back to their job

         15  center to be engaged in activities from the

         16  traditional menu of employment and training

         17  programs, and 5.8 percent were determined to be

         18  unemployable for 12 or more months were referred to

         19  assistance in applying for federal disability

         20  benefits.

         21                 The extent to which these activities

         22  count toward the TANF participation rate will be

         23  determined by pending HHS regulations.

         24                 Currently nearly 1,100,000 New

         25  Yorkers are receiving federal Food Stamp benefits,
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          2  an increase of more than 37 percent since January

          3  2002.

          4                 We've increased the number of people

          5  receiving Food Stamps independent of cash assistance

          6  or supplemental security income by more than 110

          7  percent since the beginning of the Administration.

          8                 The Administration has made

          9  substantial efforts to maximize participation of

         10  Food Stamps Program and we are continuing those

         11  efforts.

         12                 The United States Department of

         13  Agriculture, which administers the federal Food

         14  Stamp Program, has estimated that New York City's

         15  Food Stamp participation rate is 66 percent of those

         16  eligible.

         17                 HRA's estimate of the City's Food

         18  Stamp participation rate, based upon income, assets

         19  and other eligibility criteria is 74 percent. But

         20  we're not satisfied with that level of

         21  participation. We want to identify and reach the 26

         22  percent who are still not enrolled. Therefore, in

         23  January, I issued an Agency Executive Order creating

         24  an internal task force on Food and Nutrition

         25  Programs in an effort to proactively examine the
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          2  delivery of nutrition program services to address

          3  hunger needs in New York.

          4                 Preliminary recommendations include:

          5                 - developing performance-based

          6  contracts for media and Food Stamp outreach.

          7                 - developing a Food Stamp

          8  Documentation Guide to improve applicants' ability

          9  to provide required documentation.

         10                 - advocating for the State to extend

         11  the enrollment period for New York State Nutritional

         12  Improvement Program, NYSNIP benefits.

         13                 - targeting outreach to Medicaid only

         14  customers not receiving Food Stamps.

         15                 - advocating to raise the minimum

         16  monthly Food Stamp benefit from $10 to 25.

         17                 The product of this task force will

         18  be the ground work for future Citywide food and

         19  nutrition summit.

         20                 Since we last reported, HASA has

         21  reduced the number of clients living in commercial

         22  SRO hotels. From a peak of 2,171 clients in

         23  September 2003 to 880 clients today. Less than 1,000

         24  for the first time in 15 years.

         25                 Additionally, we have reduced the
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          2  number of commercial SROs in our emergency housing

          3  portfolio by 37 percent, from a high of 72

          4  facilities five years ago to 45 facilities today.

          5                 Mayor Bloomberg has committed funding

          6  for new HASA units over the next three years. This

          7  commitment increases congregate housing by 688 units

          8  and scattered site housing by 227 units.

          9                 Additionally, the New York New York

         10  III agreement provides 9,000 beds for the mentally

         11  ill, 1,000 of which will be used for New Yorkers

         12  with AIDS and HIV. I am delighted to report that the

         13  January Financial Plan reverses the HOPWA Swap.

         14                 Housing Opportunities for people With

         15  AIDS, HOPWA, funds will now be utilized for housing

         16  support and to increase the number of available HASA

         17  Housing Units.

         18                 City tax levy funds will be used to

         19  maintain HASA's case management staff in compliance

         20  with Local Law 49.

         21                 As of January 2006, more than 2.6

         22  million New Yorkers are enrolled in public health

         23  insurance, an increase of more than 900,000 people

         24  since the beginning of the Administration.

         25                 Of these individuals, 1,807,056 are
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          2  enrolled in Medicaid independent of cash assistance

          3  or supplemental security income, representing an

          4  increase of nearly 1 million people since January

          5  2002.

          6                 HRA Medical Insurance and Community

          7  Services Administration, MICSA, has completed the

          8  development and construction of Medicaid model

          9  offices in all public hospitals, and several private

         10  hospitals, supporting these enrollment increases.

         11                 We've been successful increasing the

         12  proportion of Medicaid recipients who retain their

         13  coverage through successful recertification -- I'll

         14  wait until she briefs her and brings her on board.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Please

         16  continue.

         17                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Oh, okay.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: It's part of

         19  the Committee process.

         20                 Go ahead.

         21                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: As you know,

         22  when the face-to-face interview requirement for

         23  Medicaid recertification was removed in 2002, HRA

         24  moved quickly to simplify the recertification

         25  process for our clients and launched our male
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          2  renewal program.

          3                 On an average, 83,500 renewal

          4  packages are mailed to clients per month.

          5                 The implementation of the male

          6  renewal process has greatly increased the response

          7  rate resulting in greater continuity of health care

          8  and reduced administrative burden for our clients.

          9                 In January 2005, MICSA began the

         10  implementation of the Eligibility Data Imaging

         11  Transfer System, EDITS, an on-line application

         12  system that allows third parties, such as

         13  facilitated enrollers, entities participating in the

         14  Prenatal Care Assistance Program, PCAP, hospitals

         15  and nursing homes to submit electronic health

         16  insurance applications to HRA.

         17                 The implementation of this system

         18  significantly increases the efficiency of both

         19  submitters and HRA staff, and minimizes time frames

         20  for the application process and eligibility

         21  determination.

         22                 MICSA completed the implementation of

         23  EDITS and the PCAP program by the end of the 2005,

         24  as scheduled.

         25                 We're also working on an on-line
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          2  application system for Food Stamps, made possible

          3  through the United States Department of Agriculture

          4  Participation Grant that was awarded last year to

          5  HRA and its partners in this project, Food Change

          6  and the New York City Coalition Against Hunger.

          7                 My staff and I welcome your

          8  questions. Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you,

         10  Commissioner.

         11                 Well, I want to start with praise.

         12  I'll just go a little bit in chronological order

         13  here.

         14                 I appreciate very much your blunt

         15  analysis of the challenges we face as a result of

         16  the pending regulations on TANF. I want to ask you a

         17  number of questions on that in a moment. I

         18  appreciate that I don't think you've minced words

         19  here about the challenges we face.

         20                 I also want to particularly praise

         21  you and your team for the progress on Food Stamps.

         22  It's an extraordinary number, and I'm very, very

         23  happy that we're going forward with the Summit, and

         24  I think these are very, very important steps, and I

         25  want to just tell you, I think this has been one of
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          2  the great successes that you and your team have

          3  experienced and certainly your entire

          4  Administration. And we were very happy to have

          5  worked with you on that.

          6                 And then, obviously, on the HASA, the

          7  progress we're making on the new units and New York

          8  New York III. But I also, especially as a former HUD

          9  official, want to say that reversing the HOPWA Swap

         10  is a historic action. I want to tell you how much I

         11  appreciate that. That's something that's been of

         12  deep concern to so many people for a number of

         13  years, and I think that adds to the long-term

         14  prospects of actually addressing this housing issue

         15  much more consistently. So, I thank you for that,

         16  and obviously on the public health insurance as

         17  well, tremendous numbers.

         18                 Let me go through, I think I'll just

         19  start, and I know my colleagues have questions as

         20  well, but let me take a few, or give you a few

         21  questions basically in order of your testimony.

         22                 On TANF, let me get straight what

         23  exactly it means. I think you've given us some

         24  numbers here in terms of the potential dangers we

         25  face.
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          2                 Your point is that New York State as

          3  a whole could lose 237 million for failure to meet

          4  the 50 percent rate, and the lion's share of that

          5  would fall on New York City directly. So that would

          6  be a direct penalty on New York City; is that

          7  correct?

          8                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: The lion's

          9  share would fall on the locality that is the reason

         10  for the State's number coming down.

         11                 So, if we are the ones with the

         12  lowest participation rate, versus any other

         13  locality, we shared the larger part of that

         14  sanction, yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, you're

         16  talking a potential 100-million, 200-million dollar

         17  negative impact per year?

         18                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Yes, sir.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

         20                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: With five

         21  percent initially for the first violation, then

         22  there's approved, and I try to emphasize the word

         23  approved corrective action, so an opportunity to set

         24  forth the plan to improve what you've done, and if

         25  not improve, then an additional two percent, if not

                                                            24

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES COMMITTEES

          2  yet improved an additional two percent until

          3  corrected. So, upping the ante until you come to

          4  full compliance of the 50 percent engagement.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

          6                 And, again, I'm going to ask some

          7  questions, because I need clarification. I'm sure a

          8  lot of my colleagues and folks in the audience would

          9  appreciate this, too. Let me first understand,

         10  you've made very clear that with every passing month

         11  your job gets harder in effect, because as people

         12  more able to be self-sufficient go off the rolls,

         13  you're dealing with a population of folks with more

         14  and more challenges proportionately. So, right now,

         15  under the current rules, what do you count your

         16  participation rate at? Just again, this may be in

         17  here, but I just want to get it crystal clear.

         18                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Right now

         19  it's counted at 40 percent.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Forty percent.

         21                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Yes, sir.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

         23                 But because of the other

         24  considerations in the current approach, you have

         25  been able to not have a penalty.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: That's

          3  correct.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay, just a

          5  couple of examples of that so we're all clear.

          6                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: That's

          7  exactly right.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Just give me a

          9  few examples of why at 40 percent you've been

         10  allowed to not get a penalty with a 50 percent

         11  official necessary rate?

         12                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Caseload

         13  reduction.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

         15                 So, now we go to the new standard,

         16  and we're waiting on regulations that will come out

         17  by June 30th.

         18                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: That's

         19  correct.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I think it's

         21  fair to say, at least from everything I've seen,

         22  that these are going to be more stringent, or if you

         23  want to editorialize, harsher regulations; would you

         24  agree with that statement?

         25                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: I would
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          2  agree. I think one of the reasons why we have

          3  invested a larger proportion of our block grant in

          4  our initiative WE CARE, is because we were hoping

          5  along the way that we could come up with, when we

          6  got to this point meaningful data that showed here

          7  are a group of people who are chronically and

          8  consistently ill.

          9                 Out of this group of people, X amount

         10  with medical assistance and support will be able to

         11  do something, X amount will never be employable, and

         12  there are some who presented data that's not in fact

         13  true, but what we do know, at the onset of them

         14  coming into our center, we didn't do the back and

         15  forth you are and you can. We agreed. Okay, you say

         16  you're sick? We're going to get you to a doctor

         17  immediately and we're going to do a complete medical

         18  workup on you, for all kinds of reasons. First, and

         19  most importantly, in our population, the consistency

         20  of care results in a lot of things. It results in

         21  the management of your family, and really moving on

         22  with your life. So, as opposed to taking an approach

         23  of having a client run through a cycle and prove to

         24  us that they were in fact sick, we took it and we

         25  said you are and we're going to take care of you.
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          2                 We were hoping that in this

          3  legislation, we did a lot of advocacy and a lot of

          4  work and we joined all of our partners throughout

          5  the course of this TANF debate to show them that

          6  there are a true group, that every client that comes

          7  through our doors are not gaming the system. And it

          8  could be less cost effective to government and

          9  entities trying to serve these folks if we don't

         10  take care of their medical needs immediately.

         11                 And a person with angina comes in,

         12  angina, no, we know it's not going to be approved in

         13  any disability hearing as being a disability that

         14  keeps you from working. But untreated angina for a

         15  long period of time can result in a customer needing

         16  open-heart surgery, with a family that we now have

         17  to take care of that customer and their family. So

         18  this has been our approach.

         19                 So I think WE CARE is really

         20  important to us, and we're hoping that Health and

         21  Human Services, we met with them and showed them our

         22  WE CARE model and showed them our current data and

         23  showed them facts and showed them the types of

         24  illnesses that our customers face, and hope that

         25  they would adopt it and showed them the cost
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          2  effectiveness of our program versus the cost that we

          3  expended previous to that, proving that people could

          4  work a $4.25 an hour job.

          5                 So, that's where we are in this

          6  process, and we're going to continue to push for

          7  that.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: As you know, we

          9  all believe very strongly in preventative

         10  approaches, and I appreciate that, you know, you've

         11  not only undertaken them, but tried to convince the

         12  federal government to understand why it's more

         13  humane and more cost effective. But am I right in

         14  understanding that literally we don't know whether

         15  HHS will agree with that model? We don't know

         16  whether they'll include children in your calendar?

         17                 I mean, give us a flavor of some of

         18  the issues still open here that could affect whether

         19  you can reach the 50 percent level or not.

         20                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Well, I can

         21  -- see, I'm much more optimistic.  As you can see

         22  in my testimony, I said that through Executive Order

         23  I charge my staff with the responsibility of 60

         24  percent.

         25                 I can have my Chief of Staff, who has
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          2  been walking through the TANF legislation, share

          3  with you some of the conversations that he had in

          4  Washington, D.C. But I can tell you that Health and

          5  Human Services has already taken on a consultant to

          6  outline specifically what disability is going to

          7  look like. And, so, you would be right to say that

          8  we're basically in a wait mode to see what that is

          9  going to look like. It's not going to stop us from

         10  introducing our data and our facts. But if I can,

         11  David Hansel can join you?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Please.

         13                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Join me, and

         14  tell you what those conversations were --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: But again, I

         16  want to hone it. What I'm saying is, for example,

         17  you say currently 29 percent of your cases are child

         18  only.

         19                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Right.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And exempt by

         21  federal law.

         22                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Right.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Let me ask a

         24  very specific question. Is it possible these new

         25  regulations will change that exemption? Is it

                                                            30

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES COMMITTEES

          2  conceivable?

          3                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Go ahead.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Just introduce

          5  yourself, David.

          6                 MR. HANSEL: David Hansel, HRA Chief

          7  of Staff.

          8                 The new TANF legislation directs HHS

          9  to do four specific things in the regulations that

         10  will be coming out by June 30th.

         11                 HHS is directed to adopt definitions

         12  for all of the work activities under TANF. It's

         13  directed to establish procedures for verifying

         14  client participation in those activities, for

         15  agencies to monitor client participation, and then

         16  fourth, which I think is what you're referring to,

         17  is to determine the extent to which child only

         18  cases, where there is an adult in the household, but

         19  maybe not part of the case, because the child only

         20  case should be subject to work activities.

         21                 So, those are the four specific areas

         22  that Congress HHS to issue regulations in.

         23                 We, as the Commissioner said, when we

         24  met with officials at HHS last week, we urged them

         25  to adopt the broadest possible definition of the
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          2  work activities so that all of the different WE CARE

          3  service components would be allowable within the

          4  definition of one of the proscribed activities under

          5  TANF, and we also made the case that because of the

          6  way New York State and New York City addressed child

          7  only cases, we did think that we were the kind of

          8  state that Congress was concerned about child only

          9  cases and interested in the possibility of having

         10  adults in those cases being involved in work

         11  activities. That seemed to be addressed to states

         12  that handle child only cases differently.

         13                 But as the Commissioner said, HHS's

         14  position is that they are not accepting any formal

         15  comments on the regulations, and they're not giving

         16  any feedback, so while they were willing to listen

         17  to us and what we had to say, we did not get any

         18  response so we have really no indication of which

         19  way they're going to go in the regulations

         20  themselves.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, I will

         22  say to you that's a troubling dynamic when they're

         23  not inviting formal comment by the people affected.

         24  But just so everyone is clear here, that you could

         25  get regulations that change how you count child only
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          2  cases, which would have a huge negative impact on

          3  your ability to reach 50 percent.

          4                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Absolutely.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: You could have

          6  substance abuse and other wellness activities no

          7  longer accountable.

          8                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Absolutely.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I mean no

         10  longer exempt, I should say.

         11                 So, you have a situation here where

         12  you're at 40 percent now, and you get caseload

         13  reduction credit, so you get across the line, but

         14  the new regulations could take away a lot of the

         15  things you've been depending on. You don't get the

         16  caseload reduction credit any more, right? Am I

         17  right on that?

         18                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Mm-hmm.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: You could lose

         20  categories of exemption that are huge, especially

         21  the child only, and you're dealing with a more

         22  difficult population than ever before because you've

         23  had success at moving some people off the rollss.

         24                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: That's

         25  correct.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

          3                 So, now I'm going to ask a question

          4  which is meant to be a straightforward how we get

          5  things done question.

          6                 I believe, and I've been extremely

          7  impressed by the Mayor's positive impact on the

          8  State budget process around education issues lately.

          9  I understand the Mayor met with Secretary Levitt of

         10  HHS when he was in Washington a few weeks ago. It

         11  was reported in the papers at least.

         12                 Do you know if there has been any

         13  direct appeal, if you will, by the Mayor to

         14  Secretary Levitt to understand the huge impact that

         15  such changes would have on our City?

         16                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: David.

         17                 MR. HANSEL: We'll have to get back.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. May I

         19  urge, I think it is crucial, because, again, as the

         20  Mayor of the largest City in the Country, I think

         21  his voice is, you know, bigger than all of ours

         22  combined and it is crucial that he personally appeal

         23  to the Secretary and other leading elements of the

         24  Administration to make clear to them that if they

         25  change these regulations inappropriately, we lose
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          2  from the beginning. There's no way you can meet 50

          3  percent if you lose the child-only exemption.

          4                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: That's

          5  exactly right.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: That's not an

          7  overstatement, right?

          8                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: That's

          9  exactly right.

         10                 I think that, you know, the Mayor's

         11  advocacy has not stopped throughout the course of

         12  this Administration.

         13                 However, we put the larger proportion

         14  of our advocacy on a past climate, working to make

         15  sure we didn't go to 70 percent.

         16                 I don't think that with this new

         17  information that the Mayor will stop or slow down. I

         18  think that what we've done in this Administration is

         19  prepare for all.

         20                 The Mayor in his State of the City

         21  Address talked about a complete commitment Back to

         22  Work Program, where HRA will work cross-city, and

         23  all the City engaged in making sure that people

         24  reach their maximum levels of self-sufficiency.

         25                 I think that a plan is holistic. I

                                                            35

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES COMMITTEES

          2  don't think it just lives with us. I think that's

          3  why I mentioned the other agencies. There are other

          4  agencies that utilize TANF dollars as well. So, I

          5  think it's a broader issue than we can ever imagine,

          6  and that's why I want it to be explicit in the

          7  definition. It's a big concern.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: But to be

          9  clear, you could have gotten the 70 percent rate,

         10  but if the exemptions were appropriate, you at least

         11  have an opportunity to try and meet it. If you have

         12  a 50 percent rate and the exemptions are wrong,

         13  you're kind of dead from the beginning in terms of

         14  trying to meet that rate.

         15                 I mean, I'm just theorizing.

         16                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Yes, I don't

         17  know.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Let me say it

         19  better. The point is, the victory on the rate, the

         20  victory on the rate was very important.

         21                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And you deserve

         23  great credit. But unfortunately, you could have won

         24  the battle and lost the war if the regulations turn

         25  around, and make it impossible for us to do this
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          2  work.

          3                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: That's

          4  exactly right.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And then you're

          6  hit 100-, 200-million each ad infinitum.

          7                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: That's

          8  exactly right.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

         10                 The Mayor obviously went to Albany on

         11  this as well, and you pointed it out in the

         12  testimony, I mean the State budget is days away

         13  potentially, what do you think the prospects are of

         14  State relief, since it's special we don't know what

         15  the regulations will be, you know, before the State

         16  budget is passed, is there any effort on the way for

         17  the State to somehow provide some relief in

         18  anticipation of the difficulties we may have here?

         19                 MR. HANSEL: It's always very

         20  difficult to predict what's going to happen at the

         21  end of the budget process, but the Mayor and the

         22  City are certainly advocating for both an increase

         23  in overall TANF funding. The Governor again has

         24  proposed flexible fund for family services,

         25  essentially a block grant for TANF and other
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          2  services, and the City and the Mayor spoke directly

          3  to this when he testified, that if that's going to

          4  happen, the overall pool of funding needs to

          5  increase and New York City's share of that funding

          6  needs to increase, because the share we received

          7  last year was not proportional to our share of the

          8  Statewide TANF caseload.

          9                 So, we're certainly advocating for

         10  that. And we're also advocating for State relief to

         11  make it easier for us now that the base for the TANF

         12  participation rate has been broadened to include

         13  some of the SafetyNet population for State relief to

         14  allow us to focus on the proportion of that

         15  population that's participating in activities and

         16  will assist us in meeting the participation rate.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, if I

         18  understand, I agree with you entirely, and this

         19  should all be about fair share, just like it should

         20  be on education or any other topic. So, if I

         21  understand, the original proposal in the Governor's

         22  budget was the City would get 58 percent of the

         23  flexible fund, whereas, our percentage of the State

         24  public assistance caseload is 68 percent. So, ten

         25  percent, we're off by ten percent at a jump.
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          2                 In the discussions that the Mayor and

          3  your team have had in Albany, has there been any

          4  movement on the Governor's side, the Assembly, the

          5  Senate, to try and rectify that issue that you can

          6  report at this moment? Again, I understand the

          7  budget is some days away, but at this moment, has

          8  anyone moved their position formally to say it needs

          9  to be the 68 percent?

         10                 MR. HANSEL: Discussions in Albany are

         11  ongoing, as you know, but we're not aware that

         12  anybody has specifically formally changed their

         13  position, no.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: If I'm doing my

         15  math correctly, this ten percent difference of over

         16  a one-billion dollar flexible fund statewide means

         17  over 100 million that we could be losing.

         18                 MR. HANSEL: That's right.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, you know,

         20  this is a budget hearing and we're totalling up some

         21  very impressive totals here. You could lose 200

         22  million on a penalty from HHS, you could lose 100

         23  million if this flexible fund block grant is not

         24  handled properly.

         25                 So, you're saying, just to clarify,
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          2  State Senate, Assembly, Governor, no one has said

          3  point blank, it must be 68 percent?

          4                 MR. HANSEL: That's correct.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

          6                 Again, is the Mayor -- this is not a

          7  gotcha question. This is a we're all doing

          8  government together question. Is the Mayor

          9  personally lobbying the Governor, the Majority

         10  Leader and the Assembly Speaker to try and rectify

         11  this issue?

         12                 MR. HANSEL: Absolutely. And that's

         13  why we wanted to quote from his testimony in Albany,

         14  and our testimony today, to make that point.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

         16                 Now, just a couple of quick things,

         17  and then I know my colleagues have a number of

         18  questions.

         19                 Just take you back one step on the

         20  participation rate. Imagine you get a fairly

         21  generous package of exemptions. It's kind of hard to

         22  believe you're going to have all the exemptions you

         23  have now. It's just editorializing again. I mean,

         24  there's been a change over time in the federal

         25  government, and it's kind of hard to believe that
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          2  everything you're doing now will be treated with the

          3  same understanding as it might have been in the

          4  past, despite your good effort to show your models.

          5  So, as we said before, as you said, your caseload

          6  gets harder and harder.

          7                 Your goal is 60 percent, they're

          8  going to require 50 percent, you're currently at 40

          9  percent. Just give us a little more. And WE CARE is

         10  wonderful but the numbers, although, you know,

         11  extremely important in human terms, are not huge

         12  numbers in terms of your overall need to achieve the

         13  50 percent.

         14                 So, can you just give a little more

         15  understanding of how faced with likely a tougher set

         16  of regulations you would get to 50 percent?

         17                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: I think the

         18  first approach was the same way I said that it has

         19  to become a Citywide effort. I think it's very

         20  important that it becomes a Citywide effort.

         21                 I think that for us to fund other

         22  entities to do TANF work, but there not be a

         23  commitment that every entity that has TANF funds has

         24  to get the client to the end result. I think that

         25  kind of keeps us in that same place.
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          2                 We had talked about, the Mayor had

          3  talked about integrated service models for awhile,

          4  and has insisted that we all work from those models.

          5                 I think a very concrete example, if

          6  someone's self-sufficiency is dependent on their

          7  kid, let's say, for instance, being recreated, or

          8  receiving good recreational services, and they can't

          9  stay in compliance with their job placement because

         10  the after school programming or the recreation is

         11  not in place, and that's not there, and so that

         12  mother has to leave the job and go and make other

         13  means, we'll never get her, if you will,

         14  self-sufficient, if those other elements are not in

         15  place.

         16                 So, I think the strongest emphasis as

         17  we go forward with this 50 percent requirement is to

         18  bring all the stakeholders to the table, all those

         19  receiving TANF funds. To also do service advocacy on

         20  the State level, because as I mentioned so many

         21  times before, before the Council, the bifurcated

         22  system Upstate doesn't help us.

         23                 What I mean by that, if one entity in

         24  this City uses TANF dollars but reports to the

         25  Office of Family and Children's Services, where the
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          2  other entity is the primary responsible agent of

          3  those TANF funds, and they report to OTDA, and the

          4  same commitment is not on the Office of Familiy and

          5  Children Services' side but it is on the OTDA side,

          6  we already start with problems.

          7                 So, we've worked with the State to

          8  have them as well bring all the participants and

          9  tying off all those Upstate offices using TANF funds

         10  together collectively, and look at this as a

         11  universal problem, as opposed to one agency, one

         12  means, one way. That is what will kill use.

         13                 I've encouraged that since the start

         14  of this Administration. We started this

         15  Administration with one City, one client, one plan.

         16  Every Commissioner who had TANF dollars was brought

         17  to the table. I insisted that they bring their plans

         18  to bringing that customer to self-sufficiency to the

         19  table. Their budgets was adjusted accordingly, based

         20  on that. The services was reviewed based on budget.

         21  If the result didn't equal the amount expended, then

         22  we modified that. The result of that was something

         23  called "flexible spending." I don't know, does that

         24  flexible spending equalize what we have to do?

         25                 So, I think it's a many things, but I
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          2  think the most important element here is us working

          3  collectively as a City and not it just being HRA

          4  that has to bring this percentage up, because it

          5  won't work. It just won't work.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I couldn't

          7  agree with you more. But, again, I'm going to

          8  editorialize. I'm trying to listen carefully between

          9  the lines, and having read your testimony, I heard

         10  your testimony, it sounds to me like you could be

         11  putting in a vice here where your caseload changes

         12  and the potential of, lack of relief and support

         13  from Albany and overly inappropriate or stringent

         14  regulations from Washington, you could be in a

         15  situation where, despite doing exactly what you're

         16  saying, which I think is exactly right, trying to

         17  create more seamless and integrated approach, there

         18  is just no human physical way to reach that 50

         19  percent.

         20                 So, it sounds like we could end up in

         21  a situation where we are unfortunately accepting the

         22  fines and the lack of fair share from Albany as the

         23  cost of doing business for this City.

         24                 I'm not saying that's something you

         25  wish for or are happy with, I'm just listening.
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          2  Short of a miracle where Secretary Levitt shows

          3  extraordinary understanding for New York City, it

          4  sounds like you're going to be put in a situation

          5  where there's just no physical way to reach that

          6  limit, to reach that participation rate.

          7                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: I think there

          8  are many things that happened before that.

          9                 I can also be put into a situation

         10  where I have to put more emphasis on being the local

         11  administrator of social services than on the

         12  Commissioner of HRA. And I can bring all the

         13  flexible spending plans to the table and review them

         14  again, and make sure that all the money allocated in

         15  the TANF plan are really being utilized to move

         16  clients to their levels of self-sufficiency.

         17                 I think that we have chosen the

         18  approach to work in a collaborative way and work

         19  across the board as colleagues and not me driving

         20  the plan as many other local administrators have

         21  done in the past.

         22                 I think that there's been many

         23  approaches to moving this group.

         24                 I think that the Bloomberg approach

         25  of using all human resources and all entity
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          2  resources to get to this end result has been a

          3  success for us.

          4                 I'm not seeing the terrain as bleak.

          5  I'm not going to release anyone from their

          6  responsibility. I encourage you to join us with any

          7  leverage in advocacy that you have to apply strong

          8  pressure on health and human services in Washington,

          9  D.C. Use the model. Insist that they, you know,

         10  embrace this. We have the facts. We have the facts.

         11  We know that there are people who are chronically

         12  ill. We can break down for you from a financial

         13  perspective the waste of funds along the way in many

         14  rounds of moving customers. I can show you the

         15  variances in budget numbers. We have the

         16  information. We need all the stakeholders to join

         17  us. It cannot be an HRA problem.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay, I

         19  appreciate it, Commissioner.

         20                 I know a number of my colleagues have

         21  questions, so I'd like to turn to them now. But

         22  first let me welcome, in the course of your, the

         23  dialogue here, now all the members of the General

         24  Welfare Committee are present. I'd like to welcome,

         25  first, Council Member Annabel Palma, Council Member
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          2  Jessica Lappin, Council Member Gale Brewer, and

          3  Council Member Tom White, all of them members of

          4  General Welfare. I also would like to welcome

          5  Council Member Robert Jackson.

          6                 The first question will be Council

          7  Member Annabel Palma.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Thank you, Mr.

          9  Chair. Good morning, Commissioner. And thank you for

         10  your testimony. I'm glad to see that the

         11  Administration is making efforts and dealing with

         12  the issues that face our community, especially

         13  around the hunger issues.

         14                 But I want to focus a little bit on

         15  Housing Stability Plus, and I guess what I want to

         16  ask you is, what is the total budget for the program

         17  under the Fiscal Year '07?

         18                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Total Housing

         19  Stability Plus Budget?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Yes.

         21                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: I'm going to

         22  have my budget person come.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Okay.

         24                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: This is Frank

         25  Donno.

                                                            47

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES COMMITTEES

          2                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DONNO:

          3  Good morning.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: And can you

          5  provide us like a breakdown of the budget by City,

          6  State and federal?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I'm sorry.

          8  Please introduce yourself for the sake of the

          9  transcript.

         10                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DONNO:

         11  My name is Frank Donno (phonetic). I'm the Executive

         12  Deputy Commissioner for Finance in HRA.

         13                 The amount that I can speak to is the

         14  $20 million in inter-city funds that we have

         15  currently set up in the HRA budget. That funding is

         16  purely CTL at this point. We will then use that

         17  funding to match against State and federal dollars,

         18  based on the clients that are actually served by the

         19  HSP program.

         20                 I can't speak to the Citywide total

         21  as I don't have that, because it doesn't currently

         22  reside in HRA's budget entirely.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: So, you won't

         24  know the amount, in terms of the matching of the

         25  funds, you won't have that information until the --
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          2                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DONNO:

          3  Ultimately until the claims are prepared for the

          4  clients that are served by the program.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Okay.

          6                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DONNO:

          7  I can tell you that to date we have spent $7.6

          8  million on recurring grants, and about a quarter of

          9  that amount on the rent in advance, which is the

         10  security deposit and so on, and we project that

         11  number growing to approximately $25 million in

         12  Fiscal Year '06.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ANNABEL: So, do you

         14  know how much -- so do you know how much the

         15  Department of Homeless Services, how much their

         16  budget is, and how are those monies transferred?

         17                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DONNO:

         18  I'm sorry, no, I do not.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ANNABEL: Okay.

         20                 And then, so, how many HSP recipients

         21  have lost, like housing, subsidy payments because

         22  the public assistance cases have been sanctioned?

         23  Out of the ones that are being served.

         24                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Do you have

         25  the number? What do you have?
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          2                 One second, please.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Who is

          4  answering? Okay, time for you to formally introduce

          5  yourself too.

          6                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH: Yes.

          7  Sorry. I'm Pat Smith. I'm the First Deputy

          8  Commissioner. We're working very closely with the

          9  Department of Homeless Services on this, and we do

         10  track the Housing Stability Cases Plus -- Housing

         11  Stability Plus cases very closely.

         12                 We currently have 663 cases who at

         13  some point had received Housing Stability Plus and

         14  are now in sanction.

         15                 Now, that doesn't mean that they've

         16  all lost it, because they could still be, you know,

         17  in process, because it's all very, you know, fairly

         18  new, we've been doing it now for just a year.

         19                 So, that's the number in exact answer

         20  to your question, 663.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: And out of any

         22  of the recipients that are receiving -- enrolled in

         23  HSP, have any of those recipients' cases been closed

         24  due to employment over the last year?

         25                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH: I
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          2  don't know offhand. We can find out. But there have

          3  been cases that have been closed, but I don't have

          4  the breakdown of the reasons.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Okay. Then that

          6  is information, Mr. Chair, that I think the

          7  Committee can request so we'll know of those being

          8  affected by that.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: You want us to

         10  have a formal follow-up on that?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Yes, we will

         13  certainly.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Thank you.

         15                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH: And,

         16  again, we are working with DHS on that, and I know

         17  later in the day they'll be here.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: And then I

         19  wanted to ask, are you familiar with the Rental

         20  Vouchers Working Family Bill that is before the

         21  Assembly right now?

         22                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Transitional

         23  benefits. Transitional housing benefits. Do you want

         24  to speak to it, Seth? David?

         25                 MR. HANSEL: Yes, we are familiar with
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          2  that, and the City is supporting that proposal.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ANNABEL: Okay, that's

          4  what I wanted to know. Thank you.

          5                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you,

          7  Council member.

          8                 The next is Council Member Jessica

          9  Lappin.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: Thank you, Mr.

         11  Chairman.

         12                 I am new to this Committee, so I'm

         13  going to ask some questions that maybe are novice,

         14  but important for me to learn.

         15                 Which clients get sent or referred to

         16  WeCARE, versus the Intensive Services Center?

         17                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: That's a

         18  great question. It's not so novice after all.

         19                 But I'll have Pat Smith answer that.

         20  And welcome.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: Thank you.

         22  Very happy to be here working with you.

         23                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH: As

         24  Commissioner Eggleston described earlier, an

         25  individual goes to WeCARE as a service when they
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          2  indicate either at the point of application or at

          3  the point when they're unable to do a work

          4  assignment or perhaps a recertification, they

          5  indicate that they have some health barrier, be it a

          6  mental health barrier or a physical barrier, that

          7  makes it difficult from their perspective to work.

          8                 At that point we refer them to WeCARE

          9  where a full assessment, a biopsychosocial

         10  assessment is completed, and from there, the results

         11  that the Commissioner enumerated in her testimony

         12  have been achieved. Perhaps they move on to

         13  wellness, perhaps they move on to substance abuse

         14  treatment, perhaps they are disabled for a period of

         15  12 months or more and we assist them in applying for

         16  SSI, perhaps it is the assessment that they are not

         17  disabled enough to be exempt from traditional work

         18  activities, and then they're referred back to their

         19  job centers. And that is the WeCARE Program. It's in

         20  essence a service, rather than referring a person to

         21  one of our traditional, if you will, employment

         22  activities, we refer them to WeCARE for that

         23  assessment, as a service.

         24                 The Intensive Services Center is for

         25  individuals who have had a sanction applied to their
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          2  public assistance grant. For 60 days or more they

          3  have been in receipt of a reduced benefit as a

          4  result of noncompliance with a work rule, and after

          5  60 days, if they don't reengage, meaning come back

          6  in and indicate what the situation is and get

          7  re-engaged in the appropriate work activity, which

          8  could be WeCARE, frankly, if they came back and said

          9  the reason I wasn't able to do my work assignment is

         10  because I was ill, then the appropriate role for

         11  them at that moment would be WeCARE as a service.

         12                 But the people who go to intensive

         13  services have had their reduced grant for more than

         14  60 days with no contact in the employment arena, and

         15  it's our goal to determine why they were unable to

         16  comply with their employment requirement and either

         17  get them back to their employment requirement or get

         18  them to their proper service, whatever that may be.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: Okay. And I

         20  wanted to ask, the Commissioner testified that as

         21  HHS is developing its guidelines to be issued June

         22  30th, that the City is seeking to have allowable

         23  work activities include vocational, education and

         24  rehabilitation activities.

         25                 Right now what's the City's policy
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          2  about vocational, education and rehabilitation

          3  services?

          4                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH:

          5  There are parts of vocational rehabilitation

          6  services that are allowable under federal rule

          7  currently. The more challenging part, in terms of

          8  the federal advocacy is really in what we call

          9  wellness planning, what many people call wellness

         10  planning, not just us, what we call wellness

         11  planning where the individual is attempting to

         12  ameliorate their health conditions, such as they'll

         13  get better and they will be able to participate.

         14                 But there is some countability now in

         15  rehabilitative services when people receive that

         16  through the Office of Vocational Rehabilitation with

         17  whom we work closely.

         18                 So, there is some countability now.

         19  We are seeking a lot more countability of activities

         20  such as wellness that have never been counted for

         21  federal participation in the past.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: And what about

         23  education?

         24                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH:

         25  Education. The short-term education, actually

                                                            55

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES COMMITTEES

          2  short-term training, to use the term, is countable

          3  for 12 weeks -- a year. Countable for a year, and

          4  there's other education types that are countable for

          5  12 weeks.

          6                 There are some countable things that

          7  are done now, both in WeCARE and in regular

          8  services, if you will, if a person is in short-term

          9  education or training it is countable for some

         10  benefits.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: So, three

         12  months, 12 weeks being three months? A year?

         13                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH:

         14  There's a year for some and then there's other

         15  short-term full-time training that counts for 12

         16  weeks.

         17                 There's a matrix, if you will, of

         18  activities that are countable for federal

         19  participation rate right now.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: Worse case

         21  scenario. Say the federal government says no, would

         22  the City then say education and rehab aren't going

         23  to be counted?

         24                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: I don't

         25  understand your question.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: Well, the

          3  policy now is there's some educational credits and

          4  some rehabilitation credits that count towards your

          5  work requirements, right? I mean, doesn't sound like

          6  a lot, but some. And you're pushing for more.

          7                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Mm-hmm.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: To me it seems

          9  like if somebody can't work because they don't have

         10  a proper education level, or they're facing an

         11  addiction, you're not going to get them into the

         12  workforce until you treat those issues.

         13                 So, my question is, worst case

         14  scenario, is it something that would be eliminated?

         15  Or is this something that the City would find

         16  anyway?

         17                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: You mean care

         18  for the customers?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: Yes.

         20                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: We have an

         21  obligation to serve people. We are not going to

         22  randomly discontinue care for people because of

         23  change or dis being counted, because the fact of the

         24  matter is, is the customer is not going to go away.

         25                 What you will see, if we chose to go
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          2  that route, if you will, we show earlier on in this

          3  Administration actual grids where we track clients

          4  who during the course of welfare reform for five

          5  years came in and out of the system. In other words,

          6  they reported they were ill, we said you go here,

          7  they step off, they go there, they use their

          8  Medicaid card down the road, continue using their

          9  Medicaid card, going to a series of doctors to prove

         10  to us that they were ill. And these folks turned to

         11  the system for five years saying that they were ill,

         12  and us trying to get them to another point.

         13                 The reason why we adopted this model

         14  was because, if not for nothing else, separate and

         15  apart from the requirement, we didn't want this to

         16  be an administration where we continued pushing

         17  chronically ill people down the road of ill repair,

         18  because what we saw at the end of that was what we

         19  thought immediately was some smaller medical issue,

         20  was exacerbated by this five-year process, and it

         21  was a larger medical issue at a greater cost. So,

         22  not only was it not cost efficient, it didn't serve

         23  the family's needs and it didn't help the children,

         24  more importantly, because then the kids had a

         25  chronically ill parent, who we could have intervened
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          2  earlier.

          3                 So, the short of that is, we are

          4  going to continue our efforts in this Administration

          5  to help people reach their maximum level of

          6  self-sufficiency side-by-side to any legislation

          7  that comes up. That's our obligation.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: Okay.

          9                 And my last question. There has been

         10  fantastic increase in outreach in terms of Food

         11  Stamps, and you mentioned 37 percent increase since

         12  January of '02. My question was a budget-based

         13  question, given that there is a larger number of

         14  people who are receiving Food Stamps and also the

         15  food banks are saying that they are seeing more and

         16  more clients, why are we cutting the Emergency Food

         17  Program by $2 million?

         18                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DONNO:

         19  The Administration is not advocating a cut to the

         20  food program. In fact, the monies that were added by

         21  the City Council last fiscal year, or rather this

         22  fiscal year, were not baselined. And, so, ultimately

         23  if that money is to be continued, the City Council

         24  will have to reappropriate funds to the food

         25  program.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: So we say it's

          3  not a cut, but it's a cut because it's a semantic

          4  issue. But, okay.

          5                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you,

          7  Council Member. I've got to follow-up on that.

          8                 I appreciate Council Member Lappin

          9  acknowledging this reality. Look, we don't want to

         10  debate baselined, not baselined, who came up with

         11  it. I think we continue to see these statistics that

         12  are shocking. It's just what the numbers are. We

         13  understand, again, first four months of this last

         14  year of '05, 900,000 or more meals were provided;

         15  are you saying you don't think -- you have a

         16  surplus, let's all be clear here. You have a surplus

         17  in your City budget, so you're saying you think that

         18  you don't need to provide the meals that the Council

         19  put in? Are you saying you're just hoping we put it

         20  in, if we don't you'll do without? I mean, that

         21  technical answer doesn't get to the point of do you

         22  believe there is an ongoing need to provide these

         23  meals?

         24                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Mr. Chair,

         25  I'm sorry, could you ask me again?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Yes.

          3                 The question I have is, do you

          4  believe there is a need to provide these meals?

          5  Because if you do, and you do have a budget surplus,

          6  I'm not belittling the challenges we face in future

          7  years, but as the Administration you have a

          8  well-known budget surplus, and the program we're

          9  talking about is $2.1 million, which is fairly

         10  modest, it sounds like what you're effectively

         11  saying is, if the Council finds it, great. And if

         12  not, it just won't happen. And I'm asking why, in

         13  fact, it was not baselined, given what appears to be

         14  very consistent levels of need?

         15                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Do you know

         16  why it wasn't baselined?

         17                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DONNO:

         18  My understanding is that it is the opinion of the

         19  Budget Director of the City of New York if the

         20  Council agrees that this is an important issue, that

         21  the Council will make that allocation for next year.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Now, you must

         23  have been watching President Bush's Press Secretary.

         24  There's answers that will get you into more trouble

         25  than where you started.
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          2                 So, I'm going to say it back to you.

          3  So, you're saying this is not a priority for HRA,

          4  and we did it in the past, we cannot guarantee we'd

          5  do it in the future. We have a whole lot less money

          6  to work with than you do. So, you're saying it is

          7  not a priority to provide this level of food feeding

          8  programs?

          9                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DONNO:

         10  I'm absolutely not making that statement. I'm saying

         11  that from a budget reality solely, if the City

         12  Council agrees that this is funding that needs to be

         13  appropriated for this program --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, of course

         15  you're going to implement it. That's not what I'm

         16  saying.

         17                 I'm saying, if we give you money, I'm

         18  sure you'll spend it. You're not choosing to put it

         19  in your budget as an Administration. You're not

         20  choosing to put it in your budget, so are you saying

         21  the need levels are not as high as we think? Or are

         22  you just saying you just can't get to it given your

         23  other priorities?

         24                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DONNO:

         25  I think we also have to remember that there are
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          2  other funding sources that support emergency feeding

          3  programs throughout the City.

          4                 There are federal funds that come

          5  through, as well as State funds.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And you think

          7  they're sufficient?

          8                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: At a level of

          9  $886 million as we did our initial assessments of

         10  our food and nutrition programs. Eight-hundred and

         11  eighty-six million dollars are in this City of New

         12  York to fund various types of feeding.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: You're

         14  including food stamps in that?

         15                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: This is

         16  separate and apart from food stamps.

         17                 I'm looking at WIC, I'm looking at

         18  State Nutritional Assistance, I'm looking at a

         19  myriad of services in the dollar range of $886

         20  million. One of the primary reasons that I wanted to

         21  pull together this task force is because I wanted to

         22  look at all funding available in the City to address

         23  food and nutrition services. And, so, I would never,

         24  sir, sit here and say, having the commitment I've

         25  had to food stamps, and I'm sure you know this
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          2  Administration better than that, that we need the

          3  resources to serve people who are in need. But it's

          4  also been an administration where we look at all of

          5  the resources we have and use them in a

          6  comprehensive way.

          7                 We can't sit here and represent, you

          8  know, how formulas are designed. But I can speak to

          9  commitment and I think that this Administration has

         10  shown its commitment to feeding people, and I think

         11  that is my bottom line.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay, I'm not

         13  going to go back and forth here with you. I don't

         14  doubt your commitment to feeding people, and I

         15  praised you at the beginning. I'm saying to you that

         16  I don't know what's more basic than feeding people

         17  out there. We do a lot of important things for this

         18  City, and there appears to be --

         19                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: At a level of

         20  $886 million separate and apart from Food Stamps.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Right. But

         22  there also appears to be no diminution of our

         23  poverty rate in this City. In fact, it's going up.

         24  It does not appear to be a reduction in the need for

         25  these meals, given the statistics we're seeing from
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          2  the soup kitchens and the food pantries. So, I guess

          3  I'm saying you're not denying there's a huge need,

          4  if not a growing need, but you're depending on the

          5  Council to do it.

          6                 So, we just have a fundamental

          7  disagreement there.

          8                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: I'm going to

          9  say that there is a need and I think all of us must

         10  participate in addressing that need, and I have

         11  still not found scientific correlation between

         12  feeding someone and reducing poverty.

         13                 So, I would never draw those types of

         14  correlations. I think that we have found that

         15  feeding day care and all the other assistants help

         16  people reach their maximum level of self-sufficiency

         17  but I would not draw ever a correlation between a

         18  meal and the ending of poverty. No, I will not, sir.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, I

         20  appreciate your experience and your honesty, but I

         21  guess I'm having trouble understanding that.

         22                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: As well as me

         23  understanding what it is that you're asking. I've

         24  stated my commitment clearly. I've joined a task

         25  force internally to look at our systems and how we
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          2  distribute food and nutrition service to the

          3  customers we serve. I've asked that this group do an

          4  analysis of the way we have done it, and where we

          5  are. We've calculated that our participation rate is

          6  at 74 percent.  USDA says our participation is at 66

          7  percent. Whether it's 66 or 74, I have committed

          8  this administration to target and find those people

          9  who are not a part of it.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Commissioner,

         11  we're not doubting that. And, again, I don't know

         12  how many more times all of us have to praise their

         13  achievements but, you know --

         14                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: I'm not

         15  asking for praise, sir.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: No, but I'm

         17  saying, in terms of an honest dialogue, no one is

         18  failing to note what's been done right, and it's our

         19  job, as you have often also said, to provide

         20  forceful oversight, so I'll provide some forceful

         21  oversight. The USDA, as an independent entity, and I

         22  respect your analysis, obviously, but let's take an

         23  independent voice, the USDA, which I don't think has

         24  any axe to grind towards the City of New York, and

         25  they're saying your 66 percent, which is great, but
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          2  it still means a half million or more people who

          3  could be on food stamps who are not. So, that's a

          4  big mountain to climb, that's more than the

          5  population of most large cities in the nation.

          6                 Now, that being said, your point a

          7  moment ago, I have two concerns about your point on

          8  the impact on food on self-sufficiency. The first is

          9  getting people fed, and particularly children who

         10  are not empowered to take care of their own needs,

         11  is obviously a goal in and of itself separate from

         12  the question of self-sufficiency. I think you guys

         13  are doing great on Food Stamps, I'm not so sure

         14  you're going the extra mile on emergency food,

         15  unless you believe that there is not a significant

         16  or growing need.

         17                 If you're saying, hey, we got it

         18  covered by the money we're investing now and if the

         19  Council did not put in the additional 2 million, we

         20  would have it covered. I wouldn't necessarily agree,

         21  but I'd understand the answer.

         22                 But your second point, that there is

         23  not a correlation between feeding people and

         24  self-sufficiency --

         25                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: No, sir.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: You're more of

          3  an expert than me.

          4                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: I said that

          5  there is no correlation between giving a meal and

          6  reducing poverty.

          7                 I said that we ensured that all of

          8  these transitional benefits are given to people so

          9  they can reach their maximum level of

         10  self-sufficiency. I said but there is no science

         11  that shows a meal to ending my poverty, because I

         12  can be well fed, and still deeply entrenched in

         13  poverty. So, that was my point.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I understand,

         15  and I appreciate the scientific point there, but I

         16  think you would agree that ending poverty means

         17  ending the conditions that constitute poverty and

         18  hunger is one of those conditions.

         19                 So, if you actually could address --

         20  if you could single-handedly press a button and make

         21  sure that every person in New York City were fed

         22  property, even if a number of them still remained

         23  specifically and statistically in a category of

         24  poverty, we would still be much better off than we

         25  are now.
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          2                 So, I appreciate your point on the

          3  larger nature of poverty and the road to

          4  self-sufficiency, but I still can't believe that the

          5  answer is not we have to do every conceivable, we

          6  have to put forward every conceivable effort to make

          7  sure everyone is fed that we can reach.

          8                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: And I said

          9  that we have to use every effort to make sure that

         10  every person is reached, absolutely.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: All right,

         12  we'll move to our next colleague. Council Member

         13  Gale Brewer.

         14                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: I totally

         15  agree.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

         17  much. I had a question about WeCARE. My

         18  understanding is that, you know, from your testimony

         19  that I think it started last year, and it's about a

         20  year old. And you served 1,087 clients who obtained

         21  employment, and 220 out of them received federal

         22  disability benefits, and you also made a little

         23  over, almost 69,000 referrals for some kind of

         24  medical or psychiatric assessment.

         25                 My question is, I guess in our budget
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          2  hearings in '04 you estimated that about 45,000

          3  clients would be served each year, and the annual

          4  cost is 67 million. So, you could look at it I guess

          5  a couple of ways from the perspective of the

          6  testimony that you served, you know, 1,000 more,

          7  more than 1,000 clients, and then others were

          8  referred.

          9                 So, I'm just wondering, of the 68,000

         10  who were referred, sort of what happened to them,

         11  and what kind of completion of their assessment took

         12  place. Because it's a large number of 67 million

         13  cost, and I was just wondering what happened to the

         14  referrals. Like what services did they receive, you

         15  know, et cetera.

         16                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Absolutely.

         17                 This is Dr. Frank Lipton.

         18                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LIPTON:

         19  Hi. I'm Dr. Frank Lipton. I'm the Executive Deputy

         20  Commissioner for HRA's Customized Assistance

         21  Services.

         22                 As the Commissioner indicated in her

         23  testimony, of the 68,000 referrals thus far, and

         24  that's for more than a year, 76.5 percent have

         25  completed all phases of the assessment process, and
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          2  of those who have completed all phases of the

          3  assessment process, a little more than ten percent

          4  were found to be fully employable, and these clients

          5  were referred back to their job centers to be

          6  engaged in activities in HRA's traditional menu of

          7  employment and training programs.

          8                 Forty-five percent were found to be

          9  employable with limitations, and were referred for

         10  vocational rehabilitation services, a little more

         11  than 39 percent were found to have unstable medical

         12  and/or mental health conditions that affected their

         13  ability to work and they were placed in wellness or

         14  rehabilitation plans, and almost six percent, 5.8

         15  percent were determined to be unemployable for 12 or

         16  more months, and were referred for assistance in

         17  applying for federal disability.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: All right. So,

         19  that six percent is not part of the 229 received.

         20  Because they didn't go through the assessment

         21  process.

         22                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LIPTON:

         23  The 229 are a subset of the six percent.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: They are a

         25  subset, yes. Right.
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          2                 So, does any of this help qualify to

          3  get toward that 50 percent so you don't get

          4  penalized? In other words, you talked many back and

          5  forth questions with Chairman DeBlasio.

          6                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LIPTON:

          7  I think that's the position that the City is

          8  advocating for.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: But it hasn't

         10  been cleared by the federal government. But this is

         11  the process that hopefully could help us.

         12                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LIPTON:

         13  Absolutely.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         15                 So the $67 million is paying for all

         16  of this; is that what you're saying? The $67

         17  million?

         18                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LIPTON:

         19  Yes. Although, that amount was not spent during the

         20  first year.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I'm wondering

         22  about that. It's a lot of money.

         23                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH: If I

         24  could interject, the SSI cases, people who did get

         25  SSI do count federally now.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: They do count.

          3                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH: Yes.

          4  That would be the one subset small number.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Small, of the

          6  six percent. Okay.

          7                 The other question I have is, how

          8  many subcontractors are there for provision of these

          9  services?

         10                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LIPTON:

         11  There's two main contractors FEGS covers Bronx,

         12  Manhattan and Staten Island, and Arbor Education and

         13  Training covers Brooklyn and Queens. And each

         14  contractor has subcontracts. FEGS has subcontracts

         15  with Lenox Hill Hospital, Bronx Lebanon Hospital,

         16  and Abilities, Inc. in the Bronx, which is a

         17  vocational rehabilitation provider.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. And what

         19  about Arbor?

         20                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LIPTON:

         21  Arbor has subcontracts with Brooklyn Hospital

         22  Center, both the downtown campus and the Caledonia

         23  campus, and St. John's Hospital in Queens. They also

         24  have subcontracts with Brooklyn Community Services

         25  for voc rehab services in Brooklyn and Goodwill in
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          2  Queens for voc rehab services.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. I guess

          4  as time goes on it would be good, not necessarily

          5  now, but to get a breakdown of all of those numbers.

          6  You don't have to do it now, but it would be helpful

          7  to have a breakdown of the subcontractors and the

          8  contractors, to see how it plays out.

          9                 My other question was just about

         10  employment. Obviously, Ellen Howard Cooper is now in

         11  charge of poverty with the City of New York, as I

         12  understand, and I'm sure that it will all go away as

         13  a result, between Mr. Time Warner and Mr. -- I call

         14  it Rheedlen, but I guess it has a new name, Harlem

         15  Children Zone, it will all go away.

         16                 My question is on the assessment and

         17  job training. I know that you have done a wonderful

         18  job with the STEP Program, but I wanted to know how

         19  many public assistance recipients have participated

         20  in the program, et cetera. A lot of questions about

         21  the issue of employment.

         22                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: You mean the

         23  POP Program?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I think it

         25  does mean POP. It would be the one where you're
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          2  working with City agencies. WEP, is that what it's

          3  called? It says here STEP, Supportive Training for

          4  Employment Preparation. Is that a different name?

          5                 Forget the name. I just want to know

          6  how many public assistance recipients have

          7  participated in getting jobs with City agencies? I

          8  think the Parks Department Program is your most

          9  famous. I think you need Seth Diamond for this, yes.

         10                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH: We

         11  do. But to clarify the names.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Yes, why don't

         13  you give us the correct names.

         14                 I know it as what the Parks

         15  Department does. There may be other programs. Why

         16  don't you give us the correct names.

         17                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH:

         18  Well, the Parks Department Program we've had for

         19  years. But the STEP Program was a program that was

         20  recently announced with the Department of Education,

         21  which was to put young people into construction-type

         22  apprentice jobs, et cetera.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         24                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH: And

         25  that's not done through HRA, it is a partnership
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          2  that the Department of Education has started.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

          4                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH: So,

          5  that's currently where STEP is being used, in that

          6  particular acronym.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I'm more

          8  interested in anything that you've done in addition

          9  to Parks or including Parks, where your participants

         10  are now working for City agencies.

         11                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH:

         12  Okay.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I don't know

         14  if it's just parks or there are other agencies.

         15                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         16  DIAMOND: Seth Diamond, Executive Deputy Commissioner

         17  for the Family Independence Administration.

         18                 In the Parks Department we have a

         19  large sophisticated program to refer people and to

         20  employ them in a supportive work model where they

         21  work four days a week, and one day a week they

         22  receive employment and training. And at any point in

         23  time, there are approximately 3,000 people working

         24  at Parks. Over the course of a year, because some

         25  people are out and leave early, there are over 6,000
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          2  people hired. For example, last year I think the

          3  number was about 6,600, people that were hired by

          4  the Parks Department and worked there for at least

          5  some period of time.

          6                 In addition, we have relationships

          7  with other agencies that approach us when they need

          8  hires, and then we pre-screen public assistance

          9  recipients to try and meet their needs.

         10                 For example, the Department of

         11  Corrections does that, Department of Health does

         12  that, and of course, HRA, we do that when we hire

         13  entry level staff ourselves. So, we certainly

         14  encourage other agencies to do that. We're always

         15  looking for relationships, because that could be a

         16  very good first step into employment.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: And how many

         18  of these are permanently hired each year? Does it

         19  depend on the agency? If any?

         20                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         21  DIAMOND: It depends on the agency's own budget and

         22  what their availability of positions is.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: All right. So,

         24  is there any effort -- I mean, is there extra

         25  funding allocated to the effort of hiring
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          2  permanently?

          3                 Obviously, I know it's a program, I

          4  know the Parks Department does hire for sure, but I

          5  just didn't know if other agencies do that.

          6                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          7  DIAMOND: Well, other agencies, we certainly

          8  encourage other agencies when they're going to hire

          9  entry level staff, where there is no civil service

         10  list in place, to make use of Work Experience

         11  Participants, they might have to consider Work

         12  Experience Participants, they might have, or to

         13  contact HRA for referral of suitable candidates.

         14                 And, again, some agencies take

         15  advantage of that frequently. And, of course, we at

         16  HRA, whenever we have entry level jobs, we do that.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay, in

         18  general on employment, I believe you're moving

         19  towards renewal of employment services contracts,

         20  worth about 63 million. And I wanted to know if when

         21  you intended to sign the contracts and just the

         22  status of employment.

         23                 I obviously am aware of having, you

         24  know, worked with your agency and certainly then DOE

         25  and Small Business Services on the Mandarin Hotel
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          2  Project, and I think we're ongoing trying to

          3  replicate with large employers some of those similar

          4  work, it's not easy to integrate the two services.

          5  So, I am interested to know what is your budget for

          6  employment services, and what are the contracts that

          7  you're working with, and how are you looking at some

          8  of the performance of contracted vendors?

          9                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         10  DIAMOND: Okay, the contracts I think you're

         11  referring to, just to be clear on terms, they're not

         12  really renewals, but there's a new program that the

         13  Mayor has announced that is called "Back To Work"

         14  which will feature enhanced employment vendors that

         15  will provide employment services from the point of

         16  application to placement and then provide retention

         17  services beyond placement.

         18                 We have a number of features in the

         19  program that we think will improve it, including a

         20  closer relationship between the job centers and some

         21  of the vendors.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: You say job

         23  centers, do you mean yours or SBS's?

         24                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         25  DIAMOND: This is an HRA program.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: All right, I'm

          3  just checking.

          4                 Go ahead.

          5                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          6  DIAMOND: Enhanced milestone tracking so that we give

          7  incentives to the vendors to deal with particularly

          8  hard-to-serve clients, and then, of course, a

          9  performance-based system which only pays the vendors

         10  when they place and retain people.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         12                 And is this happening now? Or is this

         13  something that will happen in the future? Obviously,

         14  you've always done this type of work. Is this

         15  enhanced?

         16                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         17  DIAMOND: This is enhanced, yes. And it builds on the

         18  success of the previous program, our ESP, our

         19  Employment Service and Placement and our Skills

         20  Assessment Program, it takes the lessons of those

         21  and enhances that program.

         22                 We're currently in the contract

         23  negotiation phase and we're projecting July 1st to

         24  have the contracts in place.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.
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          2                 How many people per year,

          3  approximately, if it is 63 million, if that's the

          4  projected contract worth would be served by such an

          5  enhanced program?

          6                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          7  DIAMOND: I don't have those numbers. Some of that is

          8  going to be the subject of negotiations.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: With the

         10  contractors.

         11                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         12  DIAMOND: With the contractors.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         14                 And then the other question I have is

         15  technology. There is always going to be a paperless

         16  HRA, right? So, I'm wondering how far we are with

         17  the paperless, and, you know, this is obviously a

         18  very large question, too big for today, but I wanted

         19  to know if there's other dollars allocated, or there

         20  wasn't much discussion in your testimony.

         21                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH: The

         22  paperless office system that you referred, Council

         23  member, is in all of our job centers. The places

         24  where people go and apply for public assistance

         25  benefits around the City. Meaning that the interview
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          2  is an on-line process where the interviewer types in

          3  answers and there is some sophistication to the

          4  system in terms of prompts, in terms of guiding one

          5  to the next question.

          6                 We are currently, as part of, the

          7  Commissioner mentioned in her testimony the

          8  partnership that we have in food stamps with the

          9  United States Department of Agriculture

         10  Participation Grant, and one of the benefits of that

         11  particular effort will be to extend the paperless

         12  office interview system to our Food Stamp only

         13  offices to enhance it in that regard. And Frank will

         14  be able to talk about the dollars associated.

         15                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DONNO:

         16  As part of our capital budget, we have in Fiscal

         17  Year '06 $445 million -- I'm sorry, $445,000, I

         18  apologize. Yes. That's devoted to imaging projects.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: And that's

         20  just for the Food Stamps or that's for --

         21                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DONNO:

         22  That's above and beyond the $900,000 grant that we

         23  got for the Food Stamp Program.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: All right, for

         25  imaging. All right.
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          2                 That would be for both the Food Stamp

          3  offices and for regular job offices?

          4                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DONNO:

          5  Correct.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Enrollment.

          7  For general enrollment.

          8                 Are there benefits that are not part

          9  of the on-line capability that would be on-line in

         10  the future that, you know, you provide, are

         11  one-shots, on-line, is it all part of the same

         12  project?

         13                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH: Yes,

         14  there are other benefits in a nutshell.

         15                 One of the things that you've heard

         16  about before from both, I think previous testimony

         17  of HRA and other agencies, is the City's joint

         18  effort under the Department of Information,

         19  Technology and Telecommunications for the Integrated

         20  Human Services System.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I'm very

         22  familiar with that.

         23                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH: I

         24  know you are.

         25                 And certainly that is something that
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          2  we're embarking on now to go forward, and the use of

          3  electronically stored data, image data is an

          4  incredibly helpful thing and we'll allow that to go

          5  ahead in the future.

          6                 Similarly, in the Commissioner's

          7  testimony she spoke of EDITS, which is our current

          8  on-line application system being used to submit

          9  health insurance applications for PCAP and for

         10  others in the community.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Right.

         12                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH: So

         13  without the infrastructure of the technology that

         14  allows this to occur, of course, none of these

         15  benefits could flow. So, to the degree that

         16  everybody does get in, and all of our records become

         17  electronic records, to the degree that we're able to

         18  do on-line applications, we are much better able to

         19  share data both within HRA, and then ultimately

         20  through vehicles such as the integrated human

         21  services system, with other agencies and other

         22  entities that have a part in our partnerships to

         23  serve people in the City.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: All right.

         25                 And then my other question is,
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          2  translation. That's always been an issue, and I'm

          3  just wondering, in your centers, in terms of

          4  translation, is that something that is paid for,

          5  possible, depending on the number of individuals who

          6  need it?

          7                 What's the status? In other words, is

          8  there on-line translation? Is there anything new in

          9  terms of this topic?

         10                 It's something that John Liu and I

         11  have been talking about. It's expensive, cost money.

         12  Is this an issue?

         13                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH:

         14  We've had many advancements certainly in cooperation

         15  with the Mayor's Office of Immigrant Affairs and

         16  other offices, but we have historically translated

         17  our documents into several languages, City

         18  documents.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Documents I

         20  know. I'm talking about verbal.

         21                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH:

         22  Verbal. We have bilingual staff at many of our

         23  locations, and we have services available when we do

         24  not have a staff member. We have a palm card that is

         25  used to identify the language spoken, if that
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          2  language is not immediately apparent to our staffing

          3  centers, we have the ability to access language line

          4  services, and we have the ability through our own

          5  Office of Refugee and Immigrant Affairs at HRA to

          6  coordinate our translation services from a series of

          7  vendors.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

          9                 And then just finally, Commissioner,

         10  if you were in charge of the Poverty Task Force,

         11  poverty is up in the City, unfortunately --

         12                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: If I was in

         13  charge of it?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: If you were in

         15  charge, what would you recommend? A couple of

         16  recommendations to curtail poverty in the City of

         17  New York. I'm serious.

         18                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: These are the

         19  type of questions you like to get beforehand, so you

         20  can do homework and prepare.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Mm-hmm.

         22                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: I think, you

         23  know, once again, I have to say it doesn't live in

         24  one place. I think the first approach, from my

         25  perspective, my perspective, would be to look across
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          2  the jurisdiction and see what's in place, to make

          3  sure that all of the resources that we have are

          4  being used right. That the resources that we're

          5  using in a particular area don't further encourage

          6  or push people deeper into the problem where we

          7  started.

          8                 I think many of our programs around

          9  engagement, and we don't say it lightly when we say

         10  meeting customers where they are, when people come

         11  into our centers and they speak to the notion of

         12  wanting to be nuclear physicists and they have not

         13  yet managed the task of reading and writing and

         14  basic math skills, we don't want to run them down a

         15  route where that's not realistic.

         16                 So, the beginning for me is the

         17  general assessment of the resources in the

         18  jurisdiction, carving out a realistic jurisdictional

         19  plan where all the resources that we have are pooled

         20  together and there is not a duplication of effort.

         21                 In that, teasing out the legislation

         22  proportions that we can begin to move things to

         23  change policies that often times issue unfunded

         24  mandates into a City that is often times faced with

         25  a very complicated constituent.
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          2                 After teasing out the legislative

          3  proportions and putting together a true legislative

          4  agenda for a City in a jurisdiction that has very

          5  complicated problems that are often times different

          6  than those Upstate, working collectively across the

          7  jurisdiction to accomplish a certain set of goals.

          8                 Engaging all the groups in that, not

          9  just human services agencies, but the notion of

         10  economic development plan or development plan of a

         11  city to include the needs of those customers who are

         12  most vulnerable.

         13                 Not creating separate plans that

         14  don't include the whole. Acknowledging the real

         15  number of those people and looking at that group and

         16  what it takes to lift them up really.

         17                 Looking at a market of labor and

         18  seeing if we shifted our training to meet the market

         19  that we have. Constant, continuous evaluations of

         20  the market. Making sure that our technology and our

         21  market meets the basic need.

         22                 Looking at the new people who are

         23  coming. Comparing the migration and immigration to

         24  migrations and immigrations that we've seen in the

         25  past.
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          2                 The needs of those migrating and

          3  immigrating are different than those of ancestors of

          4  ours who came with skill base and varying obstacles.

          5                 Comparing that against the backdrop.

          6  When I look at HRA as a singular agency and I see an

          7  agency that at one point had 1.1 million people on

          8  public assistance and a smaller ratio of people

          9  receiving public health, to an agency today that

         10  serves 2.7 million people with some sort of medical

         11  assistance and just 405,000 needing cash, changes

         12  the paradigm, not only of the jurisdiction, but the

         13  nature of the agency's core mission to serve people.

         14  So, one can make a lot of hypothesis about that.

         15                 Are the people coming to our doors

         16  needing more medical assistance now-a-days than cash

         17  assistance?

         18                 Are the populations coming to us

         19  seeking medical help and benefit in this City that

         20  does that very well, versus economic development?

         21                 Are the medical issues that we're

         22  faced with taking people deeper into poverty and not

         23  raising them up from it?

         24                 Are the complications of families

         25  because people are living longer and growing older,
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          2  when you're faced with cases of a 97-year-old mother

          3  with an 80-year-old daughter advocating that they

          4  can't keep their apartment in Park Slope because the

          5  rent exceeds the amount of their benefit?

          6                 It's a collective problem.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: That's a good

          8  list. Thank you very much.

          9                 Thank you, Chairman.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you,

         11  Council member.

         12                 First, before calling on Council

         13  Member White, I would like to welcome some very

         14  special guests. They are fourth graders from PS 82

         15  in Jamaica. We welcome you.

         16                 You're seeing government at its best,

         17  or its worst, I'm not sure which, but we're doing

         18  our best here.

         19                 Now Council Member Tom White.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Thank you very

         21  much, Mr. Chairman.

         22                 Commissioner, I have a number of

         23  questions. I was looking at your testimony and in

         24  it, I just want a clarification in terms of the

         25  reauthorization of the original TANF sanctions for
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          2  the state. It said that New York State could lose

          3  $237 million for failure to meet the 50 percent

          4  threshold.

          5                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Yes, sire.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: However, that

          7  could be passed down to the local agency which would

          8  be the City of New York.

          9                 Now, that's where I'm having a

         10  problem with what do we do about it? Because you're

         11  stating that in order to achieve that 50 percent,

         12  the following agencies must have a coordinated

         13  combined effort of 50 percent as being viewed that

         14  way. If I'm wrong, let me know. That would consist

         15  of the Department of Homeless Services, the

         16  Administration for Children's Services, Department

         17  of Youth and Community Development, the Department

         18  of Aging, the Department of Education, the

         19  University of New York, the Department of Housing,

         20  Preservation and Development, HPD, DOMH, so forth

         21  and so on. Collectively they have to come up with 50

         22  percent, or is it 50 percent per department?

         23                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: No, sir. We

         24  have a 50 percent, based on the law, engagement. We

         25  have to have 50 percent of our population who are
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          2  receiving benefits under TANF engaged in activity.

          3                 So, the point in the testimony is

          4  that there is a myriad of agencies throughout the

          5  City that receive TANF funds, either directly

          6  through contract with HRA, or directly from the

          7  State itself, the TANF applications.

          8                 The point is, in order for us as a

          9  City to reach this mandated number, we have to work

         10  like it's a City's concern. Every entity using TANF

         11  funds must realize and understand this legislation

         12  to the point of we, as a collective City, have a

         13  goal with these TANF funds to take this customer in

         14  temporary assistance from point A to point B. The

         15  responsibility doesn't live with the agency alone

         16  that's issuing a cash benefit to a customer who is

         17  engaged on the welfare roll, but it's every entity

         18  having a responsibility to this family to getting

         19  them there. Every agency.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: I understand

         21  that.

         22                 But what I want some clarity on is, I

         23  understand what 50 percent is.

         24                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Yes, sir.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: So if one
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          2  agency is ten and the other one is five, and a

          3  combination of whatever, if it comes up to 50, does

          4  that meet the criteria?

          5                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: No, sir.

          6  That's not how it works.

          7                 The agency that has the mandate to

          8  get that 50 percent requirement is the agency that

          9  has the caseload and that would be HRA.

         10                 We have those public assistance

         11  customers. But my advocacy is, for example, if the

         12  Department of Education, just anecdotal, okay, not

         13  factual, if the Department of Education receives X

         14  amount of TANF dollars and they put in that flexible

         15  spending plan, we're going to get X amount of kids,

         16  we're going to work on the prevention piece, we're

         17  going to make sure that this number of kids receive

         18  high school diplomas to ensure that they can stay

         19  down the road to self-sufficiency.

         20                 I have to coordinate that effort with

         21  the Department of Education. Because the impact of

         22  that kid not being in school, that kid not doing the

         23  right thing, means that that mom, no matter how many

         24  jobs or work assignments I get her, is not going to

         25  be engaged, because the reality is that mom is going
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          2  to do what she has to do for her kid. So, I have to

          3  get all those agencies working with this engaged in

          4  a plan for their family to move this whole family to

          5  the next point, without acting as if the head of

          6  household is the one primarily responsible, we don't

          7  have to worry about the other pieces that might keep

          8  her from getting there. You know what I mean?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Yes, you're the

         10  lead agency.

         11                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Yes, sir,

         12  indeed.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: So, if it's not

         14  met, then we can speak with you?

         15                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: No, sir.

         16  Well, you can speak to me after I've spoken to all

         17  the other agencies and evaluated and assessed their

         18  use of TANF funds.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Yes, I

         20  understand that.

         21                 I don't want us to have to speak to

         22  each and every agency.

         23                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Oh, no, no,

         24  no. We are the ones.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Oh, you're the
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          2  ones. Okay.

          3                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Yes, we are

          4  still the ones.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Okay. Now,

          6  there is --

          7                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: In spite of

          8  anti-poverty, we are separate and apart from.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: I will get to

         10  that question.

         11                 This reverse of HOPWA, that

         12  particular program.

         13                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Yes, sir.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: It had, "The

         15  Preliminary Budget begins with the process of

         16  undoing the controversial HOPWA Swap in which

         17  federal housing funds to the tune of 26.5 million

         18  have been used by the City for case management

         19  services instead of for housing since 1999."

         20                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Yes, sir.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: While City

         22  funds supported management services instead of

         23  housing services, under this proposal budget, the

         24  Swap will be undone over a period of three years.

         25                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Mm-hmm.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Is that the

          3  intent?

          4                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Mm-hmm.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Okay.

          6                 And why is the Administration

          7  choosing to reverse the Swap at this time?

          8                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: That's a

          9  great question.

         10                 The Administration came into the

         11  HOPWA Swap having to do its own analysis of the

         12  caseload of those families and those individuals

         13  receiving AIDS services and AIDS benefits.

         14                 I think in the moving of the HASA

         15  office from the benefit side of our agency, our AIDS

         16  Services used to be in the public assistance side of

         17  our agency, and we strategically moved it to the

         18  medical assistance side so that we can look at the

         19  medical needs of those customers, their longevity,

         20  their bringing in sync all the case management

         21  efforts.

         22                 I think our success has brought us to

         23  this point.

         24                 I think what we found, that bringing

         25  them onto a medical model where case management has
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          2  existed, working with elderly people in home care,

          3  working with people in other types of assistance

          4  programs, putting it in a place where case

          5  management rubrics were in place, and that was

          6  strengthened, then you can then look at that funding

          7  and put it to its original use.

          8                 So, we've placed a lot of focus on

          9  our medical model, and getting people well, and

         10  that's been our intention, or getting people to a

         11  point of living well, as they live longer. And

         12  that's been our intent.

         13                 So, we feel very comfortable because

         14  we have strong medical models that we can move the

         15  HOPWA money to its original intent.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Did the Swap

         17  program ever achieve its stated aim of saving the

         18  City money?

         19                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Do you want

         20  to answer that, Frank?

         21                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DONNO:

         22  From the purely financial perspective, yes, it did.

         23  There was, in fact, a CTL reduction when the HOPWA

         24  Swap was implemented, and that CTL has been restored

         25  as the monies have been moved to support the new
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          2  housing units.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Okay.

          4                 Well, I hope we don't lose the $237

          5  million for failure to not reach our threshold of 50

          6  percent. And I would join with the Chair and the

          7  rest of the Committee to realize that we wouldn't

          8  want that to happen either.

          9                 But you said something I think that

         10  really is very important, and this is really my last

         11  statement; and that is, about the word poverty. That

         12  reminds me of this word affordable, nobody can

         13  define it for me.

         14                 Affordable is for those who can

         15  afford it. I think poverty is seen in economic terms

         16  as the haves versus the have-nots, but the ability

         17  to have is what's important to me, and what I think

         18  should be important to you, and as well as the

         19  Administration. One's ability to be educated is like

         20  saying I've never had an IQ test, and I've never

         21  been taught. But when I am given a test, I have a

         22  wonderful IQ, I could go to Princeton and Harvard.

         23  But I think in this poverty area, you gotta equate

         24  that to, I believe one of my colleagues, Ms. Brewer,

         25  mentioned it, it relates to opportunity. Job
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          2  opportunity. The ability to earn. You know, earning

          3  is very, very important. There is a certain

          4  character to people who earn a dollar, they spend it

          5  wisely and they save.

          6                 When the immigrants first came here

          7  and they just didn't have anything, they had the

          8  desire and the ability to learn. But if you treat

          9  people as though, you know, poverty means they don't

         10  have the ability to learn, that you don't offer

         11  them, other than construction jobs and training

         12  centers, then I have a problem with that. Because we

         13  have a lot of, you know, as an African-American

         14  male, and take a look at the New York Times the day

         15  before yesterday, you know, we are in a very sad

         16  state in terms of employment.

         17                 And I know that my fellow brothers

         18  have graduated from Harvard and graduated from

         19  Howard and graduated from Yale and other places, and

         20  it's not a matter of working at a job center getting

         21  a skill, learning how to lay cement, that we can

         22  work at Merrill Lynch and the best of the stock

         23  brokerage houses. We can do architectural designs,

         24  and those are the things that I think are very

         25  important.
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          2                 The news this morning gave a very

          3  good American analogy of richness versus property. A

          4  family being lost in the middle of winter in a

          5  trailer with their whole family, and the knowledge

          6  that they used to survive, you would have to go to a

          7  college to get a master's degree. But they survived,

          8  because you know what? They had the will, the

          9  desire, and they had a sense of family. And I think

         10  that one of the things that HRA has is to build

         11  families.

         12                 I think public assistance was just

         13  that, to assist people to get them off of public

         14  assistance, not public dependency, and unless we

         15  include ways out, then we'll always have people in,

         16  and we'll always complain about the people that are

         17  in.

         18                 So, I just wanted to give my comment

         19  on what I think another sense the mission is, to be

         20  able to work as a quality of life issue, Mr.

         21  Chairman. And I think that we should begin to add

         22  that to the list.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: The same way we

         25  add sound, the same way we add additional police,
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          2  the same way we say if you drop paper on the floor,

          3  the same way if people no longer can smoke because

          4  of health issues and buildings, their ability to

          5  have a job, and their willingness to work is a

          6  quality of life issue.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Thank you very

          9  much.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I know Council

         11  Member Brewer has a follow-up on a previous line of

         12  questioning.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I'll be quick.

         14                 In the testimony I guess at the

         15  hearing in 2004, for FY 2005, the words Supportive

         16  Training for Employment Preparation known as STEP,

         17  which I mentioned, was mentioned. Now I understand

         18  that that is a Department of Education program on

         19  construction jobs.

         20                 So, I'm just wondering what happened

         21  to that program. Now I guess it's called Back To

         22  Work, or what I was talking about in the line of

         23  questionings today was called Back To Work. So, I'm

         24  confused, what happened to STEP?

         25                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Well, I think
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          2  that STEP is where it is, in the Department of

          3  Education. I think that when you heard it in my

          4  testimony here in this Chamber, I remember one of

          5  the Council members in particular speaking loudly

          6  about the probability of it not ever being real.

          7                 I think that our Back To Work Program

          8  is HRA's initiative. I think what's encouraging is

          9  the Department of Education, and I can't speak to

         10  the many nuances of how they plan to implement it.

         11  It has taken that idea and added to that component

         12  an educational piece as well as the vocational

         13  piece.

         14                 So, what we've come to in the end

         15  run, is that Department of Education has a program

         16  working towards an end, and HRA has a program

         17  working towards an end, so we began two programs as

         18  opposed to one, but they're two separate programs.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Good. Because

         20  when the Chancellor was here the other day, I've

         21  been going to most of the budget hearings, he did

         22  say that there are, and we all know this, young

         23  people who may or may not go to college. So, is this

         24  the program that he was talking about, but he didn't

         25  mention the word STEP?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: I'm not sure,

          3  Ma'am. It could be. I know that the description of

          4  their program is the description of STEP, Ma'am.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. I guess

          6  it would be helpful, obviously I'm interested in the

          7  employment, picking up on what Council Member White

          8  said, employment is a route out of poverty for sure.

          9                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Mm-hmm.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Everybody

         11  should have the opportunity to have a job that pays

         12  a living wage.

         13                 So, my question is, this back to work

         14  is one aspect of what you're talking about on the

         15  job front. So, I would like, in follow-up to this

         16  meeting, some listing of what you are calling your

         17  job programs, and the budget associated and what

         18  they're doing. And then maybe that would help us and

         19  we will do the same question for DOE, asking them

         20  what their budget is for STEP and how it interacts

         21  with any other agencies.

         22                 That would be very helpful.

         23                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: As well as

         24  the Department of Labor, and their allocation of WIA

         25  funds, which is no longer in HRA.

                                                            103

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES COMMITTEES

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Correct. Okay,

          3  we will do that also.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay, to

          6  follow-up on that, I just want to make sure I have

          7  not misunderstood. I remember at one point the Mayor

          8  made what I thought was a very powerful speech, or

          9  put forward a very powerful program related to

         10  changing the way we handle the path to

         11  self-sufficiency that focus on outcomes and also

         12  follow-up on those cases to see that the outcomes

         13  were achieved in effect a businesslike approach.

         14                 So, I just want to ask very clearly,

         15  because I don't know if I see it clearly enough in

         16  the material we got from the Mayor's Management

         17  Report, can you tell us right now, say for Fiscal

         18  Year '05, or Calendar Year '05 or Fiscal Year '06,

         19  whatever measure you want, how many people that you

         20  worked with in all categories were placed in jobs

         21  and for how long? Do you have that breakout now, and

         22  can you give us the quick rundown of that?

         23                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Dr. Desight

         24  (phonetic). Dr. Desight is tracking those numbers

         25  and our retention rates, and in other areas.
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          2                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          3  DESIGHT: Swa Desight (phonetic), Executive Deputy

          4  Commissioner, Office of Program Reporting Analysis

          5  and Accountability.

          6                 Last year we placed --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Calendar year

          8  or fiscal year, I'm sorry.

          9                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         10  DESIGHT: Calendar year.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

         12                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         13  DESIGHT: 2005.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

         15                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         16  DESIGHT: We placed 86,000 people in jobs. And our

         17  three-month retention rate for these people was 87

         18  percent, and our six month retention rate for these

         19  people was 77 percent.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And that is

         21  people who you placed for the first time? Or does

         22  that also include people who may have come back into

         23  some form of public assistance and then got placed

         24  anew?

         25                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER
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          2  DESIGHT: We count during the year. This is an

          3  unduplicated count.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: This is a?

          5                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          6  DESIGHT: Unduplicated count within a year.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: In the case

          8  that's only been handled one time.

          9                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         10  DESIGHT: Right.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, do it

         12  again, if you will. The 90-day and the 180-day?

         13                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         14  DESIGHT: Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. Do you

         16  track past 180?

         17                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         18  DESIGHT: We have done, we just started tracking nine

         19  months, and in the nine months we are finding 72

         20  percent.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Excellent.

         22                 And is that all, does that include

         23  WeCARE? Does that include all type of programs?

         24                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         25  DESIGHT: It's all types of programs, as well as
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          2  self-reported placements.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And is there a

          4  number for the universe? I think you said your

          5  initial figure was 86,000? Is there a number of

          6  other who could be placed who were not yet placed

          7  for that year? In other words, people who had the

          8  potential placement, who were not placed?

          9                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         10  DESIGHT: Yes, people who are in process, working

         11  with our ESP program, with our WeCARE Programs and

         12  other programs.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I mean, do you

         14  have an overall number? Just I'm trying to get your

         15  universes.

         16                 You've made very clear, and I

         17  appreciate it, of the 86,000 and how they fared over

         18  those three time measurements. Can you also tell us

         19  how many people did not get to the point of

         20  placement who were eligible?

         21                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         22  DESIGHT: No, I couldn't.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. Is there

         24  any measure of how many people were being reviewed

         25  for the eligibility?
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          2                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH:

          3  Those who are still working with any of our vendors,

          4  those who are still in some sort of process would be

          5  eligible for placement.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Right.

          7                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH: We

          8  have an engagement report that's on our web that

          9  breaks down at any given point in time, who is

         10  employed, who is engaged with our vendors, et

         11  cetera.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Let me ask it

         13  again. You know, this is the annual budget hearings.

         14  I think any of these numerical things are pretty

         15  fair game.

         16                 During Calendar Year '05, can you

         17  tell us how many people did not get to placement who

         18  were somewhere in the pipeline? So they were being

         19  trained, they were being assessed, whatever, but

         20  they didn't get to the point of actual placement? So

         21  we have a measure to see, you know, 86,000

         22  represents what percent of your potential placeable

         23  people?

         24                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH: Yes,

         25  what we can do, Council member, is calculate the
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          2  number based on how many people were in some sort of

          3  process at the end of the calendar year, and the

          4  remainder, in essence, of the 86,000 would be those

          5  who were not placed. We can certainly break that out

          6  and get that back to you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: We'd like that,

          8  and we'll send the follow-up letter on that.

          9                 Quickly, back on WeCARE, so, I've got

         10  your number in front of me here. You placed 1,087,

         11  and 229 got disability benefits, but then you said

         12  the overwhelming number, of course, the 68,000 went

         13  through assessments. Now, my understanding is the

         14  budget for WeCARE is something like 45 million; I

         15  don't know, is that accurate?

         16                 Okay, I'm sorry, the expenditure was

         17  45, the budget itself apparently originally was 67.

         18  Am I in the ballpark here? Okay.

         19                 So, just on a question, since we are

         20  an oversight committee interested in bang for the

         21  buck for the taxpayers, I mean, I understand how

         22  difficult the placement issue here, and it gets back

         23  to everything we asked, talked about in the

         24  beginning with the environment we're working in. And

         25  I'm not belittling the assessments as an important
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          2  piece of this, but are we getting $45 million worth?

          3  And if so, why, if we ultimately only got 1,087

          4  placed?

          5                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: You want per

          6  client rate?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I think there's

          8  been a lot of concern. This is not about your

          9  agency, as much about vendors in general, in many

         10  agencies. What I'm trying to understand is how much

         11  does it cost to get an assessment done, how much

         12  does it cost to get someone placed? If you're just

         13  looking at placement, 45 million for a thousand and

         14  change is not really inspiring. If you're looking at

         15  assessment as a thing unto itself, then the question

         16  is, how much does each assessment cost and is it

         17  worth it?

         18                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DONNO:

         19  The WeCARE Program's ultimate goal is not

         20  necessarily to have everyone that goes through the

         21  program be placed.

         22                 That is one of the potential

         23  outcomes. Certainly another one is having people

         24  transition from public assistance to federal SSI

         25  benefits and so on. Ultimately the real goal of the
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          2  program is to thoroughly assess the clients who come

          3  to us, indicating that they have some barrier to

          4  employment in order to get them to the appropriate

          5  type of service.

          6                 In some cases that's full engagement

          7  in the employment program. In others it means that

          8  they are going to be potentially exempt from

          9  participation because of their disability, and in

         10  some cases it means an SSI benefit.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I appreciate --

         12                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: You're asking

         13  the per client.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Yes, I mean

         15  just simple math, it seems to me it's over 500 per

         16  assessment, and my question is, is that all you're

         17  getting or are there some additional services that

         18  go with that assessment that make that 500 or more

         19  worthwhile?

         20                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: There are

         21  additional services that go along with it. As

         22  clients go through the assessment process and

         23  they're identified as people who are chronically

         24  ill, what we found in our system of WeCARE is we

         25  have the capacity right now to stop that process and
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          2  get that client to immediate care. Whereas before a

          3  client might have been, as I said, going through a

          4  system aimed for each individual assessment by

          5  vendor - today I'm going to get this, today I'm

          6  going to get that, today I'm going to get that -

          7  while at the same time the client simultaneously

          8  using their Medicaid card to prove us wrong or prove

          9  us otherwise. There are additional services

         10  available.

         11                 What we will do is, we will get you

         12  that per client rate. Current.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: That will be

         14  helpful. And also, just to clarify what we get. So,

         15  if it is in effect traveling with the client through

         16  the system and someone who is acting as a broker or

         17  a facilitator, you know, they're working with them

         18  over a period of time. An assessment sounds like you

         19  sit in a room one day and you're out.

         20                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: No. No.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I think we need

         22  to understand what it actually is as a practice.

         23                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Okay.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay, a couple

         25  other quick things, and then we'll be done in terms
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          2  of HRA.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Mr. Chair, can

          4  I just say?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Please.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I think

          7  earlier we suggested that the FEGS and the Arbor and

          8  their subcontractors, we get that information.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: And that could

         11  help clarify the situation.

         12                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: That's

         13  exactly right.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: That would be

         15  very helpful. I appreciate that.

         16                 Okay, on the day-to-day of your

         17  offices that work with potential Food Stamp

         18  recipients, so you mentioned, of course, you had

         19  gotten the grant to work on the Internet piece, and

         20  you know we've been very interested in the Internet,

         21  we've been interested in the fax, we've been

         22  interested in waving interviews in hardship cases.

         23  Give us just a quick and dirty, where do we stand at

         24  this moment in terms of use of fax and use of

         25  Internet?
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          2                 I heard the testimony, but I'm saying

          3  what does that mean? I mean, can you tell me by X

          4  day you expect people to actually start to be able

          5  to apply by Internet. Can people now apply broadly

          6  by fax? Where exactly do we stand?

          7                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Do we have

          8  the work plan?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Just

         10  reintroduce so the transcript is clear.

         11                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Mm-hmm.

         12  Mm-hmm.

         13                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         14  DIAMOND: The --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Say Seth

         16  Diamond, Seth.

         17                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         18  DIAMOND: Seth Diamond, Executive Deputy Commissioner

         19  --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: There you go. I

         21  guess my instruction was too abstract.

         22                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         23  DIAMOND: I was thinking of my answer. Sorry, not

         24  listening.

         25                 Mail and fax is permitted now and has
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          2  been permitted for, I think since March of 2004.

          3                 The Internet is part of the

          4  development of the Food Stamp grant that the

          5  Commissioner and Pat Smith referred to. Our target

          6  is to have the first pilot sites up for that in

          7  December of this year.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: December '06

          9  for pilots.

         10                 Presuming the success of the pilots,

         11  do you have an initial plan of when you'd like to

         12  make it broadly available?

         13                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         14  DIAMOND: I think that depends on a lot of other

         15  factors.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Do you have a

         17  goal? I mean, I know you guys strategically plan, is

         18  there a goal for when you'd like to be able to use

         19  the Internet presuming a successful pilot?

         20                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: I'm sorry.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And the answer

         22  is going with the right-handed lever.

         23                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: I try to be

         24  an administrator who allows the people who do the

         25  work to speak.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Go ahead.

          3                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          4  DIAMOND: Some time in the first part of 2007 we hope

          5  to have it rolled out certainly to as many sites as

          6  possible.

          7                 It's two components, just so we're

          8  clear on what we're talking about. One is the

          9  ability for people in food pantries and soup

         10  kitchens to apply on-line in a facilitated way

         11  through the assistance of Food Change.

         12                 But the other part of this is a

         13  larger paperless offer system roll-out that we

         14  talked about earlier that will be for all the Food

         15  Stamp offices. They're linked, but the Food Stamp

         16  office roll-out may take somewhat longer than just

         17  the ability --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, again,

         19  what's your goal for having -- presuming a

         20  successful pilot, and, you know, people are doing

         21  this all around the world now in one form or

         22  another, so what's your goal for having it across

         23  the board, 2007, 2008?

         24                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         25  DIAMOND: Well, I'm not sure. When you say across the
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          2  board, I'm not sure exactly what --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I guess I'm

          4  saying, I think we see in the private sector, you

          5  know, the absolute saturation of use of Internet for

          6  all sorts of transactions.

          7                 Let me ask it the other way around:

          8  Is it the goal of HRA that any one who qualifies for

          9  Food Stamps anywhere in New York City will be able

         10  to apply by Internet by some point in the

         11  not-too-distant future?

         12                 I gave you lots of wiggle room. That

         13  should be a yes or a no.

         14                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Not

         15  necessarily, sir. I mean, it's not necessarily a yes

         16  or a no. I think there are many variables you're not

         17  including in that.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Goal. Let me

         19  just say, the word "goal" means --

         20                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: I know what

         21  goal means.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: All things

         23  proving themselves possible.

         24                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: I know what

         25  goal means, the same way I know what interesting

                                                            117

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES COMMITTEES

          2  means. For Christ sakes, let it go.

          3                 We're trying to break it down to

          4  simple language because we find you get frustrated

          5  when we do it in Human Services' terms.

          6                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          7  DIAMOND: Okay, a couple of things. First there is

          8  the facilitated enrollment, which is what the

          9  subject of the grant is, and that's what we're

         10  working on. That we hope to have widely available,

         11  certainly, as the Commissioner alluded to, in the

         12  first part of 2007, assuming everything goes with

         13  the pilot.

         14                 What you were referring to is

         15  something different, and that is something that's

         16  part of a larger project that the City is working

         17  on, the integrated human service project that we

         18  talked about, that will allow pre-screening and

         19  other kinds of transmission information for all

         20  kinds of benefits on a schedule that is going to

         21  start as soon as next month.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I'm going to

         23  try one more time here.

         24                 We've got half a million people,

         25  according to USDA, who could be on Food Stamps and
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          2  are not. You guys are doing a great job of moving

          3  those numbers, but a half million people is a lot of

          4  people to reach. Meanwhile, it is 2006 here in

          5  America and the Internet has proven to be an

          6  extraordinary tool for reaching people efficiently

          7  and more and more people across income levels have

          8  access. It's not totally perfect, to say the least,

          9  but it's in your public library. It's a lot of

         10  places that people have access to.

         11                 Is it the goal? Do you believe

         12  strategically that you would like to see it be a

         13  broadly available tool that anyone can apply by

         14  Internet? If the answer is no because here is the

         15  problem, say that.

         16                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Yes, we do.

         17  We said yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Yes.

         19                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: We would like

         20  to see that. But that wasn't your original question.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, I think

         22  it was, but I'm not going to debate.

         23                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: No, no. You

         24  asked originally what was a date where it would be

         25  completely rolled out. That was what we heard.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I gave you not

          3  too distant future to give you wiggle room.

          4                 So, your goal is to be able to have

          5  people apply broadly by the Internet.

          6                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Absolutely.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Now, do you

          8  have any kind of time frame that you think is

          9  realistic.

         10                 I mean, I think from the public's

         11  point of view, if we knew it was 2008, 2009, 2010,

         12  at least it's something that then allows for

         13  oversight and positive pressure to keep us on the

         14  goal. Because you've got to assume it would

         15  substantially improve our ability to sign up those

         16  who are eligible.

         17                 So, is there any kind of time line in

         18  your current thinking?

         19                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: I'm going to

         20  answer you, and I know this annoys you, but if it's

         21  for the purpose of oversight, I would ask as a

         22  service provider how then are you going to provide

         23  oversight to the 97-year-old elder person who would

         24  not likely have a computer in their home.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I'm not saying,
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          2  Commissioner --

          3                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Well, I'm

          4  just saying to you. But I want to lay it out

          5  clearly, there are many variables of client

          6  population. The way you stated gives the assumption

          7  that this person can walk to the neighborhood

          8  library and use the system.

          9                 There are many variables that we have

         10  to look at as a social services entity.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay,

         12  Commissioner, we --

         13                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: We have to do

         14  facilitated with some and automated with others.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Just answer

         16  respectfully. You can say it doesn't fit everyone,

         17  but just how hard is it to say we have a sense of a

         18  time line?

         19                 If you say we don't have a time line,

         20  we're not committing to a time line, that's an

         21  answer.

         22                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: We're not

         23  committing to a time line.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. I think

         25  that's a mistake. But there's an answer.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay, moving

          4  on.

          5                 You mentioned, Deputy Commissioner

          6  Diamond, you mentioned facts. Let me just clarify on

          7  this. Is it available in any one of your offices,

          8  can they receive a fax, someone applying for food

          9  stamps?

         10                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         11  DIAMOND: Yes, a mailed application or a fax they can

         12  do --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Any office.

         14                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         15  DIAMOND: Correct.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

         17                 Now, here's a very technical

         18  question. Does every office have sufficient faxes to

         19  allow for that? And likewise, does every worker have

         20  a phone, every worker who has to do this work and

         21  may have to follow-up, if clients have a phone

         22  dedicated to them.

         23                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         24  DIAMOND: Every office has a fax machine so they can

         25  receive applications. And not every worker has a
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          2  phone, but workers have phones as needed.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, let me

          4  ask it another way. It is every worker who needs to

          5  use the phone, have --

          6                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Access.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: -- Access at

          8  all times to a phone. I mean, the obvious idea would

          9  be that everyone has a phone so they know they have

         10  access.

         11                 But are you saying you can

         12  essentially guarantee that every worker out there

         13  working on eligibility can get to a phone any time

         14  they need it.

         15                 Because, again, we're talking about,

         16  we're appreciating the efficiency you achieved and

         17  now you have another half-million people to try and

         18  reach, so every bit of efficiency helps.

         19                 Does everyone who does this work and

         20  needs a phone have a phone?

         21                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         22  DIAMOND: If they need it for their work, then they

         23  have access to a phone.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: In every

         25  office?
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          2                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          3  DIAMOND: Yes. Not every worker has a phone, not

          4  every worker needs a phone. They have access to a

          5  phone, depending on the nature of the work they're

          6  doing.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. Every

          8  office has a fax machine, every person who needs

          9  access to a phone one way or another has access to a

         10  phone.

         11                 Presumably if the level of fax

         12  activity increases, you're ready to add fax machines

         13  as needed?

         14                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         15  DIAMOND: Yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

         17                 Does every worker who needs a

         18  computer to process applications, particularly as

         19  we're moving towards more of the information

         20  sharing, does everyone who needs a computer have a

         21  computer that they have full access to?

         22                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         23  DIAMOND: Yes. In job centers, every worker who

         24  processes applications, or undercare cases has a

         25  computer on the desk. In the Food Stamp offices
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          2  that's not currently the set up, but the work flow

          3  does not require that. It's a different kind of

          4  system where the workers basically fill out material

          5  on paper and then hand it in for data entry. That's

          6  one of the things, that's an archaic system we

          7  agree. That's one of the things that we want to

          8  change, and is part of the overall grant.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, your goal,

         10  very broad here, your broad goal is to create a more

         11  private sector-like dynamic where every worker has a

         12  computer, I assume a phone as well, at their desk.

         13                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         14  DIAMOND: Yes, every worker would have a computer.

         15  They would do on-line interviewing so the people

         16  wouldn't have to fill out applications by hand and

         17  be later data entered. It would be a yes, a much

         18  more modern system.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Do you have a

         20  rough time line for when you'd like to implement

         21  that?

         22                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         23  DIAMOND: Again, that will start to be implemented at

         24  the end of this year, in December, and the roll-out

         25  will continue into 2007.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, at some

          3  point 2007, hopefully you would have a

          4  fully-equipped dynamic?

          5                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Mm-hmm.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

          7                 Last question I have here. We had a

          8  hearing a few weeks back where HRA was represented

          9  and DFTA was represented on the question of the home

         10  care issues and the people who provide home care.

         11  And just to be very, very clear, it was abundantly

         12  clear from the Administration representatives of the

         13  hearing that we understand the difference between

         14  home care provided under City contracts, and home

         15  care provided, or different types of home care

         16  provided by the same, in fact, agencies that do

         17  contract with the City, but in those cases, not

         18  under City contract for that particular function.

         19                 And the point that was raised, was no

         20  misunderstanding between the difference of those two

         21  types of work, because it's clear that when a City

         22  contract is involved, a higher standard is being

         23  implemented in terms of wages benefits, et cetera,

         24  because of our living wage law and other factors.

         25                 But the point that was raised is,
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          2  isn't it appropriate for the City to use its rather

          3  substantial leverage to create an environment that

          4  encourages those agencies to provide better wages

          5  and benefits to the workers who are not working

          6  under a City contract, on the theory, and, again, I

          7  think you know the statistics, these are workers who

          8  get minimum wage, in many cases do not have health

          9  benefits, et cetera, the theory being that once

         10  again it will all come back around and who will pay

         11  for it? The taxpayers, because people who are not

         12  being provided insurance by their employers, a lot

         13  of times are emergency rooms and other public

         14  systems, such as your own, end up handling one

         15  problem or another.

         16                 So, the question simply is, can this

         17  Administration use some leverage in the situation to

         18  get these same agencies you do a lot of business

         19  with to provide a living, a better wage and better

         20  benefits to workers who are not the ones under City

         21  contract?

         22                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: I think I'm

         23  going to have my general counsel answer that.

         24                 MS. WALSH: Good morning. My name is

         25  Maureen Walsh. I'm Interim General Counsel for HRA.
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          2                 As you've stated, this issue came up

          3  recently and we were here and testified about this

          4  issue.

          5                 James George, who is Deputy General

          6  Counsel of Contracts was here. And we have the same

          7  position, that the City cannot use its procurement

          8  as a vehicle for seeking to improve the wages and

          9  benefits of employees not working on our contracts.

         10  There is no mechanism for this. It's not within the

         11  purview of our contracting process.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I appreciate

         13  that answer. That answer was given at the last

         14  hearing.  On the legal level, I appreciate it. I'm

         15  saying something a little different.

         16                 I'm saying that the City still has

         17  substantial ability to effect these contractors. And

         18  even if you want to take it away from the economic

         19  leverage, and just talk about the City's leadership

         20  on these issues, isn't it something that we should

         21  focus on? I mean, we are doing business with these

         22  same agencies. So, I'm just trying to break it down

         23  to a very simple level. We have a relationship with

         24  the agencies, let's just keep it on that very broad

         25  concept. Wouldn't it be in the interest of the City
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          2  for them to provide better wages, and certainly to

          3  provide health insurance? Wouldn't that be something

          4  that would be in the taxpayers' interest and the

          5  City's policy interest to see happen?

          6                 And if it is, can there even be an

          7  informal effort to suggest that that would be

          8  helpful?

          9                 MS. WALSH: I think we have to bring

         10  it back to the procurement policies of the City, and

         11  the legal, you know, our legal mandates, and I don't

         12  see where we go down that road, considering how

         13  we're directed within procurement to find, you know,

         14  the best price, the best service for the best price.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay, again, I

         16  don't want to belabor it. I think I've made the

         17  point. I would urge that it go beyond the narrow

         18  legal issue to the question of can we improve the

         19  situation of folks who otherwise are going to end up

         20  in our emergency rooms, and taking advantage of a

         21  lot of the services you provide, when in fact it

         22  could be handled by the agencies that employ them.

         23                 Anyway, we've made that point.

         24                 I want to just do one more follow up

         25  on the previous topic really quickly, and tell me if

                                                            129

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES COMMITTEES

          2  folks here can't answer and we need to bring Seth

          3  back.

          4                 Is there a general strategy in place

          5  as you implement the Internet pilot as hopefully the

          6  facts becomes more widely used as you provide more

          7  equipment so that people can process more

          8  applications. Is there a vision for whether your

          9  personnel needs will increase, as demand increases?

         10                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH:

         11  Well, we certainly look at that. And certainly there

         12  is some element hopefully of our needs moderating

         13  more where we don't necessarily have to see a person

         14  more than once, and we don't necessarily have to see

         15  them for things they could possibly provide.

         16                 When we get to the point, for

         17  example, and we're already showing some benefits

         18  from our electronic imaging system, in that in an

         19  individual who was formerly connected to public

         20  assistance, now in the future needs Food Stamps, we

         21  literally can go into the file that is

         22  electronically stored and get a copy of the birth

         23  certificate or the children's birth certificate.

         24                 So, all the electronic enhancements

         25  are coupled with changes or minimally analysis of
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          2  what the staffing needs are.

          3                 So, we would certainly hope that the

          4  staffing needs would be adequate at the current

          5  levels, but if we needed more staffing, or frankly,

          6  less staffing, that analysis would happen to ensure

          7  that the work gets done in the new mode.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, efficiency

          9  may allow you to do more with the same folks.

         10  Demand, may put additional demands on and you're

         11  going to see how that shakes out. But if it took

         12  more people to get more people processed, you're

         13  open to that?

         14                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Absolutely.

         15                 And I think, sir, you're on to

         16  something, because what we're looking at currently,

         17  just in a staffing analysis in general, and HRA,

         18  historically the staffing pattern has been based in

         19  caseload, and a general assumption is, is with the

         20  reduction of the PA caseload you need less. And we

         21  are right now looking at the staffing in

         22  relationship to work efforts, as opposed to

         23  caseload. Because the truer correlation would be if,

         24  in fact, the caseload has become more complicated

         25  than simple processing of benefit as in the past,
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          2  moving someone to WeCARE, doing assessment and

          3  referral to many entities looking at a whole family

          4  construct, then it is our charge at HRA to present

          5  to OMB a new pattern of the work.

          6                 So, we're right there with you, and I

          7  think that, yes, we are committed to that.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Positive note

          9  to end on. Thank you, Commissioner. Thank you to

         10  your team. I appreciate it very much.

         11                 And now I'd like to excuse our

         12  friends from HRA and call forward our friends from

         13  the Administration for Children's Services.

         14                 We welcome you, Commissioner, and

         15  before we get underway, let me say, we're going to

         16  do this part of our budget hearing on the General

         17  Welfare Committee jointly with the Committee on

         18  Women's Issues, as we have done historically. But

         19  we're very happy to have a wonderful new Chair of

         20  that Committee, Helen Sears of Queens, who is

         21  joining us now. And I'd like to reintroduce Council

         22  Member Annabel Palma, from the General Welfare

         23  Committee, who continues with us.

         24                 And, Commissioner, sorry we're

         25  getting off to a little bit of a late start. We had
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          2  many issues to discuss with our friends from HRA,

          3  and we welcome your testimony.

          4                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Thank you,

          5  Chair DeBlasio, Chair Sears. I happen to be your

          6  constituent, Chair Sears. And members of the

          7  Finance, General Welfare and Women's Issues

          8  Committee.

          9                 I'm John Mattingly, the Commissioner

         10  for the Administration for Children's Services, and

         11  I'd like to take this opportunity to brief the

         12  committees on safeguarding our children, our action

         13  plan for 2006, and update you on our progress in

         14  implementing Rethinking Child Care: An Integrated

         15  Plan for Early Childhood Development in New York

         16  City, especially as these initiatives affect our

         17  2007 budget.

         18                 This morning, Mayor Michael Bloomberg

         19  announced a far-reaching action plan to continue

         20  building a child welfare system that fully

         21  represents the City's commitment to take bold action

         22  to protect New York City's children from harm.

         23                 Over the past decade, Children

         24  Services has made real progress in strengthening its

         25  child protection efforts for at-risk and for abused
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          2  children.

          3                 Significant investments in training,

          4  performance based evaluation, data management and

          5  other areas over the years have established a

          6  capable system that strives to accurately assess

          7  each family and make the right decisions to ensure

          8  the safety of children in these families.

          9                 Recent tragedies, as well as the

         10  resulting review of all our open child protective

         11  investigations ordered by Mayor Bloomberg, however,

         12  revealed serious concerns in specific areas of the

         13  agency's practice.

         14                 Children Services just do more to

         15  keep children safe and to reduce the risk of future

         16  abuse and neglect.

         17                 Specifically, we need to build on the

         18  extensive performance data management systems that

         19  have guided Agency operations over the past decade

         20  with new indicators that enhance accountability and

         21  more precisely gauge key child safety outcomes and

         22  related trends.

         23                 We also must enhance child protective

         24  investigatory practice among staff and supervisors,

         25  and we must ensure that every part of the system,
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          2  from child protection to family support to foster

          3  care, as well as every interaction children services

          4  workers have with an at-risk or abused child is

          5  focused first and foremost on ensuring safety.

          6                 In this 2006 Action Plan, Children's

          7  Services demonstrates how it will attain these three

          8  goals. Mayor Bloomberg, as you know, announced in

          9  January, an investment of $16 million and a series

         10  of initiatives to strengthen child protection in New

         11  York City.

         12                 Complete with time lines and

         13  benchmarks for achieving this progress, safeguarding

         14  our children lays out how ACS will strategically

         15  invest these funds and take critical action to

         16  produce better results for New York City's children.

         17                 The first goal of the plan is to keep

         18  children safe by measuring for results. Now, over

         19  the past ten years, as I mentioned, children

         20  services has tracked indicators of timeliness, such

         21  as the percent of investigations initiated in 24

         22  hours and the rate at which investigations are

         23  completed within 60 days.

         24                 Today we pledge to go farther, to

         25  manage for the results achieved for children, and to
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          2  hold leaders, managers and staff accountable for

          3  those results.

          4                 We must not only know, for example,

          5  how fast the agency unit or worker begins an

          6  investigation. We need to know how often the child

          7  is maltreated again, after a completed

          8  investigation.

          9                 With readily available outcome data

         10  at hand, Children's Services will identify emerging

         11  trends in investigatory practice, community

         12  dynamics, contract agency performance, and we will

         13  be positioned to act on these trends to keep

         14  children safe.

         15                 ACS plans to, first of all, institute

         16  ChildStat. Children's Services will continuously

         17  monitor performance data to identify those families

         18  and communities we come into contact with that are

         19  at greatest risk, and to track results of decisions

         20  made regarding services, family supervision or

         21  removal.

         22                 Based on such data, high-risk cases

         23  will be identified and assessed carefully and

         24  provided with greater supervision, and higher levels

         25  of service.
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          2                 Children's Services will routine

          3  assess the performance of protective services teams

          4  at all levels of the organization through regular

          5  accountability meetings led by the top of the

          6  agency, and through the use of performance tools,

          7  including a balanced score card for safety, which

          8  will be regularly updated and published at the

          9  community level, at the borough level, at the field

         10  office level, at the management level, at the

         11  supervisory level and at the worker level.

         12                 Secondly, we will redesign oversight

         13  of contract agencies. Children's Services intends to

         14  redirect staff capacity from administrative

         15  functions in ACS to field-based responsibilities to

         16  monitor the quality of services and outcomes

         17  achieved for children and families by all of our

         18  foster care and preventive agencies.

         19                 Finally, we will reinvent front-line

         20  quality improvement.

         21                 Children's Services intends to

         22  pinpoint units with case practice problems, which

         23  are determined many times through the data review I

         24  just mentioned, and then we will institute regular

         25  case reviews, using performance data, and ensure
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          2  that corrective action is taken.

          3                 Second goal is to sharpen

          4  investigatory skills and support sound decision. As

          5  you know, we recruit child protection staff with

          6  prior educational and work experience in social work

          7  or a related field, and we require classroom- and

          8  field-based training that has been nationally

          9  recognized as a gold standard program.

         10                 Building on this foundation, ACS will

         11  provide additional training, support and resources

         12  to make certain that the best safety decision is

         13  made every time.

         14                 In this area, ACS plans to establish

         15  the first New York City Leadership Academy for Child

         16  Safety. For the first time, critical managers who

         17  oversee teams of supervisors and workers, will be

         18  given specialized managerial training, mentoring and

         19  ongoing support to both insist on and to teach

         20  quality safety decision-making, and quality team

         21  building.

         22                 Secondly, we will reengineer our

         23  operations in the field offices. We will, with the

         24  help of outside management experts, rationalize our

         25  work process, improve incentives in the context of
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          2  recently introduced information management systems

          3  to ensure that the operations of each field office

          4  are organized to focus on making the best decision

          5  in every case for every child.

          6                 Thirdly, we will pursue labor

          7  management partnerships. Children Services will

          8  collaborate with front-line staff and their

          9  representatives to resolve administrative barriers

         10  and to maximize time spent on conducting thorough

         11  investigations and ensuring that children are safe,

         12  and we'll ensure that our investigations are

         13  thorough and lead to the best safety decision every

         14  time.

         15                 Finally, in this area, we will

         16  leverage law enforcement expertise. ACS will deploy

         17  to field offices experienced law enforcement

         18  investigators to coordinate with police and District

         19  Attorneys and provide specialized consultation.

         20                 These investigative experts will join

         21  a team of consultants in every field office, adding

         22  their know-how to that of the domestic violence,

         23  substance abuse, medical and mental health

         24  specialists already there.

         25                 Third goal is to focus on child
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          2  safety throughout ACS Children Services and the

          3  child welfare system in the City.

          4                 Children safety is the primary focus,

          5  it has to be, of every part of the child welfare

          6  system, from child protective investigations to

          7  family support to foster care, even through to

          8  adoption. Each and every service provided by ACS and

          9  its contract partners is designed first to protect

         10  children and ensure their well-being, and each

         11  interaction with the child and family is an

         12  opportunity to assess her safety and her well-being.

         13                 Children's Services will make

         14  strategic investments to refine and build

         15  accountability mechanisms and partner with

         16  individuals and organizations in the community that

         17  can help us keep children safe.

         18                 Here we plan to double the number of

         19  family oversight, family services staff. We will

         20  hire approximately 250 experienced child protective

         21  professionals to provide ongoing supervision of

         22  families and to hold accountable families for the

         23  safety of their children when removal, as it often

         24  is not, is not warranted.

         25                 Secondly, we will implement for the
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          2  first time, performance-based management for

          3  preventive services contracts. Children's services

          4  will build on existing accountability systems to

          5  ensure that family support services are effective in

          6  keeping children safe. Resources will be reallocated

          7  from low-performing to high-performing agencies, as

          8  we have in the case of Family Foster Care.

          9                 Thirdly, we will institute ongoing

         10  safety reassessments, making use of those families

         11  services workers.

         12                 We will continually reassess

         13  children's safety, and adjust safety plans whenever

         14  families do not follow their services plan, or if

         15  the services prove ineffective.

         16                 Fourthly, we will bolster community

         17  partnerships for child safety. We will fund new

         18  demonstration grants to local coalitions that know

         19  and work closely with police, school, community

         20  organizations and child protective teams in their

         21  areas.

         22                 Finally, we will establish

         23  neighborhood Child Safety Teams. ACS will assign its

         24  child protective managers, the teams of managers,

         25  supervisors, and line workers to specific geographic
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          2  areas and charge these teams to address the specific

          3  needs found in those neighborhoods.

          4                 And, finally, under this goal we will

          5  deploy the Safety Solution Team, a cadre of

          6  protective services experts from around the country,

          7  to help us problem solve barriers to effectiveness

          8  in the field office.

          9                 This action plan we believe will

         10  result in substantial improvements in indicators of

         11  child protection and overall outcomes for children

         12  in care.

         13                 These improvements will be reducing

         14  repeat mal treatment. Better investigatory

         15  decision-making, streamlined operations, enhanced

         16  oversight and improved utilization of services that

         17  work will keep children known to children services

         18  safe, as indicated by a targeted reduction of the

         19  percentage in children being hurt again by their

         20  parent or caretaker after they have come to our

         21  attention.

         22                 Increasing oversight of families to

         23  protect children, I have mentioned the 250 child

         24  protective professionals we will hire, and we

         25  expect, therefore, to be able to provide, to
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          2  increase our oversight from 1,500 families to 7,000,

          3  and this will allow ACS, we think, to continually

          4  reassess the safety of children in cases where

          5  removal is not warranted.

          6                 Finally, managing, maintaining

          7  manageable caseload, an unprecedented, I think

          8  anywhere in the country, bold hiring initiative. An

          9  immediate filling of vacancies, as we go on, will

         10  keep caseloads at a manageable level for front-line

         11  staff.

         12                 Children's Services will have trained

         13  workers ready to hit the field whenever vacancies

         14  occur, helping meet the goal of holding child

         15  protective caseloads to a systemwide average of 12.

         16                 Now, since Mayor Bloomberg's

         17  announcement in January of a series of new

         18  investments, Children's Services has already begun,

         19  I think, to make significant progress in

         20  implementation.

         21                 We have reviewed all open child

         22  protective investigations in the City, including a

         23  Central Office Review of a sample of each

         24  supervisor's cases.

         25                 We have distributed $9 million new
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          2  dollars to over 100 preventive services programs to

          3  a support enhanced services in high-need communities

          4  this year.

          5                 We have hired a senior advisor for

          6  investigations and a senior advisor to me, who

          7  formally worked with a NYPD Special Victims Unit. In

          8  fact, headed it up.

          9                 The senior advisor is charged with

         10  hiring 20 seasoned former law enforcement personnel,

         11  imbedding them within our field offices and

         12  enhancing our investigatory capacity.

         13                 Further, ACS has recruited and begun

         14  work with a team of national child protection

         15  experts who are reviewing our safety assessment

         16  tools, examining our work process and assessing case

         17  practice in every field office. They will form the

         18  core of what we are calling our Safe Solutions Team.

         19                 Children's Services has, in fact,

         20  launched the Ombuds Office for Child Safety. This

         21  office is available to any City agency, or any

         22  independent foster care and preventive services

         23  agency that has concerns about the progress of a

         24  current or closed child protective investigation.

         25                 ACS has ordered 2,000 cell phones for
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          2  staff. All front-line staff in our Division of Child

          3  Protection are in the process of receiving a cell

          4  phone.

          5                 This includes all child protective

          6  specialists and their supervisors. We are in

          7  conversation with the State about, furthermore, the

          8  use of hand-held devices that can help workers spend

          9  less time at the computer and more time in the

         10  field.

         11                 Children's Services has temporarily

         12  redeployed more than 200 child welfare specialists

         13  to our Child Protection Field Offices, to support

         14  our specialists in their work, especially during

         15  this time of higher caseloads.

         16                 We are doing this to infuse the field

         17  offices with additional resources they need now to

         18  meet the high volume of new child abuse and neglect

         19  reports that have come in and to ensure the safety

         20  of the children under our watch.

         21                 ACS has also hired a new Deputy

         22  Commissioner for Child Protection, as well as a new

         23  Assistant Commissioner for that Division. We have

         24  appointed three Deputy Directors to field offices in

         25  the Bronx and made other management changes.
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          2                 Finally, ACS has made significant

          3  progress in hiring new staff and will continue to

          4  aggressively hire in the coming months.

          5                 We are on track to bring on 525 child

          6  protective specialists over the course of this

          7  Fiscal Year.

          8                 To date, 363 have come into training,

          9  and of that total, 145 have hit the field this

         10  fiscal year. Since January, 49 new child protective

         11  specialists have left training and entered the field

         12  offices, and an additional 200 workers will begin in

         13  the field in April. We expect to be fully staffed by

         14  June.

         15                 We will also be hiring 250 child

         16  protection professionals, as I mentioned earlier, to

         17  increase oversight of families.

         18                 Finally, we are interviewing

         19  extensively to fill our attorney, our trainer and

         20  child protective manager positions. Eighteen

         21  trainers will be on board by June, and the remaining

         22  ten will be with us by September.

         23                 All new attorney positions will be

         24  staffed by July, and we have identified many

         25  candidates to become child protective managers, and
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          2  will be promoting many candidates from within.

          3                 These promotions should become

          4  effective in July, after the influx of new child

          5  protective specialists has been completed.

          6                 All day long, six times an hour, once

          7  every ten minutes, New York City's child protection

          8  workers have to decide whether a child is safe or

          9  not in her own home. That's 50,000 times a year.

         10                 Being a child protective worker I

         11  think is one of the toughest jobs in America, and

         12  these dedicated men and women protect our most

         13  valuable resource, our children, and we intend to

         14  build upon their commitment and their capacity as we

         15  move forward.

         16                 Now, there are two additional new

         17  items in our 2007 budget plan.

         18                 First, ACS is undertaking a new Youth

         19  Placement Diversion Initiative.

         20                 Currently, there are a significant

         21  number of New York City Youth placed in institutions

         22  through the delinquency court process. Youth who are

         23  either already known to ACS or who have child

         24  welfare or family-related issues.

         25                 This initiative will provide an
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          2  effective alternative to placement, especially in

          3  distant institutions, by making a range of intensive

          4  community-based programs available to these youth

          5  and their families. Programs that have a proven,

          6  evidence-based, of their success.

          7                 These services will be funded through

          8  a reinvestment of savings from a reduced reliance on

          9  institutional placements, which are much more

         10  expensive, and in the case of these delinquent

         11  youth, result in an 80 percent recidivism rate

         12  within 36 months of the young person's release.

         13                 Children's Services anticipates that

         14  between 500 and 750 youth will be served by this

         15  initiative annually. We are hiring five MSW level

         16  social workers who will be available to do an

         17  individualized needs assessment and facilitate a

         18  youth's match to services.

         19                 The second initiative for the new

         20  fiscal year is enhanced foster parent support.

         21                 The goal of the Foster Parent Support

         22  Initiative is to distribute funds up front to our

         23  foster care providers, to invest in recruitment,

         24  training and supports for foster parents so that

         25  children in care remain in safe, stable settings.
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          2                 In a typical year, approximately 750

          3  children step up in their level of care from a

          4  family setting to a congregate placement. Through

          5  these enhanced services we hope to better respond to

          6  foster parent needs, as well as the needs of teens

          7  at risk of stepping up, and stabilize these

          8  placements so that the children can remain in a

          9  family setting, and with these funds, foster care

         10  providers can do targeted recruitment to attract

         11  foster care specifically for teenagers, to hire

         12  foster parent advocates and thus create a 24-hour

         13  support, including a support line for foster parents

         14  to help resolve their concerns, or provide a teen

         15  with mental health services.

         16                 A brief update on our reinvestment

         17  efforts in prevention and after care.

         18                 In Fiscal 2006, ACS reinvested

         19  savings from a reduced use of foster care to support

         20  after care services and prevention. In total, ACS

         21  increased funding for the services by 27 million,

         22  using both State and City funds.

         23                 Of this total investment, Children's

         24  Services allocated 18 million for the first time in

         25  the City's history, to support after care services
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          2  for permanency discharges, including reunification.

          3                 As I say, this represents the first

          4  time public funds have ever been used to create a

          5  system of support for after care services in New

          6  York City.

          7                 Preventive services, furthermore,

          8  received an additional 9 million. ACS has provided

          9  this after care money to foster care agencies as

         10  flexible funding to be used in expediting permanency

         11  for the children in our care.

         12                 These funds will be essential in

         13  achieving the goals laid out in the State's new

         14  permanency law and Children's Services will be

         15  monitoring our providers' progress in exactly this

         16  area.

         17                 Some examples of the type of services

         18  being supported by these funds, include, but are not

         19  limited to, housing assistance, to secure stable

         20  housing, parenting support and training, family

         21  counseling and specialized work with teens.

         22                 These services will be made available

         23  to children and families to prepare for permanency,

         24  as well as post discharge to help support them and

         25  their families and avoid reentry into care.
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          2                 The preventive services reinvestment

          3  supports a clinically enriched model of care in

          4  high-need communities.

          5                 Children's Services has developed a

          6  new program model for these services based on the

          7  needs identified by our staff in the Division of

          8  Child Protection.

          9                 We have selected eight providers to

         10  build targeted programs for teens, and four

         11  providers to serve infants.

         12                 We are now working to ensure that our

         13  field offices are well connected to these new

         14  services and providers, so that appropriate families

         15  benefit from this enriched model of services.

         16                 On the Child Care and Head Start

         17  front, this fall, as you know, we released our

         18  strategic plan for the integration of early

         19  childhood development services in New York City.

         20                 The plan identified six goals to

         21  better serve young children and families, with high

         22  quality, early childhood development services.

         23                 Six goals are:

         24                 - resources and community needs to

         25  analyze and respond to communities' needs for early
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          2  care and education by reallocating services.

          3                 - secondly, community-based

          4  enrollment to transition the system from a

          5  centralized determination of eligibility enrollment

          6  through a neighborhood- and program-based enrollment

          7  and eligibility.

          8                 - thirdly, we have targeted the

          9  improvement and monitored the quality of early child

         10  care services and devote more resources to the

         11  enhancement of such quality.

         12                 Information systems. We developed a

         13  plan to develop a unified, user-friendly and

         14  reliable information system for early childhood

         15  programs that will also enable the assessment of

         16  performance of child care, Head Start, and universal

         17  pre-kindergarten programs.

         18                 The assessment of performance being

         19  the key to that.

         20                 Next we have targeted facility

         21  expansion and management; that is, to create a more

         22  coherent and efficient system for managing child

         23  care facilities, that focused on new facility

         24  development and enhancement of ongoing facilities.

         25                 And finally, we have targeted early
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          2  child care and education integration and

          3  coordination.

          4                 We are in the process of creating a

          5  seamless system of early care and education

          6  coordinated with the Department of Education's

          7  Universal Pre-Kindergarten Programs, HRA's child

          8  care program, and our own Head Start and Child Care

          9  System.

         10                 Since announcing this plan, ACS has

         11  made significant progress.

         12                 In January, the Division of Child

         13  Care and Head Start launched its full enrollment

         14  initiative.

         15                 This initiative lays out the

         16  expectation that fully-funded programs will meet the

         17  terms of their contracts and operate at 100 percent

         18  enrollment. Or ACS will need to take any unused

         19  capacity and help meet the needs of underserved

         20  communities and children of younger ages.

         21                 To support the achievement of full

         22  enrollment, we have begun piloting community-based

         23  enrollment in the Bronx. ACS is providing intensive

         24  help to the agencies that choose to reach out to

         25  families directly and enroll them in their own
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          2  programs.

          3                 We have seen that our programs have

          4  been willing to try and adopt this new enrollment

          5  model, and for the pilot, 65 of 77 fully funded

          6  Bronx Child Care programs chose to do their own

          7  eligibility determination and enrollments.

          8                 During the two months in which this

          9  pilot has been underway, the number of

         10  fully-enrolled programs in the Bronx has doubled.

         11  And nearly 300 additional slots have been filled,

         12  providing hundreds of additional families with child

         13  care.

         14                 Moreover, the enrollment rate for

         15  Bronx Childcare Programs overall has increased by

         16  almost seven percent in less than three months from

         17  the baseline, and represents the highest percentage

         18  increase of many of the five boroughs.

         19                 As part of this initiative, ACS is

         20  working intensively with those programs with the

         21  lowest level of performance on enrollment.

         22                 To support these programs in their

         23  efforts to boost enrollment, Children's Services as

         24  assembled a team of program experts, including a

         25  former Assistant Commissioner for Child Care to work
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          2  closely with the 22 lowest-performing programs.

          3                 We have also worked with our local

          4  borough child care offices to ensure that they are

          5  primed to take in new applications for child care

          6  from these programs, and process them before any

          7  other applications.

          8                 Our efforts to increase enrollment

          9  and achieve full utilization are also underway in

         10  our Head Start programs.

         11                 Our push to increase enrollment in

         12  Head Start began earlier this fall, and as a result,

         13  our Head Start agencies are 99.5 percent enrolled

         14  today, with more children being served by Head Start

         15  in New York City now than at any time in our

         16  history.

         17                 And this in a context where our

         18  federal funding is so tightly constrained. This push

         19  has been critical as we work to prepare for the

         20  upcoming federal review of Head Start, known as the

         21   "prism." We expect this triennial review to begin,

         22  come this fall -- this coming July, I'm sorry. And

         23  we will be working closely with our providers over

         24  the coming months to prepare for the prism.

         25                 Another important goal of this plan
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          2  is the development of a unified system of standards

          3  for the City's early childhood programs.

          4                 We have recently entered into a

          5  contract with a team of experts in the field who

          6  will be leading this effort.

          7                 As a result of the community needs

          8  analysis called for in the strategic plan, which we

          9  have discussed with the Council, ACS has decided to

         10  prioritize the expansion of child care for younger

         11  toddlers and infants.

         12                 Infants and toddlers are the primary

         13  population served through family child care,

         14  representing 56 percent of all children who receive

         15  these services.

         16                 To prioritize their care, ACS

         17  received $4.5 million in additional funding to

         18  increase family child care rates, which was

         19  principally applied to these age groups.

         20                 With this funding, ACS was able to

         21  maximize the impact of our plan and provide rates

         22  for infant and toddler family child care that are

         23  equal to the 2005 market rate.

         24                 In applying the new market rates, ACS

         25  raised the rates for all age groups, except
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          2  school-aged children for whom the weekly rate

          3  remains confident.

          4                 It is important to note that only ten

          5  percent of children served by Children's Services

          6  family childcare providers are in this age group.

          7                 Moreover, the City's Out of School

          8  Time Programs now serve as the primary option for

          9  school-age children.

         10                 As part of the strategic plan,

         11  Children's Services is also assisting agencies in

         12  their efforts to support younger children.

         13                 We have invited all of our program

         14  contractors to describe to us how they would need to

         15  change their staffing or make facility changes to

         16  take in more two-year-olds.

         17                 We have gotten many creative

         18  responses, including a lot of interest in extending

         19  this service in the communities.

         20                 Final deadline for responses to this

         21  request is April 28. We believe that targeting an

         22  expansion to serve younger children will help

         23  providers achieve full enrollment and allow the City

         24  to make the best use of existing resources.

         25                 Regarding OST, Children's Services
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          2  continues to work to close out our remaining

          3  school-age child care contracts and transfer the

          4  funds that supported these contracts to DYCD for Out

          5  of School Time, OST.

          6                 We are currently in phase two of this

          7  transfer to DYCD. As described in our testimony from

          8  last year, our school age child care program will

          9  end in total in September 2006, after serving

         10  children throughout this summer.

         11                 At that time, ACS will cease funding

         12  all of our approximately 5,700 school-age contracted

         13  slots. To prepare for this final plan phase of

         14  transition, we have been meeting regularly with DYCD

         15  to transition children as smoothly as possible.

         16                 We are in the process of mapping out

         17  where Children's Services and DYCD overlap, diverge

         18  in contracted slots, for transitioning children in

         19  the summer and the fall.

         20                 We have also frozen school age

         21  enrollment after February 28 to maximize enrollment

         22  in DYCD programs and ensure that families do not

         23  receive truncated care.

         24                 Finally, ACS and DYCD are also

         25  co-scheduling meetings with parents at DYCD programs
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          2  to facilitate summer and fall enrollment.

          3                 Those meetings will begin in April

          4  and extend for over two weeks.

          5                 In conclusion, I hope that it's clear

          6  from my testimony today that Children's Services is

          7  fully committed to achieving our mandate of

          8  protecting at-risk and abused children and providing

          9  high-quality child care to families in New York

         10  City.

         11                 Thank you for allowing me to discuss

         12  these important items with you this afternoon, and I

         13  welcome any questions that you might have.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

         15  much, Commissioner. I have a series of questions for

         16  you, and I know Chair Sears has questions as well.

         17                 I want to in a moment go through some

         18  of the specific items and understand the budgetary

         19  implications. But let me say at the outset, I think

         20  today's announcement certainly is a huge step in the

         21  right direction.

         22                 I'm very glad to hear that the

         23  Administration is focusing on a more rigorous

         24  process of tracking the cases, and the kind of

         25  internal oversight that I think might have proved
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          2  decisive had it existed previously.

          3                 So, I want you to know we support

          4  what you're doing, and this is the kind of intensive

          5  and holistic approach that we have, you know, been

          6  hoping to see. I commend you.

          7                 I'm concerned, obviously. I think,

          8  you know, as an oversight committee we have to have

          9  a certain amount of continuity, so I think everyone

         10  wants to understand what has been the more immediate

         11  ramifications of some of the cases that were so

         12  gripping to all of us, and, you know, that were so

         13  universally felt as tragedies in this City.

         14                 So, let me just ask that at the

         15  beginning, because I think we should address it as

         16  the most obvious example of how we're dealing with

         17  the changes we need to make.

         18                 Please update us, first of all, just

         19  on the status of your investigations related to the

         20  Nixzmary Brown case and the Quachaun Browne case.

         21                 You've always been very good at being

         22  specific, but please be specific about time lines

         23  and actions you have taken, and actions you're

         24  looking at taking in those specific cases.

         25                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: As you know,
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          2  there are both, actually, there are three areas of

          3  responsibility for tragedies when they occur, but

          4  the two most important are the work done by the

          5  individuals attempting to make the right decisions,

          6  but the second piece is, did they in fact follow

          7  basic requirements, procedures and the minimum of

          8  adequate child protection practice.

          9                 And thirdly, are the systems in place

         10  that support those other two things happening.

         11                 As you know, we have produced, in

         12  fact at the last hearing, a preliminary report from

         13  our Independent Accountability Review Panel about

         14  their earlier judgments as to where responsibility

         15  lay in those three areas.

         16                 We are very close to being able to

         17  submit the final report in that regard, which I

         18  think will help answer some of these questions.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I'm going to

         20  press you on, what does close mean? Give us even a

         21  conservative estimate of when you think --

         22                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Two weeks.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Two weeks.

         24                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Within two

         25  weeks.
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          2                 And I'm going to meet with the panel

          3  and have a full-scale discussion with them before I

          4  can finally say this is what all of our findings

          5  are.

          6                 But as you know, in terms of the

          7  staff members, we have initiated, unfortunately,

          8  sadly, disciplinary action against six staff

          9  members.

         10                 We have, up to the point of my

         11  decision making anyway, made a decision to terminate

         12  three staff members, two supervisors and one worker,

         13  and we are continuing our review of the other three

         14  staff members involved.

         15                 So, that's the piece of the work

         16  which I talk about people having, being in the right

         17  position to do the job, but not following basic

         18  procedures.

         19                 So, that is underway.

         20                 We have, in fact, been meeting weekly

         21  with the Mayor's Office Leadership, under Deputy

         22  Mayor Gibbs, with the Department of Education, and

         23  the NYPD, to work through the issues of confusion or

         24  however you want to describe them, that led to not

         25  pulling together as we might have, in especially the
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          2  Nixzmary Brown case.

          3                 We will, the Mayor's Office, with the

          4  three commissioners, I'm sure, will again, probably

          5  within a few weeks, be able to report out in some

          6  detail, both what our conclusions were looking at

          7  the situation, and finally, the changes that we will

          8  be making in those relationships and those systems.

          9                 I think you will see when they are

         10  finalized, they are substantial in themselves and

         11  add a critical piece to this plan, as well. They're

         12  mentioned in the plan, but the details have not yet

         13  been finally hammered out.

         14                 In terms of the systems issues, we

         15  have attempted in the plan to address many of them

         16  that came forth.

         17                 We believe that our child protective

         18  managers are stretched too think, and we're

         19  attempting to oversee too many cases. That's why

         20  we're bringing more of them in, 30 plus, so that

         21  they can have only three minutes of workers

         22  responsible to them.

         23                 Secondly, we are building the

         24  Leadership Academy that will build out from those

         25  child protective managers, middle managers, both
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          2  toward the supervisors and the workers, and also up

          3  to the borough offices, build, the ability of

          4  managers to build their teams to hold them

          5  accountable.

          6                 Unfortunately, up to now, we have too

          7  often put managers in the position of taking a new

          8  job. We're under constant pressure, and, so, get

          9  started and we'll talk to you to see how you're

         10  doing.

         11                 That kind of approach hasn't,

         12  especially if you add to it the span of control

         13  issue, has to be improved, and that's part of what

         14  we're doing there.

         15                 There's no question, we have begun

         16  the process of sending out from my office safety

         17  bulletins to focus on issues on such things as

         18  educational neglect and its importance. That it is

         19  not actually a minor reason for child protective

         20  report, especially when there are patterns of it. It

         21  shows that there are deeper issues that need to be

         22  addressed, and we've highlighted that in our Child

         23  Safety Bulletin.

         24                 In addition, this relates especially

         25  to Quachaun Browne. Chronic neglect is especially
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          2  difficult for child protective systems to deal with.

          3  We are called in around a specific report and are

          4  responsible under the law to resolve the issues that

          5  leave children at some risk, and then to move on,

          6  and then to remove children from their families,

          7  only when there is imminent risk of serious harm.

          8                 And the cases in which a child

          9  neglect report is made, we begin the investigation,

         10  the family, quote, cleans up its act. We recommend

         11  preventive services, which they accept or decline,

         12  maybe go to, maybe not, and close the case.

         13                 That's standard practice and is

         14  appropriate practice in many neglect circumstances.

         15  The family got overburdened. They need help. They're

         16  willing and able to deal with a neglectful

         17  situation. We connect them with preventive services

         18  and we move on.

         19                 However, when there are a series of

         20  these events, and each time the same thing happens,

         21  there is a point at which we must, especially at

         22  that CPM level I was speaking to that we're going to

         23  enhance, we have to look at the pattern, and we have

         24  to take stronger action. We have legal requirements

         25  of when we can go in, just we must have imminent
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          2  danger of serious harm, but patterns are patterns

          3  and must be dealt with, and at least cause us to

          4  move to the next step of requiring court-ordered

          5  supervision.

          6                 With the building of our family

          7  services, family oversights units, we'll be able to

          8  fill in some of the gap between the two. But there

          9  must be a point, and we are intensely working with

         10  both our Family Court legal staff and our case

         11  worker staff to impress upon everyone, the

         12  importance of looking at the total pattern and not

         13  just the most recent report.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. Now, let

         15  me break down a few pieces here.

         16                 First of all, Commissioner, I

         17  appreciated your point during the testimony noting

         18  just how difficult the work of the front-line child

         19  protective workers is, and, you know, I think there

         20  was some concern in the aftermath of these

         21  tragedies, that, you know, individual workers were

         22  being treated as the whole problem and there might

         23  have been an atmosphere of scapegoating, when, in

         24  fact, the more we've learned about these cases, the

         25  more we realize there is really a systemic problem.
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          2  It's not to forgive any mistakes any individuals may

          3  have made, it's to note just how many things went

          4  wrong in each of these cases.

          5                 And I want to refer in a moment to

          6  the hearing we had when we had the NYPD here as

          7  well, which brought up a host of other issues.

          8                 But I think the immediate concern, I

          9  think we see a lot of important progress in the

         10  announcement today and in the previous announcement

         11  in January. And I have no doubt that you're trying

         12  to address a number of the challenges.

         13                 I'm still very concerned on a policy

         14  level that it still seems that you can have a lot of

         15  evidence in front of your face of an ongoing problem

         16  which could in fact be quite dangerous to a child,

         17  and it still seems that there are legal impediments,

         18  structural impediments, bureaucratic impediments

         19  that keep your agency from taking action.

         20                 So, I think you're saying that you're

         21  now reassessing all that in light of everything

         22  we've experienced. But I guess I'm looking for a

         23  clear answer on what do we need to do to further

         24  empower the front-line workers who believe, and may

         25  I say any other appropriate personnel, such as our
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          2  school personnel who see these kids, what are we

          3  doing to speed the process of determining whether in

          4  fact this is a situation where a child may need to

          5  be removed, even if only temporarily?

          6                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Sure. A whole

          7  range of things. It's hard to put into --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, what

          9  changes. Let's start with specific changes you've

         10  had to make to facilitate that.

         11                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Well, we

         12  have, for example, in the chronic neglect situation

         13  issued bulletins describing what we expect of

         14  everyone from top to bottom in the organization, in

         15  terms of considering the entire process.

         16                 Neglect. Chronic neglect needs to be

         17  paid more attention to by all of us. We attempted to

         18  begin that process.

         19                 We have met with our Family Court

         20  attorneys to let them know of our concern about this

         21  and to make sure that when workers come forward with

         22  a history like this, we don't just simply say I

         23  don't have imminent risk. I don't know that we can

         24  go into court.

         25                 We also work with both the attorneys
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          2  and our managers to focus more attention on those,

          3  on asking for court-ordered supervision, so that we

          4  have -- we fill in some of the gap between

          5  preventive services and placement.

          6                 And, most importantly, I think the

          7  building of these family oversight units, will put

          8  workers in a position where, first of all, they can

          9  hand off the case to another worker to plug a family

         10  in to get help, the help that they need, so they can

         11  finish their investigation, close it out and go on

         12  to do another quality investigation.

         13                 Those are the kinds of systemic

         14  changes we are making. There's many more of them.

         15  But in the long-run, what we have to do is get

         16  enough workers on the ground fully trained. As you

         17  see in the plan, there's a whole focus from national

         18  experts on child protection procedures and policies,

         19  and they're doing an analysis of them to see if

         20  there are specifics we need to look at. And then the

         21  curriculum will be looked at very carefully by the

         22  same team of people.

         23                 So, steps are underway to strengthen

         24  the system. For example, the Connections problems

         25  are still there, but with our pressure and the
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          2  State's goodwill, we have begun to bring down the

          3  time it takes cases to get into the Connection

          4  system, and the State has agreed to give us

          5  authority to step in and take over the Connection

          6  system for our cases.

          7                 That's going to take some months, but

          8  that, too, once we get a hold of it, we'll be able

          9  to make it work.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So what's your

         11  time line for that?

         12                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: We should be

         13  able to begin the process of the handoff by June.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And once you

         15  have fully transitioned, how long will it then take

         16  to act on each case?

         17                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Well, the

         18  60-day timetable is what's required and is what we

         19  should do.

         20                 We generally have met those time

         21  frames of getting the conclusion drawn within that

         22  period of time is really not outlandish at all. Many

         23  states it's 30 days. Sixty days is fine. The

         24  question is, first of all, we have to get those

         25  caseloads back down where they need to be so that
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          2  people can close out their cases.

          3                 Secondly, we have to press for our

          4  staff to not only do that initial assessment, which

          5  in all of these cases tends to happen pretty

          6  quickly, but to follow through and make sure we do

          7  the second, third and fourth step in a timely manner

          8  so that we can keep on top of a situation, and not

          9  lose the fact that there's been a change.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I will just

         11  jump in and say, you know, I have listened carefully

         12  over the years, and I, again, fully understand the

         13  nuances. This is extremely difficult, complicated

         14  work. No one is suggesting that anyone should do

         15  this fast and loose. But I'm also struck, you know,

         16  in these two tragedies, I think for any civilian out

         17  there, the question would be how many times do you

         18  have to get the same evidence over and over before

         19  action can be taken, and in both cases school

         20  personnel had worked very diligently to bring the

         21  issues to the appropriate attention, and we're going

         22  to have, as you know, on April 11th, a hearing

         23  talking specifically or looking specifically at the

         24  coordination between ACS and the Department of

         25  Education.
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          2                 But you know, there's also,

          3  particularly in the case of Quachaun Brown, the

          4  sense, you know that the physical dynamic in which

          5  he was living, you know, was abundantly clear.

          6                 I know Council Member Koppell raised

          7  this issue very intensely at our last hearing, I

          8  know Council Member Vann has also raised issues,

          9  because each of them had one of these cases occur in

         10  their district. But what I think I'm still having

         11  trouble understanding is, you know, if you see an

         12  apartment in fundamental disrepair, you see no food

         13  in a refrigerator, how many other indicators do you

         14  need?

         15                 It sounds like there's a chance here,

         16  even with some real strong problems that you still

         17  keep going back through the process, back through

         18  the process it stretches out, as opposed to

         19  indicators as obvious as that triggering a more

         20  immediate kind of action.

         21                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: I will say a

         22  couple of things. First background.

         23                 Actually there are two very different

         24  situations, both of which were tragic and very

         25  serious mistakes were made. On the one case, we only
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          2  had one prior referral. After a lengthy period of

          3  time we got the educational report, educational

          4  neglect report on this program. At that point, we

          5  had the opportunity to dig in deeply and find out

          6  what was going on in that family, which I don't

          7  believe we did. Furthermore, we had the opportunity

          8  at a minimum of saying there's a serious issue here,

          9  this family needs to be plugged into a preventive

         10  services agency that can help this mother be able to

         11  deal with her challenges or we will be able to make

         12  a determination, we have a more serious problem.

         13  Neither of those things happened.

         14                 In the second case what we were

         15  dealing with was one of those chronic neglect

         16  situations, which was treated each time as if here

         17  is what you've got to do. You do it, we'll get out

         18  of your life. And we didn't look enough at the whole

         19  picture.

         20                 There are 20 other of those

         21  scenarios. That's why training is so important and

         22  those managers are so important. There isn't one

         23  single simple set of things that you need to do, it

         24  will be very different. But I don't want to downplay

         25  the fact that each one of these incidents needs to
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          2  alert us to the need for action. And there should be

          3  and will be, as you see in the plan, a process by

          4  which we can determine, okay, in this case, a

          5  parent, for example, has let's say because of a

          6  medical condition lost control over her family's

          7  daily life. Can we help her?

          8                 If we can, will we stay on top to

          9  make sure that the help has actually paid off and

         10  the children coming to school?

         11                 That is part of this plan, and will

         12  and must happen.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I guess, I

         14  don't want to dwell, but I am looking for a little

         15  bit clearer answer.

         16                 It feels to me like, you know, it's

         17  not three strike and you're out here. It's like an

         18  unlimited number of strikes. And that, you know,

         19  yes, of course the discerning capacity of the

         20  front-line workers and their supervisors is crucial,

         21  training is crucial. I'm not belittling any of that,

         22  and they're difficult situations. But you know, and

         23  I'm going to come to a moment on the question we

         24  talked about previously of when people are not given

         25  access to a home, what does that mean in and of
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          2  itself. But let me take this other example of

          3  Quachaun Brown. You know, if you repeatedly see no

          4  food in the refrigerator, or you repeatedly see an

          5  unlivable, you know, substandard home environment,

          6  how many times do you have to see that before you

          7  realize the adults involved are not responding to

          8  preventative services. Again, you're the expert, I'm

          9  not, but don't you need some kind of numerical

         10  standard that forces action?

         11                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: No. No.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Then how long

         13  does it go on?

         14                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: It's the same

         15  discussion we had about educational neglect.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Then how long

         17  does it go on?

         18                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: It certainly

         19  doesn't go on as long as it has in those cases.

         20                 But my point is, there should be

         21  clearly the opportunity for taking serious action

         22  the first time, especially if in the course of the

         23  90-day investigation, the 60-day investigation, or

         24  the attempt to have preventive services in this

         25  family's life, that's rejected.
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          2                 When you start setting up simple,

          3  straightforward, if it's X number of days you do

          4  this, if it's X number of cases you do that, that's

          5  what a large public system will work from, and that

          6  will become the mandate. So, people will simply say

          7  to you, well, you said three, and this was only one.

          8  You know, we were following the rules.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Let me flip it

         10  around.

         11                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: That doesn't

         12  mean, though, that these circumstances shouldn't

         13  cause all of us to say to ourselves, how could it go

         14  on this long? You're absolutely right about that.

         15                 It need the right judgment, even in

         16  the very first call, and you've got to build that

         17  based on good policies, good supervision, access to

         18  services, and then a feedback loop when people don't

         19  take, make use of the help.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. So, just

         21  to dwell on that point for just a moment. And I know

         22  my colleagues have questions, we'll turn to them in

         23  just a moment.

         24                 If someone refuses preventative

         25  services, or as we saw in the case of Nixzmary
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          2  Brown, if someone refuses access to the home, I'm

          3  going to posit to you that that's the kind of

          4  numerical standard that should be pertinent. You

          5  know, there is no gray there. If they're not taking

          6  advantage of what you need them to take advantage,

          7  or the prevention, or they're not willing to show

          8  you what's going on, that that should ring a higher

          9  alarm bell.

         10                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Absolutely.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And start a

         12  sequence towards action.

         13                 Now, that didn't happen. Well, at

         14  least in the case of Nixzmary Brown, access was

         15  denied to the home and there was no particular

         16  sanction or action as a result of that.

         17                 I'm not as clear in the case of

         18  Quachaun Brown, whether preventative services were

         19  truly engaged or not. But is anything changing in

         20  your policy to create triggers like that?

         21                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Please

         23  describe.

         24                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: And many more

         25  than those. But certainly in a simple,
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          2  straightforward situation like being unable to get

          3  into the home, we now have a new policy we have made

          4  available. We have required of all of the staff as

          5  to, first of all, the importance of that not being

          6  allowed to continue, and secondly, the process by

          7  which you have to take action within a tight time

          8  frame to get into the home.

          9                 Secondly, as part of that, we will

         10  have new procedures worked out with the NYPD as part

         11  of this broader interagency work group that will

         12  make it much easier for our staff to get the help

         13  that they need to get into the home.

         14                 That is happening now. The policy is

         15  out there. The new procedures are out there, and the

         16  relationship about how to go about accessing law

         17  enforcement support will be there as well.

         18                 Furthermore, those 20 law enforcement

         19  people, retired law enforcement people we will have

         20  in the field offices will be another source of

         21  back-up, so that a worker can always go to one of

         22  them with a particularly difficult interview, with a

         23  parent, for example, who is truculent about

         24  something, or with getting into a home, if that's

         25  what it takes.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. So, now,

          3  real life scenario, just like tragically the

          4  Nixzmary Brown cases, access is denied, and there is

          5  concern about what's happening in previous

          6  interaction with the family. What's going to be

          7  different now? Just give us an actual what happens

          8  next?

          9                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: The clear

         10  instructions to everybody are, first the supervisor

         11  and then the child protective manager brought in, a

         12  decision is made that this meets the requirement

         13  that you've been unable to get into a home, that you

         14  need to investigate child abuse or neglect, and then

         15  efforts will be directed from the CPM and the Sup 2

         16  to contact the Police Department, get their help to

         17  move into action. And the details of that contact

         18  will be changing in the coming couple of weeks, so

         19  it will be much easier and clearer.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And the time

         21  line, roughly, from the moment access is denied, how

         22  long will it take to get to a decision to engage the

         23  police? How long will it take for the police to get

         24  physically involved, et cetera?

         25                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Well, it has
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          2  to happen immediately. It shouldn't wait for more

          3  than 24 hours. It may take some time to get these

          4  things rolling, but it can't wait for days. It can't

          5  wait for weeks. Certainly not the way it happened

          6  now.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Is the goal

          8  that it would happen the same day as the access is

          9  denied?

         10                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: In some

         11  circumstances it must. In others, it may need to

         12  wait until tomorrow. These are judgments you've got

         13  to make in this business.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: But are you

         15  going to set up a dynamic? And, again, I'm just

         16  going to press you for clarity.

         17                 Are you going to set up a dynamic

         18  where if your supervisors that from the caseworker

         19  two level up now engage. They say, yes, we need to

         20  get in right away, is it going to be a protocol that

         21  makes clear to NYPD that they have to engage that

         22  quickly and literally it might have to be the same

         23  day?

         24                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Yes. There is

         25  going to be mechanisms for that, too, yes.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: One other NYPD

          3  question. Then I'm going to turn to Chair Sears, and

          4  I think, I want to welcome back Council Member

          5  Brewer. I want to welcome Council Member Gonzalez,

          6  and if they have questions, we'll go to them, and

          7  then I'll come back around.

          8                 We have a lot of topics beyond the

          9  child welfare issues. I want to talk to you about

         10  child care, I want to talk to you about budget

         11  issues with the state. But just finishing on this

         12  one point.

         13                 There was a real point of confusion

         14  in the hearing where we had Commissioner Kelly, and,

         15  you know, everyone understands the good work of the

         16  NYPD and Commissioner Kelly. But the disagreement

         17  was really around the understanding of the protocol

         18  that was in place at the time of the Nixzmary Brown

         19  case, and I know that is all being reassessed.

         20                 The specific issue was the police

         21  were asked by ACS personnel to come to the school

         22  for the concern that the stepfather was going to be

         23  unruly when questioned about what was going on in

         24  the home, and the police interpreted that situation

         25  as being one where they were providing security for
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          2  the ACS personnel and nothing more; whereas, the

          3  protocol where we've read it, makes clear that

          4  investigation is always a dynamic of any police

          5  appearance and that, in fact, police should get

          6  involved in asking questions as well.

          7                 Can you clarify where we're going on

          8  this? Is it going to be clear going forward that if

          9  police are called in for any purpose, that there

         10  will be an investigatory role as part of that?

         11                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Yes. You'll

         12  find that in the agreement, quite explicitly, and

         13  the process by which an instant response team is

         14  called, will be crystal clear, and the process will

         15  be much more centralized so that the accountability

         16  can be quite clear.

         17                 You'll see that it's a very important

         18  part of our reaction to the situation.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And I

         20  appreciate that. The time line again on that is?

         21                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: It will be

         22  within weeks. Hopefully sooner.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

         24                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Hopefully

         25  sooner. But it's very close.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. I'll come

          3  back with some other questions in a moment, but

          4  first let me turn to my fellow Chair Helen Sears.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Thank you very

          6  much, Mr. Chairman.

          7                 First I want to thank you for holding

          8  this joint hearing together, and I appreciate that

          9  very much.

         10                 And thank you, Commissioner, for

         11  really being here.

         12                 It's very revealing, your testimony

         13  today. I just have a few questions, and I made some

         14  notes as basically you were speaking, and one, of

         15  course, where we're interested in the Head Start and

         16  Child Development. One question I have is that you

         17  have a linkage with the hospitals in New York City

         18  that identify an at-risk mother who has just given

         19  birth so that the development of that baby and

         20  identifying the emotional state of that mother,

         21  because many, many give birth and have no fathers by

         22  their bedside, so how do you deal with that issue?

         23                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: It's a very

         24  important question, and it's high on our agenda,

         25  both the Department of Health and ACS.
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          2                 We believe, well there's several

          3  issues. First of all, the issue of whether there is

          4  concern about potential abuse or neglect, which

          5  should call us in immediately, less say a positive

          6  toxicology for cocaine in the child's system. But

          7  there's also many, many more families where the

          8  concern is, as you mentioned, this is a high-risk

          9  situation in terms of the child's well-being,

         10  development, et cetera. And it's our commitment that

         11  we will continue what is started here in the past

         12  few years, which is the building of a nurse

         13  community partnership effort jointly funded by as

         14  many sources as we can get, including the State and

         15  the City, ACS, so that nurses and/or other community

         16  members are alerted to every mother who has a child

         17  in the local community and visits them immediately

         18  to begin the process of seeing what help can be

         19  offered, and to plug that family into the networks

         20  of support that already exist in the community or et

         21  cetera.

         22                 To the extent that we can expand that

         23  dramatically, and as you probably know, nationally

         24  the nurse partnerships have been proven to be very

         25  successful in just about every outcome you can think
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          2  of for the infants. To the extent we can grow that,

          3  then we'll have another line of defense out there

          4  that doesn't require ACS to come in the way we have

          5  to come in under the law, but that is an early

          6  warning system for us. So, we're dedicated to

          7  working on that very, very quickly.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Do you have that

          9  in effect now, and are very limited how much you can

         10  do with that?

         11                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: There are

         12  such partnerships in several communities in the

         13  City. The State has actually funded one of them,

         14  which is not a nurse-driven system, but a community

         15  member driven system. We like both models, although

         16  the nurse model had the record, the evidence base.

         17                 What we want to do is expand their

         18  numbers and their reach throughout the City.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Would you agree

         20  that such an early stage, because I've noticed that

         21  there is some cuts in the funding to some of these

         22  agencies that do that, and I just wonder how that

         23  very key element, from the time this child was born,

         24  and we not only don't find them in garbage cans, but

         25  that we also don't have a build-up of the conditions
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          2  that bring to the child and those tragedies that

          3  you've experienced.

          4                 But then, again, those tragedies are

          5  unfolded, they're revealed and there is attention to

          6  them. But there are many tragedies that are not

          7  unfolded, and they continue to go on and I think

          8  half the times they may end up in the juvenile

          9  justice system and what have you.

         10                 It seems that it's all connected. The

         11  same as mothers who suddenly find themselves mothers

         12  and are absolutely not prepared for such a role,

         13  need to have that kind of assistance. We're placing

         14  a great deal on the safety of the children, and I

         15  certainly agree with that. But many times these

         16  children are returned to their homes, wherein that

         17  parent, be it a woman or a man, has not really been

         18  fortified enough to understand the responsibilities

         19  that they're in an emotional cyclone themselves, and

         20  these children return to the same environment.

         21                 What is needed budget-wise, and what

         22  is needed in the expansion to weed that out? Must

         23  there be another linkage with another agency to do

         24  that? Because there are many, and there are many

         25  women who give birth and go home and can't cope.
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          2  They literally cannot cope. And having three

          3  children of my own, it's something that truly

          4  becomes, not for me, but certainly I can see why it

          5  would be overwhelming. It's an incredible

          6  responsibility that's fostered on young women that

          7  are really not prepared.

          8                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Yes, I

          9  certainly would agree, and we need more, not only of

         10  nurse family partnerships, other similar sort of

         11  early intervention efforts.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Right. And that

         13  takes money to do that. And my question was, if

         14  funding is getting cut, to some of those groups, and

         15  neighborhood-based groups that do this, how can

         16  those services that we're talking about be expanded?

         17                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: I'm sorry,

         18  I'm not aware of the cuts.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Well, for

         20  instance, I notice in our briefing, Connect, for

         21  instance, that comes before the City Council and

         22  gets funding, and they deal with domestic violence

         23  and they deal, and the domestic violence many times

         24  involves children, not just the adult.

         25                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Sure. An
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          2  excellent program, yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: And it's an

          4  excellent program, and I noticed that it's being cut

          5  substantially, and it would seem that if there is an

          6  urgency in these agencies to deal with these issues,

          7  that the cuts in those very key areas are sort of

          8  like taking with one hand and then removing, giving

          9  with one other. It doesn't make sense to me. That's

         10  why I'm bringing it up.

         11                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Yes. I'm

         12  sorry, I'm not aware of that.

         13                 It may well have to do with Council

         14  funding, State funding.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: All right. It's

         16  Council funding, but the cuts are coming from,

         17  basically the proposals, proposed budgets of the

         18  Administration. So, I suggest you really take a look

         19  at that.

         20                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Sure.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Because your

         22  ambitions for your agency are very good and very

         23  high, and I don't see how lack of funding would help

         24  you achieve the goals that you want to.

         25                 Secondly, tell me, what determines,
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          2  and I don't ask that naively, a high-need community?

          3  Because we're talking about children, we're talking

          4  about babies, we're talking about women most of the

          5  time who are heads of the households. So, what

          6  identifies? What is the criteria for a high-need

          7  community that affects the baby or the growing

          8  children that are in that single household?

          9                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Well, a

         10  high-need community to us, and it may well be

         11  different for others, but a high-need community is a

         12  community which we receive a great number of reports

         13  about the families in that community.

         14                 Secondly, as we look carefully at

         15  those reports, we find in some communities a heavy

         16  report, set of reports related to infants. So,

         17  that's a high need area for us, for us to help

         18  families with infants or make quick safe decisions

         19  about families with infants.

         20                 Other communities, many of the

         21  reports we get are related to adolescent and

         22  adolescent issues. So, it depends on the community

         23  and its particular make-up, but you can track pretty

         24  much high-need communities based on the reports and

         25  the reports lead to the number of children removed,
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          2  et cetera, et cetera.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Well, then I would

          4  go back to, in identifying those high-need

          5  communities and with the infants, how many hospitals

          6  do you have a linkage with, wherein those, or that

          7  parent has been identified, or that infant is high

          8  risk?

          9                 I mean, I'm going back to my original

         10  question, because it actually connects and when you

         11  said high, you know, the high-risk communities, it

         12  involves infants, it has to go back to my first

         13  question about the linkage to hospitals and

         14  identifying high-risk mothers.

         15                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Well, we have

         16  linkages to all the hospitals in the City, and we

         17  are regularly called in to look into family

         18  situations where the hospital is concerned about the

         19  child's future well-being, and health and the risk

         20  of abuse and neglect. But that's a small proportion

         21  of the families who need attention, and the infants

         22  who need attention, that I think that's where we can

         23  help fill the gap with the nurse family

         24  partnership-type programs.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Okay. I think that
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          2  on the Health Committee, we'll have to look at that,

          3  the nursing to do that.

          4                 Can you tell me, what are the

          5  specialists? What are the specialists that you have

          6  expanded and to deal with what? I wasn't clear on

          7  the specialties, in terms of manpower that you were

          8  identifying.

          9                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: There's three

         10  or four different things probably. When we speak of

         11  the increasing child protective workers, that's the

         12  525 new workers we're hiring in the course of this

         13  fiscal year. Those are child protective

         14  investigators.

         15                 The family services or family

         16  oversight workers are child protective workers, but

         17  they take the case, they don't investigate the case,

         18  they take it to make sure when the family is not

         19  going to lose its children, the children remain

         20  safe.

         21                 Those are the two sets of specialists

         22  we have.

         23                 Now, we have available to them in the

         24  field offices a range of specialized consultants in

         25  substance abuse and domestic violence, and in some

                                                            191

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES COMMITTEES

          2  other areas, mental health, for example, we're going

          3  to add law enforcement to that, those are

          4  highly-trained specialists who are available to the

          5  ongoing every day worker who is doing the

          6  investigation or the family support.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Okay. Now, and

          8  just one other question. When a child or an infant

          9  is removed from the home, what mandated assistance

         10  is given to both parents or to one or the other?

         11  Because no matter whatever that problem may be, that

         12  parent or those parents talk about the traumas that

         13  they have gone through by the child being removed

         14  from the family.

         15                 So, what is in place, and that's a

         16  budget item as well, what is in place, because, you

         17  know, there is no training to be a parent before you

         18  become a parent, and as a result, you have a myriad

         19  of those complexities. And it is traumatic when the

         20  child is removed from the home.

         21                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: For everyone,

         22  yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: What is in place

         24  for that single mother or father?

         25                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: The law
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          2  requires some very clear things. First of all, that

          3  the family has a right to a careful assessment of

          4  what caused them to not be able to protect their

          5  children or to actually hurt their children. That

          6  assessment is started by the CPS worker.

          7                 The child goes into care and then the

          8  foster care agency under contract with us is

          9  responsible for both building on that assessment

         10  because the risk factors are key to our being sure

         11  that if a family gets help, it deals with the risk,

         12  but also to find out what more is behind that

         13  family's needs. Are there mental health issues? Are

         14  there domestic violence issues? Are there substance

         15  abuse issues? In many cases all of them are there.

         16                 Having done that, they are

         17  responsible for building a --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Who is they?

         19                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: The foster

         20  care agency.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Yes.

         22                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: For building

         23  a case, or family plan, which then gets taken to the

         24  Family Court. And those services then get provided

         25  by the foster care agency or its own subcontractors
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          2  or community agencies.

          3                 That's how the child welfare system

          4  operates in terms of getting help to the family. But

          5  the family has a right to get better, and the Court

          6  will oversee to make sure that that happens.

          7                 The child has a right to a permanent

          8  safe family, and that's why the Court's job can be

          9  very challenging, because those rights have to both

         10  be dealt with.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Thank you very

         12  much.

         13                 For the sake of brevity, I know that

         14  the questions are asked from other colleagues, so I

         15  want to thank you very much, and thank you, Mr.

         16  Chairman. But you can see that just for a comment,

         17  that agency has a myriad of challenges, and there is

         18  so many connecting agencies that are involved in

         19  this that just one, and I know Gale Brewer may ask

         20  this, but are you technologically all linked

         21  together?

         22                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: I think we

         23  can be quite sure she will ask it.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Yes, because she's

         25  always -- and it just occurred to me, since there is
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          2  so much. So, Councilwoman Brewer, that's going to be

          3  your question, but if all these agencies are

          4  connected, and they're putting in, you know what?

          5  That's a very key thing. You have to be connected.

          6  Interagency cooperation and being updated on

          7  information is essential. And if this is not the

          8  case, Mr. Chairman, it seems to me that you might

          9  want to see what kind of a budget has to be prepared

         10  for these essential agencies to become linked

         11  together so that this patient management is in a far

         12  greater efficiency mode than having these agencies

         13  to be separate and apart.

         14                 I would really suggest that. Thank

         15  you very much. And thank you. And Councilwoman

         16  Brewer.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And with no

         18  further ado.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you. I'm

         20  going to start with Child Care and then tech later,

         21  because I think I know the answers to some of the

         22  tech questions.

         23                 With regard to child care, the union,

         24  DC 1707 sent out an e-mail to all of us today. You

         25  might have seen it. Stating that there is a $17
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          2  million cut in ACS child care in FY '07. Now, 10

          3  million of that is I guess what we call this budget

          4  dance, but the rest of it is not. And I guess some

          5  of it is CDBG, which Washington based, and some of

          6  it is foster care and some of it is tax levy.

          7                 So, I'm just wondering what you have

          8  to say about this? I don't know if you saw the

          9  press, the mission from 1707? How can you explain

         10  it?

         11                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Susan Nuccio

         12  is our Budget Director.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: He knows me,

         14  that's why he's doing that to you.

         15                 Go ahead.

         16                 MS. NUCCIO: Okay. I will answer why,

         17  when you look from one year to the next you see

         18  about an $80 million difference gross, and I think

         19  that's what you're referring to.

         20                 And as you said, a large percentage

         21  of that has to do with one-time funding in Fiscal

         22  Year '06.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: That was the

         24  ten.

         25                 MS. NUCCIO: There is actually 19.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

          3                 MS. NUCCIO: That had to do with City

          4  Council initiatives.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: How do we go

          6  from ten to --

          7                 MS. NUCCIO: There were two

          8  initiatives, one was $10 million initiative that you

          9  mentioned, and the other one was around priority 5

         10  and 7, child care, and that was another $9 million.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         12                 MS. NUCCIO: Okay? Then there is about

         13  45 million that had to do with delay in OST

         14  transferring over to DYCD. So that's sitting in

         15  Fiscal Year '06 but is not in Fiscal Year '07, as

         16  it's not needed.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Because it's

         18  going over.

         19                 MS. NUCCIO: Yes.

         20                 And then there is about a million

         21  dollars difference having to do with heat and light

         22  and power adjustments, which are made in this year's

         23  budget and as needed are made in next year's budget.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: All right. So,

         25  when the union indicates 11,000 children could be
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          2  without child care, you don't believe that's true?

          3                 MS. NUCCIO: We don't believe that

          4  these have any impact to our service -- any affect

          5  on the services at ACS.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Well, it will

          7  if we don't baseline some of the City Council money.

          8                 MS. NUCCIO: Correct.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         10                 MS. NUCCIO: We would welcome that.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         12                 Go ahead.

         13                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: The biggest

         14  challenge, as it was last year, will be the State

         15  Child Care Block Grant and the Triple FS. It's, as

         16  you I'm sure know, it's a bit early to predict where

         17  those numbers are going to come down, or whether, or

         18  where those numbers are going to come down. So, we

         19  can't make a final judgment about the overall

         20  picture with our budget in child care, until we are

         21  sure where that is going to be.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay, so that

         23  could still impact some portion of the 11,000

         24  children then. There is no fall-back.

         25                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: The State and

                                                            198

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES COMMITTEES

          2  the federal government, but especially the State pay

          3  -- the majority of our child care is funded through

          4  them, or through us, by the State and federal

          5  government. So, until we get the final numbers, and

          6  you may remember, last year the City had to make up

          7  for a hole in that budget as it turned out, we're

          8  not sure that that will be as much of an issue this

          9  year, but until we see the final number coming out

         10  of the agreed-upon budget, we can't be sure.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I have one

         12  question, it's not on prepared material here,

         13  something that I've been curious about.

         14                 Just in terms of capital, I know this

         15  is more an expense, but, Jackie, this is a budget

         16  issue.

         17                 How many centers have been built

         18  recently? In other words, a real child care center,

         19  as opposed to using vouchers?

         20                 And my other question is, I think

         21  around a third of your centers are in the Housing

         22  Authorities, which is a good thing, the Housing

         23  Authority needs them, but a lot of people are asking

         24  me, how are we going to, you know, build this kind

         25  of quality next century child care, if we keep
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          2  relying on, you know, vouchers and sort of soft, I

          3  wouldn't say soft money in a sense, if we don't

          4  build the kind of quality child care centers that we

          5  did in the past. I was just wondering if you thought

          6  that about in terms of strategic planning?

          7                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: I'll take the

          8  big picture question, then you guys can add on.

          9                 We are deeply committed to the child

         10  care centers, and to the quality of care that they

         11  and the Head Start Programs provide.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: That I

         13  believe.

         14                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: We are not

         15  moving toward, in our view at ACS, any

         16  voucherization of this system. We need, and it's

         17  right there in our plan, what we need is an

         18  integration of family-based child care and

         19  center-based child care, and much of our plan is

         20  directed toward that end.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: But how do you

         22  get to center-based, if you don't  have a center?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHOWDHURY: Let me

         24  add a little bit of more detail to that.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Did he
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          2  identify himself?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHOWDHURY: Oh,

          4  I'm sorry. I'm A.J. Chowdhury, the Deputy

          5  Commissioner at ACS for Child Care and Head Start.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHOWDHURY: In

          8  answer to your question about how many centers have

          9  been built in Head Start or Child Care, only a

         10  handful have been built in the last few years.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I know that.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHOWDHURY: We are

         13  -- as Commissioner Mattingly pointed out, our

         14  strategic plan is built around preserving and

         15  strengthening the contracted care system, which we

         16  believe should be the primary component of child

         17  care in New York.

         18                 The way that we're doing that in the

         19  plan is to move towards a system that allows

         20  programs to integrate contracted care with voucher

         21  care, especially in the context of the closing of

         22  school-age child care classrooms, we want to take

         23  full advantage of the capacity we have now.

         24                 So, for example, there will be 300

         25  classrooms that were formerly occupied in existing
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          2  facilities that don't require new facilities that

          3  will become available.

          4                 We are going to work with programs to

          5  develop more integrated models and then over time,

          6  rather than build new facilities at first going into

          7  the highest-need areas and converting rooms where we

          8  can with capital money to serve toddlers.

          9                 Those toddlers may become served

         10  through vouchers but they would be in centers that

         11  are primarily contract based. So, we would be moving

         12  somewhat away from the, quote, fully-funded model,

         13  and that's just happening because that's happening

         14  now with the transition. So, we would be doing that.

         15                 And at the same time, much of our

         16  expansion in centers in the last five to seven years

         17  where we had a chance was in Head Start. Head Start

         18  funding is flat, it's all federally funded.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Until we get

         20  rid of Bush.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHOWDHURY: You

         22  said it.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: But my

         24  question is, so, when you say -- I don't want to go

         25  on about this, but a lot of early childhood
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          2  educators have asked me about this, that's why I'm

          3  asking you, feeling that the new center and the

          4  notion that it's a place where child care is

          5  exciting and, you know, where you feel like you're

          6  part of a community, is something that should be

          7  looked to as part of the strategic plan.

          8                 But you're saying that's not in the

          9  plan at this time?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHOWDHURY: The

         11  plan takes as a first step rationalizing and

         12  maximizing our existing services.

         13                 So, for example, and then taking

         14  advantage in the highest need area. It identifies

         15  the areas of greatest level of underservice and

         16  moving services there.

         17                 So, but given the transition from

         18  OST, there is going to be unused existing capacity

         19  we have to fill first.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I understand.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHOWDHURY: In the

         22  longer term, as opportunities present themselves,

         23  when we're at full enrollment, and we would love the

         24  opportunity to capital projects to build facilities.

         25  Our facilities model in the future is one that tries
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          2  to rely more on public/private partnerships, to try

          3  to find funding mechanisms which have been done in

          4  other cities that we're looking into --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I'm aware of

          6  that.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHOWDHURY: -- To

          8  create programs where facilities are built and the

          9  City contracts for a fraction of the care and

         10  private pay and family vouchers use the rest. So,

         11  where you would build a facility, and we will be

         12  working with the economic development arm of this

         13  City to develop those models, but that is, the

         14  future vision for facilities is more of a private

         15  model.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. We could

         17  talk about that further.

         18                 In Fiscal Year '06, the Council

         19  allocated, as we've discussed, 10 million, at least

         20  for this portion of the discussion, for your budget

         21  for additional family care slots. The agency awarded

         22  2,677 slots to 38 family child care networks in the

         23  City in connection with this funding and 1,800 of

         24  them were being used as of April 15th, 2005.

         25                 How many slots have been supported by
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          2  the FY '06 allocation?

          3                 There are more questions. And how

          4  much have you spent to date of the 10 million? And

          5  will you spend it all by this fiscal year?

          6                 Hopefully this is a $10 million

          7  question.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHOWDHURY: Okay.

          9  We have already spent more than half of the funds

         10  the Council allocated for child care this fiscal

         11  year, and we're confident that our spending at the

         12  current rate is on track and that we will spend the

         13  full amount by the end of June.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: And in terms

         15  of the numbers of people served, of individuals

         16  served, children served?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHOWDHURY:

         18  Currently we are serving upwards of 1,500 children

         19  in Family Child Care Initiatives, which when you

         20  take into account the increased rate for family

         21  child care that came with the new market rate, would

         22  amount to $10 million.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. And I

         24  assume that we're all hoping this money gets

         25  restored. I don't want to go through that
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          2  discussion, but, obviously, we will have a big

          3  problem if it's not. Baselined would be preferable.

          4  I know that's an OMB question.

          5                 I have a question about OST.

          6  Obviously, Lower Manhattan, I think despite Ester

          7  Fuchs's efforts, et cetera, I do feel that

          8  Manhattan, got particularly hurt, at least in the

          9  parks that I represent in parts of Manhattan.

         10                 So, the Fiscal Year '06 budget

         11  contained about 19.5 million for a transition, 15

         12  million for funding for fixed costs for school-aged

         13  programs, and 4.5 million for pre-school transition

         14  costs.

         15                 None of this funding appears in the

         16  preliminary budget for FY '07. So we want to know

         17  how many programs served, and how many children were

         18  assisted with the transition funding of 19.5

         19  million? And will this funding be needed in FY '07?

         20                 And I'll just add, I've seen a little

         21  bit of moving some of this OST funding around. In my

         22  district, a program that wasn't originally scheduled

         23  to get OST did. I think that's a good thing. My

         24  guess is it was done, you know, somewhere,

         25  miraculously. Obviously that would be a DYCD, not
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          2  your issue.

          3                 But my question is, how did the

          4  transition work, and how is that transition money

          5  being allocated? And who has been assisted with it?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHOWDHURY: I want

          7  to make sure I understand the question. In FY '06,

          8  we have served upwards of 6,000 children in

          9  school-age child care as part of phase 2 of the

         10  transition.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHOWDHURY: We

         13  currently have an enrollment of about 5,700. And as

         14  Commissioner Mattingly said in the testimony, we

         15  froze enrollment on February 28th.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHOWDHURY: We

         18  anticipate receiving funding for the continuation in

         19  the summer. That's just those 11 weeks where those

         20  children who haven't transitioned out would continue

         21  to get school-age child care.

         22                 Other than that, our program ends.

         23                 The only other commitment we have is

         24  that those programs that were in City leases would

         25  continue to have their facility costs covered I
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          2  think through FY '08, but I don't remember that date

          3  for sure.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. So, you

          5  don't see that there is going to be great demand in

          6  the following fiscal year then?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHOWDHURY: There

          8  will likely be great demand.

          9                 I mean, the way that the OST system

         10  worked is when families transition out, the first

         11  place that we prefer them to go is to the available

         12  Out of School Time Programs.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Right.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHOWDHURY:

         15  Families that choose to can also request vouchers.

         16                 So, last year when we were

         17  transitioning out, about 1,400 children, 700 went

         18  into programs that won OST.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHOWDHURY: So we

         21  did not have to do very much in their case.

         22                 Of the other 700, about 200 requested

         23  -- well, many more requested vouchers, about 200

         24  requested and used vouchers.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Mm-hmm.
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHOWDHURY: So, we

          3  now have an up and running OST program, and very

          4  close coordination between DYCD and ACS. So, we --

          5  and an expansion of DYCD this September, so we're

          6  hoping that far more families, I mean than even that

          7  go, and that there would be a diminished use of

          8  vouchers.

          9                 But as part of the Child Care Block

         10  Grant, the law behind the Child Care Block Grant,

         11  any family who wishes to receive to continue in care

         12  is entitled to it. If they're eligible.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I have sort of

         14  a general question.

         15                 Some people who are contracted

         16  agencies, they obviously get a contract. If they

         17  don't spend 100 percent of that contract, this is

         18  just general, be it child welfare, child care, et

         19  cetera, and this left-over money, what happens to

         20  that money? It's a very specific question actually.

         21                 Go ahead.

         22                 MS. NUCCIO: Yes, at ACS we look at

         23  the entire budget middle of the year and at the end

         24  of the year to see whether or not there is at the

         25  end of all of the programs any surplus.
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          2                 And we have to count in expenditures

          3  that didn't happen but that are liabilities, which

          4  we put into accruals. You know, there are audit,

          5  outstanding issues, so we try to make an estimate of

          6  how much we're going to need beyond June 30th in

          7  spending, put that in accruals, and then if there

          8  was any surplus after that, it would go back to the

          9  general fund. We haven't had that experience

         10  recently.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. I think

         12  what I'll do is I'll follow-up on questions like

         13  that, because I think, some people, I hate to say

         14  this, because it's very, you know, it's

         15  counter-intuitive, but some agencies feel they're

         16  getting too much money and they don't know what to

         17  do with it.

         18                 So, it would be something to look at,

         19  not obviously publicly here, certainly not going to

         20  mention any of it, but the fact of the matter is,

         21  it's a question.

         22                 This is for A.J. How much would

         23  continuation funding through summer cost with the

         24  5,700 children currently in care?

         25                 And is this amount in the preliminary
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          2  budget?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHOWDHURY: It's

          4  not in the Preliminary Budget. It will be in the

          5  Exec.

          6                 We have estimated that the cost --

          7  well, first of all we will only continue those

          8  children who don't attrit out between now and June.

          9  We also are going to invite children, if they want

         10  to go into DYCD programs in the summer, if they care

         11  to. And then once, there will be some classroom

         12  closures based on vacant classrooms. But we will be

         13  continuing to serve any child who remains enrolled.

         14                 And the marginal cost of just

         15  continuing in the summer, because we're already in

         16  the facilities and we're likely paying the insurance

         17  costs of the employees, works out to between,

         18  depending on how many kids continue, between three

         19  and a half and five-million dollars.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         21                 All right. Go ahead, do you have

         22  another question, Helen? I could ask my technology

         23  question?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: There is that, and

         25  then I believe Councilwoman Gonzalez is next so,
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          2  maybe you can sum up.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

          4                 The quick technology question is: Is

          5  there some update? Obviously there was some

          6  tremendous concern in the issue regarding workers

          7  who are in the field. I think you are addressing

          8  that. But in general we're waiting for the

          9  integrated human service network in terms of benefit

         10  applications. We're waiting on 2-1-1. It's a state

         11  issue. I think they're actually deciding today on

         12  some of those information and referral issues. But

         13  in terms of hardware, software and faster

         14  connection, what is sort of an update generally, in

         15  terms of the agency and the contracted agencies.

         16                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Sure. In

         17  terms of the integrated system, child care is very

         18  high on the agenda for that system.

         19                 Child welfare, for reasons related to

         20  its complexity and the confidentiality requirements

         21  of the law, and the State's ownership of the system

         22  that we use, is not high on the agenda.

         23                 So, as progress is made, we expect

         24  that child care will be one of the first uses that

         25  will be integrated into the Citywide system.
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          2                 In terms of the technology issues

          3  related to ACS, the Connections system, which you

          4  know we used, we implemented a bill in the fall, and

          5  that because of a bunch of problems with the system

          6  itself, caused at the worst possible time, in terms

          7  of our caseloads, caused a great deal of extra work

          8  on the part of our workers.

          9                 The State has stepped forward and

         10  allocated a lot of personnel resources to helping

         11  fix this problem, and has freed up resources so that

         12  we could bring 22 staff back into our field offices

         13  from the private agencies to make this integration

         14  work.

         15                 We are still hoping for, planning for

         16  some time in the coming few months being able to

         17  make movement toward getting control of our own

         18  data. We hope by June anyway, that we'll begin to

         19  make some significant progress in this regard. The

         20  State has agreed to the direction we're going in,

         21  but we don't have the time frame yet.

         22                 Much of course is waiting on all of

         23  the work that has to be done to get the Connections

         24  Build working now.

         25                 At our request the State has backed
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          2  away from implementing the next build until we get

          3  this one straight.

          4                 I'm also happy to say that we have in

          5  fact, we are in fact getting cell phones out to all

          6  of our front-line CPS workers.

          7                 We are providing laptops to all of

          8  our Family Court attorneys, and we are working with

          9  the Family Court to have stations set up for our

         10  workers while they are waiting for their next

         11  hearing to be able to access our system and do some

         12  of the work that needs to be done.

         13                 Finally, the State is working with us

         14  and we hope to have more information in a few months

         15  on getting the right technology, whether it be a

         16  hand-held or a laptop or whatever, in the hands of

         17  all of our front-line workers so that we can allow

         18  them to have more time doing the work in the field

         19  and less time sitting at the computer typing up

         20  their notes. We should have a report on that in a

         21  few months, anyway.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay, thank

         23  you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Thank you,

         25  Councilwoman.
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          2                 Our Councilwoman Gonzalez has some

          3  questions.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GONZALEZ: Good

          5  afternoon, Commissioner.

          6                 My question goes back to something

          7  that Council Member Helen Sears asked before, with

          8  reference to, and I have a whole chart here I drew

          9  sort of, a child is born in a hospital, that's the

         10  scenario, and the team identifies this child's

         11  family, or the child at risk; is there any

         12  possibility in referring back to that pilot program

         13  you spoke about, I believe the pilot program is in

         14  the Bronx that identifies children. I'm not sure if

         15  that's what we -- yes, it's in the Bronx, the pilot

         16  program.

         17                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: I'm not --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GONZALEZ: Okay,

         19  Councilwoman Sears asked the question in respect to

         20  identifying a child at risk.

         21                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Right.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GONZALEZ: Trying to

         23  work with more programs to identify children at risk

         24  when they're born. So, my question to you is, also

         25  in looking at the Administration for Children's
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          2  Services, page 15, where you have your program area

          3  and dollars and millions, I was wondering,

          4  preventive services, is there any possibility that

          5  programs could be developed and funded through ACS

          6  into the communities, perhaps with the goal of

          7  assisting that mother back into that community,

          8  assuring that they get case management, providing

          9  holistic services similar to that pilot program in

         10  the Bronx --

         11                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GONZALEZ: Is there any

         13  possibility that you would look to do that in your

         14  budget or allocate some kind of line so that this

         15  could begin within other boroughs?

         16                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Right.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GONZALEZ: And possibly

         18  working with, you know, community-based

         19  organizations with track records, or and/or

         20  hospitals, whichever; is that a possibility, sir?

         21                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Yes, it is a

         22  possibility.

         23                 We have been actively looking at the

         24  possibility of accessing preventive dollars which

         25  are 65/35 from State OCFS, because we believe that
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          2  we can make the case that these are clearly

          3  preventive programs.

          4                 There are complexities, as there

          5  always are, with the State especially, as to what

          6  route will be required of these programs, if they're

          7  going to access preventive dollars.

          8                 Remember that preventive programs are

          9  part of the child protection system and there is a

         10  whole big case process that you have to go through.

         11  We are looking at the possibility of asking for a

         12  waiver for these sorts of programs to access that 65

         13  percent.

         14                 Then we will have the question of the

         15  35 and where it comes from, but that would be a huge

         16  step up, if we can get access to those funds.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GONZALEZ: Right,

         18  Commissioner.

         19                 I would think that even modeling them

         20  as that pilot program that you spoke about earlier,

         21  and I would imagine that it goes into the different

         22  lines, protective services because it is -- I mean,

         23  sometimes it can be looked at as intervention --

         24                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Sometimes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GONZALEZ: But a child
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          2  is born, it would be prevention for that child

          3  anyway.

          4                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Right.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GONZALEZ: Thank you.

          6                 Thank you, Chairs.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you,

          8  Council member.

          9                 All right, Commissioner, I know time

         10  is going along here, so I'm going to try and do a

         11  bunch of quicker questions here. Do your best to

         12  give me succinct answers to go with them.

         13                 Okay, first of all, I'm a little

         14  confused because, getting back to child welfare for

         15  a moment, there was clearly a period in the weeks

         16  after these very difficult situations where the

         17  level of reporting of potential cases went up

         18  greatly.

         19                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Yes.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: In fact, at the

         21  time we had Commissioner Kelly here a few weeks ago,

         22  he made clear that it was an extraordinary increase,

         23  and that the demands on the police who were working

         24  with ACS had greatly increased.

         25                 Would it be fair to say that that
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          2  scenario has continued? Has your reporting levels

          3  continued to be very high?

          4                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: The reporting

          5  levels have come down from the, almost 80 percent

          6  increase, that we experienced '05 to '06 in January,

          7  but they are, and we actually have some charts we

          8  can share with the Committee. We track them daily

          9  now, and the numbers are still, both the numbers and

         10  the percentages every day are significantly higher.

         11                 So, we expect it to be, well, there

         12  are several scenarios that are possible. One is it

         13  can stay at this relatively higher level --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And you mean 20

         15  percent higher or 50 percent higher?

         16                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: More like 25.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

         18                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: But it's

         19  day-by-day almost.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Right.

         21                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: And it could

         22  stay at that level indefinitely, because we believe

         23  a lot of these are reports that are new that we

         24  could have been receiving that the public now is

         25  much more sensitive to.
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          2                 We do not expect a replay, absent

          3  another real serious crisis, of the huge increase.

          4  But now we have to get our workers out into the

          5  field just to cover the cases that we have been

          6  getting at the higher rate.

          7                 If we get to the point in June or

          8  July that the higher rate has stayed and our

          9  caseloads still are too high, we're going to have to

         10  take another look at it, because the whole point of

         11  this unprecedented hiring process is to get people

         12  in there to bring these caseloads down to 12.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. So, this

         14  25 percent or more increase now seems to be

         15  something that we'll have with us for a period of

         16  time, and that, in fact, may represent the level of

         17  reporting we should have been getting all along,

         18  right?

         19                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: It's

         20  possible, yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: It may be the

         22  natural reality of this is what we should have had,

         23  and now we have to work around that and get ready to

         24  respond to that.

         25                 And I --
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          2                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Perhaps we

          3  want to even keep it at that level.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Right.

          5                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Stretches us,

          6  but people need to know.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Better safe

          8  than sorry.

          9                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And I assume

         11  there was going to be a continued public education

         12  effort to go with that.

         13                 Now, in terms of the police side, do

         14  you have a sense that what, especially now the NYPD

         15  has announced some additional police hiring will

         16  happen, are more NYPD personnel being assigned

         17  specifically to work with ACS?

         18                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: I think the

         19  details you would need to get from NYPD. There will

         20  be a discussion of some of this, however, in the

         21  plan that will be rolled out in the coming few

         22  weeks.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I'm told that a

         24  few days ago at a Council budget hearing that

         25  Commissioner Kelly said there have basically not
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          2  been, and there may be only a handful of additional

          3  people assigned.

          4                 So, are you saying when you come up

          5  with this plan, there will be a firm number of

          6  additional NYPD personnel that will be working with

          7  ACS?

          8                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: I'm sorry,

          9  you'd have to ask NYPD about that.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay, is that a

         11  goal? I mean, is that something you're talking about

         12  as defining what the need would be?

         13                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Our goal is

         14  to make sure in this enhanced MOU that we put out

         15  once the agreement is reached, that all of our, both

         16  with DOE, with NYPD and with ACS, that we all have

         17  sufficient resources to live up to the standards in

         18  the MOU.

         19                 That's what we will hold ourselves

         20  accountable for.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, you can't

         22  say yet whether you need additional PD personnel?

         23                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: No. No.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

         25                 Cell phones. By when will all your
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          2  front-line workers have those?

          3                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: By June.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: By June.

          5  Hand-held computers, you say you were talking to the

          6  State, but what's the plan for --

          7                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Next fall.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: By fall '06?

          9                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Yes. We have

         10  to make some decisions about what particular

         11  technology we want, and the workers want, because

         12  it's their use, and then we have to go get it and

         13  then we have to get people trained.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Is there a

         15  general process of consultation with individual

         16  workers and with the union to determine how best to

         17  handle?

         18                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: There has

         19  been, and there will be more.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Transportation.

         21  I know the issue was raised by some of the workers

         22  who testified before that they had difficulty with

         23  everything from transportation to families that they

         24  had to check on to dealing with transporting

         25  children to be removed.
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          2                 Is there a new allocation of

          3  transportation for these workers?

          4                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: If necessary,

          5  what we had done in the meantime, is to assign a

          6  special administrative staff to every field office,

          7  either on-site in five cases, or to be regularly in

          8  contact, to find out, not only in transportation,

          9  but in every one of the areas related to

         10  administration, what needs are not being met and to

         11  jump in immediately to meet them, including

         12  transportation.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: What's your

         14  time line for having that assessment?

         15                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: That's in

         16  place. It's ongoing.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: But do you have

         18  a date by which you are going to determine if you

         19  need additional transportation?

         20                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: No. Although

         21  I do want to add to that, that in order go help with

         22  some of this, we have not only purchased 20

         23  additional vehicles and made them available to the

         24  field offices, but other City agencies led by DOI

         25  have actually come up with additional cars from
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          2  their fleets that they are giving to us.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: All right. Your

          4  protocol with the police will also address how to

          5  get police either for security reasons or again, we

          6  believe, almost always but also for investigatory

          7  reasons, how to more quickly and seamlessly get

          8  police support to workers who need it?

          9                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: It's a

         10  central part of that plan.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And the

         12  individual points of contact that people can depend

         13  on.

         14                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Correct.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

         16                 And then we also talked in the

         17  previous hearing about whether the use of clericals

         18  needed to be expanded to free up time for case

         19  workers; is that anything new on that?

         20                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: What we have

         21  done in the interim, because of the influx of cases

         22  is, send 200 staff at all levels out to help the

         23  front-line workers.

         24                 The clerical staff issue is under

         25  consideration, and will be part of our overall
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          2  staffing plan which we hope to have out by this

          3  summer.

          4                 There is going to be some broad-scale

          5  looking at everything that everybody does, including

          6  our oversight staff, for the private agencies, and

          7  we're going -- I'm committed to the importance of

          8  secretarial and administrative assistance staff in

          9  front-line child welfare work.

         10                 How that's going to play out will

         11  have to wait until this whole picture is done.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. I mean,

         13  obviously there is a parallel. The police just

         14  finally agreed to civilianization, in terms of

         15  making clear that, you know, uniformed personnel

         16  could be best out there serving people and let

         17  people do clerical work who do that best. I assume

         18  there's a parallel here, and if you find that that's

         19  an efficiency, that you'll move in that direction.

         20                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: It not only

         21  affects workers, it affects supervisors. If the

         22  supervisors are the only people that answer the

         23  phone, you've got a problem.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Exactly.

         25                 Now, in terms of pure budget
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          2  dynamics, you're adding hundreds of additional CPS

          3  workers, you're adding the senior law enforcement

          4  personnel, now is all this going to be baselined?

          5                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay, can you

          7  just put dollar figures, just so we're clear, the

          8  additional CPS workers, how much is that going to

          9  be?

         10                 MS. NUCCIO: The CPS workers are

         11  already budgeted. The 250 additional workers that

         12  are going to be handling the family service area,

         13  that's at 11 million.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

         15                 MS. NUCCIO: Then there's the child

         16  protective managers, that's 35 at 2.8 million, the

         17  attorneys, 32, at 1.5 million, and 28 trainers at

         18  one million. Those are baselined.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay, I don't

         20  know if our experts heard all that, so do that one

         21  more time.

         22                 Just run it right down one more time.

         23                 MS. NUCCIO: Okay.

         24                 Two-hundred fifty at 11 million.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Two-hundred
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          2  fifty CPS at 11 million.

          3                 MS. NUCCIO: Right.

          4                 Thirty-five at 2.8 million for --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thirty-five...

          6                 MS. NUCCIO: Managers.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

          8                 MS. NUCCIO: Thirty-two attorneys at

          9  1.5 million, and 28 trainers at 1 million, for a

         10  total of 16.3.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And how much

         12  are Ombudman's Office costs?

         13                 MS. NUCCIO: Ombudsman is three a

         14  195,000.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And the law

         16  enforcement again?

         17                 MS. NUCCIO: Twenty at 1.1 million.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Twenty at 1.1

         19  million.

         20                 MS. NUCCIO: Mm-hmm.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Now, this will

         22  all appear in the Executive Budget?

         23                 MS. NUCCIO: No. The 16 million that I

         24  referred to is already in the January budget.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. But the
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          2  new items?

          3                 MS. NUCCIO: The new items are coming

          4  out of our PS budget already. They're not new items.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: But in the

          6  Executive Budget they'll be delineated?

          7                 MS. NUCCIO: I don't believe so.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Oh, okay. So,

          9  it's just not that specific. But they're all

         10  baselined?

         11                 MS. NUCCIO: But they're all

         12  baselined.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, are we

         14  robbing Peter to pay Paul? What are we losing in

         15  this bargain?

         16                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: No, we're

         17  not.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: But I think I

         19  just heard the funding was coming out of the

         20  personal budget. So does that mean it was coming out

         21  of something we were previously doing?

         22                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: No. Whatever

         23  we need to fund these programs or these staff, we

         24  will have available. The specifics of how we go

         25  about doing it will not entail cutbacks in any
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          2  particular area or program.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, all the

          4  existing staff levels you had, plus these new levels

          5  --

          6                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Yes, but keep

          7  in mind, we're in the midst of, and it will be the

          8  spring, late spring before we're done, looking at

          9  all of our lines, looking at all the functions from

         10  case managers to CPS workers to family oversight

         11  workers, and we will be, at that point, when we get

         12  the whole picture in front of us, making some

         13  decisions about where we can be most efficient. But

         14  we are not, at this point in time, robbing anybody

         15  to pay for these programs.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: This is all

         17  additional funding then?

         18                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

         20                 Let me ask you also, on the

         21  prevention side, so you've added the 9 million in

         22  January for this fiscal year, is that going to be

         23  baselined?

         24                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: The 9 million

         25  we have added is not yet baselined. We're committed
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          2  to finding the funds to support it.

          3                 We have some clear-cut directions

          4  that we're going to take to do that next year, one

          5  of which would be the same pattern we developed with

          6  child care of looking very carefully at those

          7  programs that are not fully utilized and moving the

          8  underutilized, the funds that aren't being spent for

          9  children and families, into programs that are more

         10  fully utilized and that are in high-need areas and

         11  willing to provide help to multi-need families.

         12                 So, I don't have an answer for you as

         13  to how we're going to manage this fully, but we are

         14  going to manage it.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: You're adding a

         16  $9 million infusion, which is being spent in the

         17  course of the fiscal year, which means therefore

         18  less than six months from the time you infuse it

         19  until the time you spend it, and then you may or may

         20  not continue some of that additional funding going

         21  forward?

         22                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: No, we intend

         23  to continue it. I don't have --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: That means you

         25  are baselining then.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Well, I don't

          3  have any direction that I can point out to you where

          4  the 9 million or whatever it is will be lined up in

          5  a line item and is going up.

          6                 Part of that 9 million is going to

          7  come from underutilization being done away with. But

          8  I don't think we can get to the 9 million just

          9  through that. So, that's why we're continuing to

         10  work on this.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: All right. I'm

         12  not going to dwell.

         13                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: I should also

         14  mention that part of this overall change that's

         15  underway in terms of our staffing pattern is that

         16  direct congregate care next year will no longer

         17  exist. So that we're going to be, we in fact are in

         18  the process now of direct congregate care staff,

         19  moving into other activities in the agency,

         20  especially to support front-line work.

         21                 So, that's a whole, it's not a

         22  division, but that's a whole area of the agency that

         23  has been, that has had a substantial piece of our

         24  budget that's no longer going to be operating.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. I'm sure
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          2  you are concerned as I am that when public attention

          3  turns to other matters, it's harder to sustain the

          4  level of investment.

          5                 So that's why we're looking for now

          6  as clear an understanding as possible at what the

          7  administration is committed to for the upcoming

          8  budget.

          9                 So, that's why I continue to be a

         10  little confused here on this 9 million.

         11                 Was the 9 million, the January

         12  announcement of the 9 million, was that new money

         13  flowing into the agency or was that the agency

         14  taking money from existing sources within its

         15  budget?

         16                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: That was our

         17  looking at our budgets and finding that 9 million

         18  that we believe would have been underspent had not,

         19  and using it for this high-need purpose.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay, so that's

         21  from within your existing budget.

         22                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Right.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, we

         24  understood it to be an enhancement, but in effect it

         25  was a redirection of resources.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Right.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, I guess I

          4  would say, do we have a guarantee that that would

          5  not be cut in the next budget? If that's part of

          6  your existing budget, do we know that that will not

          7  be cut because it did come from under-performing

          8  areas?

          9                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Well, we all

         10  know that that will not be cut. But we are not

         11  currently, with the exception of the plans I've

         12  talked about, with underutilization, we are not

         13  currently able to say that that 9 million will come

         14  from this place or that place.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay, I'm going

         16  to say it, I don't want to dwell again,

         17  Commissioner, but we need as clear answers as we can

         18  get.

         19                 Your budget before the announcement

         20  of January, okay, as we look forward to the upcoming

         21  budget, can we assume and it's before we talked

         22  about the new items you just raised today and the

         23  dollar figures, can we assume that your budget for

         24  Fiscal '06 is going to be preserved as is, and we're

         25  adding on top of it, the new CPS workers, the new
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          2  law enforcement personnel, the ombudsman and the

          3  managers?

          4                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Yes. What we

          5  just spoke to.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. I'm

          7  trying to hammer it home to make sure we're all on

          8  the same page.

          9                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: I'm not

         10  trying to avoid it, it's just --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: You've got your

         12  '06 budget set. You may move pieces within it, but

         13  that will continue into '07 as is plus these

         14  additions.

         15                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: That's

         16  correct.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

         18                 Now, let me take you to several child

         19  care issues, and I'll be quick, I know there's a lot

         20  to cover here.

         21                 Okay, you know, I know you have to be

         22  cool in the saddle on what is going on in Albany,

         23  but I am maybe a lot more worried than you are about

         24  the generosity and wisdom of our friends in Albany

         25  and the situations when it has to do with children
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          2  who can't vote.

          3                 So, you know, at this time last year,

          4  22,000 child care slots were at risk because of the

          5  flexible fund.

          6                 And we seem to be on a fairly similar

          7  trajectory right now, in terms of New York City not

          8  getting its proportional share in terms of need of

          9  the dollars that are being looked at.

         10                 So, can you quantify, if things

         11  progressed as they are now, can you quantify what

         12  the impact would be on New York City and on child

         13  care?

         14                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Simply in

         15  terms of what we know right now, which we believe is

         16  going to change --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, let's

         18  start with what we know now and what you think is

         19  going to change?

         20                 MS. NUCCIO: Well, what we know now is

         21  that the preliminary numbers, triple FS's we're

         22  talking about, is that we need, the City needs $943

         23  million, and what we know is that 210 is coming from

         24  CCDF, so it's known, and that there's another 600

         25  million from triple FS which is 810, which leaves
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          2  the City with a shortfall of 133 million.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. And what

          4  would that mean in terms of child care?

          5                 Again, assuming exactly as it is now,

          6  what's the impact on child care?

          7                 MS. NUCCIO: We don't know the impact

          8  to child care. We know that the need for child care

          9  Citywide is $455 million out of that allocation.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, you're

         11  saying you don't know the impact because you don't

         12  know if the City received that dollar figure, how it

         13  would split it?

         14                 MS. NUCCIO: That's correct. We don't

         15  know. We don't know whether or not the number is

         16  firm yet. And we don't know how the City will --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: But if you just

         18  split it proportionately by agency, we're talking

         19  about tens of millions lost to ACS, because you're

         20  one of the biggest constituent parts of that.

         21                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: But I just

         22  want to emphasize that, quite sure it's too early to

         23  say and too early for us at least to stand up --

         24  remember now, last year I was quite explicit about

         25  this.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Yes, you were.

          3                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: And I would

          4  be this year, if I were as concerned.

          5                 I also want people to remember that

          6  the City stepped in and filled in some of that gap,

          7  and helped us get through this past year. So, I just

          8  want us to be clear about what's going to happen

          9  before I start raising those questions. I'm not

         10  ready to do that yet.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: No, I

         12  appreciate that, Commissioner, but the budget may be

         13  a week or so away. And, you know, it's been a little

         14  too quiet, and you have an ongoing Governor, which

         15  is never a particularly safe state of affairs. You

         16  know, I'm trying to understand what it could mean.

         17                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: We are

         18  pressing, and we encourage everybody to press now to

         19  get as much as we possibly can.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: What do you

         21  feel is happening?

         22                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: And we will

         23  support whatever version of the budget legislation

         24  provides the most funds in this.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Clearly. And
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          2  why are you somewhat sanguine that the situation

          3  will improve?

          4                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: I'm just at

          5  the point where I'm not sure, so I don't want to

          6  jump too quickly.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. Let me

          8  just take you to expand the concern here. We put --

          9  I mean, if feels to me like we always take a step

         10  backward -- a step forward and then one or more

         11  steps backward. The Council as you know well as

         12  continued to make child care a priority and put

         13  substantial additional funding into child care and

         14  that funding continually is not baselined, so, you

         15  know, let me just stay on that for one minute.

         16                 We put in 10 million for Fiscal '06,

         17  let me confirm that that money will be spent on time

         18  this year?

         19                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: That's

         20  correct.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

         22                 But it's not in the Preliminary

         23  Budget as a baselined item; is that correct?

         24                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: That's

         25  correct.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, and then

          3  there is Out of School Time, and I don't mean to hit

          4  you over the head any more than I already have,

          5  because I dare say this was not your personal

          6  original idea, but it's very, very clear that we

          7  continue to lose money for child care because of the

          8  Out of School Time Program. And you know, our

          9  analysis is that the Preliminary Budget takes  $45

         10  million out of ACS that would have gone to child

         11  care. Can you confirm that number?

         12                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Well, we can

         13  give you the specifics, but keep in mind, the slots

         14  and the children, more children should be able to be

         15  served in the OST program than have been served in

         16  ours, once the program is fully operationalized.

         17                 What we have tried to do very hard,

         18  is to maintain the integrity of the programs until

         19  such time as the OST transfer happened.

         20                 And we were able to draw that out to

         21  the point where people, everyone from the parents to

         22  the centers, had a clear sense of where we were

         23  going and how we were going to get there.

         24                 I think the City has worked very hard

         25  to make that transition happen, and has provides us
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          2  the funds we needed in the interim to get through

          3  that.

          4                 So, in the longrun, this program

          5  should provide more after school child care care for

          6  less funds. That's the intent of OST, and that's

          7  where the system is headed.

          8                 We want to make use of our

          9  center-based programs, especially, but all of our

         10  programs for younger children where our utilization

         11  reviewed showed in some communities, especially a

         12  very high need for them, so that if we can end up

         13  with a stronger program for infants and toddlers,

         14  the system overall will be stronger as OST gets

         15  stronger.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Again, I won't

         17  belabor. You understand that we, I think a lot of us

         18  are questioning the quality levels of the OST

         19  program and whether it will reach the quantity that

         20  you suggest. There is this arbitration issue now,

         21  which I assume could change everything, because if

         22  pay levels need to be consistent with past pay

         23  levels, I think that rightfully, appropriately

         24  undermines the pillars of the whole OST concept,

         25  which was to pay the workers less.
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          2                 So, I just want to say, I don't know

          3  anyone in the Council who would buy into what you

          4  just said. And I'm not putting that on you, I'm just

          5  being honest with you, that the jury is so far out

          6  it's kind of striking at this point.

          7                 But I'm just concerned, you add any

          8  and all of these together, and we end up

          9  substantially behind.

         10                 You know, we spent a lot at the

         11  beginning talking about child welfare and talked

         12  about prevention and, I think we all agree, the more

         13  quality child care available, you know, the better

         14  chance that we're supporting kids and giving them a

         15  safe environment and hopefully avoiding some of

         16  those other problems.

         17                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: I --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Please.

         19                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: I neglected

         20  to say something earlier, and I'll just allude to it

         21  now. One of our initiatives in order to deal with

         22  this continuing pressure on the part of the federal

         23  government and the State around child care and Head

         24  Start, is to make use of child care as a preventive

         25  service, and Head Start as well, but certainly child
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          2  care, so that a family that is in need of preventive

          3  services, surely one of the best first places to

          4  look, to take some pressure off the parents, give

          5  them a chance to tie down their job, all that sort

          6  of stuff, is through child care.

          7                 And to the extent we're able to make

          8  the transition, we'll be able to bring in that 65/35

          9  to help support child care.

         10                 We think that that is a really quite

         11  remarkable possibility and we're in the process now

         12  of making that happen.

         13                 So, we're also just as concerned as

         14  Council is about what appears to be an unending

         15  series of chipping away at least, and worst in many

         16  cases, the child care and Head Start budget that has

         17  been coming out of Washington.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, I

         19  appreciate that analysis.

         20                 Let me ask you a couple other child

         21  care-related questions. So, at some point last year,

         22  this is our understanding at least, at some point

         23  last year, ACS changed its practices with respect to

         24  paying a portion of what I guess was about $17 a

         25  week for an administrative fee that family child
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          2  care providers pay to belong to the networks, and

          3  those networks in turn provide technical assistance

          4  and support for those providers.

          5                 So, is it true that you changed your

          6  policies or your practices with respect to how much

          7  those providers have to pay for that fee?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHOWDHURY: I will

          9  try to explain this briefly, because we've gone down

         10  this road before.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: It was great

         12  least time, too.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHOWDHURY: I

         14  know.

         15                 So, I even came with a crutch here.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: We can't read

         17  it, so you're going to have to --

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHOWDHURY: Okay.

         19  I'll just walk us through it.

         20                 Last year, as you know, the City

         21  added $4.5 million in additional money to family

         22  child care for parity, because as it existed before,

         23  family child care that were in contracted networks

         24  were not always receiving the full market rate that

         25  families and vouchers were. That was an issue that
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          2  family child care providers brought to us.

          3                 The family child care networks have

          4  always gotten $17.06 per child per week for the

          5  coverage of family child care.

          6                 What happened is that in the past

          7  there was a gap between what was paid out of the

          8  contract rate and what was the market rate, so that

          9  that 8.06, there was a difference of $8.06 that the

         10  City got reimbursed by the Child Care Block Grant,

         11  that now when we move to the maximum had to come out

         12  of the maximum.

         13                 So, when we weren't at the maximum,

         14  it was split. But it always came. It always was paid

         15  for out of the Child Care Block Grant and it

         16  continues to be paid for out of the Child Care Block

         17  Grant.

         18                 And the other thing we did is, we

         19  maximized that $4.5 million, as the Commissioner

         20  said, towards infants and toddlers, and when the

         21  market rate for infants and toddlers went up, if

         22  this is the example, we were paying $135 under the

         23  old rate for an infant in family child care, 17.06

         24  was the administrative fee, and the provider

         25  received $118.

                                                            245

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES COMMITTEES

          2                 As a result of the change, the market

          3  rate is $150, and the network receives 17.06, and

          4  the provider is paid $132.94. So, in fact, the

          5  provider is receiving $15 more.

          6                 In no case did a provider receive

          7  less money as a result of this change. It was $4.5

          8  million, all of which went to the provider.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Whoa. I'm going

         10  to give you friendly advice. That was the answer you

         11  should have started with there. So, let me get this

         12  clear. You're saying that the providers are not

         13  paying more than they paid before?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHOWDHURY: No.

         15  They're not paying more than they paid before.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Help me keep

         17  this very simple.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHOWDHURY: Okay.

         19                 The way to put it, though, is that

         20  the network is receiving the same amount it always

         21  received, which is $17.06.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Right. But who

         23  is paying that, is what I'm so confused on.

         24                 All we're trying to get to is, does

         25  the individual provider now have to pay more, pay
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          2  less? What does it mean for them?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHOWDHURY: On the

          4  surface it appears as though they might be paying

          5  more.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHOWDHURY: And

          8  that's because in the past the 8.06, which the  City

          9  was able to get reimbursed from the State, didn't

         10  appear -- it was paid in two different sums.

         11                 So, for example, in this situation,

         12  in the old situation the provider would have -- the

         13  network would have gotten 120 -- sorry. The network

         14  would have gotten actually $127 as part of their

         15  contract rate and an additional 8. But the provider

         16  would have still have gotten $118.

         17                 The thing to emphasize is that this

         18  was in addition and that no provider for any child

         19  as a result is receiving less money.

         20                 In fact, this $4.5 million is all

         21  going to providers for increased pay as a result of

         22  parity.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I'm confused.

         24  They have to pay more on the administrative fee but

         25  they get paid something back for it? Is it a net
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          2  gain? Where is the gain?

          3                 Again, try to think like us over

          4  here, not like you. Because you're always having

          5  trouble putting it into layman's terms. So, we're

          6  over here, we're laymen. All we want to know is. If

          7  you're a provider, are you coming out ahead or

          8  behind based on these changes?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHOWDHURY: Ahead.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Why are you

         11  ahead in simple terms?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHOWDHURY:

         13  Because before you were making $118 and now you're

         14  making $133.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHOWDHURY: In the

         17  case of every age in every child there is an

         18  increase of anywhere from $13 to $14, with the

         19  exception of school-age care.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHOWDHURY: We did

         22  not increase the community for school-age care.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: The provider is

         24  getting more in, right? But what are they paying out

         25  in this fee   now?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHOWDHURY: The

          3  way that the Family Child Care Networks work is we

          4  have a contract with the network. We pay the network

          5  the amount. The network nets out its amount and

          6  gives it to the provider. So, the provider, as a

          7  result now, is getting $14 more than they got

          8  before. The network is not getting anything in

          9  addition.

         10                 What was confusing was that when we

         11  were prior to parity, there was a gap between the

         12  contract rate and the market rate and the 8.06 was

         13  covered within that gap. When the gap was

         14  eliminated, the 17.06 came out of the full thing.

         15  But there is no difference in how much the network

         16  is getting paid or how the network is getting paid.

         17  So, it still works out to the same.

         18                 It's confusing because in the

         19  movement to parity, we eliminated the gap that

         20  existed between the contract rate and the market

         21  rate.

         22                 So, we can guarantee you that

         23  everyone is getting paid more.

         24                 We instituted this as of October, so

         25  in the 68 networks that we work with, 52 have
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          2  already made payments for retroactive increases.

          3  There are approximately 16 networks that are still

          4  in the process of making the increased payments, and

          5  have all said that they will do that by the end of

          6  March.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And this fee is

          8  paid per child per week.

          9                 I think the concern is that for the

         10  folks who are providing the service, who do not

         11  exactly have a lot of assets, that any short-term

         12  additional fee has a negative impact.

         13                 So, even, you know, $8 for one child,

         14  or $16 for two children times 52 weeks a year, it

         15  starts to add up quite a bit. And even if there is a

         16  reimbursement in effect, I don't even pretend to

         17  fully understand the way you just described it, but

         18  if people are having to put more out of pocket, and

         19  there is any kind of delay or gap in terms of the

         20  reimbursement process for people who don't have a

         21  lot of assets to begin with, it's a problem. So,

         22  what do you say to that simple point?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHOWDHURY: What

         24  I'm saying is no one saw a decrease or a reduction

         25  in what they received out of payment.
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          2                 It's not as though the provider mails

          3  in a check of $17. It's what the provider gets paid

          4  by the networks.

          5                 No provider should receive less. In

          6  fact, a provider should receive more. If they

          7  haven't gotten their increase, we have put our

          8  pressure on the networks to make these payments as

          9  quickly as possible.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Are you saying

         11  everything happens in real time, so if someone is

         12  putting more out of their pocket they're getting

         13  reimbursed immediately? Or are you saying there's a

         14  time frame?

         15                 Again, simple common sense. If

         16  someone has to put more out of pocket, and they

         17  don't have a lot of money, it's a problem.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHOWDHURY: No,

         19  Councilman. Providers are not putting more money out

         20  of their pocket. It's not a direct payment. You

         21  don't pay the $17. It's netted out. And after the

         22  $17 is netted out, no one is receiving less for what

         23  they were receiving before.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay, let me

         25  take you to another area of child care, which we
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          2  have talked a number of times about background check

          3  issues related to informal care providers. And we

          4  had another situation in the newspaper, it actually

          5  was in a center, but you know, this continues to be

          6  a real concern, and we understand the legal

          7  impediments and the State law issues, but I think

          8  the last time, I mean I think we brought this up

          9  over the course of the last year repeatedly. So,

         10  what can you tell us has changed since?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHOWDHURY: ACS

         12  has developed and implemented, as we had testified

         13  in November, ACS has developed and implemented a

         14  pilot program that began last fall to implement the

         15  initiative of obtaining background checks for

         16  informal family child care providers.

         17                 We began this initiative in

         18  Manhattan, where they're using a broad array of

         19  public databases, including a child care facility

         20  system, the New York State Office of Court

         21  Administration Criminal History Record Search, the

         22  New York State and National Sex Offenders Registries

         23  and Multiple Child Welfare Databases to determine if

         24  a provider, for example, has had a child removed

         25  from care or termination of parental rights.
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          2                 As of February 1st, we added to this

          3  pilot the conducting of site visits for ten percent

          4  of the pilot program participants to verify provider

          5  identity, household members and information provided

          6  in the health and safety at a station.

          7                 As you know, we were awaiting further

          8  clarification of where the State regs would go. The

          9  State regs have been issued. We then provided

         10  comment to saying they didn't necessarily go as far

         11  as we would want to go and the fingerprinting would

         12  continue to make this effort a lot easier.

         13                 The plan is that the pilot would be

         14  completed by July. There would be a very short

         15  period for analysis and then we would implement this

         16  initiative Citywide.

         17                 We were learning quite a bit about

         18  how to do this initiative and how these databases

         19  work. So, we actually think that we would be able to

         20  go systemwide in the fall.

         21                 In the new State regulations, it

         22  calls for this service to be contracted out to

         23  enrollment agencies, and we have participated with

         24  the State in developing of that RFP, which could

         25  potentially be anywhere from nine to 13
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          2  neighborhood-based, or sub-borough based enrollment

          3  agencies that would be engaged in this work, and be

          4  doing the background checks and the site visits.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay, I want to

          6  make sure I got this straight.

          7                 The jury is still out on the

          8  fingerprinting because of the State regulations.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHOWDHURY: State

         10  law.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, you've

         12  tried to appeal that in effect, but you're not

         13  saying you could predict whether at any point you'll

         14  be able to do the fingerprinting you want to do?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHOWDHURY: Yes.

         16  If I understand it, you would have to have a State

         17  law passed to allow for fingerprinting of folks.

         18                 In a place where it appears to be

         19  blocked is in the Assembly. So, any political

         20  pressure you can put --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: We're all with

         22  you on this one.

         23                 So, the question is, is there an

         24  active effort through the Mayor's Legislative Office

         25  in Albany, and we will happily work with it closely.
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          2  Is there an active effort right now to get that

          3  legislation passed?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHOWDHURY: Yes,

          5  there is.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. And it's

          7  sponsored and it's introduced and all that stuff?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHOWDHURY: That I

          9  don't know. But I know that we have made this a

         10  priority. I know that the Commissioner has met with

         11  Chairman Scarboro, who chairs the Committee.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Yes. Would you

         13  let our Council know as quickly as possible whether

         14  this is actually an introduced piece of legislation,

         15  or at a different state of play?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHOWDHURY: It's

         17  in the City's legislative package, but it has not

         18  been introduced yet.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. On either

         20  side, Senate or Assembly?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHOWDHURY: I may

         22  be incorrect here, but I do believe in the past it

         23  has passed in the Assembly, but it has never passed

         24  in the -- I'm sorry. It has passed in the Senate but

         25  it has never passed in the Assembly.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. We'd

          3  appreciate further clarification on what the time

          4  line is for introduction, how we can assist, et

          5  cetera.

          6                 But beyond the fingerprinting, you're

          7  saying a more extensive process will be in place by

          8  the fall. Okay, and that you're committed to.

          9                 Are there budgetary ramifications we

         10  need to know about that?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHOWDHURY: We're

         12  committed to it. A lot depends around the State's

         13  release of this RFP and when that goes through.

         14  Because that's where funding for this will come. So,

         15  we have told OCFS, the Office of Children Family

         16  Services, what our required budget for this would

         17  be, which I think we testified also in November

         18  would be $2.15 million.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And that would

         20  be all State funding.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHOWDHURY: And we

         22  wish for it to be all State funding.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHOWDHURY: That's

         25  where we said the budget would be.
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          2                 We have not received a draft of the

          3  RFP that tells us that that amount will be issued

          4  for these enrollment agencies.

          5                 So, we will be ready, based on the

          6  findings of the pilot, to begin a project in the

          7  fall. We would need to have the funding in place

          8  from the State and the funding to be adequate, for

          9  us to be able to do that.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And if you have

         11  to make up some gap, is that something you handle in

         12  the budget mod? Or are you putting it into your '07

         13  budget as an assumption?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHOWDHURY: Since

         15  the State has the lead on this, we haven't put

         16  anything into our State -- into our budget as an

         17  assumption. We have made it very clear to the State

         18  what our needs would be to be able to do this.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CHOWDHURY: And we

         21  think it should be a State-funded initiative,

         22  especially since it's a State reg, and since OCFS

         23  covers safety and health.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I will just

         25  press on one more point. I couldn't agree with you
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          2  more, but to the extent they fail in that

          3  responsibility, or it drags out, is the City

          4  prepared to take some action of its own?

          5                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: We certainly

          6  will figure out how to make this work.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I'll take that

          8  as a yes.

          9                 Okay, let me ask you, I think this

         10  may be the last area here. According to the City's

         11  Financial Management System, FMS, ACS has, and I

         12  want to get this straight, this is related

         13  specifically to federal, State and federal, I'm

         14  sorry, State and federal funding, ACS as of January

         15  31st of this year, has claimed over 17 percent of

         16  the revenue it could expect to collect in Fiscal

         17  '06, from State and federal sources, and had

         18  collected only four percent. So, the overall

         19  expectation for Fiscal '06 from all State and

         20  federal sources, related to ACS is 1.6 billion. As

         21  of January 31st, our information is only 17 percent

         22  had been claimed, that's 273 million, and only four

         23  percent had actually been collected, about 61

         24  million.

         25                 On the surface of things, that would
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          2  be a reason for concern. So, can you tell us, do you

          3  expect to ultimately by June 30th collect all those

          4  outstanding commitments?

          5                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: We certainly

          6  are going to collect what we bill for. I'd be very

          7  surprised if it's anything more than a typical

          8  delay.

          9                 Where we are right now, in terms of

         10  federal funding, and this is 4 E funding we're

         11  primarily talking about, is taking a very careful

         12  look at the long history that we have had of

         13  claiming and trying to make sure that we claim

         14  correctly.

         15                 And during this process, which we

         16  have really heightened our efforts on beginning last

         17  June, we have had to take a position of slowing down

         18  our certainty about what to bill for.

         19                 We have not, however, at this point

         20  made a final determination that we're going to be

         21  anywhere near where we are right now.

         22                 I'm quite sure we'll be well above

         23  that, but I can't say for sure right now where we

         24  will be above that.

         25                 It's mostly a question of timing
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          2  right now, and the complexities are getting ready

          3  for 4 E audit that's coming this summer.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: But does this

          5  mean that there's a possibility that federal funding

          6  and State funding which is due to ACS will go

          7  unclaimed within the relevant time frame?

          8                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: No, not at

          9  all.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, if this

         11  number, and, again, we're getting this from the

         12  City's financial management system, if the 1.6

         13  billion approximation is correct, this is all State

         14  and federal sources, you're saying that money would

         15  be retrieved within the relevant time frame and none

         16  of the money would be lost?

         17                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Well, any

         18  funds that are due to us, we will definitely

         19  retrieve. The question we are working on now is

         20  exactly what that number should be of what is due to

         21  us, based on the 4 E requirements.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And when do you

         23  think you'll know that number?

         24                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: I'm reluctant

         25  to say, but in the near future.

                                                            260

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES COMMITTEES

          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: In the near

          3  future. In time for the various state and federal

          4  time lines.

          5                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

          7                 Hang on one second.

          8                 Are we clear on that, my colleagues?

          9  Okay.

         10                 All right, I think we have covered

         11  the areas we need to cover. Sorry it's been long and

         12  exhaustive. Hold on.

         13                 Chair Sears has one last question.

         14  I'm sorry.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: It has to do with

         16  the block grants. And I know how the block grants

         17  work and they're rather cumbersome. They're not

         18  timely. I guess it's two-fold: One, have you had

         19  problems with the block grants? And has there

         20  actually been any advocacy to remove the child care

         21  services from the block grant? Because the State

         22  distributes those federal dollars, and it's obvious

         23  that there seems to be problems with that, and it's

         24  just generated the thought about the block grants.

         25                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Well, there
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          2  are block grants and there are block grants. In

          3  terms of the child care block grant, I'm not sure

          4  exactly what you're asking.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Right. It's the

          6  FSS block grants and then the child care that comes

          7  with that.

          8                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: I'm sorry.

          9  Our position on the Triple FS and the child care

         10  block grant being inside the Triple FS is that what

         11  we need to be sure of before we take any final stand

         12  on our part is where the funding stands. And that

         13  what we will do as a City is support the proposal

         14  that provides the most funds. That's our basic

         15  position.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Well, we only have

         17  I think about a week to go with the State budget,

         18  and I don't believe, and correct me if I'm wrong,

         19  there is any indication of what you are receiving

         20  within the block grant; is that correct?

         21                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Well, that's

         22  right. It's a block grant. So, the City would be

         23  provided with a block grant of funds.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: My question is,

         25  but you have no idea what that is, or do you?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: What the

          3  child care piece of it would be?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Yes.

          5                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Not at this

          6  point, no.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Okay, and that's

          8  why I wonder about the block grants, and there

          9  shouldn't be an appeal on the part of everybody to

         10  remove the child care component from the block

         11  grant. Because with all due respect, and you're

         12  doing it very admirably, still it's ambitious. And

         13  part of those block grants are included in your

         14  ambitious undertaking. And when we don't know what

         15  the amount is, and in all probability it will be

         16  cut, so that means it's going to affect

         17  substantially some of your services that the

         18  Chairman has been speaking about. So, it seems that

         19  until the State budget is really passed and you have

         20  some idea of what's happening, and is it advisable

         21  to try and remove those block grants for child

         22  services out of the block grant, since the State

         23  holds onto it? The State is the one that distributes

         24  them.

         25                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: I understand
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          2  your concerns, and to just give our general approach

          3  to this, because we have a block grant in terms of

          4  child welfare as well, block grants historically

          5  have proven to be a way in which cuts are passed

          6  down without the responsibility for the

          7  decision-making.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Exactly. That's

          9  why I raise that issue.

         10                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: That's the

         11  way we feel about block grants in general.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: And I think we

         13  should push to get them out of the block grants, Mr.

         14  Chairman, all right?

         15                 All right, I think that has basically

         16  answered my question, and thank you. And it seems to

         17  me there needs to be an effort down in Washington

         18  and in Albany, because we've always had problems

         19  with the block grants in Albany. They're not timely.

         20  They disperse them as they see fit, regardless of

         21  what is supposed to come to the City, and I think

         22  it's time that stopped. Thank you, Commissioner.

         23                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you,

         25  Chair.
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          2                 Okay, just to conclude, Commissioner,

          3  I'd like to thank you for your testimony. I'd like

          4  to say that I think the plan you've laid out today

          5  is commendable and very, very helpful. I am

          6  particularly moved by the idea of neighborhood child

          7  safety teams, which I think is that kind of bringing

          8  things down to the neighborhood level is exactly

          9  what we need. And I think if we can, from tragedy

         10  create a dynamic of deeper accountability and

         11  responsibility and sense of locality and community

         12  where people really understand everybody and all

         13  elements of the community understands the

         14  responsibility to protect children, you know, we

         15  will have achieved a lot.

         16                 I am obviously concerned that while

         17  we move so much of our energy and so many good and

         18  appropriate resources to protection, that we not

         19  lose sight of the role of prevention. You know, I

         20  think it was getting its due for awhile, and I hope

         21  that doesn't stop now, because I can think of

         22  nothing that will do more to avoid these tragedies

         23  than real prevention efforts.

         24                 I am concerned that we recognize that

         25  in fact we could see some reversal in terms of

                                                            265

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES COMMITTEES

          2  foster care now where these reporting levels remain

          3  high. I think it stands to reason where your

          4  reliance on foster care has been an article of faith

          5  that that was going down and going down, but that

          6  may not be the case, and the funding will have to

          7  reflect that potentially.

          8                 And lastly, as we said earlier, child

          9  care, I would hate to see after a few years of it

         10  getting finally the kind of front-page mention it

         11  deserved, and making some real progress on numbers,

         12  if because of OST and because of emphasis on these

         13  other areas child care ends up falling by the

         14  wayside again I think it would be very

         15  counterproductive.

         16                 Lastly, I want to say I'm very, very

         17  happy with ChildStat and all of your general, you

         18  know, accountability and information approaches. I

         19  do want to say that that is consistent with

         20  legislation I introduced a few months ago, and I do

         21  think we should carry through on, which would codify

         22  the concept of regular reporting to the Council on

         23  these type of statistics.

         24                 I think it's wonderful that you're

         25  committed and this Administration is committed to
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          2  that. I think it's something that has to be made

          3  permanent so that future administrations feel the

          4  same sense of responsibility. So, I just wanted to

          5  note that, and we will work with you on that.

          6                 And thank you, again, to your

          7  testimony, and thank you to your team.

          8                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay, sorry,

         10  again to everyone that this has gone late.

         11                 We're going to call forward

         12  Department of Homeless Services, who will be the

         13  last agency of the day.

         14                 Okay, I would like everyone who is

         15  exiting to please exit expeditiously. We are well

         16  behind schedule and need to catch up some here.

         17                 Okay, Commissioner, we welcome you.

         18  Sorry for the long delay. It's never good to be the

         19  last one in the line up on budget hearing day.

         20                 I congratulate you on assuming this

         21  position. We look forward to working with you and we

         22  welcome your testimony.

         23                 Just press the button so we can hear

         24  you.

         25                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: Thank
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          2  you. Good afternoon, Chairman DeBlasio and members

          3  of the Council. I am Fran Winter, Acting

          4  Commissioner of the Department of Homeless Services.

          5  I recently assumed the responsibility of

          6  Commissioner when Commissioner Gibbs was appointed

          7  to the position of Deputy Mayor for Health and Human

          8  Services.

          9                 While I have been with DHS in several

         10  different capacities, this is my first time

         11  testifying before you, and I thank you for the

         12  opportunity today.

         13                 It's been a little over a year and a

         14  half since the launch of Mayor Bloomberg's five-year

         15  Action Plan to End Chronic Homelessness, Uniting for

         16  Solutions Beyond Shelter. As you know, one of the

         17  main goals of the plan is to reduce the number of

         18  individuals on the streets and in the shelters by

         19  two-thirds by 2009. Since the launch of the plan, we

         20  have already achieved a significant decrease in the

         21  number of New Yorkers experiencing the trauma of

         22  homelessness.

         23                 I would like to share with you some

         24  of the agency's recent accomplishments which are

         25  helping to improve the lives of the most vulernable
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          2  New Yorkers.

          3                 We are pleased to report that the

          4  number of adults and families in our shelters

          5  continues to decline.

          6                 In the last year alone, the total

          7  shelter census has decreased by 13 percent, from an

          8  average of 36,258 individuals in February of 2005 to

          9  an average of 31,473 individuals in February 2006.

         10  That's almost 5,000 fewer New Yorkers in shelter.

         11                 Since February 2003, the year when

         12  the total shelter population was at its peak, there

         13  has been an 18 percent decline and the largest

         14  three-year census reduction in almost 15 years.

         15                 During the past three years, the

         16  greatest decline in the shelter system has been

         17  among families and children.

         18                 In February 2003 to February 2006,

         19  the average number of families in shelter decreased

         20  from 9,230 to 7,805 or 15 percent. The average

         21  number of children in shelter has also decreased

         22  dramatically during the same period.

         23                 From 16,674 to 11,925, that's 28

         24  percent fewer children in shelter today than three

         25  years ago. This is the largest three-year decrease
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          2  since the early 1990s.

          3                 You will also be pleased to hear that

          4  the single adult population continues to decrease.

          5                 In February 2006, there were 8,095

          6  single adults in shelter on average each day, which

          7  represents a nine percent decrease since February

          8  2004.

          9                 This decrease marks the largest

         10  two-year decrease of single adults in over ten

         11  years.

         12                 Unlike the number of families and

         13  single adults in shelter, the number of adult

         14  families without minor children in shelter has

         15  increased slightly, and this population will be a

         16  key focus of our efforts in 2006.

         17                 We will continue to closely monitor

         18  these encouraging trends and we remain committed to

         19  the five-year action plan goal of reducing the

         20  number of individuals on the street and in shelters

         21  by two-thirds by 2009.

         22                 We have continued to make

         23  improvements in our family intake process over the

         24  past year.

         25                 In November 2004, our agency opened
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          2  the PATH Office to serve as a temporary intake

          3  facility for families with children, in order to

          4  tear down the emergency assistance unit and build a

          5  brand new state-of-the-art intake center.

          6                 We have revamped our intake process

          7  based on a series of recommendations issued by the

          8  court-appointed special master panel in the McCain

          9  litigation to offer families a broader array of

         10  housing-related resources to address housing

         11  emergencies and strengthen the eligibility

         12  determination process.

         13                 We now utilize a team approach, which

         14  one family worker assists families from beginning to

         15  end. We have also implemented safeguards throughout

         16  the process, including a midpoint eligibility

         17  conference with the family and multiple legal and

         18  program reviews.

         19                 The PATH office also features a new

         20  resource room staffed with 12 MSWs who provide

         21  families, especially ineligible families, with

         22  face-to-face counseling support and linkages to a

         23  variety of social services intended to assist them

         24  in returning to their communities.

         25                 The creation of the resource room
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          2  addresses the special master panel recommendation

          3  that the agency develop a process of more

          4  effectively handling families who are ineligible for

          5  shelter that will ease their transition back to the

          6  community.

          7                 In addition, the resource room plays

          8  an important role in our recently implemented

          9  reapplication program. The reapplication program is

         10  a common sense approach to serving families who

         11  reapply for shelter shortly being found to have an

         12  existing housing resource.

         13                 Those with an immediate need receive

         14  shelter while we review their reapplication and

         15  those who have an alternative housing option will be

         16  given an appointment to return to PATH for their

         17  eligibility determination.

         18                 All of these reforms have resulted in

         19  an intake center that humanely serves families while

         20  linking them to needed resources as efficiently as

         21  possible.

         22                 In fact, a first-time applicant

         23  family spends approximately six and a half hours at

         24  PATH before leaving for their conditional placement.

         25                 Compare this with the same family
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          2  applying at the EAU, the family would have spent an

          3  average of 20 hours over two or three days before

          4  completing the application process.

          5                 We continue to strive to improve

          6  intake services for single adult clients in an

          7  effort to assure that shelter is accessible and

          8  responsive to each client's specific needs.

          9                 With that goal in mind, we are in the

         10  process of decentralizing our adult intake system

         11  for men from one center to three centers.

         12                 The purpose of the decentralization

         13  is to make it easier for clients to access services

         14  through multiple user-friendly locations and also to

         15  offer a broader array of responses to homelessness.

         16                 We hope to open an intake facility in

         17  each of the three boroughs with the highest

         18  concentrations of street homeless individuals,

         19  Brooklyn, the Bronx, and Manhattan.

         20                 The facilities will provide diversion

         21  services and provide referrals to community-based

         22  social and medical services.

         23                 By increasing the service component

         24  at our front door and strengthening linkages to

         25  community-based resources, we believe that it will
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          2  be possible for some individuals to avoid

          3  experiencing homelessness entirely.

          4                 Of course, we will maintain shelter

          5  services for those whose homelessness cannot be

          6  avoided.

          7                 In addition, our agency continues to

          8  be committed to accommodating all people in need and

          9  servicing all clients with understanding, dignity

         10  and respect.

         11                 As part of that commitment, we have

         12  recently adopted a new shelter policy to ensure

         13  respectful treatment of transgendered clients

         14  starting at intake.

         15                 DHS intake and assessment shelters

         16  are segregated by gender. The new policy respects an

         17  individual's gender identity, and agency placements

         18  will be determined whenever possible by a client's

         19  stated identity. To implement this new policy, we

         20  are developing a training program to educate our

         21  staff about transgender issues.

         22                 Our agency has worked hard in

         23  collaboration with various advocacy groups to

         24  develop and implement this policy. Recently

         25  transgender advocates lauded this policy as the best
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          2  of its kind in the nation.

          3                 As you know, Mayor Bloomberg and

          4  Governor Pataki announced the signing of an historic

          5  New York New York III Agreement in November of last

          6  year, in which the City and State committed to fund

          7  $1 billion to develop 9,000 new units of supportive

          8  housing in New York City.

          9                 This New York New York III Agreement

         10  will produce twice, nearly twice the number of units

         11  that was generated by the first and second New York

         12  New York Agreements combined, and affirms the City's

         13  commitment to building housing for chronically

         14  homeless individuals and families and reducing the

         15  shelter and street homeless populations by

         16  two-thirds.

         17                 In addition, while the first two

         18  agreements produced 5,300 units solely for single

         19  adults with mental illness and some history of

         20  homelessness, the new pact reaches a broader range

         21  of clients to better reflect the population of

         22  chronically homeless people on City streets and in

         23  shelters today.

         24                 New York New York III also includes

         25  units for clients with substance abuse disorders,
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          2  HIV/AIDS and mental illness. Also included for the

          3  first time are families with disabled heads of

          4  households and young people aging out of foster care

          5  and residential treatment.

          6                 We are working in close collaboration

          7  with our City partners, DOHMH, HRA, HPD and OMB and

          8  the State to implement this milestone agreement.

          9                 Over the past year, we have helped

         10  thousands of individuals and families move from

         11  temporary shelter to permanent housing through

         12  Housing Stability Plus.

         13                 HSP is one of the most generous

         14  discretionary rental assistance programs ever

         15  developed in this country.

         16                 Since December 2004, 6,165 clients

         17  have signed leases for permanent housing.

         18                 The significance of this number

         19  should not be overlooked.

         20                 In 2005, 4,703 leases were signed by

         21  HSP families. By way of comparison in 2004 under the

         22  Emergency Assistance Rehousing Program, 3,788

         23  families were placed into Section 8 housing.

         24                 HSP assisted almost 1,000 more

         25  clients obtain permanent housing as compared to
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          2  Section 8 in its first year alone.

          3                 HSP also covers adults leaving

          4  shelter, unlike Section 8. Moreover, clients who are

          5  moving out have overwhelmingly been able to maintain

          6  their permanency. Only 45 families and four single

          7  adults have returned to the shelter since the

          8  beginning of the program.

          9                 We achieved such impressive numbers

         10  in the program's first year by devoting considerable

         11  time to educating clients and shelter staff about

         12  the program's benefits and how the process works.

         13                 In addition, we engaged in an

         14  aggressive marketing campaign to building owners, to

         15  encourage them to participate in the program.

         16                 Our success can also be contributed

         17  to the ease with which families on public assistance

         18  can qualify for the program and sign leases.

         19                 Under Section 8, the certification

         20  process involved multiple agencies that often took

         21  five months or longer to complete. Under HSP,

         22  families that are in shelter for 90 days who have an

         23  active public assistance case are automatically

         24  certified for the program.

         25                 DHS conducts inspections of all
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          2  apartments prior to lease signing. If a unit has no

          3  problems, we will certify the apartment. When only

          4  minor repairs are required, painting, plastering or

          5  floor repairs, a landlord must sign a notarized

          6  repair agreement attesting that these repairs will

          7  be made prior to lease signing. When a unit requires

          8  major repairs, completing wall construction or

          9  bathtub installation, we will not certify the

         10  apartment.

         11                 We will reinspect the unit when a

         12  building owner has made the necessary repairs and we

         13  will only certify the unit when the repairs have

         14  been made.

         15                 We also have a quality assurance unit

         16  that clients can contact for repair issues that

         17  arise after the lease is signed.

         18                 In order to ensure that our HSP

         19  clients continue to receive their rental supplement,

         20  our case manager field team monitors the public

         21  assistance status of our HSP clients, and works with

         22  them to keep their public assistance cases active.

         23                 We also continue to lobby for a

         24  transitional benefit which would allow recipients

         25  with employment income to continue to receive a
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          2  rental supplement, even if they are no longer

          3  eligible for public assistance.

          4                 To date, the agency's efforts in

          5  approaching the State regarding this transitional

          6  benefit has been unsuccessful. But we will continue

          7  to work towards securing funding for this important

          8  initiative.

          9                 We continue to make great progress

         10  with our innovative homelessness prevention program,

         11  Home Base. A central theme of Mayor Bloomberg's

         12  five-year Action Plan is homelessness prevention,

         13  and using our resources and energy to help more

         14  households avoid the trauma of homelessness.

         15                 Our home-based offices were open in

         16  September of 2004 in six of the most at-risk

         17  communities in the City.

         18                 These communities are the South

         19  Bronx, East Tremont Belmont, Bedford Stuyvesant,

         20  Bushwick, East Harlem and Jamaica.

         21                 Since their opening, these providers

         22  have served more than 3,000 households. Our Home

         23  Base providers serve families and individuals who

         24  are facing a significant threat to their housing,

         25  and have incomes below 200 percent of the federal
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          2  poverty level.

          3                 These providers are for flexible

          4  services, depending upon the needs of each client,

          5  including case management, short-term financial

          6  assistance, entitlements advocacy, housing

          7  relocation, household budgeting, job training and

          8  employment services, family and landlord mediation.

          9                 Outcomes from the first year are

         10  promising. The number of families entering shelter

         11  from the home-based neighborhoods in 2005 declined

         12  by 12 percent compared to 2004. This decrease

         13  surpasses the Citywide decrease in the number of

         14  families entering shelter in 2005, which was seven

         15  percent, compared to 2004.

         16                 In Home Base's first year, 96 percent

         17  of clients served were able to avoid shelter and

         18  remain in housing.

         19                 To assist our providers from

         20  targeting services to clients that would be at risk

         21  of entering shelter, DHS has developed a

         22  sophisticated system of data sharing between the

         23  shelter system and the Home Base providers. The

         24  system geocodes data from the shelter entrance and

         25  generates community maps for the Home Base community
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          2  districts.

          3                 We also provide demographic profiles

          4  of the clients entering shelter, to better inform

          5  the Home Base outreach efforts.

          6                 In keeping with our mission, we took

          7  a lead role in assisting Hurricane Katrina evacuees

          8  who came to New York and were placed in area hotels.

          9  An estimated 2,500 evacuees relocated to New York

         10  City following Hurricane Katrina.

         11                 Of these, the American Red Cross

         12  placed approximately 367 households in seven New

         13  York City area hotels. We partnered with six

         14  non-profit organizations to provide intensive

         15  on-site housing placement services to evacuees in

         16  FEMA-funded hotels. The non-profit case management

         17  teams, CAMBA, Palladia, Help USA, Salvation Army,

         18  Bowery Residents Committee and Catholic Charities

         19  BFFY, worked tirelessly to identify permanent

         20  housing resources, assist evacuees to secure all

         21  available benefits, including FEMA rental

         22  assistance, arrange travel and transportation to any

         23  re-housing location, and make referrals to

         24  employment resources.

         25                 In addition, in conjunction with the
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          2  Department of Housing Preservation and Development,

          3  the City hosted three housing fairs where Katrina

          4  evacuees were able to learn about and apply for

          5  rental housing.

          6                 As of today, only 33 households

          7  remain in the hotels out of the initial 367

          8  households. The agency is proud of its efforts to

          9  assist these evacuees.

         10                 Our efforts in making New York City's

         11  shelter system the most sophisticated and

         12  comprehensive in the nation enabled the City to

         13  reach another milestone recently.

         14                 Last month, we filed a motion in New

         15  York State Supreme Court to end 22 years of

         16  litigation in McCain versus Bloomberg, involving the

         17  provision of shelter and related services to

         18  families with children.

         19                 When the McCain lawsuit was filed in

         20  1983, the central focus of the suit was insufficient

         21  shelter capacity and lack of standards governing

         22  shelter.

         23                 These concerns are no longer at

         24  issue, as more than 160 family shelters provide not

         25  only emergency shelter but also a tremendous array
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          2  of support services for homeless families.

          3                 It is this dedicated service toward

          4  helping the most vulnerable New Yorkers that enabled

          5  us to affirmatively state to the Court that full

          6  management of the shelter system should be given

          7  back to the City and its nonprofit partners.

          8                 The filing of the Motion and the

          9  anticipated end of litigation does not take away any

         10  protections from the families we serve, rather, it

         11  will allow us to carry on with the reforms and

         12  progress we've made, and continually strive to do

         13  better.

         14                 Finally, I would like to report on

         15  the Fiscal Year 2007 Preliminary Budget. For the

         16  current year, Fiscal Year '06, the Department's

         17  Expense Budget is $749 million. For Fiscal Year '07,

         18  the Expense Budget decreases to $705 million.

         19                 Of the $705 million, 303 million are

         20  City funds, 211 million are State funds, 156 million

         21  are federal funds, 4 million are grant funds, and 31

         22  million are inter-City funds.

         23                 The $705 million total budget

         24  allocates $279 million to services for single

         25  adults, $372 million to services for families. $54
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          2  million to support services.

          3                 The DHS capital plan for the

          4  five-year period 2007 to '11 is currently $125

          5  million. Capital projects for homeless families

          6  totaled $37 million, projects for single adults

          7  totaled $78 million, $8 million has been allocated

          8  for support services, and $2 million has been

          9  allocated for City Council-funded projects.

         10                 Thank you, again, for giving me this

         11  opportunity to appear. I am now prepared to take

         12  your questions.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

         14  much, Commissioner.

         15                 In addition to your many skills, you

         16  read very quickly, which we appreciate deeply.

         17                 Okay, let's start at the end. Is this

         18  too common sense an assumption that your Expense

         19  Budget goes from 749 to 705 and that correlates to

         20  the reduction in the population in shelter?

         21                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: The reason for

         22  the difference between the two year numbers is, it's

         23  a variety of reasons, that every plan, and we could

         24  probably take this back --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Sorry. You

                                                            284

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES COMMITTEES

          2  actually need to formally introduce yourself for the

          3  transcript.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER POCK: Sorry. I'm

          5  Steve Pock --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I'm a little

          7  slow late in the game here.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER POCK: I'm Steve

          9  Pock. I'm the Deputy Commissioner for Fiscal and

         10  Procurement Operations. And to my right is Lula

         11  Erchardt, who is the Assistant Commissioner for

         12  Budget and Finance.

         13                 At every plan the number of new needs

         14  and number of pegs go into the different fiscal

         15  years unequally, and so that's what's reflected

         16  here, so it's an aggregate of some things that have

         17  happened in previous plans, where we might have been

         18  pegged more heavily in FY '07 than in FY '06.

         19                 Specifically, we have, our grant

         20  funding goes in year-by-year, so we have about $5

         21  million in '06 that won't go into '07 until '07

         22  begins.

         23                 We have several million dollars more

         24  in CDBG funds in '06 than we do in '07. And in this

         25  plan alone, in the January Plan, the pegs were of
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          2  greater value in '07 than in '06.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Those sound

          4  like important pieces, but you're talking about a

          5  $44 million difference, and I'm so used to looking

          6  at your budgets to see them go up and up and up that

          7  it's refreshing to see it go down, in a sense, but

          8  is any of that because of reduction in shelter

          9  population?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER POCK: Sure. There

         11  are two other pegs in the January Plan. One peg is a

         12  reduction in the family shelter population and

         13  there's one peg that's a reduction in the adult

         14  shelter population.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And can you

         16  roughly quantify those?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER POCK: Sure.

         18                 The peg was called for the adult

         19  shelters, it was called "the adult capacity

         20  reestimate." And actually there were no values in

         21  '06, so that's one of the reasons why the

         22  difference between '06 and in '07.

         23                 In '07 the reduction was $3.3 million

         24  gross, $3.3 million City tax levy.

         25                 And the second peg called "family
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          2  shelter capacity reestimate," in '07 is for $12.6

          3  million gross and $4.6 million CTL.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: All right. So,

          5  that's the lion's share there now.

          6                 We've noticed with ACS that where

          7  savings were achieved, there was a reinvestment plan

          8  to focus on prevention or after care, which we

          9  applauded, and, again, I'm thrilled your population

         10  is going down, and that's the core reason for some

         11  budget activity downward, and that's a good thing.

         12  But what about reinvesting and prevention? We're

         13  going to talk about prevention in a moment.

         14  Obviously something seems to be working. Why is some

         15  of that money not being redirected to prevention and

         16  continue reducing your population?

         17                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: Yes, the

         18  Mayor's Action Plan to end homelessness really does

         19  also focus on prevention, and regards it as quite

         20  important in the progress that we've made so far.

         21                 The plan for reinvestment is being

         22  worked on currently.

         23                 In the past we've actually had some

         24  shelter savings from take-downs that we've saved.

         25  This year's pegs that were just discussed were based
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          2  on shelter capacity and they were pegged in order to

          3  meet City budgetary priorities.

          4                 In the future, we anticipate further

          5  savings from further takedowns, and we anticipate

          6  reinvesting them to meet the goals of the five-year

          7  plan.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, your

          9  subsequent budget reductions will stay in the agency

         10  as reinvestments?

         11                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: The plan

         12  for the reinvestment is being worked on, yes. And

         13  the goals of the plan will be met through the

         14  reinvestment of dollars.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And would it be

         16  fair to say prevention would be one of the

         17  priorities for the reinvestment?

         18                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER:

         19  Prevention is one of the priorities in the plan,

         20  yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. Now,

         22  let's stay on prevention. I'm going to kind of run

         23  around the world of DHS for a few minutes. Let's go

         24  to prevention for a moment.

         25                 Okay, on Home Base. So, your remarks
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          2  are very encouraging, and as you know, this has been

          3  a big deal to this Committee all along, and I don't

          4  want to ever toot the horn of the City Council, but

          5  I will say that we've been saying for years this is

          6  work, and it appears to be working, which is great.

          7                 What does that mean for how you're

          8  going forward with this?

          9                 In other words, if you're seeing this

         10  kind of progress, are you going to expand to other

         11  neighborhoods?

         12                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: At this

         13  time we're working on some expansion plans. We're

         14  discussing it internally and with OMB. There is

         15  nothing yet that we're ready to say on it.

         16                 The success so far is quite

         17  promising, as you know. We'd like it to be even

         18  stronger and deeper. We are looking at how well the

         19  program works and trying to still understand where

         20  it works best, and how it possibly could be

         21  expanded.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: When do you

         23  expect to have an analysis and a plan?

         24                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: Probably

         25  some time next fiscal year.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

          3                 Now, have you been tracking the folks

          4  you served continually? Because obviously the

          5  numbers, you served a substantial number of people

          6  and you are seeing a decrease in homelessness in

          7  those neighborhoods. Are you continuing to track

          8  those folks?

          9                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: Yes, we

         10  are.

         11                 Actually the providers themselves

         12  have a database where all the information on the

         13  clients is maintained. They match it against the

         14  shelter system to see who that they're serving is

         15  coming in, and as I testified to, 96 percent of

         16  their clients don't come in. We keep matching that.

         17  The cases stay open in Home Base for maybe a year,

         18  year and a half, and then after that they're always

         19  in that database, so we will be continually

         20  monitoring them to see if any of them do present for

         21  shelter.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, the 96

         23  percent is based on an ongoing analysis?

         24                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: Yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. Very
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          2  good. You're really impressing me with the ability

          3  to answer with yeses and nos. I going to write a

          4  City Council resolution for you.

          5                 Okay, maybe we can send you around to

          6  train other commissioners.

          7                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: I'll take

          8  that as a compliment.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: It is a

         10  compliment. Yeses and nos are a wonderful thing.

         11                 Okay, now, here comes a challenging

         12  point. Okay, you're doing prevention, and within

         13  prevention you list all of the items that you count

         14  under prevention and it's obviously working.

         15                 What about anti-eviction legal

         16  services? And this is always something where it's

         17  not in the Mayor's budget, we put it in, there is a

         18  dance about it. But now your policy seems to be

         19  moving more in the direction of prevention, so why

         20  would you not be emphasizing anti-eviction legal

         21  services more?

         22                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: We

         23  actually do have a set of contracts that serves

         24  families at risk of eviction, and that is in our

         25  budget and is baselined in our budget that we call
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          2  FAELS, Family Anti-Eviction Legal Services.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: At what level

          4  is it baselined?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER POCK: The total

          6  we have in our budget for Anti-Eviction Legal is

          7  $6.3 million.

          8                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: Those

          9  were previously HRA contracts a few years ago that

         10  were transferred, and now are managed by DHS.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Hold on one

         12  second, I'm sorry. Okay, I'm sorry, I'm a little

         13  rusty so I got reminded.

         14                 Purely within your budget the

         15  Anti-Eviction Legal Services you baselined. It is in

         16  the other agencies that provide anti-eviction legal

         17  services that we go through that give the back and

         18  forth wherein it's not baselined, we have to put it

         19  in, et cetera.

         20                 Again, if there is now at recognition

         21  of the value of prevention, it's happening with you,

         22  it's happening with ACS, it seems to be a growing

         23  recognition this is the way to do the most efficient

         24  type of government, why would we not be fully

         25  funding the other approaches to anti-eviction legal
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          2  services, as obviously not a lack of need in this

          3  City? So, why are we not funding them?

          4                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER:

          5  Historically those contracts have been added by the

          6  City Council. They were with DHS for one year, I

          7  believe, and then the Council reallocated them back

          8  to HPD, and the Office of the Criminal Justice

          9  Coordinator.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And I remember

         11  having this -- raising this question to Commissioner

         12  Gibbs in her day that, you know, it's obviously,

         13  though, the agency it most greatly affects is you.

         14  So, wherever it happens to be housed, and wherever

         15  the different rearranging of the deck chairs has

         16  occurred along the way, it affects you, and I think

         17  it would be in the interest of DHS to see those

         18  baselined.

         19                 But I will make that comment and move

         20  on. Let me ask you a couple of child-related issues.

         21  We had a hearing a year and a half ago, I'm not sure

         22  exactly when about ensuring that ACS personnel were

         23  in the intake centers and available to assess

         24  whether there was any threat to children. This was

         25  after the Colesvinton Florestal tragedy. What is the
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          2  status currently of ACS's presence in the intake

          3  process and in the shelter system?

          4                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: Actually,

          5  we have now a close collaboration with ACS. ACS does

          6  have staff at our intake center. They are there to

          7  assist us when the families come in. They also

          8  screen the cases of those applicant families. So

          9  we're aware of their ACS status.

         10                 In addition to that, on a monthly

         11  basis, we do a match with ACS to see which of our

         12  cases in shelter already have had an open case, or

         13  had a case open in the interim or any ACS activity.

         14                 Once we find a case in common, we

         15  share the information with the shelter provider, the

         16  social services provider, so they're aware of the

         17  ACS involvement, and they closely monitor those

         18  cases.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Why are you

         20  only doing that on a monthly basis? Especially in

         21  light of current events? I think everything is being

         22  sped up. Because a month could be a long time.

         23                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: Yes, a

         24  month can be a long time.

         25                 We will look at that. We are working
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          2  closely with ACS to find the data matches that we

          3  do, and so we will certainly look to see whether

          4  that can be improved upon.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Yes, I would

          6  like to press you upon that. You know, one would

          7  hope a lot of this gets caught at intake, but

          8  obviously it's not a perfect system, and given how

          9  aggressively, I don't know if you heard any of

         10  Commissioner Mattingly's testimony, but there is an

         11  extremely aggressive effort underway at ACS to

         12  create much greater accountability in terms of the

         13  information.

         14                 It would seem to me that, really

         15  you're unique. We talked about how ACS interacts

         16  with family, the police, Department of Education,

         17  but no one will have a greater ability to analyze

         18  what's going on with a family than you guys would.

         19  And you would have to know whether the family had an

         20  ACS history. So, I'm glad we're talking about it but

         21  I'm not glad it's on a monthly basis, because it

         22  could be too late, and I just wanted to really urge

         23  that that be reassessed.

         24                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: I will

         25  take back your urging and we will revisit the issue
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          2  with ACS.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you.

          4                 Would you follow-up with us and let

          5  us know?

          6                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: I will do

          7  that.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you.

          9                 Let me take you -- let me stay on the

         10  issue of children, but take you over to the Scatter

         11  Site Program.

         12                 In the midst of the tragedy around

         13  Quachaun Browne, which was obviously something that

         14  really got the attention of the whole City, sadly

         15  enough, and has led to some of the changes we're

         16  discussing. This was in late January. It appears

         17  from the information we've received that the family,

         18  which was living on Kasuth Street (phonetic) in the

         19  Bronx, was living in some type of scatter-site unit;

         20  are you familiar with that?

         21                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: Yes, it

         22  was a scatter-site unit.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. And the

         24  descriptions, at least the media descriptions, were

         25  very consistent that the apartment was, you know,
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          2  here are some of the quotes from the media:

          3  "squalid; unusually cold; broken windows;

          4  overcrowded" et cetera. You know, if that was an

          5  apartment the City was paying for and had some kind

          6  of more extensive oversight or inspection of, how

          7  did it get to this level?

          8                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: We also

          9  read those reports in the press, and we sent out

         10  inspectors the next day, and found that those

         11  reports were exaggerated.

         12                 In fact, there was heat in the

         13  apartment. I think it had been reported it was cold,

         14  as if there was no heat. But there was a broken

         15  window that had not been reported from the tenant to

         16  the landlord or to us and that's what I think let

         17  the cold in and let it seem as if maybe there was no

         18  heat.

         19                 We did not find that there was

         20  squalid conditions in the apartment. Scatter-site

         21  apartments are inspected now I think three times a

         22  year, but we are eliminating the program shortly,

         23  and hopefully these issues won't emerge any time

         24  again.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Let me take
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          2  this topic and combine it with the previous topic.

          3                 Given again that you at least have a

          4  higher level of connection to families in

          5  scatter-site programs than most agencies certainly

          6  would have with families, is there any process for

          7  analyzing whether a family has ACS history, if

          8  they're in a scatter-site program?

          9                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: When we

         10  do the match with ACS to identify which clients of

         11  the shelter system do have an ACS case, we pay

         12  particular attention to those matches that may

         13  emerge from the Scatter-site Program. And we do

         14  communicate to the Scatter Site provider the urgency

         15  of them making sure that the family is in good

         16  shape, that the caseworker that we have is speaking

         17  to the ACS caseworker and that everybody is aware of

         18  what's going on with the family.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. So, if

         20  there were an incident, for example, if there was a

         21  rapid decline in the physical plant of the unit,

         22  give us an example of how that information would

         23  travel back so that it might be usable, if it

         24  indicated some growing threat to a child's safety.

         25                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: Well, our
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          2  caseworkers are actually mandated reporters as well.

          3  So they have an independent duty when they think a

          4  child is at risk to call the 800 number or call ACS.

          5  So, that is sort of a standard that goes without

          6  saying.

          7                 If we were to find out that the

          8  conditions were deteriorating, obviously we would

          9  want to get in and ameliorate that situation. But in

         10  addition to that, we would be able to contact the

         11  ACS caseworker and let them know, in case it caused

         12  any increased risk to the family.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

         14                 You mentioned that the Scatter-Site

         15  Program is being phased out. The original goal,

         16  which Commissioner Gibbs articulated, and this was

         17  at the Executive Budget hearing last year, I think

         18  at that point she had under 1,000 units and the goal

         19  was to phase them all out by December 31st of '05.

         20                 We understand that as of a little

         21  over a month ago, you still had almost 400 families

         22  in scatter-site units; is that accurate?

         23                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: Today we

         24  are down to fewer than 350 occupied scatter-site

         25  units. We are committed to the elimination of this
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          2  program. It will occur probably some time later this

          3  calendar year.

          4                 The challenges that we faced that

          5  most of the families that remain in scatter site are

          6  larger families, and they are harder to replace, or,

          7  frankly, harder to find housing for to move them on

          8  to permanency.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: How certain are

         10  you, I know this is impressionistic, but how certain

         11  are you that you can conclude this program by the

         12  end of the calendar year?

         13                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: Very

         14  certain.

         15                 We are in the process of formalizing

         16  entering into a new contract, which is what we're

         17  calling a Cluster Tier II model to incorporate some

         18  of the existing Scatter- Site Program -- some of the

         19  existing scatter-site apartments, and bring on over

         20  100 other apartments into this Cluster Tier II

         21  model.

         22                 This is a model that will have

         23  apartments in I think five buildings, and social

         24  services in each building, and really have the

         25  social services the equivalent of a Tier II shelter.
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          2                 That will help us take down the

          3  Scatter-Site Program and the remaining units the

          4  families will either rehouse, or if need be, be

          5  placed in the shelter system. So, we are very

          6  confident that we will eliminate the program.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

          8                 Bear with me a second here. I want to

          9  come around the Housing Stability Plus, but first

         10  let me ask you this. Let me ask you on intake for

         11  adult.

         12                 You plan to co-locate your new men's

         13  intake centers with actual shelter capacity?

         14                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: We have

         15  not yet released the RFP for the intake center, but

         16  we had previously released a request for interest.

         17                 The plan at this time is not

         18  necessarily to require that the new intake center be

         19  co-located with the shelter above it.

         20                 Our vision for the intake center is

         21  fairly flexible, and obviously, it depends on the

         22  proposals we get in. But the vision really is like a

         23  storefront, where clients will feel need the need,

         24  will come in, it will be a simple process. It will

         25  not be an overwhelming large building with lots of
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          2  clients. That's really our vision for the intake

          3  center. Not to have it located with a shelter.

          4                 However, if we get a proposal in that

          5  has an intake center downstairs from a shelter, we

          6  will obviously look at that as well.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay, let me

          8  ask you about Housing Stability Plus. I'm sorry, let

          9  me ask you one quick question back on prevention.

         10  Actually, I should say after care actually more

         11  accurately.

         12                 In terms of people leaving shelter,

         13  and obviously you're having more experience of that

         14  now, which is a good thing, what are you finding and

         15  what are you doing about the fact that, you know,

         16  people having subsidized housing is the best

         17  methodology for ensuring they do not fall back into

         18  shelter? So, how are you ensuring the maximum level

         19  of subsidy or availability of subsidy for folks who

         20  are leaving shelter as an effort to keep it that

         21  way?

         22                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: We have

         23  our case management field team which monitors the PA

         24  status of clients in shelter and HSP clients.

         25                 We get weekly reports, I think weekly

                                                            302

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES COMMITTEES

          2  reports from HRA, or that indicates the public

          3  assistance status of the clients, and this case

          4  management field team spots the problem cases,

          5  contacts the clients or if need be makes a home

          6  visit to the client, to work with them to make sure

          7  their PA status stays open so that their Housing

          8  Stability Plus subsidy remains in place.

          9                 We also refer those clients to the

         10  after care providers that are state-funded

         11  providers, the CHP and HIP providers, so if there is

         12  something beyond the PA situation, if there's a

         13  social service need, they have a case manager who

         14  can come from the after care provider and provide

         15  other services.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, of the

         17  folks who have left shelter, whatever measure you

         18  want to use, the last calendar year or whatever,

         19  what percentage actually used Housing Stability

         20  Plus, and what percentage did not have any kind of

         21  subsidy?

         22                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: I don't

         23  have that. We would actually have to get back to you

         24  on the actual numbers.

         25                 The vast majority of families are
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          2  leaving with Housing Stability Plus. But more than

          3  that, I couldn't quantify.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

          5                 All right. Now, you're saying in your

          6  testimony you have since December of '04, 6,165

          7  leases for HSP; what's your current goal for the

          8  coming year?

          9                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: Our goal

         10  every year really is approximately 5,000 HSP leases

         11  per year, at least.

         12                 Obviously, it's dependent upon the

         13  inflow into the shelter system and the availability

         14  of clients remaining on public assistance and

         15  qualifying for Housing Stability Plus.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, this is a

         17  stupid question. Five-thousand continuous from

         18  year-to-year, not 5,000 new?

         19                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: Correct,

         20  5,000 per year.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, at any

         22  point you have 5,000, a census of 5,000?

         23                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: No, no.

         24  I'm sorry.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay, that's
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          2  what I'm trying to understand.

          3                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: We

          4  anticipate, we contemplate 5,000 families and single

          5  adults leaving each year with HSP, through HSP.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, your budget

          7  is being planned to grow with it?

          8                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. So,

         10  what's the HSP budget projected -- you may have said

         11  it in here, but what are you projecting for HSP for

         12  Fiscal '07?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER POCK: We're still

         14  working on the FY '07 number with HRA and OMB. The

         15  budget number for FY '06 is, for the supplement

         16  portion is approximately 40 million.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And where is

         18  that coming from? What's City? What's State? What's

         19  federal?

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER POCK: It's a

         21  combination of City, state and federal. There's an

         22  intra-city for $20 million that's in our budget, and

         23  that makes up half of it. And the other half is part

         24  of the PA reestimate on the site of HRA. It's a mix

         25  of City, State, federal, and again, I'm working with
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          2  my partners at OMB and HRA to nail that down.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. So, 5,000

          4  additional units per year, and your plan culminates

          5  in 2009, if I understand, so certainly for the next

          6  three fiscal years that will be your anticipation of

          7  adding 5,000 per year?

          8                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: Yes. But

          9  we also anticipate a decrease, hopefully in the

         10  entrants coming into shelter. So, that could have an

         11  affect on the number that would need to leave

         12  through HSP as well.

         13                 But the net goal at the end of 2009

         14  is the two-thirds reduction.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. Now, we

         16  also noticed, for example, between August and

         17  November of '05, there was a reduction of almost 100

         18  families per month fewer taking HSP, and we've been

         19  concerned all along that you're sliding downward

         20  scale of subsidy was going to create difficulties

         21  for families, let alone potentially for landlords as

         22  well.

         23                 So, what can you tell us about that?

         24  Is that part of why you see fluctuations downward?

         25                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: Are you
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          2  referring to a decrease in the number of families

          3  leaving with HSP?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Yes.

          5                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: No. I

          6  don't think that the decrease, the step-down, if you

          7  will, in HSP has an impact on the number of families

          8  leaving.

          9                 We do monitor housing placements and

         10  exits from shelter very closely, so we are aware

         11  that it has slightly decreased, but we think that

         12  that has really to do with just the volume and the

         13  number of families finding a suitable apartment.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: But is there

         15  any indication yet, I know the program is now 15

         16  months or so old, but is there any indication of

         17  what the impact has been of the step downs in terms

         18  of subsidy?

         19                 I mean, you have at least some group

         20  of people who after one year have a 20 percent

         21  reduction in their subsidy.

         22                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: Yes, we

         23  have had a first anniversary, if you will.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And have you

         25  seen whether that has created out-flow from the
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          2  program because of that step down?

          3                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: Not

          4  directly, no.

          5                 The total number, as I said, the

          6  number of leases out there with HSP is over 6,100,

          7  and we've only had 45 families, and I believe four

          8  single adults return, former HSP clients, if you

          9  will, return from shelter. So, we have not seen the

         10  dramatic or the feared entry back to shelter from

         11  the first-year step down.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay, very

         13  good.

         14                 All right, well, thank you very much

         15  for your testimony. Very, very helpful. We

         16  appreciate it. And thank you for your succinctness,

         17  and we look forward to working with you further.

         18  Thank you to your team as well.

         19                 ACTING COMMISSIONER WINTER: Thank

         20  you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Take care now.

         22                 We now welcome public testimony. We

         23  are going to implement our two-minute limit, as

         24  always, and we're going to call up people in groups

         25  of four.
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          2                 Okay, and the first group of four,

          3  Sandy Socolar, Ms. E.P. Jones, J.C. Dwyer, and Casey

          4  Windsor.

          5                 All right, I'm going to call them out

          6  again. I don't think Sandy -- is Sandy still here?

          7  No.

          8                 Okay, is E.P. Jones here? Okay. J.C.

          9  Dwyer? That's a yes? Casey Windsor. Okay.

         10                 Your testimony in this order: Ms.

         11  Jones, J.C. Dwyer, and Casey Windsor. And again,

         12  we've got a clock right there for everyone who is

         13  going to be testifying. It's a two-minute clock.

         14  We're going to have to be kind of religious about

         15  it. We're going to have to be kind of religious

         16  about that because we are really running out of time

         17  for this room and appreciate everyone's commitment

         18  to that.

         19                 Let me say, while we are waiting

         20  here, we are going to read into the record, so this

         21  will be done officially, testimony of Joann Shanley

         22  of the United Way.

         23                 Okay, oh, I'm sorry, also we have a

         24  anonymous former America Works employee who has

         25  given us testimony for the record, Michael Stahl, a
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          2  former WildCat developer. Another former America

          3  Works, Ketyny Jean-Francois, and Ms. Shanley. So

          4  those are all going to be read into the record.

          5                 And now we welcome the testimony from

          6  Ms. Jones.

          7                 MS. JONES: Apparently this is my

          8  first time, and I want to thank you for allowing us

          9  the opportunity.

         10                 I'm not going to read so much for

         11  time's sake. I represent the spirit of the children,

         12  which is a non-profit organization located up in

         13  East Harlem, that exclusively services youth who

         14  have exited the foster care system.

         15                 Our primary goal and purpose is to

         16  help certainly avert homelessness of this

         17  population.

         18                 I'm sure most of you, and

         19  particularly you, Mr. DeBlasio, are familiar with

         20  the national numbers of youth who have aged out of

         21  foster care, in the last, my God, 10, 15 years,

         22  close to half a million children in care around this

         23  country, a good 60 percent of them wind up homeless

         24  within the first six months to a year.

         25                 So, that's our primary purpose. Under
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          2  our Youth Transition Empowerment Program, and in the

          3  course of the last three years, since our program's

          4  existence, in East Harlem, we have serviced a number

          5  of youth between the ages of 18 to 24. Our cut off

          6  has been to the age of 23, but that's just on paper.

          7  And I say that because many of the youth that we're

          8  working with certainly have demonstrated and/or

          9  displayed a need for more supportive services beyond

         10  the 23rd birthday.

         11                 We are certainly here today in order

         12  to request your consideration and the Council's

         13  consideration as a body, collectively for $200,000

         14  in order to help us with servicing more youth.

         15  Currently, as of this moment we have approximately

         16  21, 22 youth that we service.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay, just

         18  forgive me, I'm going to have to keep to the time

         19  limits, but let me say typically people come here

         20  and testify on the larger agency budgets, but I'm

         21  certainly comfortable that you brought your specific

         22  non-profit's budget forward.

         23                 Let me suggest to you that you

         24  connect with Gale Brewer for the General Welfare

         25  Committee, because the Manhattan Delegation is
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          2  holding budget hearings where they handle specific

          3  requests for Manhattan-based organizations. I would

          4  also urge you to speak to your local Council Member.

          5  I believe that would be Melissa Mark Viverito,

          6  because she would also have the option potentially

          7  of doing some member-item related support. But I

          8  thank you for giving this to us. We'll certainly

          9  consider it, and we'll talk to them about it as

         10  well.

         11                 MS. JONES: Okay.

         12                 With regards to --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Ma'am, I'm

         14  sorry, I really have to keep the two-minute limit.

         15  We're going to have to be really religious about it.

         16                 So, I'd like to now welcome J.C.

         17  Dwyer's testimony.

         18                 Again, I have to say, everyone who

         19  gives written testimony, it will go into the

         20  official record, so when you have your two minutes

         21  of fame, I strongly urge people to just do a quick

         22  summary of the important points because we've got a

         23  lot of people waiting to testify.

         24                 MR. DWYER: I've got a quick summary

         25  here and I read fast, so... My name is J.C. Dwyer.
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          2  I'm the Director of Programs and National Service

          3  for the New York City Coalition Against Hunger. The

          4  organization is an umbrella group for the more than

          5  1,000 private charitable soup kitchens and food

          6  pantries in NYC, and an advocate for the over 1

          7  million New Yorkers they serve each year.

          8                 We're extremely appreciative, first

          9  of all, for the leadership the City Council has

         10  shown on this issue, particularly this Committee,

         11  and Chairman DeBlasio, who is my representative from

         12  Park Slope. Thank you.

         13                 And it's unfortunate, this has become

         14  a refrain from us, but it's the truth that we must

         15  continue to make public, no matter how unfashionable

         16  hunger in New York is continuing to rise, and still

         17  unacceptably high.

         18                 According to USDA data obtained by

         19  our organization, the number of New Yorkers living

         20  in food insecure households is now 1.2 million, or

         21  one in seven New York City residents.

         22                 Of these, over 400,000 are children.

         23  That's one in five New York City children whose

         24  family can't get all the food they need.

         25                 HRA's own records show that demand at
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          2  City-funded soup kitchens and food pantries has gone

          3  up more than 172,000 meals since last year.

          4                 Our recession was over three years

          5  ago, and your hunger has gone up every year since.

          6  Clearly we have to do more.

          7                 The federal Food Stamps Program,

          8  which has deeper pockets than any City program

          9  remains the best solution. Not only do food stamps

         10  provide the most non-City money to fight hunger,

         11  they afford participants the flexibility to eat and

         12  live healthier.

         13                 Food stamps give New Yorkers the

         14  dignity and focus necessary to return successfully

         15  to the workforce. Yet, as you know, hundreds and

         16  thousands of eligible New Yorkers do not receive

         17  Food Stamps and not just because they don't know

         18  about it.

         19                 We also need to strengthen our

         20  ability to feed those who need it most by increasing

         21  funding for the Emergency Food Assistance Program,

         22  which is the only City funding that directly

         23  supports soup kitchens and food pantries.

         24                 In our latest surveys of soup

         25  kitchens and food pantries, 44 percent of those
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          2  receiving EFAP reported having to reduce portion

          3  sizes, limit hours of operation or turn away hungry

          4  New Yorkers in 2005.

          5                 We also need to make sure these

          6  front-line agencies aren't inadvertently causing

          7  health problems, like obesity and diabetes, and for

          8  this reason we're asking the Council to provide

          9  $100,000 for soup kitchens, food pantries to buy

         10  food.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you.

         12  Sorry to be the whip here today, but we'll make sure

         13  your written testimony goes into the record. And

         14  Joel has educated us many a good time before.

         15                 Ms. Windsor. Oh, I'm sorry, is Ms.

         16  Windsor not here? Okay, thank you very much.

         17                 Let me call the next panel. Thank

         18  you, to the folks who just testified now. We've got

         19  several names here from FUREE. I don't know which

         20  people are present. Sandra Robinson, Beverely

         21  Corbin, and it looks like Bernice Jacques. Okay,

         22  thank you.

         23                 I'm sorry, is it two people or three

         24  people? Okay, fine.

         25                 Okay, and let me actually have come
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          2  forward, I can't quite tell who is here from

          3  Citizens Committee for Children. Is it Maria Toro?

          4  Okay, come on forward while we're setting up here.

          5                 Okay, please start your testimony.

          6                 MS. JACQUES: Good evening. My name is

          7  Bernice Jacques, and I'm a good family day care

          8  provider.

          9                 Because of the new State regulation

         10  regarding egress, most of us providers are having

         11  problems with the renewal of licenses.

         12                 In Brooklyn, because of the design,

         13  most of the buildings have enclosed back yards. The

         14  new State regulation say that there must be a

         15  distance of at least 50 feet safety space from the

         16  building, in case of an emergency.

         17                 In order to get this space and renew

         18  my license, I had to cut two gates in mine and my

         19  next door neighbor's fences. The gates were $200

         20  each. Vendor regulations also state that the

         21  secondary exit must lead to the street, so I had to

         22  cut two more gates leading to another street.

         23                 The total cost for the gates were

         24  $800. I borrowed $500 from two of my family members,

         25  and I still have a balance of $300.

                                                            316

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES COMMITTEES

          2                 Some providers had to install fire

          3  escapes and others had to cut more gates and fences

          4  than I.

          5                 These added expenses are creating

          6  substantial financial hardships on providers. I am

          7  asking on behalf of my fellow providers to allocate

          8  $1 million to create a small facility repair grant

          9  fund, to support family care providers, as we come

         10  into compliance with State regulations.

         11                 This support will prevent us from

         12  losing our licenses and closing our centers, which

         13  will create the dangerous situation of unregulated

         14  child care centers.

         15                 When the increase for providers was

         16  allocated, instead of providers receiving the

         17  increase, the City shifted the burden of network

         18  fees to providers at a cost of $17.06 cents per

         19  child per week.

         20                 I am asking on behalf of the members

         21  of FUREE that the City resumes the responsibility of

         22  paying the network instead of passing on this

         23  tremendous and added burden to providers, as we

         24  provide a valuable service of quality child care.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you. As
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          2  you heard, we had a dialogue with the Commissioner

          3  on that earlier, and we're going to follow up on

          4  push on that. But also I want to note that we have a

          5  hearing coming up on the 11th, I'm sorry the 30th of

          6  March, who is going to raise the fire exit issue

          7  again, because it's been a topic in previous

          8  hearings and we certainly want to push hard for some

          9  kind of subsidy to help people make those

         10  adjustments.

         11                 MS. JACQUES: Okay.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And before the

         13  next witness, I want to commend the young lady here

         14  with the Barbie doll, who is being a very good girl

         15  and is much more dignified than many people who have

         16  addressed the New York City Council before.

         17                 What's your name?

         18                 WANDA: Wanda.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: What's your

         20  name?

         21                 WANDA: Wanda.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Welcome to the

         23  City Council. We hope you have a good time.

         24                 Okay, our next witness.

         25                 MS. CORBIN: Hello. My name is Beverly
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          2  Corbin, and I'm the Co-chair to the Board of

          3  Families United for Families United for Racial

          4  Economic Equality, known as FUREE.

          5                 Recently President Bush said, "When

          6  it comes to the education of our children, failure

          7  is not an option."

          8                 I would like to add, when it comes to

          9  the caring and development of our children, failure

         10  is not an option.

         11                 I am a parent of a child who has been

         12  taken care of by Home Base child care providers.

         13  These ladies and men do the above call duty that

         14  they chose to have chosen. It is a shame that they

         15  work for so little pay and we are here again asking

         16  for a cost of living pay to help them make their

         17  ends meet.

         18                 It is sad that the people who care

         19  for children of the City are paid so little. They

         20  care for the little ones who are not at the age to

         21  go to school, and they look for the children who

         22  come from after school programs, so they don't go

         23  home to no -- to housing.

         24                 Even with the after school programs

         25  and classes, still parents are not getting home in
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          2  time sometimes to pick up their children.

          3                 As a working mother in the past, my

          4  providers work with me with things to come. A lot of

          5  providers taking children when parents like myself

          6  have to work, get to work at 7:00 a.m. and have to

          7  work at nighttime because the world does not work on

          8  a nine to five in this City.

          9                 They are not paid the differentiation

         10  rate for night work. But they take care of these

         11  children in their homes, accompanying them while

         12  single mothers like myself have to work and go to

         13  school.

         14                 We also hear these cute little

         15  sayings, "No child shall be left behind." But every

         16  child should be prepared to go forward.

         17                 I know that providers get children

         18  ready for the school system so they will not be left

         19  behind.

         20                 They also help with them with

         21  homework, starting and building skills to work to

         22  develop home work skills and a higher grade.

         23                 These men and women live in a

         24  neighborhood that teach and they are there after

         25  school closes, but they are still there to help.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

          3  much. Appreciate your testimony very much.

          4                 Okay, our next panel, Maria has come

          5  up already. We're also going to call up Leopold Cox,

          6  Graham Windham. Is he here? Okay. Susan Stamler,

          7  there you are. Come on forward. And I've got two

          8  more on this page I'll just call out. Rosita Chase.

          9  Is Rosita Chase here? Okay, and Eileen Vandiker.

         10  Eileen Vandiker? Okay. We haven't finished the list

         11  year. I just meant one more on that page. It goes on

         12  and on.

         13                 Okay, and then from the Human

         14  Services Council, Alison Fesso, and/or Ruthlyn Noel.

         15  Sesso, I'm sorry. Is she here? Alison? Come on

         16  forward, okay.

         17                 Okay, good, we will continue to move

         18  along. Whoever is going up, go up.

         19                 Maria, do you want to begin?

         20                 MS. TORO FENTON: Good morning. Or

         21  good afternoon. Good evening.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Good late

         23  afternoon.

         24                 MS. TORO FENTON: My name is Maria

         25  Toro Fenton. I'm Director of Securing Every Child's
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          2  Birthright Campaign, at Citizens' Committee for

          3  Children of New York.

          4                 I'm going to start with

          5  Administration for Children's Services.

          6                 The Preliminary Budget includes $15.6

          7  million in City-funded enhancement for ACS. These

          8  investments are designed to reduce risks and improve

          9  front-end performance within the child welfare

         10  system.

         11                 While the attention paid to the

         12  front-end child protective services is critical, it

         13  must be continued and supported. It is also

         14  necessary for ACS to focus on child safety and risk

         15  reduction in other parts of the system.

         16                 Mechanisms must be built and enhanced

         17  to assess and reduce risk and maintain child safety,

         18  not only during child protective investigations, but

         19  from the time a family is deemed at risk, but able

         20  to retain custody of their children with services

         21  provided, as well as when the child enters foster

         22  care, situations where children remain together in

         23  foster care are reunited with their families.

         24                 The work is about providing ongoing

         25  safety risk assessment and risk reduction for all
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          2  child welfare services.

          3                 To achieve this, investments are

          4  needed in areas of foster care and preventive

          5  services, and we urge the City Council to support

          6  the following: A total of 17 million in foster care

          7  needs to reduce foster care caseloads, ensure the

          8  foster care agencies are reimbursed for the actual

          9  cost of doing business, provide support for more

         10  than 50 percent of the child care, children in

         11  foster care who are adolescents.

         12                 In the area of preventive services,

         13  an additional $12 million to ensure increased

         14  staffing, improve supervision and allow preventive

         15  providers to serve additional families, to reduce

         16  preventive case service caseload size, to support

         17  group work for families with adolescents, greater

         18  use of MSW workers and improve clinical services

         19  capacity for prevention providers.

         20                 In addition, ACS includes a total

         21  reduction of 19 million for City funds in child

         22  care, 10 million for family day care and 9 million

         23  in child care vouchers.

         24                 I just want to point out, I have two

         25  seconds, --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Finish your

          3  existing sentence.

          4                 MS. TORO FENTON: I just want to urge

          5  the City Council to, in the area of the State level

          6  to look at the work support rent subsidy for working

          7  families proposal on the State level as an

          8  alternative to the full family sanction.

          9                 I know that Commissioner Eggleston

         10  spent a lot of time this morning concerned primarily

         11  about work participation rates that the State is

         12  going to have to comply with.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Time is up.

         14                 MS. TORO FENTON: Okay.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you.

         16                 Next? Who would like to go next?

         17                 MS. PATEL: Good afternoon. My name is

         18  Roopal Patel. I'm the Child Care Policy Analyst at

         19  United Neighborhood Houses. UNH is a federation of

         20  35 settlement houses in New York City that provide a

         21  multitude of services to over half a million New

         22  Yorkers, including child care.

         23                 And I just want to spend some time to

         24  focus on family child care, supporting family child

         25  care providers, and supporting family child care
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          2  networks.

          3                 I was here for the discussion about

          4  the 17.06 fee, and I just want to emphasize that

          5  that 17.06 funds all of the technical and

          6  programmatic assistance that the networks provide to

          7  providers, and in the past approximately half of

          8  that was paid to the City and half was paid directly

          9  by providers, and removing the full 17.06 as it

         10  stands currently per child per week from the

         11  provider's wages places an undue burden on an

         12  already underpaid family child care provider staff.

         13                 So, we would urge the City to pay

         14  10.8 million to cover the admin fee to the networks

         15  for the approximately 12,000 children in network

         16  family and child care programs.

         17                 Aside from that, the 17.06 per child

         18  per week admin fee received by the networks has

         19  remained frozen since 1992, hampering the network's

         20  ability to provide comprehensive support that

         21  providers need.

         22                 The networks provide a wide range of

         23  services and these include health and safety

         24  monitoring visits, curriculum, help with designing

         25  curriculum, help with licensing and recertification
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          2  and based on the level of support that networks

          3  provide, we estimate the actual cost is closer to

          4  $35 per child per week, and we urge the City to

          5  carefully assess the work of family child care

          6  networks and pay for administrative fee that

          7  accurately reflects the cost of the support that

          8  family and child care networks provide.

          9                 And I only have seven seconds left,

         10  so I'm going to stop.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: We commend you

         12  and thank you. Go ahead.

         13                 MS. NOEL: Good afternoon. And thank

         14  you for allowing me to talk on the Mayor's

         15  Preliminary Budget.

         16                 My name is Ruthlyn Noel. I'm HSC

         17  Senior Policy Analyst. My colleague Alison Sesso at

         18  HSC, Associate Director, is here with me. What I'll

         19  do today is basically part on my testimony. You have

         20  it in front of you, so I'll just talk on the

         21  implications for the social service sector.

         22                 The Mayor's Preliminary Budget

         23  basically -- I'm sorry, I lost my trail of thought.

         24  We were very disappointed to see that the Council is

         25  once again put in a position of having to restore
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          2  crucial funding to human service sector. This dance

          3  not only impedes social service programs, it

          4  continues to undermine the hard work of several

          5  individuals of the entire sector and those that

          6  follow, our most vulnerable citizens, and without

          7  major changes will eventually threaten the stability

          8  of social service programs.

          9                 Already today's providers are serving

         10  more and more people with fewer resources and under

         11  greater financial pressures. City human service

         12  contracts continue to offer inadequate reimbursement

         13  rates for OTPS cost. Private foundation dollars are

         14  exhausted. Many providers are having difficulty

         15  recruiting and retaining qualified workers, because

         16  they are unable to offer competitive salaries.

         17                 In recent years, energy prices

         18  skyrocketed, and let's not forget those unfunded

         19  federal and state mandates which continue to drain

         20  local resources.

         21                 We first want to thank the Council

         22  for its continued support of social service programs

         23  in the City, but we also want to ask that you

         24  continue your longstanding support, because it's

         25  very necessary.
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          2                 In addition we ask that you support

          3  regular cost of living adjustments for all human

          4  service programs, ensure that savings derived from

          5  the reductions in homeless shelter population be

          6  reinvested. Add $10 million restored for our child

          7  care programs. And you have the rest of my testimony

          8  in front of you.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Right on time.

         11  Thank you very, very much. We appreciate it.

         12                 Okay, next we have Michelle Yanche,

         13  and Nyasha Griffith. Either one here? Okay. And then

         14  I'll call up as well Betty Holkum. Is Betty Holkum

         15  here? That's a yes, okay. And Caitlyn Brazill.

         16  Caitlyn Brazill. People have got to say yes really

         17  loud so I know. That's loud? That's your idea of

         18  loud? You're never going to make it on the New York

         19  City Council, if that's your idea of loud.

         20                 Okay, Jackie has just made a stated

         21  related to these reserved nature of Protestants. I

         22  will not repeat it.

         23                 Nyasha, go ahead.

         24                 MS. GRIFFITH: Good afternoon. My name

         25  is Nyasha Griffith. I am here to testify on behalf
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          2  of the Neighborhood Family Services Coalition

          3  regarding the impact of the Mayor's Preliminary

          4  Budget on Preventive Services.

          5                 NFSC is a group of service providers

          6  and advocacy organizations committed to the delivery

          7  of quality services for children, youth and families

          8  at the neighborhood level.

          9                 We are heartened that the HCS

         10  administration is acting to reduce risk and improve

         11  front-end performance, while the current attention

         12  paid to CPS is critical, and must be continued and

         13  supported. Equally critical is an urgent need to

         14  invest, widen and deepen the network of vital

         15  preventive services at the neighborhood level.

         16                 We join with our colleagues at CCC

         17  and the Council of Family and Child Caring Agencies

         18  in calling for the following specific assessments in

         19  prevention.

         20                 We ask that you baseline 9 million,

         21  that ACS has just distributed to target preventive

         22  agencies in high-need communities.

         23                 In order to reduce caseload size in

         24  accordance with National Accreditation Standards of

         25  one caseworker to 12 clients, we ask that you invest
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          2  4.2 million in City funds.

          3                 To support group work for families

          4  with adolescents, the greater utilization of MSW

          5  workers and to improve the clinical capacity of

          6  preventive providers, we ask that you invest 4.5

          7  million.

          8                 Also as Budget negotiations proceed,

          9  we urge the City Council to ensure that funding

         10  associated with the two percent productivity

         11  increases, included in ACS's budget, is spent as

         12  agencies achieve compliance with productivity goals,

         13  and that preventive service contracts receive the

         14  annual COLA, based on Citywide agreements, as

         15  proposed by the Mayor last year.

         16                 In addition to the above, we also

         17  want to highlight a couple of points. We ask that

         18  resources be invested to expand the Beacon ACS

         19  linkages, given current ACS efforts to strengthen

         20  neighborhood-based services and the connection

         21  between prevention and schools in particular,

         22  expansion of the Beacon Program is vital.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

         24  much.

         25                 And now who will go next?
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          2                 MS. HOLIKUM: Betty Holikum, Child

          3  Care, Inc.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you.

          5                 MS. HOLIKUM: I'm Policy Director at

          6  Child Care, Inc., and I will submit written

          7  testimony, but just to hit on a few points that we

          8  see as critical.

          9                 First of all, our math shows it in

         10  the Mayor's financial projections we're going to end

         11  up 79 million behind in the child care budget, and

         12  we believe that translates into a cut of about

         13  11,000 children. And we are already starting with

         14  huge need that isn't met. We know that the City

         15  doesn't officially keep a waiting list, but we have

         16  people call us all the time, as a research and

         17  referral agency. And we had a woman call us the

         18  other day who said she is number 39,000. We have

         19  heard people at ACS say they've got 49,000. Those

         20  are all people who are deemed eligible, which means

         21  they are living probably in fairly extreme poverty,

         22  trying to work, trying to keep things together.

         23                 As you heard this morning, too, and

         24  you're well aware, the new work participation

         25  requirements are only going to increase the need for
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          2  child care, so that 79 million gap that we started

          3  out with is going to create extreme pressures.

          4                 So, for us, we're looking at a crisis

          5  here, even though it's not in the headlines. We know

          6  there are lots of other things that have grabbed the

          7  headlines, but we think this is a crisis for child

          8  care, and not only do you need to restore the

          9  funding that you all put in last year, to make sure

         10  family child care is funded, but you need to add new

         11  City investments and work together with the Mayor to

         12  do that. He's spoken up for quality, early care and

         13  education.

         14                 I also want to underscore what other

         15  people have said about family child care. We think

         16  there should be a fund created to help people meet

         17  the new kind of requirements that are coming out for

         18  safety, and we also support the City finding the

         19  money to pay the network fees.

         20                 Our estimate is that those fees end

         21  up costing about $4,400 for the average child care

         22  provider, who is working 60 hours a week, to make

         23  about $33,000.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you.

         25                 You know, on the previous point I
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          2  couldn't agree with you more. I mean, that was one

          3  of the issues that came up with Commissioner

          4  Mattingly. You know, it looks like a substantial net

          5  loss of child care.

          6                 MS. HOLIKUM: Yes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Obviously, OST

          8  is the biggest culprit in my book, but I think the

          9  Albany situation and other pieces contribute.

         10                 MS. HOLIKUM: And if it goes in the

         11  flexible fund, we're very, very worried about that

         12  as well.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Exactly. So, I

         14  think we're going to have to have quite a fight in

         15  this budget, even though it appears to be a good

         16  budget year. Unfortunately, we're going to be having

         17  to fight for the same ground we just covered, but --

         18                 MS. HOLIKUM: Yes, with a surplus.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Yes, exactly.

         20                 Caitlyn.

         21                 MS. BRAZILL: Hello. My name is

         22  Caitlyn Brazill, and I am the Senior Policy Analyst

         23  for Child Welfare at the Federation of Protestant

         24  Welfare Agencies. Luckily two of them hit on a

         25  number of points that I was going to make, so I'd
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          2  like to very much agree that we're incredibly

          3  concerned about this huge gap in child care, and

          4  that will likely worsen as we get the federal work

          5  requirements.

          6                 We're also, along with NFSC, NCCC and

          7  COFCCA very concerned about preventive services. We

          8  think a real investment needs to be made. And also

          9  particularly I'd like to highlight that we're

         10  particularly concerned about model budget reform in

         11  terms of giving greater flexibility to the

         12  preventive service providers to develop programs

         13  that match the needs of other communities, and to

         14  work along staffing patterns that are not so rigid

         15  so they can hire group workers and different kinds

         16  of, you know, different languages that they need.

         17                 We'd also really like to stress that

         18  we're very concerned about the full family sanctions

         19  in Albany. The full family sanctions are detrimental

         20  to children and families, are disproportionately

         21  applied to families with multiple barriers to work

         22  participation, and have not been proven to be

         23  effective at even increasing compliance.

         24                 We believe that expanding programs

         25  and services like education and training, of course,
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          2  child care and also housing assistance for working

          3  families can more effectively assist families in

          4  making the transition from public assistance to

          5  stable employment.

          6                 We have been opposed to the flexible

          7  fund for family services since the beginning and

          8  would really prefer it to disappear, but since we

          9  know that's not going to be happening, we're very

         10  concerned that child care, and other important

         11  programs like Summer Youth Employment, are able to

         12  be carved out.

         13                 To return quickly to prevention

         14  services. We'd also like to particularly note on the

         15  $9 million that was infused for this current fiscal

         16  year, that this actually presents great stress for

         17  agencies to be able to spend it in six months, and

         18  that it needs to be continued for the following

         19  year, if they're able to design and implement

         20  programs that will actually improve services.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

         22  much.

         23                 Just a reminder to everyone, all

         24  written testimony will go into the public record.

         25                 Okay, thank you to this panel very
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          2  much.

          3                 And the next panel, James Purcell.

          4  Are you out there? You can pass, but I can't

          5  guarantee, you know, we're only going to be here a

          6  little bit longer. So, we'll do our best.

          7                 Okay, Elliot Fox. Elliot Fox. Going

          8  once, going twice, okay.

          9                 Donnish or Danish Gilmer? Okay. Norma

         10  Gabriel.

         11                 MS. GABRIEL: Here.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Come on up. And

         13  Hala Rutter? Here we go. And let me get one more.

         14  Michael Stahl here? Michael Stahl? No. Okay.

         15                 I'm sorry, Itala, now I understand. I

         16  saw it typed and I saw it written. It looked like an

         17  H instead of an IT. My apology.

         18                 And Evan Elkin?  Evan Elkin, and

         19  Lauren Bholai-Pareti. Lauren is here, okay.

         20                 So, Norma, Itala and Lauren. And then

         21  as for Michael, looks like he's going to have six

         22  minutes. I'm sorry, Jim.

         23                 Okay, Norma, you're first.

         24                 MS. GABRIEL: Good afternoon. My name

         25  is Norma Gabriel. I'm the Vice President for
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          2  Citywide Association, which is a united voice for

          3  Asians that affect all child care across the five

          4  boroughs. And today I want to stress more on the

          5  15th of November hearing, with the Commissioner

          6  Mattingly. He said he was taking all discrepancies

          7  out of the pay system, and the rates for contracted

          8  networks, and make them the same payment system as

          9  HRA and ACD vouchers.

         10                 So far that has not yet happened.

         11  Plus they say that there was supposed to be a retro

         12  pay for providers from July til September of 2005.

         13  There's a lot of providers that have not yet

         14  received that retro money.

         15                 And then I want to talk about the

         16  17.06. The ACS, you know, today mentioned something

         17  on that. But, however, this 17.06 is going to be a

         18  very hardship and a burden on all the providers that

         19  have to pay. And not only that, what happen is a lot

         20  of the networks, and I have three networks on my

         21  testimony, I did not put the names. Each network

         22  here, although they're fully funded, they're paying

         23  providers a different rate according to the category

         24  of the children. That should not be so, because a

         25  lot of the networks are paying under what the market
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          2  rate is right now for 2005, which is the market

          3  rate, it go up for infants and toddlers and the

          4  pre-schoolers, and the networks are not paying

          5  providers that amount of money for each child that

          6  they placed in providers' homes.

          7                 And I'm asking the Council to take a

          8  good look at it, because it's not fair to the

          9  providers, for the hard work that they're actually

         10  doing on a daily basis.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

         12  much.

         13                 Ms. Rutter.

         14                 MS. RUTTER: Hi. Good afternoon. I

         15  direct the Emergency Food and Shelter Program at the

         16  United Way of New York City.

         17                 The program supports, monitors and

         18  expands the efforts of community-based pantries

         19  kitchens and shelters serving low-income New

         20  Yorkers. It also provides the rent, mortgage and

         21  utilities assistance, to prevent eviction and loss

         22  of heat and electricity.

         23                 At present the program supports 220

         24  agencies with almost 1,000 sites throughout the New

         25  York boroughs. The program is discretionary,

                                                            338

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES COMMITTEES

          2  supplemental in nature, and federally funded under

          3  that notorious FEMA. Although, in 2004/2005 the

          4  allocation increased from $140 million to $153

          5  million nationwide, last year there was a decrease

          6  to 151 million.

          7                 Locally the program has typically

          8  received annual awards of about five and a half

          9  million, but in the current funding phase, New York

         10  City jurisdiction was awarded 4.5, a decrease of

         11  almost 1 million from last year.

         12                 I ask you to support other sources of

         13  funding for shelter and food for needy New Yorkers

         14  and I ask for your help for seeking an increase in

         15  funding to the nationwide program.

         16                 The motivation for the cut expressed

         17  by FEMA is a relatively lower rate of unemployment

         18  in New York City. It apparently improved by 1.9

         19  percent over 2004, 2005.

         20                 However, New York City's poor have

         21  become even more needy in the last two years. The

         22  National Lower Income Housing Coalition determined

         23  that to afford adequate housing, one must earn

         24  $19.58 per hour in New York City.

         25                 An adult with one pre-schooler and
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          2  one school-age child must earn a minimum of 48,995

          3  to become self-sufficient.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I'm sorry, I

          5  have to interrupt you, but we're sticking to our

          6  limit. But thank you very much for your testimony.

          7                 Now, welcome, Lauren.

          8                 MS. BHOLAI-PARETI: Hi. I'm Lauren

          9  Bholai-Pareti and I'm the Executive Director of the

         10  Council on Homeless Policies and Services.

         11                 The restorations that we're seeking

         12  are outlined in my testimony, so I'm not going to go

         13  into that. As are the priorities that we have for

         14  reforming the Housing Ability Plus Program. Now I

         15  wanted to directly address a couple of the things

         16  that were discussed while the Commissioner was here.

         17                 First of all, we're glad to hear that

         18  only 50 households, HSP households have come back

         19  into shelter, but we are worried that that is really

         20  just the tip of the iceberg.

         21                 Our members who are providing after

         22  care services, many of them are currently in court

         23  with their HSP tenants, trying to delay and fend off

         24  eviction proceedings, and similarly we know that

         25  part of what's happened is that most of the people
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          2  who move out during the early months of the program

          3  actually have not yet stepped down. And that's

          4  because when they're sanctioned, that stops the

          5  step-down clock. And we know that the sanction rate

          6  is very high, so anyone who during that year

          7  experienced a sanction did not step down at the

          8  12-month mark.

          9                 I also wanted to address that while

         10  after care is a great resource, those caseloads are

         11  about 70 households per after care worker. So, as

         12  our primary strategy for making sure that these

         13  folks do not land back in shelter, I don't think

         14  that it is sufficient.

         15                 Also, I wanted to say that our

         16  members are reporting more, while fewer folks are

         17  not eligible for HSP, then we're not eligible for

         18  Section 8 in NYCHA, there are a substantial number

         19  of people who are not eligible for HSP. And that our

         20  members are reporting that among those folks,

         21  they're seeing a higher level of both MOAs, so

         22  people who just kind of AWOL from the shelter system

         23  and unsubsidized placements. And we know that in

         24  both of those categories, those folks historically

         25  and statistically are more likely to come back into
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          2  shelter.

          3                 I also wanted to say that the

          4  Commissioner's written testimony addressed the

          5  protocol for apartment quality standards in the

          6  program, and we appreciate the City Council's

          7  efforts on that front, and we think that where the

          8  apartment quality is atrocious, that's also we know

          9  a risk factor for people coming back into shelter.

         10                 The standards that she talked about

         11  that would require a reinspection, rather than the

         12  landlord's self-certification that the repairs had

         13  been made, do not include things like a lock on the

         14  apartment door of the building door, a working

         15  toilet or a working refrigerator and stove. So, we

         16  think we have a long way to go in that regard.

         17                 Finally, I wanted to talk quickly,

         18  and I thank you for your question on the

         19  reinvestment issue, we applaud Mayor Bloomberg's

         20  commitment to reinvest in the resources saved

         21  through census reductions into systemic solutions.

         22  We remember similar commitments made by mental

         23  health officials across the nation when we were

         24  downsizing psychiatric hospitals, and unfortunately,

         25  those commitments were never fulfilled and a lot of
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          2  those folks ended up in our shelters.

          3                 So, we fear that without legislation

          4  to track and secure those savings, the commitment

          5  will be at long-term risk.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

          7  much.

          8                 Thank you to this panel. We

          9  appreciate it.

         10                 I believe the last person who signed

         11  up and is here is Jim Purcell. I hope it was worth

         12  running all the way back for your two minutes, Jim.

         13                 MR. PURCELL: I commend you on

         14  sticking to your schedule.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Hey, we gotta.

         16                 Welcome.

         17                 MR. PURCELL: Thank you.

         18                 Mr. Chairman, as you know, I

         19  represent the not-for-profit community-based

         20  preventive services and foster care agencies, and we

         21  appreciate this opportunity.

         22                 You've got my written testimony, and

         23  I'm sure your staff will read it carefully. I

         24  highlight just a few things. I understand that

         25  Commissioner Mattingly earlier referred to our
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          2  preventive services system as a part of the child

          3  protective system; and, yet, in their plan they did

          4  in January, and again in the revised plan they

          5  issued today, there is really no resource commitment

          6  for preventive services.

          7                 There's more child protective

          8  workers, more lawyers, more training for ACS

          9  workers, and more monitoring of our under-resourced

         10  providers.

         11                 It's our agencies who get the kids

         12  and families to serve and the kids to protect and

         13  keep safe and ensure their safety, after ACS has

         14  made a determination that there is ongoing risk of

         15  harm.

         16                 Yet, our caseloads are simply too

         17  high for our workers to feel that they can do a

         18  really good job all the time, and there's no room,

         19  as you know, for error in these cases.

         20                 As our testimony points out, we just

         21  did a quick survey of a handful of agencies, we're

         22  hemorrhaging workers right now. Some of them are

         23  probably taking a $10,000 raise they'll get to start

         24  at ACS. Others are simply leaving in frustration at

         25  the duplicative connections and promise systems that
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          2  ACS has designed and the State has designed, at the

          3  inconsistent messages coming out of ACS. But in any

          4  event, they're finding that their caseloads are too

          5  dangerous for them to be handling with 15 and 20

          6  cases and more each.

          7                 So, what we're asking the City

          8  Council to do first is to baseline the $9 million

          9  which was the only non-baselined part of the

         10  initiative announced in January, and the serious

         11  problem that creates is they've just given the

         12  agencies the money, but with the message they have

         13  to spend it by the end of June or it's gone. There's

         14  no commitment to it being there next year, which

         15  means the agencies can't use that money for a single

         16  thing that they most need, which is to hire more

         17  workers and reduce the caseload sizes so that each

         18  worker can spend more time with each family.

         19                 So, our overall request is for you to

         20  look at any additions that would allow us to reduce

         21  caseload sizes, 12 to one is the maximum we think

         22  child preventive workers ought to be, and frankly,

         23  12 or 15 to one in foster care.

         24                 I know I'm out of time, but I'd be

         25  happy to talk with your staff at any point.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

          3  much.

          4                 MR. PURCELL: Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Appreciate it.

          6                 Thank you to everyone who was a part

          7  of today's hearing. We have a lot of challenges

          8  ahead, and, Jim, I want to thank you for the

          9  observation. I think that's right that we have to

         10  look at the whole package of ways of solving the

         11  crisis, not just the most immediate gratification.

         12                 Hold it. I'm told there is one more

         13  witness. Who is the one more witness? Do we have a

         14  name? Lisa Harris.

         15                 Come on up, Lisa. Okay.

         16                 Go ahead.

         17                 MS. HARRIS: Hi. My name is Lisa

         18  Harris. I'm here on behalf of In The Spirit of the

         19  Children. I am also a foster care youth with Good

         20  Shepard Services, as well, and I'm here to just

         21  state a few demands that I have as far as being from

         22  my experience in foster care.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

         24                 MS. HARRIS: I've been in care for

         25  seven years. I basically am stating my demands from
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          2  experience.

          3                 A few demands that I have, I think

          4  with every foster parent and foster child is

          5  respect. And that says itself.

          6                 Honesty, which I think is very

          7  important in each foster home, that we have a system

          8  of honesty when we communicate with the foster

          9  child, and the foster child communicating with the

         10  foster parent.

         11                 Also rules. I think that in foster

         12  homes there is a lack of rules being stated, and I

         13  think that's the reason for lots of

         14  misunderstandings between the foster parent and the

         15  foster child.

         16                 I also think there is a high demand

         17  for highly-trained social workers.

         18                 From experience, I've had social

         19  workers who couldn't explain simple policies such as

         20  exception to policy. If you work for ACS and they're

         21  telling you to enforce these policies, I think you

         22  should have some knowledge in the policy as well as

         23  exceptions and limitations to the policy.

         24                 I think that the screening process

         25  for foster parents should be more intensive. I think
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          2  there should be educational requirements. I think

          3  there should also be monthly income requirements.

          4                 From experience, I've been in foster

          5  homes where I've had to provide food for the home

          6  and the people living in the home, which I don't

          7  think is accurate.  If you're a foster parent and

          8  were screened, you should have monthly income, and

          9  you shouldn't have to depend on your foster child to

         10  provide for the home. And I know that's not my job,

         11  but obviously there's a problem when it comes to

         12  income with the foster parents and I think it should

         13  be evaluated.

         14                 I think there should also be a

         15  psychiatric evaluation for the foster parents as

         16  well.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

         18  much. I appreciate your insights, and appreciate

         19  your testimony. And if you have any written

         20  testimony, we will put it into the public record as

         21  well.

         22                 MS. HARRIS: Okay, thank you very

         23  much.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you.

         25                 And thank you, again, to everyone.
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          2  You get applause, wow. All right. Thank you again to

          3  everyone who testified today and was part of the

          4  hearing and help us do our oversight over these

          5  agencies, and this budget hearing of the General

          6  Welfare Committee is now adjourned.

          7                 (Hearing concluded at 4:45 p.m.)

          8                 (The following written testimony was

          9  read into the record.)

         10

         11  Written Testimony Of:

         12  Joann Shanley

         13  Senior Director, Education Programs

         14  United Way of New York City

         15

         16                 Good afternoon, Chairperson DeBlasio,

         17  and other distinguished members of the Committee.

         18                 My name is Joann Shanley and I am the

         19  Senior Director of Education Initiatives at United

         20  Way of New York City (UWNYC), one of the largest

         21  health and human service philanthropic organizations

         22  in New York City. Our mission is to create and

         23  support strategic initiatives that address critical

         24  human care problems by partnering with local

         25  community-based organizations, government, business,
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          2  foundations and volunteers so that collectively we

          3  can achieve measurable improvement in the lives of

          4  the City's most vulnerable residents.

          5                 This testimony is submitted to

          6  underscore the importance of supporting quality

          7  early childhood programs. The recently released

          8  "Rethinking Child Care, an integrated Plan for

          9  Early Childhood Development in New York City" has

         10  brought to the forefront a citywide strategic plan

         11  that will foster healthy and positive development of

         12  children, especially those children in low-income

         13  communities.

         14                 Research has consistently

         15  demonstrated that high quality early learning

         16  programs can and do improve children's chances for

         17  later success in school and life.

         18                 United Way of New York City applauds

         19  the City's effort to improve the delivery and

         20  quality of early childhood programs in New York

         21  City.

         22                 According to the Rethinking Child

         23  Care plan, there are:

         24                 - 652,000 children under the age of

         25  six in NYC;
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          2                 - 188,000 live in poverty;

          3                 - 275,000 are low income; and

          4                 - low-income children are more

          5  concentrated in the Bronx.

          6                 Research proves that high-quality

          7  early learning matters. But why is it more of a

          8  priority than other human service needs? Experts say

          9  prevention is better than intervention, and starting

         10  early works best. Here is a snapshot of what experts

         11  are saying on early learning, including source

         12  information so you can learn more.

         13                 The needs are clear:

         14                 - 1 in 3 children is born into

         15  poverty; 1 in 3 is behind a year or more in school,

         16  and 1 in 2 never complete a single year of college.

         17  (Source: Children's Defense website, (August 2004).

         18  "Key Facts About American Children."

         19                 - 46% of kindergartners are coming to

         20  school at risk for failure. (Source: Zill & West

         21  (2001). Entering Kindergarten: A Portrait of

         22  American Children When They Begin School.)

         23                 - Economically disadvantaged children

         24  enter kindergarten 1-2 years behind in language and

         25  other skills important to school success. (Source:
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          2  Urahn (2001). Promoting Universal Access to High

          3  Quality Early Education for Three and Four Year

          4  Olds.)

          5                 - By 5, children in high-risk

          6  environments can already be two years behind

          7  developmentally. The gap tends to persist over time,

          8  impacting school readiness and success. (Source: Dr.

          9  Craig Ramey, Director of the Center for Health &

         10  Education, Georgetown University.

         11                 Early learning is critical:

         12                 - Brain research has shown that

         13  nurturing in the earliest years is crucial for

         14  emotional and social, as well as intellectual,

         15  development.

         16                 While research shows that people

         17  continue   to learn throughout life, there is no

         18  doubt that the earliest years are those of greatest

         19  growth - and those most susceptible to influence by

         20  external factors.

         21                 In effect, the first years of life do

         22  not dictate what a child will become, but they do

         23  lay the foundation for educational - and life -

         24  success. (Sources:  Bruner, Floyd & Copeman for

         25  SECPTAN, "Seven Things Policy Makers Need to Know
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          2  about School Readiness: Revised and Expanded

          3  Toolkit" (Jan. 2005).

          4                 Available online. At home, the way

          5  parents interact with young children impacts their

          6  development:

          7                 - When adults verbally interact with

          8  young children - talking, singing and playing

          9  rhyming games - they stimulate language and

         10  vocabulary development, building important

         11  foundations for learning to read. (Source: Hart, B.,

         12  & Risley, T.R. (1995). Meaningful Differences in the

         13  Everyday Experience of Young American Children.

         14  Baltimore, M.D.)

         15                 - Reading ability depends more on

         16  learning activities in the home than does math or

         17  science. (Source: College Board. (1994).

         18  College-bound seniors of 1994: Information on

         19  students who took the SAT and Achievement tests of

         20  the College Board. New York).

         21                 - In one study, 60% of the difference

         22  in vocabulary and IQ scores at age 3, and IQ scores

         23  at age 9 were accounted for by variables derived

         24  from the parent language experience provided in the

         25  first 3 years. Race and socio-economic status did
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          2  not predict accomplishment.

          3                 In other words, children whose

          4  parents interacted verbally with them a great deal

          5  had better vocabularies and even higher IQs.

          6  (Source: Hart & Risley).

          7                 - Studies of individual families show

          8  that what they do to support literacy in the home is

          9  more important to student success than family income

         10  or education. (Source: Ballen, J., & Moles, O.

         11  (1994). Strong Families, Strong Schools: Building

         12  Community Partnerships for learning. National Family

         13  Initiative. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of

         14  Education.

         15                 - Nurturing, responsive, and

         16  individualized interactions build healthy brains

         17  that provide a strong foundation for future growth

         18  and development. (SOURCE: Jack P. Shonkoff, M.D.

         19  (July 29, 2004). "Beyond Neurons to Neighborhoods:

         20  Leading the way from research to Policy."

         21  Presentation to State Child Care Administrators

         22  Meeting. Heller School for Social Policy and

         23  Management, Brandeis University/National Scientific

         24  Council on the Developing Child.)

         25                 - Relationships matter - and have
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          2  tremendous impact on a child's growth. (SOURCE: Jack

          3  P. Shonkoff and Deborah A. Phillips, Ed. (2000).

          4  "From Neurons to Neighborhoods: The Science of

          5  Early Childhood Development." National Research

          6  Council and Institute of Medicine. National Academy

          7  Press: Washington, DC.

          8                 The return on investing in

          9  high-quality early learning is high:

         10                 - The 40-year longitudinal High/Scope

         11  Perry Preschool research in Michigan continues to

         12  prove that high-quality early learning experiences

         13  set children up for success in school, work and

         14  life.

         15                 That research shows that every $1

         16  invested in high quality early education and care

         17  programs saves $17 down the road, with tangible

         18  results measured by lower crime, fewer single

         19  parents, and higher individual earnings and

         20  education levels. (SOURCE: Schweinhart, Lawrence J.

         21  (2005). The High/Scope Perry Preschool Study Through

         22  Age 40: Summary, Conclusions, and Frequently Asked

         23  Questions, High/Scope Educational Research

         24  Foundation. Ypsilanti, MI: High/Scope Press, p3.

         25  Available online.
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          2                 - Nobel Laureate James Heckman says

          3  that investments in children bring a higher rate of

          4  return than investments in low-skill adults.

          5                 - Interventions in education programs

          6  prepare children for school, improving their

          7  performance and reducing the need for repetition.

          8                 - A Healthy cognitive and emotional

          9  development in the early years translates into

         10  tangible economic returns, early interventions yield

         11  higher returns as a preventive measure compared with

         12  remedial services later in life.

         13                 - Policies that seek to remedy

         14  deficits incurred in the early years are much more

         15  costly than initial investments in the early years.

         16  (Source: Heckman, J. (Jan 2005). Lessons from the

         17  Technology of Skill Formation. University of

         18  Chicago.)

         19                 Improving the quality of child care

         20  is important:

         21                 - Since 1970, more than 5 million

         22  mothers of young children have joined the workforce,

         23  contributing to their family's financial security

         24  and to the country's overall economic growth - yet

         25  making it more difficult for them to meet their
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          2  children's needs for guidance, nurturing,

          3  supervision, and educational instruction. (Source:

          4  Bruner, Floyd & Copeman for SECPTAN, "Seven Things

          5  Policy Makers Need to Know about School Readiness:

          6  Revised and Expanded Toolkit" (Jan. 2005) Available

          7  online.

          8                 - Nearly 90% of all children in child

          9  care receive poor to mediocre care, which can be

         10  harming; the majority of parents think their

         11  children receive good care and over two-thirds of

         12  parents don't even know their child has below

         13  quality care. (Source: Cost, Quality and Child

         14  Outcome Study (1995).

         15                 In 2002, United Way of New York City,

         16  along with partners Child Care Inc., Bank Street

         17  College of Education and Federation of Protestant

         18  Welfare Agencies, launched Quality New York which is

         19  a comprehensive effort to improve and enrich the

         20  quality of early care provided to some of New York

         21  City's neediest children by significantly increasing

         22  the number of early education programs that attain

         23  and maintain accreditation by the National

         24  Association for the Education of Young Children

         25  (NAEYC). By achieving accreditation, a center is
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          2  adhering to rigorous standards in curriculum

          3  development, staff development and training,

          4  teaching methods, classroom design and structure,

          5  nutrition and a host of other critical areas that

          6  demonstrate the delivery of high quality services to

          7  children. Currently 137 programs are participating

          8  in Quality New York of which 51 have achieved

          9  accreditation - the highest mark of quality.

         10                 QNY improves the quality of early

         11  childhood education for some of New York City's

         12  neediest children and families. In particular, the

         13  childcare programs participating in QNY provide

         14  neighborhood-based services to community residents

         15  in some of NYC's most economically and socially

         16  distressed communities.

         17                 For instance, 89% of participating

         18  programs are located in and serve communities that

         19  have a poverty rate that is higher than the national

         20  average of 12.4%, and 55% of these programs are

         21  located in communities where the poverty rate is

         22  greater than the citywide average of 21.2%.

         23                 In 72% of these communities, the

         24  average household income is below the national

         25  average of $41,994, and, for 63% of these
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          2  neighborhoods, average household income is less than

          3  the Citywide average of $38,293.

          4                 In addition, 32.6% of adult residents

          5  in QNY communities have less than a high school

          6  diploma, compared to a citywide average of 27.7% and

          7  a national average of 19.6%. Given the strong impact

          8  of a parent's educational level on child educational

          9  achievement, low adult educational levels in QNY

         10  communities suggest a critical need for quality,

         11  early educational programs to foster cognitive

         12  development at an early age.

         13                 In addition to these economic and

         14  educational characteristics, the communities served

         15  by QNY programs share a diverse racial and ethnic

         16  makeup. For instance, 36% of the residents in the

         17  communities served by QNY programs are

         18  African-American and 31% are Latino, compared to a

         19  Citywide average of 27% for each of these

         20  populations.

         21                 More importantly, families in QNY

         22  communities tend to speak a language other than

         23  English at home, representing another learning

         24  barrier for children entering the public school

         25  system.
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          2                 While a large proportion of NYC

          3  residents speak a language other than English at

          4  home, in 46% of QNY programs are Administration for

          5  Children's Services (ACS) childcare centers, which

          6  also serve low-income families (below 200% of FPL).

          7                 Moreover, most QNY centers accept ACS

          8  childcare vouchers as payment for services. Only

          9  low-income families (less than 200% FPL) can access

         10  these vouchers. Thus, QNY program participants

         11  represent the economic makeup of the low-income

         12  neighborhoods served by the program.

         13                 We encourage the City Council to make

         14  available the resources necessary to fully support

         15  the Integrated Plan for Early Childhood Development

         16  in New York City that will produce high quality

         17  early care programs for all New York City children.

         18                 Thank you for your time.

         19                 Joann Shanley, United Way of New York

         20  City, Senior Director, Education. 212-251-4139,

         21  jshanley@uwnyc.org. 2000 Census zip code level data.

         22  Www.census.gov.

         23

         24

         25  Written Testimony Of:
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          2  Michael Stahl

          3  Former Wildcat Job Developer

          4

          5

          6

          7  To: City Council Welfare Committee

          8  From: Michael Stahl, Former Wildcat Job Developer

          9  Date: 23 March 2006

         10  Re: Faulty Practices at Wildcat Service Corporation

         11

         12                 I worked for Wildcat Service

         13  Corporation from May 13, 2005 until February 1,

         14  2006. I was terminated from this position shortly

         15  after I helped several clients who were being abused

         16  by Wildcat staff. When I tried to help these

         17  clients, I was severely criticized and finally

         18  terminated.

         19                 I submit this testimony to the City

         20  Council Welfare Committee to consider as you explore

         21  HRA's budget for FY07. Closer scrutiny of employment

         22  services contracts is clearly necessary.

         23                 Issues to be considered:

         24                 1. Harassment of Clients, including

         25  Sexual harassment.
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          2                 On January 20, 2006, while I was

          3  interviewing a client to obtain a job, another

          4  employee interrupted my interview and attempted to

          5  ask this client to go with him to lunch.

          6                 I complained to my supervisor, Mario

          7  LaRosa. He was not willing to listen to this

          8  complaint. I then tried to meet with Mary Ellen

          9  Boyd, the President of Wildcat. I spoke to her

         10  secretary and asked for an appointment. Ms. Boyd did

         11  not give me an appointment to express this

         12  complaint.

         13                 2. Failure to Assist Clients with

         14  Pertinent Needs.

         15                 Another client was placed on a job by

         16  Wildcat. When she did not get paid, the person who

         17  placed her on the job verbally abused her and

         18  criticized her for asking for help in getting her

         19  pay.

         20                 I then helped her to get paid by

         21  giving her information regarding the complaint

         22  procedure through the New York State Department of

         23  Labor.

         24                 I helped her obtain the necessary

         25  form. I was severely reprimanded for helping this
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          2  client.

          3                 The client filed a complaint with HRA

          4  and was threatened by Wildcat that she would be

          5  sanctioned for doing so. She ultimately received a

          6  letter from Seth Diamond, the Deputy Commissioner of

          7  HRA, saying that he would investigate the matter.

          8                 3. Attitudes towards Client's

          9  Abilities and the Kinds of Jobs they are Offered.

         10                 I was able to invite Washington

         11  Mutual Bank to Wildcat to Interview and test the ESP

         12  clients.

         13                 I was informed by Adam Barshak, Head

         14  of Operations, and Mario LaRosa, Supervisor, that

         15  this was a "waste of time."

         16                 In fact, many of the ESP Clients were

         17  qualified for this job. They were denied a career

         18  opportunity because of the negative attitudes of the

         19  management. Therefore, I had to cancel this

         20  recruitment effort. Many ESP suffered because of

         21  these attitudes.

         22                 4. Fraud and Waste of Taxpayer

         23  Dollars.

         24                 Wildcat does not inform clients that

         25  they are eligible for a variety of training
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          2  programs. They simply refer to their own programs.

          3  And, many of the Wildcat programs are a waste of

          4  taxpayer dollars because the clients could get

          5  better jobs with outside training.

          6                 For example, Wildcat operates

          7  training for security guards.

          8                 They then refer the clients to a

          9  company that does not require this training because

         10  they train the clients themselves for three days.

         11                 The clients could have used the ITA

         12  Voucher for something that would benefit them.

         13                 5. Lack of Individualized Job Search

         14  Based on Clients' Needs.

         15                 Clients are not allowed to see a Job

         16  Developer unless there is already a job that exists

         17  in-house.

         18                 Job Developers are not given the

         19  opportunity to do specialized job search.

         20                 In addition, clients are not allowed

         21  to see Job Developers if they do not have adequate

         22  clothing.

         23                 However, in order to get a referral

         24  to Dress for Success, clients need a referral to a

         25  job. When I questioned this policy, I was told that
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          2  it was not my concern.

          3                 6. Lack of Resources.

          4                 When I started to work at Wildcat,

          5  there was no fax machine to send out clients'

          6  resumes. I had to buy a fax machine and bring it to

          7  work.

          8                 7. Lack of Security for Clients.

          9                 There was a meeting attended by

         10  several staff members and a Vice President. Several

         11  staff complained that another staff member had

         12  threatened to use violence in the workplace,

         13  including "blowing the place up." There was never

         14  any mention of these complaints again. The staff

         15  member is still employed at Wildcat.

         16                 If you have any further questions,

         17  please feel free to contact me at: (917) 602-0387.

         18

         19

         20  Written Testimony Of:

         21  James F. Purcell

         22  Executive Director

         23  Council of Family & Child Caring Agencies

         24

         25
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          2                 Good afternoon. My name is Jim

          3  Purcell and I am the Executive Director of the

          4  Council of Family and Child Caring Agencies

          5  (COFCCA). We are the principal statewide

          6  representative for nearly all the not-for-profit

          7  agencies providing services to New York's abused,

          8  neglected and troubled children and their families.

          9                 COFCCA's member agencies keep

         10  families together, reunite families broken apart by

         11  substance abuse, domestic violence, or mental health

         12  problems, and find new permanent homes for children

         13  whose parents can't or won't care for them.

         14                 In New York City our 60-plus members

         15  include all of the agencies with which ACS contracts

         16  for foster care and the providers of about 80% of

         17  all preventive services.

         18                 On their behalf, I thank Chairman

         19  DeBlasio and the members of the General Welfare and

         20  Women's Issues Committee for the opportunity to

         21  address the budget of the Administration for

         22  Children's Services and its impact on the well-being

         23  of the children and families we serve. I also thank

         24  you for your vigorous and continued attention to the

         25  need for adequate resources to protect the City's
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          2  most vulnerable children.

          3                 With your support, Mayor Bloomberg

          4  made significant additions to the ACS budget in

          5  January, following the series of tragic deaths of

          6  children known to the City.

          7                 At that time, we voiced our strong

          8  endorsement for the financial and programmatic

          9  changes announced to help ACS better protect

         10  children. We have continued to work closely with ACS

         11  to identify cases that require further attention and

         12  to ensure the safety of all the children in our

         13  care. Every foster care and preventive services

         14  agencies immediately undertook additional specific

         15  safety reviews of all their children to ensure that

         16  no cries of children go unheeded.

         17                 In addition, representatives of our

         18  agencies have been working very closely with ACS to

         19  implement greater collaboration between the ACS

         20  Child Protective workers and caseworkers at

         21  Preventive Services programs.

         22                 The work of protecting children

         23  through prevention of more child abuse that occurs

         24  in our Preventive Services Programs, and healing of

         25  children who have been victims of family dysfunction
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          2  and abuse through both preventive and foster care

          3  services, is a vital part of the child welfare

          4  system.

          5                 The dedicated caseworkers and foster

          6  parents who provide these services need your support

          7  as much or more than do the ACS CPS workers.

          8                 Currently, caseworkers in Preventive

          9  Services programs are required to work with 15 or

         10  more families each, which means that they are

         11  monitoring the safety of as many as 35 to 40 or more

         12  children at the same time.

         13                 As ACS has drastically reduced the

         14  number of children they place into foster care, we

         15  assume that they are referring those same families

         16  today to preventive services.

         17                 Although surprisingly the number of

         18  new preventive cases ACS opened last year does not

         19  support that belief.)

         20                 This dramatic drop in the use of

         21  foster care should help explain how high risk are

         22  the cases being referred to Preventive Services.

         23                 Five years ago, even two years ago,

         24  many of these children would have been placed in

         25  foster care. Now they are being maintained with
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          2  their families in homes that present a continuing

          3  risk of harm but one which ACS thinks can be

          4  controlled with full supports and services by our

          5  agencies.

          6                 And while Preventive caseworkers are

          7  monitoring the safety of these children deemed at

          8  risk by ACS Child Protection Workers, they are also

          9  working to heal the families, arranging for the

         10  necessary services, and documenting every

         11  conversation and interaction in two different

         12  mandated computer systems - the Connections system

         13  required by the state and the Promise system

         14  mandated by ACS.

         15                 While the Preventive Services

         16  Programs are expected to work with families whose

         17  children may qualify for foster care placement,

         18  foster families are asked to care for children whose

         19  needs are often very high, indeed many of the

         20  adolescents now being placed in foster family homes

         21  would very recently have been placed in residential

         22  treatment centers or group homes.

         23                 The rates ACS pays for our foster

         24  family programs assume that each worker will have a

         25  caseload of 20 children.
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          2                 Again, our real caseloads are often

          3  much higher due to very high rates of worker

          4  turnover as well as the fact that our agencies are

          5  required to continue casework services for cases for

          6  which they are no longer paid by ACS.

          7                 With a caseload of 20 children, each

          8  caseworker has an average of 5.5 hours per month to

          9  devote to each child.

         10                 That is an average of 5.5 hours to:

         11                 - Visit the child.

         12                 - Visit the foster home.

         13                 - Visit the birth family.

         14                 - Recruit an adoptive family, if

         15  needed.

         16                 - Prepare for and attend court

         17  hearings.

         18                 - resolve any stipend payment changes

         19  or problems the foster family may experience.

         20                 - Arrange needed services for the

         21  birth family.

         22                 - Arrange needed services the child

         23  may need.

         24                 - Arrange supports the foster parents

         25  need.
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          2                 - Oversee training of the foster

          3  parents.

          4                 - Counsel the child.

          5                 - Counsel the birth family.

          6                 - Arrange all medical, dental, and

          7  mental health care and child needs.

          8                 - Prepare the birth family for the

          9  return of their child, including arranging housing,

         10  welfare supports, food stamps, etc.

         11                 - Follow up on any concerns raised by

         12  ACS case monitors.

         13                 - Respond to emergency calls from the

         14  child, foster family, or birth family; and

         15                 - Document all of these activities in

         16  the mandated new computer system and complete

         17  extensive forms required by the new Permanency Law.

         18                 It is not possible to do all of these

         19  tasks, all the while working energetically to keep

         20  the children in foster care only for the shortest

         21  possible amount of time, and to consistently do a

         22  good job for every child and their family.

         23                 The extremely low salaries, at least

         24  $10,000 less than ACS pays a starting worker, and

         25  lack of support staff and supervisory spans of
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          2  control leave workers feeling alone in their

          3  responsibilities.

          4                 These factors combine to create an

          5  annual turnover rate of about 40%.

          6                 This turnover exacerbates the time

          7  needed to complete all of the above-enumerated

          8  duties. Agencies are forced to leave positions

          9  vacant for weeks in order to save money that is not

         10  included in their rates or contracts. And, almost

         11  unbelievably, ACS demands that our workers continue

         12  to be responsible and to do case work for children

         13  on trial discharge, AWOL, or hospitalized even as

         14  ACS refuses to pay for any of these services.

         15                 Our workers' real caseloads average

         16  far more than 20 children.

         17                 Is it any wonder that Preventive

         18  Services and Foster Care agencies are hemorrhaging

         19  experienced workers because of all these demands -

         20  especially the implementation of Connections that

         21  began last July, the new Permanency Law, and the

         22  growing list of demands by ACS -- that distract them

         23  from their first obligation of working with

         24  families?

         25                 In the past six months, a sampling of
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          2  just nine agencies reveals that more than 100

          3  workers have left their positions - an average of

          4  more than ten workers per agency. Many of these

          5  workers cited the demands and frustrations of

          6  Connections as the reason for leaving.

          7                 This frightening loss of staff should

          8  sound alarms about the capacity of these two vital

          9  components of the child welfare system to do their

         10  work - to keep children safe while seeing to their

         11  permanency and well-being.

         12                 While the ACS Child Protective

         13  Services is an absolutely critical part of the

         14  entire child welfare system, it cannot do its job of

         15  trying to ensure safety for children without the

         16  other two components of the system - Preventive

         17  Services and Foster Care.

         18                 I have never found this truth better

         19  articulated than by Dr. Harold A. Richman, former

         20  Director of Chapin Hall Center for Children at the

         21  University of Chicago. He wrote:

         22                 "Child welfare is not another social

         23  program. It deals with life and death issues. It

         24  deals with coercive state interventions; the

         25  stripping away of a family's privacy, the taking of
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          2  a child from a family, and the presumption of a

          3  public standard of acceptable and unacceptable

          4  parenting. Its consequences have life-long effects.

          5  The values it deals with, too often cavalierly, are

          6  the values that define our society.

          7                 Child welfare is different because it

          8  cannot be about one thing. It must be about many

          9  things:

         10                 - If you have a wonderful system of

         11  investigation of child abuse or neglect, yet you

         12  have no service to keep a family together, then you

         13  have failed the children and the family and the

         14  public interest.

         15                 - If you have a good investigative

         16  branch and good services to help keep the family

         17  together, but you have poor foster care for those

         18  children who must be placed, then you have failed

         19  the child and his family and the public interest. In

         20  fact, you have perpetrated a terrible hoax on the

         21  child, asking him to trade the devil he knows for a

         22  possible equally bad or even worse devil he doesn't

         23  know.

         24                 - If you have good investigators,

         25  good family services, good foster care, good health
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          2  care, and good mental health services, but terrible

          3  residential or institutional care, then you have

          4  failed the child who needs such care and the parents

          5  and foster parents who have proven that the child

          6  can make it only with such specialized care.

          7                 Let's not wait for the next tragedy

          8  before we address the dangerous gaps in the child

          9  welfare system.

         10                 If New York City really wants the

         11  highest quality child welfare program it says it

         12  wants and if it expects our preventive services and

         13  foster care agencies to deliver these vital safety

         14  services at consistently high quality then these

         15  issues of caseload size and salary levels for our

         16  workers must be addressed, just as ACS has

         17  diligently attended to these issues for its own CPS

         18  workers.

         19                 Sadly, I must tell you that while we

         20  have stood by ACS during these trying times and have

         21  accepted every new demand for more and better work,

         22  we have not found that ACS seems to understand how

         23  grave our realities are.

         24                 Our agencies cannot continue to

         25  undertake their critical work with at-risk families

                                                            375

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES COMMITTEES

          2  with the totally inadequate support we receive from

          3  ACS.

          4                 We ask the City Council to work with

          5  Mayor Bloomberg to make the following happen now.

          6                 - Baseline the $9 million ($3 million

          7  in CTL) for programmatic enhancement recently added

          8  to help Preventive Services programs by ACS. Every

          9  enhancement announced by the administration in

         10  January that provided direct staff help within ACS

         11  was baselined. The only support offered to our

         12  agencies was not.

         13                 - reduce the caseloads of our

         14  preventive services workers in accord with national

         15  accreditation quality standards. These provide for a

         16  maximum caseload for a preventive services worker of

         17  12 families, to be adjusted downward for complex

         18  cases. This is the best way to provide both better

         19  monitoring of child safety as well as strengthening

         20  family services. This change is absolutely critical.

         21  We estimate the costs to be $12 million gross ($4.2

         22  million CTL.)

         23                 - Provide enhancements to the

         24  9-year-old Model budget to provide community

         25  workers/family advocates, support group work for
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          2  families with adolescents, support greater use of

          3  MSW level workers, provide clinical service

          4  capacity, support mandated technology requirements.

          5  Estimated cost is $13 million gross ($4.55 Million

          6  CTL).

          7                 - Provide an annual cost of living

          8  adjustment to contracts as proposed by the Mayor

          9  last year to recognize costs of doing business in

         10  2006. We presume these increases would parallel

         11  those provided to city unions.

         12                 All calculations for preventive

         13  services are reimbursable by the state at 65% state

         14  share.

         15                 - Caseloads for front line foster

         16  care workers are also too high. With a caseload of

         17  20-children, a worker has an average of 5.5 hours to

         18  devote to each child in a month.

         19                 This is far too little time to do all

         20  the required work including ensuring the child's

         21  safety, undertaking intensive permanency work,

         22  including growing demands of time in Family Court,

         23  and support the well-being of the child in care. On

         24  top of all of this, every step and action must be

         25  documented in the Connections system and reviewed
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          2  with a supervisor. We seek caseloads of 15 children,

          3  including the non-payment cases. We estimate the

          4  cost at $15 million gross ($10 million CTL).

          5                 - ACS has imposed its own rate

          6  formula on the agencies while disregarding both the

          7  actual costs of supporting these programs in

          8  communities as well as their own contracts with

          9  these agencies.

         10                 Those contracts say that the City

         11  will pay a rate established by the state, and used

         12  by all other jurisdictions, unless there are

         13  insufficient funds in the city budget.

         14                 The administration has then

         15  systematically withdrawn funds from this very budget

         16  line and paid an amount it decided was right.

         17                 As a result, 22 agencies receive

         18  payment from ACS below their spending level of two

         19  years ago, which the state deemed reasonable.

         20                 These costs of doing business must be

         21  paid. ACS is not complying with its own contracts.

         22  The cost of this is $7 Million gross ($5 Million

         23  CRL).

         24                 - More than half of the children now

         25  in foster care are adolescents. The chief means of
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          2  preparing these youth for adulthood is supported

          3  through Independent Living funding.

          4                 In 1997, ACS promised the agencies

          5  $2,700 per year per youth. They then decided to pay

          6  only 70% of that amount; an amount  that has

          7  remained unchanged for almost 15 years. Pay the full

          8  $2,700 in 06-07 and determine what a realistic

          9  amount is for the needed work. The added costs would

         10  be about $6.5 Million gross ($2.2275 CTL).

         11                 All calculations assume available

         12  federal support of about 33%. The Independent living

         13  amount is reimbursable by the state at 65%.

         14

         15

         16  Written Testimony Of:

         17  Lauren Bholai-Pareti

         18  Executive Director

         19  Council on Homeless Policies and Services

         20

         21                 Good afternoon. My name is Lauren

         22  Bholai-Pareti, and I am the Executive Director of

         23  the Council on Homeless Policies and Services. The

         24  Council is a coalition of sixty non-profit agencies

         25  serving homeless and at-risk children and adults
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          2  throughout the five Boroughs. I want to thank

          3  Chairman DeBlasio and all of the City Council

          4  members present here today for this opportunity to

          5  testify about our members' hopes and concerns

          6  regarding New York City's budget for fiscal year

          7  2007.

          8                 I. Restorations

          9                 I will begin my testimony by

         10  addressing the restorations our group is seeking:

         11                 Restore $.9 M for the Rental

         12  Assistance Program - RAP (DHS Budget)

         13                 We thank the City Council for

         14  creating this program and for protecting it over the

         15  years.

         16                 Though this program does not provide

         17  the long-term, intensive supports   that many in our

         18  single adult shelters need, it is a valuable tool to

         19  re-house some working single adults who need help in

         20  the short-term to get back on their feet and back

         21  into New York City's difficult housing market.

         22                 In fact, members running employment

         23  shelters report that the RAP program is one of the

         24  primary tools they have to quickly re-connect single

         25  adults to permanent housing.
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          2                 That New York City is facing an

          3  affordable housing crisis is not news to any of us.

          4  As our members work to achieve dramatic reductions

          5  in the shelter census, now is not the time, to

          6  reduce rental assistance options.

          7                 Restore $2.5 M for anti-eviction and

          8  SRO Legal Services (DHS Budget)

          9                 DHS currently has contracts with a

         10  dozen organizations working to help prevent

         11  homelessness by keeping tenants in their current

         12  homes.

         13                 These non-profits provide legal

         14  services to tenants facing a housing court

         15  proceeding, prevent illegal conversions of the

         16  remaining SRO housing stock, and work to make sure

         17  tenants know and are supported to exercise their

         18  legal rights.

         19                 We know that, even with this

         20  important funding stream, the vast majority of

         21  tenants still go to housing court without a lawyer,

         22  while the vast majority of landlords have legal

         23  representation. We also know that, when tenants have

         24  a lawyer, they usually get to stay in their homes.

         25                 A recent study by the Vera Institute
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          2  for Justice examined the experiences of homeless

          3  families during the five years prior to shelter

          4  entry. That study found that almost half of all

          5  families in their sample had experienced an informal

          6  or formal eviction.

          7                 The Vera study also found that only

          8  one in five families received financial or legal

          9  assistance to help prevent the eviction.

         10                 We thank the City Council for your

         11  past support of the anti-eviction and SRO legal

         12  services program, and we ask for your support again

         13  this year to ensure that the final budget for fiscal

         14  year 07 includes this critical funding source.

         15                 Restore $1.2 M for emergency shelter

         16  beds for lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and

         17  questioning youth (DYCD Budget).

         18                 We thank the City Council for

         19  championing the creation of this program, and we

         20  respectfully ask for your help to ensure that the

         21  program continues to be funded. Shelters designed to

         22  serve adults do not provide the specialized services

         23  that our LGBT and questioning youth need and

         24  deserve.

         25                 The National Network of Runaway and
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          2  Youth Services estimates that 20-40% of youth who

          3  become homeless each year are lesbian, gay or

          4  bisexual.

          5                 As a direct result of their sexual

          6  orientation and/or gender identity, homeless young

          7  people have often been harassed and victimized in

          8  multiple settings. For example:

          9                 - over one-third of gay men and

         10  lesbians report being the victims of physical

         11  violence at the hands of a family member as a result

         12  of their sexual orientation - many LGBT young people

         13  report becoming homeless as a result of this family

         14  violence.

         15                 - a 2003 survey on the climate of our

         16  nation's schools found that 84% of LGBT youth

         17  reported verbal harassment related to their

         18  orientation or identity and 55% of transgender youth

         19  reported being shoved, pushed or otherwise

         20  physically harassed.

         21                 Tragically, 83% of LGBT students

         22  reported that even when school staff was present

         23  they did not consistently intervene.

         24                 By the time a young person has a need

         25  for emergency shelter, we can assume that she has
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          2  been repeatedly harassed and/or victimized, and that

          3  she has the best chance of overcoming the resulting

          4  trauma and developing the necessary skills and

          5  confidence at a shelter equipped to offer

          6  specialized services and a safe, nurturing

          7  environment.

          8                 II. Other Initiatives.

          9                 In addition to these restorations,

         10  the Council on Homeless Policies and Services

         11  respectfully requests your support for the

         12  following:

         13                 1. Improvements to the Housing

         14  Stability Plus (HSP) Program to help prevent

         15  households from returning to shelter.

         16                 To give the Committee a sense of some

         17  of the problems that currently threaten HSP tenants'

         18  long-term stability, we have gathered a few stories

         19  from clients:

         20                 Ms. B and Mr. R and their two

         21  children accepted a two bedroom HSP apartment

         22  despite needed repairs. When they viewed the

         23  apartment it had no window guards, smoke or carbon

         24  monoxide detectors, an uninstalled radiator in the

         25  living room, and new kitchen cabinets were sitting
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          2  on the floor awaiting installation.

          3                 The landlord signed a notarized

          4  agreement to remedy these and other issues prior to

          5  lease signings.

          6                 The family was surprised on the day

          7  they moved to their new home to find the repairs had

          8  not been made.

          9                 In addition to the violations noted

         10  at the time of the DHS inspection, the apartment

         11  also has no heat and o hot water and the landlord

         12  installed old cabinets that have mold and water

         13  damage in place of the new cabinets the family had

         14  seen. In addition, HPD has found the apartment to

         15  have a high concentration of lead and mold. The

         16  family wants to abandon the apartment and return to

         17  the shelter where they feel they were better off.

         18                 Ms. C is a 34-year old mother of

         19  three children who recently left shelter and moved

         20  into a one-bedroom HSP apartment. Two of the

         21  children are disabled and receive Social Security

         22  benefits.

         23                 Ms. C and her case manager report

         24  that the family's crowded living situation is

         25  exacerbating the children's health problems.
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          2                 Mr. P is a single father with a

          3  teenage daughter. Mr. P found employment through the

          4  New York City Human Rights Administration, but he

          5  soon realized that if he kept the job he would lose

          6  his eligibility for public assistance and HSP. He

          7  quit the job, but does not understand a public

          8  policy that forces him to choose between keeping a

          9  roof over his family's head and finding decent

         10  employment. He hopes that the program will be

         11  reformed soon to allow people to work and continue

         12  to receive rental assistance.

         13                 HSP is ripe with structural and

         14  implementation flaws that, if left unaddressed, will

         15  lead formerly homeless people back to shelter. We

         16  ask for support from the City Council, as we work

         17  with the Bloomberg and Pataki administrations to

         18  make the following changes:

         19                 - Ensure mandatory re-inspection for

         20  apartments that pose a threat to tenant

         21  health/safety.

         22                 In January, DHS expanded the list of

         23  violations that require an HSP reinspection rather

         24  as opposed to allowing the landlord to self-certify

         25  that repairs have been made.
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          2                 The expanded list still fails to

          3  include non-functioning plumbing/light fixtures, and

          4  missing/non-functioning stoves and refrigerators,

          5  among other significant health/safety problems.

          6                 Do not approve apartments with

          7  life-threatening code violations and buildings with

          8  a widespread pattern of hazardous code violations

          9  for participation in HSP.

         10                 We support Introduction No. 161,

         11  which would help protect HSP tenants from unhealthy

         12  and unsafe building conditions and would eliminate

         13  HSP and HASA subsidies, which are funded by

         14  taxpayers, for landlords who fail to ensure that

         15  their buildings meet basic health/safety criteria.

         16  We thank the City Council for your efforts to

         17  improve apartment quality controls in the HSP

         18  program.

         19                 - Establish occupancy standards for

         20  HSP apartments. The New York City Housing Authority

         21  maintains occupancy standards for Section 8 and

         22  public housing apartments. These standards are an

         23  important way to ensure that tenants are not

         24  subjected to dangerous, overcrowded conditions. The

         25  Housing Stability Plus program maintains no such
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          2  occupancy standards.

          3                 In fact, the maximum monthly rent for

          4  an HSP apartment is determined by the number of

          5  family members with an active public assistance case

          6  and is not tied to apartment size.

          7                 This creates an incentive for

          8  landlords to maximize profit by renting small units

          9  to large families.

         10                 A 1998 study found that crowding

         11  added to the risk that families would enter shelter,

         12  and a 1996 study found a positive correlation

         13  between housing crowding and shelter entry rates. We

         14  recognize that New York City currently faces an

         15  affordable housing crisis.

         16                 We recommend establishment of

         17  occupancy standards in the HSP program that ensure

         18  maximum use of available affordable housing

         19  resources, while protecting HSP program participants

         20  and all New Yorkers from dangerously overcrowded

         21  conditions.

         22                 - Institute more aggressive penalties

         23  for landlords who require payment in excess of

         24  authorized rent levels.

         25                 Though efforts by HSP landlords to
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          2  collect more than the authorized rent are expressly

          3  prohibited in program rules and are fraudulent and

          4  illegal, the practice remains common.

          5                 Because the courts have held on

          6  numerous occasions that such agreements are illegal

          7  and unenforceable, because these arrangements result

          8  in an unmanageable rent burden for HSP tenants, and

          9  because the City's efforts to date have proven

         10  ineffective at significantly reducing the practice,

         11  we recommend that the City institute more aggressive

         12  measures, including suspending participation in all

         13  City rent subsidy programs for landlords who have

         14  been found to engage in the illegal practice and

         15  prosecuting repeat offenders.

         16                 - Restore Priority access for federal

         17  housing resources for homeless families. In October

         18  2004, New York City eliminated priority access to

         19  federal Section 8 vouchers and public housing for

         20  homeless families.

         21                 In fiscal year 2004, the last

         22  complete fiscal year prior to the implementation of

         23  HSP, 1,900 families were placed in a New York City

         24  Housing Authority (NYCHA) apartment.

         25                 A 1997 study found that families
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          2  placed in NYCHA public housing had the lowest rate

          3  of return to shelter compared to other types of

          4  placements.

          5                 With roughly six-thousand apartments

          6  becoming available annually, public housing remains

          7  a vital and available affordable housing resource in

          8  New York City.

          9                 To avoid long shelter stays,

         10  placements in unstable, unsubsidized housing, and/or

         11  placement of families that do not have a potential

         12  wage earner in an HSP apartment, we recommend that

         13  New York City reinstate priority for Section 8 and

         14  NYCHA public housing for homeless families that are

         15  not eligible or have mixed eligibility for HSP.

         16                 - Reform the HSP program to encourage

         17  efforts to leave welfare for work. Currently, HSP

         18  beneficiaries who succeed in leaving welfare for

         19  work must assume 100% of the rent burden as soon as

         20  their public assistance case is closed.

         21                 A single mother whith two children

         22  working full-time at $7.65 per hour would be

         23  ineligible to continue receiving rental support

         24  though, assuming no rent increase, she would need to

         25  pay 70% of her monthly pre-tax income towards rent
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          2  to maintain her HSP apartment.

          3                 Because HSP recipients lose the full

          4  rent benefit as soon as they earn too much income to

          5  qualify for public assistance, the current program

          6  design results in an incentive to avoid securing a

          7  well-paid job.

          8                 - Eliminate the annual step-down and

          9  five-year time limit for children, the elderly and

         10  the disabled.

         11                 Under the current HSP program design,

         12  all households are subject to the annual 20%

         13  reduction in the rent supplement and a five-year

         14  time limit.

         15                 This means households must earn

         16  income to offset the annual rent benefit reduction

         17  regardless of whether the only adult is disabled or

         18  elderly.

         19                 Absent programmatic reform, if there

         20  is no potential wage earner in the household, the

         21  family is unlikely to maintain their apartment after

         22  the first year in the program.

         23                 - Create an exemption to the

         24  step-down and time limit for those who have

         25  demonstrated good faith efforts to maximize
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          2  self-sufficiency but who are unable to offset the

          3  reduction in the rent benefit.

          4                 Currently, the annual HSP step-down

          5  and five-year time limit are applied arbitrarily and

          6  across-the-board regardless of households' ability

          7  to secure earned income that will allow them to

          8  afford rent.

          9                 We recommend a more nuanced approach

         10  that recognizes the variable barriers that homeless

         11  families and single adults face as they pursue

         12  self-sufficiency.

         13                 A good cause exemption policy would

         14  create a mechanism to continue rental support for

         15  those that have been unable to overcome significant

         16  barriers to self-sufficiency and would prevent

         17  costly re-entry into the City's shelter system.

         18                 - Eliminate the full family sanction

         19  provision. The HSP program currently includes a full

         20  family sanction provision, which suspends the entire

         21  rent supplement when any member of the household is

         22  sanctioned by public assistance.

         23                 Administrative data maintained by the

         24  New York City Human Resources Administration

         25  indicate that 25% of all public assistance
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          2  recipients were either sanctioned or in the sanction

          3  process as of January 2006.

          4                 - Create a rent subsidy program for

          5  working poor households. Leading studies have

          6  demonstrated that housing subsidies are the most

          7  effective tool for preventing homelessness.

          8                 A 1998 study concluded that a rent

          9  subsidy was "virtually the only predictor" of

         10  housing stability for families who had exited

         11  shelter.

         12                 Another major study reached the same

         13  conclusion.

         14                 In their November 2003 report on

         15  family homelessness prevention, the Special Master

         16  Panel recommended expanding the availability of

         17  rental assistance for families at-risk of

         18  homelessness, including those who are working and

         19  not receiving public assistance.

         20                 We urge creation of a rent supplement

         21  program targeted for working poor households in

         22  shelter and those who are at-risk of shelter entry.

         23                 2. Ensure regular Cost of Living

         24  Adjustments on Human Services Contracts.

         25                 In the current fiscal year and in
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          2  fiscal year 2007, the DHS budget includes the city

          3  tax levy funds necessary to support a long-awaited

          4  cost o of living adjustment (COLA) for the people

          5  working on the front-lines of New York's homeless

          6  crisis.

          7                 Prior to April 2005, these workers

          8  had not had their salaries adjusted for inflation

          9  for almost six years. While rents, utility bills,

         10  health, transportation and other essential costs

         11  rose dramatically, our workforce saw their income

         12  stagnate. Many left jobs in our City's shelters in

         13  search of higher wages to support their families.

         14                 Unfortunately, the staff working in

         15  our City's SRO's still faces stagnant wages. Though,

         16  they too were scheduled to receive a long-overdue

         17  cost of living adjustment, Governor Pataki has

         18  failed to allocate State funding to support that

         19  increase ($1.3M is needed), and the COLA announced

         20  ten months ago is now at-risk for these workers.

         21                 On behalf of our member agencies and

         22  their staff who have received or are scheduled to

         23  receive an increase, I want to thank the mayor and

         24  the City Council for your support and ask that we

         25  work together to make sure that those serving our

                                                            394

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES COMMITTEES

          2  City's poor, homeless, and at-risk residents get the

          3  regular cost of living adjustments they need to

          4  support their families.

          5                 I ask for your help to make sure that

          6  this critical workforce does not have to wait

          7  another six years before they see their next COLA,

          8  and for your support to make sure that our SRO staff

          9  get the adjustment that was announced last Spring.

         10                 Finally, I want to call your

         11  attention to the fact that the recent adjustment,

         12  though a critical step forward for agencies

         13  struggling to recruit and retain skilled staff, did

         14  nothing to ensure that City reimbursement for

         15  other-than-personal-services (OTPS) expenses keeps

         16  pace with inflation.

         17                 In fact, our member agencies have not

         18  seen an OTPS adjustment on their contracts in at

         19  least 13 years.

         20                 Meanwhile, the non-profits serving

         21  New York City's homeless report dramatic increases

         22  for a range of expenses. Through a survey we

         23  conducted last year members reported:

         24                 - increases in health premiums of 20%

         25  or more.
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          2                 -- Increases in liability insurance

          3  premiums of over 70%.

          4                 - increases in food expenses of over

          5  30%, and

          6                 - increases in utility expenses of

          7  over 25%.

          8                 Increasingly, our members' City

          9  contracts are insufficient to cover the basic

         10  expenses of orating a decent program. This reality

         11  has led to a disturbing trend in which New York

         12  City's non-profits are subsidizing core city

         13  services through fundraising.

         14                 These funds, which have historically

         15  been used to enhance core services for clients and

         16  to develop new and innovative service models, are

         17  now being used to support the base.

         18                 Our members are hopeful that their

         19  representatives in City Council agree that this is

         20  an unsustainable and undesirable trend, and we look

         21  forward to working with you to find solutions that

         22  will allow non-profits to continue to provide basic

         23  services to our neediest neighbors while still

         24  pioneering innovations that make those services more

         25  effective.
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          2                 3. Ensure reinvestment of resources

          3  saved through shelter census reductions into

          4  systemic solutions for homeless.

          5                 When Mayor Bloomberg released this

          6  bold five-year plan to end chronic homelessness, he

          7  made a commitment to utilize the savings achieved

          8  through shelter census reductions to fund systemic

          9  solutions to homelessness, including prevention

         10  services and housing supports.

         11                 The Council on Homeless Policies and

         12  Services applauds that important commitment. We

         13  remember similar commitments made decades ago by

         14  mental health officials across the nation, who said

         15  then that savings derived from the closure of

         16  psychiatric hospitals would be reinvested into

         17  community-based mental health services. That

         18  commitment was largely unfulfilled, and many former

         19  patients of those hospitals now reside in our

         20  nation's shelters.

         21                 After decades of lost opportunity,

         22  New York State now has a law that ensures savings

         23  derived from psychiatric hospital census reductions

         24  is, in fact, reinvested in community-based services.

         25  It's a good law that has resulted in hundreds of
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          2  millions of dollars of badly needed funding to

          3  support those that no longer live in State

          4  hospitals.

          5                 Our members are working closely with

          6  City officials to achieve the census reduction

          7  targets outlined in the Mayor's plan. We are

          8  concerned that the Mayor's Preliminary Budget

          9  reinvests over $8 million in savings derived from

         10  census reductions to offset a cut to core services

         11  rather than in systemic solutions to homelessness.

         12                 In coming months, we will ask for the

         13  City Council's support to ensure long-term

         14  accountability and transparency for the shelter

         15  resource reinvestment commitment Mayor Bloomberg

         16  made in 2004. We fear that without legislation to

         17  track and secure those savings, the commitment will

         18  be at long-term risk.

         19

         20

         21  Written Testimony Of:

         22  Family Child Care Citywide Association, Inc.

         23

         24                 Family day care first started under

         25  the department of Social Services. During the 1970s
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          2  the Agency for Child Development (ACD) took control.

          3  They began paying professional child care providers

          4  a stipend not a salary because the pay was below

          5  market rate.

          6                 In July 1992 professional child care

          7  providers began reo receive market rate pay from The

          8  Agency for Child Development (ACD). The contracted

          9  networks needed $17.06 per child, per week for

         10  administrative cost. Child care providers were

         11  charged $9.00 per child, per week and the city

         12  government paid the difference of $8.06.

         13                 On November 15, 2005, Commissioner

         14  John B. Mattingly testified at City Hall stating, "I

         15  took all discrepancy out of the child care payment

         16  system rates, and city contracted networks must pay

         17  providers the same rate as HRA & ACD (Voucher)

         18  pays." Mattingly also stated that he does not tell

         19  the city contracted networks what to charge

         20  providers for administrative services. If providers

         21  must pay administrative cost, they should remain at

         22  $9.00. For professional child care providers this

         23  meant a pay increase and a level playing field.

         24  However, the city government is no longer paying

         25  their share of the administrative cost. This puts
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          2  professional child care providers back where they

          3  started.

          4                 In addition to paying administrative

          5  cost, professional child care providers are paid

          6  based on the age group of each child, which is

          7  determined by the contracted networks they are

          8  affiliated with. Each of the contracted networks

          9  categories the age groups differently from HRA and

         10  ACD/ACS Voucher, which leads to a fluctuation pay.

         11  None of these pay rates are equivalent to those

         12  released in October 1, 2005.

         13                 Below are examples of three fully

         14  funded networks and their pay structure.

         15                 Each of the networks noted above are

         16  fully funded programs charging professional child

         17  care providers $17.06 for administrative cost and

         18  paying below the new market rate. They are also an

         19  example of the inconsistencies within contracted

         20  networks. The city government must take a closer

         21  look at family child care to understand how vital

         22  and important it is to the children and the families

         23  professional child care providers serve.

         24                 Professional child care providers

         25  have continued to get the short end of the stick.
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          2  Without them, parents could not work, without

          3  working parents, businesses would not be able to run

          4  and without profitable, we would have a weak

          5  economy. Professional child care providers have

          6  earned and deserve fair and current market rates. We

          7  urge the city government to review HRA and ACD/ACS

          8  Voucher programs and compare it to the facts we've

          9  stated.

         10

         11

         12  Written Testimony Of:

         13  Ketny Jean-Franciois

         14  Welfare Recipient

         15

         16                 My name is Ketny Jean-Francois and I

         17  am a single mother of a two and a half year old

         18  child and I am currently receiving public

         19  assistance.

         20                 About a year ago, my son and I ended

         21  up in the shelter system. I wanted to get a job, but

         22  I was told I had to apply for public assistance.

         23  This began a whole mess of paperwork and program

         24  problems.

         25                 Once my case was open, I was referred

                                                            401

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES COMMITTEES

          2  to an Employment Services and Placement provider.

          3  There I was told that I had two weeks to find a job

          4  or that I would have to do a WEP assignment.

          5                 The place I went to was aggressive

          6  and threatening. They constantly threatened us with

          7  sanctions, saying that we had to take whatever job

          8  they sent us to.

          9                 They would tell you they had jobs in

         10  the Culinary Industry, and this would mean a minimum

         11  wage job at Wendy's. I only went there for a short

         12  time. After three days, the daycare site my son was

         13  attending called the welfare site to confirm his

         14  registration and they were told he was not on the

         15  list. So, I went to the welfare center to straighten

         16  it out and I got FTCed for not being at the ESP

         17  site. This meant that I had to start the process all

         18  over again.

         19                 Two months later I was given another

         20  appointment at another employment services site. We

         21  did a week of resume writing and a brief brush-up on

         22  computer skills. Then we started independent job

         23  search. This meant we had to show up with positions

         24  we had looked for previously and do our own stuff.

         25                 They were supposed to have telephones
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          2  and computers for us but they had only 3 computers

          3  for over 20 people. And of the 5-6 telephones at the

          4  site, only 3 of them worked. I only saw the job

          5  developer for 5 minutes during the whole time I was

          6  there. He didn't help me at all. Once the initial

          7  two weeks ended, you were basically on your own.

          8  They had stacks of city jobs, but they would all be

          9  expired. Or the few things they had on the job board

         10  would have the same things you see in the newspaper.

         11                 I told my counselor at the site that

         12  I was interested in the health field. I found out

         13  there were vouchers available for training and I

         14  told her I was interested in that. However, by the

         15  time I went to apply for the voucher, I came up

         16  against another problem. My WEP sit had not entered

         17  my time sheet for two weeks, even though I was

         18  there. I was FTCed again, even though it wasn't my

         19  fault and I had the documents to prove I had been

         20  there.

         21                 I had to start the process all over

         22  again. And I needed to go to another two weeks

         23  straight of employment services and then start the

         24  WEP site again.

         25                 I did all this and then went to apply
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          2  for the voucher. Then they told me my voucher would

          3  be rejected because I had some absences.

          4                 I had gone to a dentist once a week

          5  for three weeks, which I documented, to deal with an

          6  infection and some other necessary work. The

          7  employment services site told me that my absences

          8  would make me look unreliable to welfare and my

          9  voucher would be rejected.

         10                 So I stopped the dental work and have

         11  been going over six weeks straight with no absences.

         12  Yet I still don't have a voucher.

         13                 One worker agrees that I have no

         14  absences and another claims that I do from way, way

         15  back. And I'm here stuck in the system. Actually,

         16  it's not just me; it's everybody in the program.

         17                 The whole system is not working. The

         18  WEP is a hindrance for actually getting a job. You

         19  are always working in your WEP and don't have time

         20  to aggressively look for a job. And if you want

         21  training, your absences are held against you, even

         22  if it's for a job interview. It seems to me like

         23  we're in this program just to be there, not to

         24  really help us find a job and move forward.

         25                 My personal experience shows a lot of
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          2  the problems that many welfare recipients are facing

          3  in the welfare system. Programs that the City is

          4  funding are not working and families are being hurt

          5  in the process. Something needs to be done. I

          6  recommend the following:

          7                 1. Sanctions should be eliminated as

          8  barriers to ITA Vouchers. With all the unjust

          9  sanctions passed out, and with the extra cost of

         10  keeping someone on welfare when they don't have the

         11  skills to get a good job and get off, we'd save

         12  money by doing this.

         13                 2. The City Council should make sure

         14  there's money in the budget for monitoring and

         15  evaluating the new HRA Works employment services

         16  program. Accountability is key.

         17                 3. The new HRA Works contracts should

         18  make sure to include funding for service provisions

         19  and/or access to education and training. Otherwise,

         20  sites will continue to just push us into minimum

         21  wage jobs.

         22

         23

         24  Written Testimony Of:

         25  Anonymous Former America Works Employee
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          2  Re: Problems with Employment Services Vendor

          3

          4                 I worked for American Works (AW), an

          5  Employment Services and Placement (ESP) provider, in

          6  New York City. I left after a short period of

          7  employment there. Like man others that have been

          8  employed there, I could not continue to work in such

          9  an environment - one that neither valued its workers

         10  nor the participants.

         11                 The only thing that America Works

         12  valued was the business bottom line. I have chosen

         13  to write this memo and circulate it because I feel

         14  it is important that AW not be awarded the new HRA

         15  Works contract and because I feel that problems like

         16  these need to be exposed so that the system in

         17  general can be improved.

         18                 Overall, there was a lot of lip

         19  service done to things at America Works, but no real

         20  action taken. What looked good on paper was not

         21  functional in reality. As a for-profit entity, it

         22  was about the bottom line - nothing more, nothing

         23  less.

         24                 I will start my memo discussing the

         25  different aspects of the ESP program and the flaws
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          2  inherent in America Works' approach to it.

          3                 I will conclude with a discussion of

          4  some of the problems that seem inherent to the

          5  system itself that are worth noting as new contracts

          6  are established, and a listing of some

          7  recommendations.

          8                 Overall Philosophy: Do the Bare

          9  Minimum.

         10                 The only thing that America Works

         11  seemed to care about was the numbers - getting

         12  bodies in the room and keeping them there. It was

         13  not about addressing major childcare issues, getting

         14  people other services or anything else...it was just

         15  about the numbers - making sure they were in the AW

         16  office and making sure that enough people got placed

         17  to make a profit. The program is designed to do the

         18  bare minimum of what HRA asks for - to make sure

         19  that all the "t's" are crossed and "i's" are dotted,

         20  but that nothing more than the minimum is done.

         21                 Assessment: Old TABE tests Only.

         22                 The only aspect of assessment that

         23  was ever done on site was the TABE Test ( Test of

         24  Adult Basic English), which was mandated by HRA.

         25  Even with that AW did the bare minimum.
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          2                 We had a stack of used booklets that

          3  were used with clients, completely marked. It is

          4  really degrading. They would be collected and passed

          5  along to someone supposedly to calculate their

          6  scores. We never heard anything more about that and

          7  the scores were definitely not taken into

          8  consideration in terms of employment or education

          9  plans or job placement.

         10                 Services: None Provided.

         11                 About one-third of the people that

         12  would get referred to AW were not work-ready. And

         13  yet, America Works would do nothing with these

         14  people.

         15                 We had someone in the office from

         16  Cornell Medical Center that was supposed to help the

         17  clients with any emotional issues or other things

         18  going on in their life that served as barriers (e.g.

         19  Abuse). He was mandated to work with AW as an ESP

         20  vendor but he wasn't even given his own space.

         21                 His services were not supported. His

         22  hands were tied to do anything with people. It

         23  looked great to have him on board for AW, but they

         24  couldn't care less about what he was doing or about

         25  the clients that actually needed his support.
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          2                 If a person had a childcare issue or

          3  was nearing eviction, they were told to resolve it,

          4  not supported in doing so.

          5                 They would be told, "The City has

          6  said you are work ready, you are to report here, you

          7  have to show up, and if you're offered a job you

          8  have to go."... End of story. There was constantly a

          9  debate at AW on whether it was better to deassign

         10  people (send them back to HRA if they had very

         11  notable barriers) or to keep them on the rolls - it

         12  wasn't about what would serve the client better,

         13  though; it was about what looked better to HRA.

         14                 Job Readiness: No Curriculum.

         15                 There was no curriculum or agenda for

         16  the job readiness portion of the program. There

         17  might have been one on the books, but it definitely

         18  was not used in practice.

         19                 Truthfully, though, a formal

         20  curriculum - given the diverse nature of the

         21  participants that would arrive each week - would

         22  have been pointless.

         23                 However, materials would have been

         24  helpful. But, these were non-existent, other than a

         25  few pamphlets. At the start of working on site,
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          2  staff people would be offered a beautiful catalogue

          3  and asked to pick out what they thought was

          4  necessary for the success of their work. Sadly, the

          5  selected materials would never appear. To AW's

          6  credit, they had a desire to reform their training

          7  program and hired accordingly. To AW's credit, they

          8  had a desire to reform their training program and

          9  hired accordingly. However, there was no effort to

         10  maintain and support that or work with the training

         11  group.

         12                 General Program: Clients' Time

         13  Wasted.

         14                 Clients of the program were made to

         15  stay in the AW office despite there being nothing

         16  that the program was doing to engage people. There

         17  were not enough computers to be used (more on this

         18  below and there were never enough sales reps (people

         19  who directed clients to jobs) to talk to.

         20                 AW would just insist that people

         21  remain in the classroom all day - distracting the

         22  newer clients in the job readiness portion of the

         23  program - waiting to see a sales person and get a

         24  sheet marked...for nothing. It was incredibly

         25  frustrating for them and counterproductive to the
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          2  goals of the program for some. Some participants

          3  would say, "I want to go out there and get my own

          4  job. You're not gonna' get me a job, and I can't get

          5  one if I'm sitting here all day in this classroom."

          6                 Education & Training: Discouraged

          7                 Education and training was definitely

          8  discouraged. Truthfully, none of the AW staff even

          9  knows about the process of the voucher system. It

         10  was completely discouraged. Lots of staff people

         11  have the attitude that people are just trying to buy

         12  time by getting into these programs. AW makes it

         13  impossible to get a voucher.

         14                 Job Placement: Bad Jobs First

         15                 The jobs that were offered to people

         16  were always the same garbage jobs. None of the sales

         17  people (job developers) were going out of their way

         18  to find things that were interesting, different, or

         19  relatively challenging for participants.

         20                 The only jobs people were being

         21  offered were home health aide, security, cashier,

         22  and low-end retail (au bon pain, etc). There were

         23  lots of short-term and temporary positions - for

         24  example, construction jobs that were going to end -

         25  but that wasn't a concern to America Works. There
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          2  are people who will get sent to a job and will stay

          3  in it, but that's few and far between. What about

          4  all the people who AW could help but doesn't? The

          5  people who do not fit into any of the jobs available

          6  at AW, but who AW doesn't seem to care about.

          7                 Office Environment: Professional

          8  Facade

          9                 America Works externally boasted

         10  about the environment that they provided for

         11  participants. On the one hand, it was a professional

         12  space - net, clean, etc. However, this was little

         13  more than a surface factor. Take for instance the

         14  technology. AW would publicly talk about the great

         15  access to technology that their participants had on

         16  site. In reality, there were only 5 computers for

         17  40-50 people that would show up every two weeks, and

         18  most of them often did not even work. There were

         19  never enough computers for people to use and yet

         20  they were forced to stick around all day and remain

         21  a countable body for the program.

         22                 These people at AW make a lot of

         23  money - we should have had updated technology.

         24  Instead, we had insufficient technological

         25  resources: one printer, one fax, and often
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          2  non-functioning computers for clients. At some of

          3  the other non-Manhattan sites it was even worse.

          4                 Management Style: Elicits High Staff

          5  Turnover.

          6                 Lee and Peter, the co-founders and

          7  directors, would never come into the classroom.

          8  There was never any interaction between them and the

          9  clients. This is a serious problem. They did not

         10  know the problems that their approach had in its

         11  implementation, and they did not care.

         12                 Staff and clients alike were treated

         13  poorly by Lee - she never spoke and never smiled at

         14  anyone. This is why turnover was so incredibly high,

         15  and client services ended up suffering as a result.

         16                 To America Work's credit, they were

         17  willing to pay high salaries to obtain qualified

         18  staff people. Unfortunately, though, the work

         19  environment was not one wherein they would be able

         20  to retain such individuals. One of the problems they

         21  had with staff was that they would hire people and

         22  then do nothing to train them or support them.

         23                 Systemic Problems.

         24                 In so many groups of clients that

         25  were referred to AW, the difference between the
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          2  skill sets were so drastic that it makes it almost

          3  impossible to get anything done unless you are going

          4  to work individually with people. And, yet, the

          5  welfare employment services system is not designed

          6  to work with people individually.

          7                 Literally, you would have people that

          8  could barely speak - were literally incoherent - in

          9  the same classroom with people that were

         10  professionals (writers, Executive Assistants, etc.)

         11  That just lost their jobs.

         12                 There was such a disparity of skills;

         13  it was hard to accomplish anything.

         14                 Another problem is the mandated

         15  length of the program. What do sites have to keep

         16  people around all day when they are doing nothing?

         17  It is impossible to keep people focused with no

         18  resources and no technology from 9AM to 5PM.

         19                 There are so few people who will

         20  benefit long-term from the type of program that

         21  exists currently. The system fosters absolute

         22  complacency among staff.

         23                 Recommendations.

         24                 1. America Works should NOT get the

         25  HRA Works contract. Their approach to clients and
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          2  the program is unethical - clients are not getting

          3  the services they need and deserve - and clients

          4  suffer as a result.

          5                 2. An outside vendor should be paid

          6  to monitor these contracts. If America Works isn't

          7  truly following the contract guidelines and serving

          8  clients the way they are supposed to, it's likely

          9  that other vendors are skimping as well.

         10                 3. HRA should better assess people

         11  before they refer them to the various ESP sites.

         12  People sent to places focused on work must truly be

         13  "work ready," people in need of more services and

         14  support should be sent to places - not like America

         15  Works - that actually prioritize providing those

         16  supports. There needs to be a different system of

         17  filtering people. Or, if HRA does not assess people

         18  the various sites need to do a better job of doing

         19  so and then have options of where to refer people

         20  with different needs.

         21                 4. Clients should only need to be

         22  kept at their sites for as long as there are useful

         23  things for them to do. Just mandating that bodies

         24  remain in a room fails to help anyone.

         25                 5. People need to have access to
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          2  learn a skill; people need a trade (e.g.

          3  electrician). The vast majority of clients need a

          4  skill and training. The system should focus on this.

          5                 If ever HRA said that AW was "the

          6  best", we were only "the best of the worst"...and

          7  that just shouldn't be good enough!

          8                 To contact this individual with

          9  further questions you can do so through Sondra

         10  Youdelman of Community Voices Heard (212) 860-6001 x

         11  108.

         12

         13

         14  Written Testimony Of:

         15  Anonymous Former America Works (AW) Employee

         16

         17  To: City Council Welfare Committee Members

         18  From: Former America Works (AW) Employee*

         19  Re.: Poor Jogs for Poor People:

         20  Critiques of the Employment Services & Placement

         21  (ESP) Program

         22  Date: 23 March 2006.

         23

         24                 America Works is currently one of New

         25  York City's Human Resources Administration's (HRA)
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          2  Employment Services and Placement (ESP) program

          3  contractors. America Works has also submitted a

          4  proposal for consideration for the new HRA Works

          5  employment services program.

          6                 America Works is basically a temp

          7  service for poor people. The jobs available at

          8  America Works may be permanent placements, but

          9  because of the low pay and lack of skill

         10  development, jobs obtained through America Works is

         11  a temporary solution.

         12                 The majority of candidates are placed

         13  at jobs well below what anyone would consider

         14  approaching a family wage. Once a candidate is

         15  placed, there is little to no attempt to work with

         16  the individual to determine what steps are necessary

         17  to move into a higher paying position.

         18                 As a former employee of America Works

         19  who left due to my inability to continue to support

         20  what I deemed unethical practices, I feel it is my

         21  duty to speak out prior to the establishment of the

         22  new contracts.

         23                 It is possible that some of the

         24  mismanagement and poor service is not unique to

         25  America Works, and may be inherent to the current
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          2  system in general, but I can only speak from my own

          3  personal observations at America Works. That said,

          4  it is important that similar things be explored at

          5  all the employment services sites and within all the

          6  HRA Works contracts.

          7                 Critique of the America Works

          8  Approach.

          9                 In America Works' literature there is

         10  talk about the AW philosophy - that the best thing

         11  for people is to get them a job. Unfortunately, this

         12  philosophy reads much better than it operates.

         13                 Most of the clients coming in to

         14  America Works have significant or multiple barriers

         15  to employment.

         16                 The owners of America Works like to

         17  say that the old social services approach was,

         18  "Let's tackle the barriers before someone's ready

         19  to get back into a job."

         20                 The America Works approach is, "Get

         21  them into a job first and we'll help them with their

         22  barriers later."

         23                 However, there is no'later'. Once the

         24  candidate is placed in a job, we just hope they keep

         25  their job long enough to reach our retention
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          2  milestone. I can't think of one instance where after

          3  placing a candidate into a job, we helped them deal

          4  with a drug issue or housing problem.

          5                 We're after the quick fix. Churn

          6  bodies. There is no attention to an individual's

          7  specific needs. America Works profits by getting a

          8  person a job, so all other services are deemphasized

          9  or nonexistent. We provide poor jobs for poor

         10  people.

         11                 - The program is a "one size fits

         12  all" approach that only adequately serves people of

         13  one particular profile.

         14                 America Works' approach is good for

         15  individuals that want a job, do not care what kind

         16  of a job it is, and want it NOW.

         17                 America Works always says they have

         18  more jobs than people. Sales guys (job developers)

         19  develop databases of employers and for the most part

         20  the jobs available are entry-level, security, or

         21  food service positions.

         22                 If a qualified candidate walks into

         23  America Works and is looking for something above an

         24  entry-level position, there are very little, if any,

         25  opportunities available.
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          2                 The biggest part of the organization

          3  is building relationships with employers, to get

          4  positions, so we can go into the room with clients,

          5  pitch positions, and send them off to interviews.

          6                 The participant is never going to

          7  learn anything, but they will have an opportunity to

          8  interview for a job paying anywhere from $6/hour to

          9  $11/hour. If that is all that the ESP is supposed to

         10  be, then America Works does an okay job at that.

         11  Anything beyond that, they do not do a thing.

         12  America Works is okay at putting people into

         13  low-paying positions, but not good at meeting

         14  people's needs and/or particular career interests.

         15  People with additional needs or more nuanced

         16  interests are thought of as undesirable by

         17  management and don't fit our model.

         18                 - America Works fails to provide any

         19  services to individuals in need of them. The only

         20  service America Works provides is the opportunity to

         21  interview for a job.

         22                 We do have jobs, but it does not mean

         23  that: (a) it is the kind of job you would be

         24  interested in, or (b) that it is a livable wage. If

         25  you fall into a category where you are completely
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          2  unemployable, we will still try to get you into a

          3  job.

          4                 America Works has no idea how to

          5  handle an individual who wants additional training

          6  or has a definite idea of a preferred field. Of the

          7  forty people that report on one day, three can be

          8  sent out immediately, or within tow days. The entire

          9  push in the classroom is on really minimal

         10  soft-skills - there is no curriculum.

         11                 - America Works focuses on processing

         12  people, not serving individuals. Bodies represent

         13  revenue and only people that are seen as potential

         14  quick placements are treated well.

         15                 If you do exactly what America Works

         16  says, you're treated well. If, however, you have an

         17  interest or a desire that varies from the

         18  methodology, you will not be tolerated at all.

         19                 There is a very narrow view of things

         20  that focuses on numbers. The more people that are

         21  processed, the more likely placements can be made;

         22  the more placements, the more revenue. Workers are

         23  discouraged from spending time with individuals

         24  figuring out their particular needs or interests. It

         25  is not about good jobs or career paths but simply
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          2  about churning bodies and generating company

          3  revenue.

          4                 - Corporate Representatives do not do

          5  what America Works claims they do. Focusing on

          6  retention, Corporate Reps are supposed to call

          7  participants once they are placed in jobs and check

          8  on retention.

          9                 They are supposed to physically go

         10  and visit the participant at the worksite once a

         11  week to get a visual feel of how they are doing,

         12  speak to their employer, and make sure everything is

         13  okay.

         14                 However, they probably do not even do

         15  this 10% of the time - caseloads are are too big;

         16  probably around 100 per Representative.

         17                 - America Works' assessment process

         18  is inadequate and not utilized. All Employment

         19  Services and Placement (ESP) Program providers have

         20  to give clients a TABE Test as part of an initial

         21  assessment.

         22                 Two key problems emerge with the TABE

         23  Tests at America Works. First, the tests that are

         24  being issued to participants have been marked up

         25  1000 times. All the answers are already circled.
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          2  Clients are just supposed to reuse them and marked

          3  the answers on a different piece of paper.

          4                 Additionally, America Works never

          5  does anything with the TABE test results.

          6  Administering the tests was just one of those things

          7  we had to do to be compliant - we did the minimal

          8  necessary to comply with the contract.

          9                 - America Works fails to adequately

         10  train its employees and, in turn, suffers from

         11  extremely high staff turnover.

         12                 There is neither training nor

         13  structure at America Works. The thought is simply

         14  that if you compensate staff whenever a client

         15  reaches a retention milestone, staff will learn on

         16  the job. However, despite the fact that people are

         17  compensated well, they leave. Lots of staff people

         18  quit without giving notice. The environment is

         19  terrible.

         20                 - Contracts and proposals that

         21  America Works submits are misrepresented.

         22                 Misrepresentation includes everything

         23  from data to curriculum to linkages. In terms of

         24  data, numbers are tweaked so that they spin the

         25  project positively but rarely represent the actual
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          2  reality of placement and retention.

          3                 The classroom curriculum included in

          4  the contract has nothing to do with any teaching we

          5  do in our classroom.

          6                 Social service organization linkages

          7  we list in our proposals - not one of them represent

          8  a true relationship of organizations that America

          9  Works refers clients to.

         10                 The entire staff was pressured to get

         11  letters of support. America Works has been around

         12  for many years and no organization in NY had heard

         13  of us. We'd get letters of support from

         14  organizations that had no idea who we were or what

         15  we do.

         16                 There is a great disconnect between

         17  what we say we provide for participants, and what we

         18  really provide.

         19                 Overall Problems with the ESP System.

         20                 - The Human Resources Administration

         21  fails to do adequate oversight of the Employment

         22  Services and placement (ESP) vendors.

         23                 What type of oversight is there? It's

         24  not as if HRA comes and walks around AW and asks to

         25  see the assessments, or see this or that. The only
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          2  real assessment is the data filled out by

          3  participants submitted monthly. Maybe once or twice

          4  a year you are called in by HRA to review your

          5  numbers. By that point, it is far too late. They are

          6  just looking at numbers. They might look at a few

          7  participant caseloads and recommend that you do more

          8  of this or that, but that is it.

          9                 - The ESP System supports the same

         10  vendors continuing to do ineffective work and

         11  thwarts innovation.

         12                 If a group of smart people decided to

         13  be innovative and put together a new type of

         14  program, it would be almost impossible to get it

         15  funded.

         16                 You have the same people doing the

         17  same thing and all bad mouthing each other on how

         18  they do things.

         19                 The only choice available for anyone

         20  who has any new thoughts or a genuine interest in

         21  the population is to work at one of the ESPs, and at

         22  America Works there was no interest in innovation or

         23  on providing better services.

         24                 There was no thought on how do we

         25  internally improve performance. As long as our
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          2  reported numbers were comparable to the ESPs then

          3  that was good enough.

          4                 - The current payment milestone

          5  structure does not  support service provision. The

          6  truth is, if you tried to genuinely help the

          7  population with the money that is available right

          8  now, you probably would not make a profit. Because

          9  if you tried to provide services before sending

         10  people out to jobs, you probably would not make

         11  money. The first third of your payment needs to last

         12  you until placement - there is still the pressure to

         13  place them in a job to keep your business afloat.

         14                 Suggestions for Program Improvement

         15                 - Outside consultants should be hired

         16  to assist Employment Services and Placement (ESP)

         17  Providers with revamping their program structure.

         18                 ESPs, or at least America Works, need

         19  oversight. HRA should have an outside group go in

         20  and do some kind of evaluation and reporting. These

         21  are city and state dollars.

         22                 They could share methods to do things

         23  properly, systems needed, etc. This would also force

         24  providers to be more accountable to someone. The bar

         25  is currently so low that you can be a really poor
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          2  performer but still be the apple of HRA's eye -

          3  there needs to be an incentive to continually

          4  improve ESP services and process to better provide

          5  opportunities to candidates.

          6                 - Clients of the system should have

          7  the right to choose a provider and/or a track.

          8                 Right now clients of the system are

          9  just doing something that they have to do to comply

         10  rather than something that could actually be

         11  beneficial to them.

         12                 If people actually had input and felt

         13  that they could chose (sic) a provider or a track

         14  that might be beneficial. This could empower people

         15  to take ownership of their own situation. They

         16  could, for example, choose a job track, a training

         17  track, a service track, etc. It would also be

         18  interesting if clients could chose (sic) which ESP

         19  to go to based on different specialties. There could

         20  be different options for different people - either

         21  within a site or between sites.

         22

         23

         24  Written Testimony Of:

         25  Shatasia Morris
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          2  ITSOC-YTEP Participant

          3

          4

          5  Preliminary Budget Hearing

          6  Public Testimony

          7  March 23, 2006

          8

          9

         10                 My name is Shatasia Morris; I am 21

         11  years of age. I have been in the foster care system

         12  just about all my life. I have experience many

         13  challenge while in foster care. My biggest challenge

         14  was learning how to advocate for myself.

         15                 Many of the social workers are

         16  inexperienced as to what they are supposed to do

         17  before a young adult ages out of the system. I have

         18  written several letters to Heart share Human

         19  Services and Commissioner John Mattingly regarding

         20  housing for myself and my unborn child at the time.

         21  I personally felt that the system should be better

         22  organized when it comes to young adults aging out.

         23  There should be adequate and secure housing,

         24  assistance with public assistance and medical

         25  benefits. As it go closer to my discharge day, I had
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          2  four different social workers. Each one didn't know

          3  exactly how to help me have a successful discharge.

          4  Also ACS (Administration for Children Services) had

          5  no knowledge of how they could help me until it was

          6  one month before my discharge date. I had to fill

          7  out yet another housing application I had already

          8  filled out applications, about three times before.

          9                 On December 22, 2005, I was

         10  discharged from foster care to homelessness. It is a

         11  sad statement to say but I felt the shelter system

         12  would better assist me with my housing. While being

         13  in foster, I have experienced discrimination,

         14  frustration and hopelessness. I was discriminated

         15  against while I was pregnant in the system. I wasn't

         16  able to stay in the SILP (supervised independent

         17  living program) apartment that I lived in for three

         18  years because the agency felt it was inappropriate

         19  for a pregnant person to live in the apartment. I

         20  felt it was gender discrimination. If it was a guy

         21  in the foster care system that impregnated me, he

         22  would not have been asked to leave the SILP

         23  apartment.

         24                 The SILP apartment is a program

         25  designed to encourage and help young adults prepare
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          2  for their discharge from the foster care system.

          3                 It is an eighteen month program but

          4  young adults such as myself are likely to stay

          5  longer because we are still awaiting adequate and

          6  secure housing.

          7                 While living in the SILP apartment,

          8  you must be in school and working, saving money

          9  while you're there. The program teaches independence

         10  and responsibility so when you leave foster care,

         11  you already know what living on your own is like.

         12                 Unfortunately, after eighteen months

         13  there is no place for anyone to go to live on their

         14  own.

         15                 Therefore an extension is given until

         16  you break a rule or become pregnant and then placed

         17  back into a foster boarding home. I personally think

         18  that the system should provide a support group or

         19  organization such as In the Spirit of the Children

         20  for young adults that are aging out or have already

         21  had aged out.

         22                 I'm currently living in a shelter

         23  located in the Bronx with my one month old son. It

         24  is not easy but I try to make the best of it and

         25  keep my head held high. I hope and pray everyday
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          2  that my situation will only get better and I try to

          3  remember that the battle is not mine, but it is

          4  Lord's.

          5

          6

          7  Written Testimony Of:

          8  Caitlyn Brazill

          9  Senior Policy Analyst for Child Welfare

         10  Federation of Protestant Welfare Agencies

         11

         12                 My name is Caitlyn Brazill and I am

         13  the Senior Policy Analyst for Child Welfare at the

         14  Federation of Protestant Welfare Agencies.

         15                 On behalf of our alliance of more

         16  than 300 human service agencies and churches, I

         17  appreciate the opportunity to testify before you

         18  today. FPWA's diverse membership includes child care

         19  centers, after-school programs, adoption and foster

         20  care agencies, family support programs, mental

         21  health clinics, Y's and settlement houses - together

         22  serving over 2 million New Yorkers every year.

         23                 Today I will discuss FPWA's budget

         24  priorities in the areas of child care, child welfare

         25  and income security - each critical to nurturing New
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          2  York City's most valuable asset - its children.

          3                 First, though, I would like to thank

          4  the City Council and Speaker Quinn for their

          5  continued leadership on efforts to eliminate the

          6  yearly budget dance that diverts Council attention

          7  to restoring cut programs, rather than working

          8  proactively with the Administration to shape a

          9  common agenda. We believe that human service

         10  programs should be baselined for out-years to

         11  facilitate rational program planning and

         12  development.

         13                 Child Care.

         14                 In recent years, a host of research

         15  on brain development has confirmed what educators

         16  have believed from experience and instinct: that

         17  children begin to learn from birth and a solid

         18  educational foundation is crucial to stimulate their

         19  development.

         20                 The High/Scope Perry Preschool study,

         21  conducted over four decades, found that children who

         22  receive a quality early care and education program

         23  have higher cognitive test scores, enhanced language

         24  development and greater likelihood for academic

         25  achievement at each step on the educational ladder.
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          2                 Overall, the study documented a

          3  return to society of more than $17 in savings on

          4  remediation, welfare payments, law enforcement and

          5  unemployment benefits for every one tax dollar

          6  invested in early care and education. New York City

          7  has a choice: either to provide quality early care

          8  and educational opportunities for children when they

          9  are young or spend scarce resources on remedial

         10  services when they get older.

         11                 To that end, I would like to

         12  highlight two major components of the Mayor's budget

         13  related to child care: child care slots and the

         14  campaign for fiscal equity.

         15                 1) Child Care Slots.

         16                 For the past two years, the New York

         17  City Council has allocated $10 million to pay for

         18  the expansion of subsidized child care slots. In

         19  Fiscal Year 2004-05, community-based programs worked

         20  quickly to add child care slots, primarily through

         21  the expansion of family child care. It is critical

         22  that this money be made available in future years to

         23  ensure that community-based programs and family

         24  child care providers are able to provide quality

         25  services to children and low-income working
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          2  families. We urge the New York City Council to

          3  restore $10 million for subsidized child care slots

          4  for low-income families.

          5                 2) Support Mayor Bloomberg's plan to

          6  utilize Campaign for Fiscal Equity (CFE) funds to

          7  expand quality early care and education services in

          8  New York City.

          9                 We support the Mayor's plan to

         10  increase the City's investment in Pre-K and child

         11  care services for children age birth to four and the

         12  plan to integrate all early care and education

         13  services. The Mayor estimates that the funds due to

         14  New York City from the Campaign for Fiscal Equity

         15  (CFE) lawsuit will allow the city to double the

         16  number of Pre Kindergarten and child care slots over

         17  the next four years.

         18                 New York City is uniquely positioned

         19  to lead a successful school reform effort, based on

         20  its history of providing quality early care and

         21  education services to children through its publicly

         22  funded child care system and the Universal

         23  Pre-Kindergarten program FPWA is hopeful that the

         24  Mayor's efforts to secure CFE funds will be an

         25  important step toward developing and implementing a
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          2  comprehensive early care and education system that

          3  benefits all New Yorkers.

          4                 Finally, because FPWA recognizes the

          5  importance of the child care and early education

          6  workforce, we ask the city to begin negotiations

          7  with the DC 1707/Local 205 to reach a contract

          8  agreement prior to the expiration of the current

          9  contract.

         10                 Child Welfare.

         11                 Next, I would like to discuss child

         12  maltreatment prevention.

         13                 1) Prevention Funding

         14                 Recent tragedies have directed

         15  attention to the importance of investing in child

         16  maltreatment prevention, and reminded us all of what

         17  can happen if these services are under-funded. FPWA

         18  supports the Mayor's plan to bolster the child

         19  protective workforce in the wake of these tragedies,

         20  including the creation of an ombudsman office and

         21  increased spending for child protective managers and

         22  trainings.

         23                 As the door to the system, CPS

         24  workers must be competent, trained and supported

         25  while conducting complex and challenging
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          2  investigations.

          3                 Further, we support increased

          4  spending outlined in the Mayor's Financial Plan for

          5  fiscal Year 2007 for Family Court attorneys and the

          6  Youth Placement Initiative, which helps adolescents

          7  find families and give them the skills they will

          8  need as adults.

          9                 But we must remember that after

         10  families enter the door to the child protective

         11  system, they are in the hands of the voluntary

         12  agencies, either through preventive or foster care

         13  services. Preventive service workers are the State's

         14  first line of defense, promoting and supporting

         15  family stability, but ready to intervene if

         16  warranted. However, the City's ability to reach and

         17  stabilize families will remain dangerously limited

         18  unless we increase and improve neighborhood-based

         19  services system-wide.

         20                 We urge the General Welfare Committee

         21  to work with ACS to reform the model budget,

         22  significantly increase spending for preventive

         23  services and allow for greater flexibility to ensure

         24  that directors can create programs to serve the

         25  unique needs of their communities.
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          2                 Model budget reform should include

          3  additional funding for more masters-level staff and

          4  reduced caseloads. The Council on Accreditation and

          5  New York City service providers both agree that the

          6  average caseload for preventive workers should be

          7  twelve families, with the flexibility to adjust

          8  downward to accommodate complex cases, which will

          9  require an investment of at least $4.2 million.

         10                 Further, the current emphasis on

         11  Bachelors-level staff does not recognize the

         12  complexity and assessment needs of a preventive

         13  caseload with increasing rates of high-risk cases.

         14  Allowing agencies to hire additional

         15  highly-qualified social workers and reducing

         16  caseload size will dramatically improve the quality

         17  of care system-wide.

         18                 Model budget reform should also

         19  include funding for in-house credentialed and

         20  trained mental health professionals, rather than

         21  forcing parents suffering from mental illness or

         22  substance abuse problems to be referred to unknown

         23  clinics which may have lengthy waiting lists and

         24  less expertise in family-focused care.

         25                 Additional resources could also be
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          2  used for group work, which can provide vital support

          3  to fragile families, but require considerable

          4  planning and participation time for caseworkers with

          5  15 or mor cases. Preventive contracts also need

          6  greater resources for service-related technology

          7  costs and data entry requirements.

          8                 FPWA also supports continued

          9  reinvestment in aftercare services. Many families

         10  achieve a level of stabilization with preventive

         11  services so their case can be closed but continue to

         12  need support. Expanded after care services would

         13  allow preventive agencies to continue to keep

         14  families engaged, and offer the opportunity for

         15  extended observation and informal "check-ins" with

         16  children and parents, allowing them to access

         17  preventive services before a crisis escalates.

         18                 Finally, we urge the City Council to

         19  add $9 million in funding for enhanced preventive

         20  services in high need communities, and urge the

         21  Mayor to baseline the funds for future years. This

         22  funding was redirected in the wake of the recent

         23  tragedies, and allows agencies to innovate and

         24  improve service quality.

         25                 Unfortunately, the one-shot nature of
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          2  the funds obligates contract agencies to design

          3  program enhancement now that can end June 30. This

          4  is an example of why the Council's leadership on

          5  baselining is so crucial, and why we again applaud

          6  your efforts to end this yearly budget dance.

          7                 2) Legal Services for parents.

          8                 FPWA is also especially concerned

          9  about the legal rights of parents in the child

         10  welfare system. We urge the City Council to restore

         11  the $500,000 spent on the Legal Services New York

         12  "Keeping Families Together" project in Fiscal Year

         13  2006, and increase funding by $100,000 to total

         14  $600,000 in Fiscal Year 2007.

         15                 This program provides court

         16  representation to parents during child welfare

         17  proceedings, as well as enhanced services, including

         18  advocacy, motions and briefs.

         19                 "Keeping Families Together" saves the

         20  City money by avoiding or shortening costly foster

         21  care and group home placements, avoiding adoption

         22  subsidies, and decreasing the likelihood of juvenile

         23  justice system involvement.

         24                 By securing services for families,

         25  the program stabilizes families and prevents out of
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          2  home placements, averting annual foster care costs

          3  of $15,000 per child and group home costs of $54,000

          4  per child.

          5                 Further, we hope that the City

          6  Council will work with the Mayor and the State to

          7  develop a broader system of institutionalized legal

          8  services for parents with supports like social

          9  workers and paralegals to ensure that parents voices

         10  are heard in Family Court.

         11                 Income Security.

         12                 Again this year, Governor George

         13  Pataki's 2006-2007 Executive Budget proposal

         14  includes two cuts that target people receiving

         15  public assistance. In addition, the Governor has

         16  proposed continuing the Flexible Fund for Family

         17  Services, block granting $1,025 billion in Temporary

         18  Assistance for Needy Families (TANF) funding to New

         19  York State counties instead of allocating specific

         20  dollar amounts to individual programs. All of these

         21  proposals will have a detrimental impact on New York

         22  City and should be opposed by the New York City

         23  Council.

         24                 1) Full-Family Sanctions

         25                 This change would mean the
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          2  termination of aid to the entire family if one

          3  person is allegedly not in compliance with a work

          4  requirement. Current law already sanctions the head

          5  of household; the only objective of this change is

          6  to ensure that the children suffer as well.

          7                 Sanctions in general, and full family

          8  sanctions in particular, have the most troubling

          9  effect on children.

         10                 Researchers have found that children

         11  in sanctioned families were more likely than

         12  children with parents on public assistance to have

         13  emotional and behavioral problems in school, food

         14  insecurity at home, and were more likely to be

         15  removed from their mother's care.

         16                 Sanctioning in these cases can be

         17  particularly expensive since foster care costs can

         18  range from 30% to 150% higher than welfare benefits

         19  cut by sanctions.

         20                 According to the Children's Defense

         21  Fund, sanctioning children makes them two to five

         22  times more likely to suffer health problems such as

         23  low birth weight, iron deficiency, lead poisoning,

         24  stunted growth, or educational setbacks such as

         25  grade repetition, expulsion or dropping out of
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          2  school.

          3                 Full family sanctions

          4  disproportionately impact parents who have multiple

          5  barriers to employment, such as mental or physical

          6  health problems, little education, no transportation

          7  and or domestic violence crises.

          8                 Further, sanctions are often

          9  misapplied, causing tremendous harm to families

         10  because of technical glitches or reporting errors.

         11  Studies suggest that full family sanctions may be

         12  applied arbitrarily - meaning that families in

         13  similar situations may be treated differently

         14  depending on their case worker, their race and the

         15  location in which they live.

         16                 Finally, full family sanctions have

         17  not been found to increase work participation rates.

         18  Researchers in Illinois and Wisconsin found that

         19  individuals in sanctioned households were about half

         20  as likely to be employed as those in non-sanctioned

         21  households, that sanctions were, indeed, generally

         22  associated with lower levels of work and lower

         23  levels of earnings.

         24                 2) Reducing the Earned Income

         25  Disregard
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          2                 Under current law and in the proposed

          3  amendment, employed adult recipients have the first

          4  $90 of monthly earnings disregarded in determining

          5  their grant. The proposal would then provide that,

          6  in households with dependent children, a cap of 50%

          7  of the remaining monthly income be disregarded.

          8  After a family has received public assistance for a

          9  total of five years (since 1997), the disregard

         10  would be reduced to 25%.

         11                 The disregard now is revised annually

         12  to reflect changes in the welfare grant and

         13  inflation. At present, 43% of earned income is

         14  disregarded, for as long as the person has earnings

         15  and remains eligible for public assistance. The

         16  disregard had reached 51% before the shelter grant

         17  was increased in 2003.

         18                 The earned income disregard provides

         19  an incentive for people on public assistance to seek

         20  employment in that it ensures that earnings will

         21  substantially increase their income.

         22                 In addition, the public assistance

         23  supplement may be the only thing that makes it

         24  possible for a welfare recipient to remain in the

         25  low-wage types of jobs she is likely to get.
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          2                 The proposed reduction in the earned

          3  income disregard eliminates the financial incentive

          4  for families to seek and maintain employment.

          5                 Instead of supporting the successes

          6  of working parents, the proposal would punish them

          7  because their wages haven't risen enough to take

          8  them completely off of welfare. A reduction in the

          9  earned income disregard will only leave working

         10  families struggling to make ends meet and increase

         11  the likelihood of having to go back on welfare.

         12                 3) Flexible Fund for Family Services

         13                 The Governor's budget proposes the

         14  creation of a $1.025 billion Flexible Fund for

         15  Family Services (FFFS) rather than allocate specific

         16  dollar amounts to individual programs. Under FFFS,

         17  the state would take the Temporary Assistance to

         18  Needy Families (TANF) block grant that it receives

         19  from the federal government, retain the funds needed

         20  for cash assistance, for the state Earned Income Tax

         21  Credit and for some state administrative costs, and

         22  send the rest in the form of a block grant to the

         23  counties. FFFS would be used to provide block grants

         24  for services including child care, child welfare,

         25  domestic violence screenings, drug screenings and
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          2  counseling, employment programs, pregnancy

          3  prevention, PINS, Title XX, transportation and youth

          4  programs.

          5                 Under the block grant, resources

          6  would not be allocated to reflect current local

          7  needs, but according to a formula linked to the

          8  prior fiscal year's funding levels.

          9                 In addition, the methodology employed

         10  by the Executive to determine the allocation of

         11  amounts for the FFFS will disadvantage urban

         12  counties, which comprise a greater proportion of

         13  people in poverty. We therefore urge the City

         14  Council to oppose the block grant.

         15                 In summary, we urge the City Council

         16  to invest in proactive solutions that save the City

         17  money in the long run - quality care, educational

         18  opportunities for all children, services that

         19  preserve families and prevent child maltreatment,

         20  and a dependable safety net to support families in

         21  need.

         22                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         23  testify.

         24

         25
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          2  Written Testimony Of:

          3  Roopal Patel

          4  Child Care Policy Analyst

          5  United Neighborhood Houses of New York

          6

          7                 Good afternoon, my name is Roopal

          8  Patel and I am the Child Care Policy Analyst at

          9  United Neighborhood Houses of New York. UNH is the

         10  federation of 35 settlement houses and community

         11  centers that benefits half a million New Yorkers -

         12  from infants to adults to seniors - with educational

         13  programs, job readiness assistance, child care,

         14  after school programs, ESOL classes, tutoring,

         15  recreation, supportive services for the elderly,

         16  mental health counseling, drug prevention, and art,

         17  music, and drama programs at more than 350 locations

         18  throughout New York City.

         19                 Founded in 1919 to bridge the common

         20  interests and concerns of New York's settlement

         21  houses and the communities they serve, UNH and its

         22  member agencies today comprise one of the City's

         23  largest human service systems. It is because of this

         24  historic and continued commitment to our communities

         25  that we appear before you today to speak on the
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          2  fiscal year 2006 preliminary budget.

          3                 The Administration for Children's

          4  Services (ACS) supports a wide range services that

          5  "ensure the safety and well-being of all children

          6  of New York." The Mayor's Preliminary Budget for FY

          7  2007 reveals $79 million at risk in federal, state

          8  and city funding for the citywide day care budget.

          9  Believing that the Mayor is committed to a strong

         10  child care system, we urge the Administration to

         11  prevent this fiscal forecast from devastating our

         12  child care services.

         13                 As we look ahead we know that there

         14  are many challenges facing child care services in

         15  New York City:

         16                 - Increased Workforce Participation

         17  Rates for TANF recipients.

         18                 - State child care allocations.

         19                 - Loss of School Age Child Care

         20  funding.

         21                 - Restoration of child care funding.

         22                 - Payment of family Child Care

         23  Administrative Fee.

         24                 - Increased funding for Family Child

         25  Care networks.

                                                            447

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES COMMITTEES

          2                 - ACS child care reforms and growing

          3  new needs.

          4                 Increased Federal Temporary

          5  Assistance to Needy Families (TANF) Workforce

          6  Participation Requirements.

          7                 Increased federal workforce

          8  participation rates for TANF recipients will require

          9  additional child care in New York City. The

         10  Congressional budget reconciliation Bill, passed in

         11  January, will result in an overall $3 million dollar

         12  cut in the federal Child Care Development Block

         13  Grant this year.

         14                 TANF reauthorization places new work

         15  requirements on TANF recipient families while also

         16  cutting cash assistance for working families by $200

         17  million. This legislation requires states to engage

         18  50% of their caseloads in work activities, which in

         19  New York State would require an addition 10,400

         20  families to participate, many of whom will be in New

         21  York City.

         22                 Funding for child care is so

         23  inadequate that by the Year 2010, 255,000 fewer

         24  children in working families will get child care

         25  help than in 2004 in New York State. Even now,
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          2  according to Administration for Children's Services,

          3  funds are so short that New York City currently

          4  serves approximately only 89,000 of the 275,000

          5  potentially eligible children from low-income

          6  families, approximately thirty percent.

          7                 Employed mothers spend approximately

          8  $400-$500 a month for child care. For two-thirds of

          9  poor working families headed by single mothers,

         10  child care consumes at least 40% of their income.

         11  But the federal bill gives New York only $99.23 per

         12  month per family, while at the same time drastically

         13  increasing the proportion of parents who must

         14  participate in TANF work activities.

         15                 As every major study shoes, child

         16  care assistance helps low-income parents work. Women

         17  leaving welfare often enter low-wage jobs where they

         18  earn so little that they cannot possibly cover the

         19  cost of child care.

         20                 Single mothers who receive child care

         21  assistance are 40 percent more likely to remain

         22  employed after two years than those who do not

         23  receive help in paying for child care.

         24                 Former welfare recipients with young

         25  children are 82 percent more likely to be employed
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          2  after two years if they receive help with child care

          3  expenses. Many women in low-wage jobs that offer

          4  little flexibility are forced to quit their jobs and

          5  return to welfare when faced with a lack of

          6  affordable child care.

          7                 Child care funding has been virtually

          8  frozen for the past three years. The Bush

          9  administration has not only failed to provide relief

         10  for these hard-working parents but also has proposed

         11  a welfare plan that would dramatically increase work

         12  requirements for other low-income families with no

         13  increases in child care funding for the next five

         14  years.

         15                 In addition to helping working

         16  families transition off of welfare, child care

         17  assistance helps families afford higher quality care

         18  that promotes healthy child development.

         19                 Children in high quality care

         20  demonstrate greater mathematic ability, greater

         21  thinking and attention skills, and fewer behavioral

         22  problems. Without child care assistance, many

         23  parents are forced to put children in the care of

         24  older pre-teen siblings, elderly grandparents, or

         25  other informal care that does not provide a
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          2  structured education to New York City's youngest

          3  children.

          4                 Flexible Fund for Family Services:

          5                 Governor Pataki's proposed SFY 06-07

          6  Executive Budget once again includes a Flexible Fund

          7  For Family Services (FFFS) TANF funded block grant.

          8  The FFFS is funded at $1.025 billion, $25 million

          9  more than last year, for counties to spend on TANF

         10  allowable expenses. As currently proposed, those

         11  programs can include the TANF funded portion of

         12  child care and child welfare.

         13                 While budget negotiations continue,

         14  we are hopeful that the Assembly and Senate will

         15  decide to line out child care funding so that it is

         16  not competing with other human services for the

         17  limited funds available in a block grant. If the

         18  funds were to remain in the FFFS this is likely to

         19  disrupt the amount of child care that New York City

         20  is able to provide.

         21                 The Transfer of School Age Child Care

         22  to Out of School Time:

         23                 The transfer of School Age Child Care

         24  from ACS to Department of Youth and Child

         25  Development (DYCD) for Out of School Time (OST) is
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          2  entering its Year II expansion phase. This will mean

          3  a complete transfer of funds and the closing of all

          4  SACC programs in ACS. UNH remains concerned that the

          5  elimination of these funds will destabilize the ACS

          6  child care system. Last year, $15 million was added

          7  to ACS to maintain current services. We need to

          8  carefully monitor this funding loss to assess how it

          9  will affect current child care services.

         10                 Restoration of Child Care Funding.

         11                 - Family Child Care Expansion

         12  Funding.

         13                 We commend the City Council's

         14  commitment to provide $10 million to expand Family

         15  Child Care slots. However, without the Mayor

         16  baselining these funds, we risk losing the money

         17  every year. We urge the Administration to baseline

         18  these funds.

         19                 We know ACS remains committed to

         20  Family Child Care and urge that the $10 million is

         21  baselined in the Executive Budget.

         22                 - Child Care Slots.

         23                 We ask the City Council to once again

         24  restore $9 million in funding for approximately

         25  2,500 existing child care slots. Of this funding,
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          2  $4.5 million would be for Non-ACS Social Service

          3  Referral category and $4.5 million would be for the

          4  Employed or Special Needs category.

          5                 We urge that $9 million is baselined

          6  in the Executive Budget for Social Service Referral

          7  category and the Employed or Special Needs category.

          8                 Family Child Care.

          9                 Family Child Care providers care for

         10  New York City's youngest children, and work to

         11  create a stimulating and safe environment for the

         12  children in their care. Family Child Care Networks

         13  support the work of these providers by providing

         14  administrative and technical support that enhances

         15  the quality of child care services.

         16                 - Administrative Fee.

         17                 ACS contracted family child care

         18  networks receive a per child/per week fee of $17.06

         19  to fund their technical and programmatic assistance.

         20  In the past, approximately half of that fee was paid

         21  for by the city and half was paid directly by

         22  providers. The city is no longer paying half the

         23  fee, placing the full burden of the administrative

         24  fee on providers. Removing $17.06 per child per week

         25  from the providers' wages places an undue burden on
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          2  already underpaid family child care providers.

          3                 UNH hopes that New York City will

          4  recognize the value of supporting networks and

          5  family child care providers by fully funding the

          6  network administrative fee.

          7                 UNH urges that the City pay $10.8

          8  million to cover the administrative fee to networks

          9  for the 12,205 children in networked Family Child

         10  Care programs.

         11                 - Supporting Family Child Care

         12  Networks.

         13                 The $17.06 per child/ per week

         14  administrative fee received by networks has remained

         15  frozen since 1992, hampering networks' ability to

         16  provide the comprehensive support that providers

         17  need.

         18                 The networks provide a wide range of

         19  services that ensure high quality care to New York

         20  City's children. These services include, but are not

         21  limited to, conducting health and safety monitoring

         22  visits to ensure providers are meeting Department of

         23  Health standards, creating developmentally

         24  appropriate curriculum, assisting with licensing and

         25  re-certification forms, providing on-going

                                                            454

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES COMMITTEES

          2  trainings, recruiting and conducting intake of

          3  children and families, maintaining health records of

          4  children, assistance with translation, and payment

          5  and administrative duties. Based on the level of

          6  support that Family Child Care Networks provide we

          7  estimate that the actual cost of these services is

          8  closer to $35.00 per child/per week.

          9                 We urge the City to carefully assess

         10  the work of Family Child Care Networks and pay for

         11  an administrative fee that accurately reflects the

         12  cost of the supports that Family Child Care Networks

         13  provide.

         14                 Administration for Children's

         15  Services Rethinking Child Care Reforms.

         16                 ACS released a plan in October 2005

         17  detailing reforms for child care in New York City,

         18  Rethinking Child Care: An Integrated Plan for Early

         19  Childhood Development.

         20                 UNH's member agencies unanimously

         21  agreed that this plan was on the right track and

         22  long overdue. We applaud ACS's vision to improve,

         23  expand, and enhance quality child care for New York

         24  City's children and for addressing the long term

         25  structural needs of the child care system. We
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          2  appreciate ACS's willingness to work with providers

          3  to enhance and protect their invaluable work.

          4  However, the plan proposes a series of unfunded

          5  reforms. For example, the ACS plan:

          6                 - Places the responsibility for

          7  eligibility and enrollment in providers' hands and

          8  increases the burden of their administrative duties

          9  without compensating them.

         10                 - Suggests using former School Age

         11  Child Care classrooms space for classroom expansion

         12  for two year olds. This does not take into

         13  consideration that SACC programs often took place in

         14  gyms, not actual classrooms.

         15                 Funds will be needed for actual

         16  classrooms and where classrooms are available from

         17  SACC programs funds are needed for retooling

         18  classrooms and purchasing equipment to meet the

         19  needs of younger children.

         20                 - Strives to age down the system to

         21  serve more two and three year olds. There are not

         22  sufficient funds to both age down the system and

         23  maintain care for older children.

         24                 Merges day care and Head Start to

         25  provide more comprehensive care to all of children
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          2  and families. There are not adequate funds to

          3  provide the comprehensive services found in the Head

          4  Start model. Using the Head Start model also

          5  increases the responsibilities of providers without

          6  adequately compensating them.

          7                 - Shifts leases maintained by ACS to

          8  leases maintained by centers, leaving some agencies

          9  with the financial burden of building repair and

         10  maintenance.

         11                 Many of these new reforms are

         12  laudable and would greatly improve the quality and

         13  comprehensiveness of child care in New York City,

         14  but there is no funding identified to implement

         15  these reforms, calling into question their

         16  viability.

         17                 We thank the City Council for

         18  continuing to champion early child care programs and

         19  hope that the Council and he Mayor work together to

         20  both maintain the current integrity of the system

         21  and to adequately respond to increased child care

         22  needs.

         23

         24

         25  Written Testimony Of:
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          2  Maria Toro Fenton

          3  Director, Securing Every Child's Birthright

          4  Initiative

          5  Citizens' Committee for Children of New York, Inc.

          6

          7                 Good afternoon. My name is Maria Toro

          8  Fenton, Director of Security Every Child's

          9  Birthright Initiatives. I would like to thank

         10  Council Member deBlasio and all members of the New

         11  York City Council General Welfare Committee for this

         12  opportunity to testify on New York City's

         13  Preliminary Budget for Fiscal Year 2007.

         14                 For 61 years, Citizens' Committee for

         15  Children of New York, Inc. (CCC) has convened,

         16  informed and mobilized New Yorkers to make New York

         17  City a better place for children. CCC's approach to

         18  child advocacy is fact-based and combines the best

         19  features of public policy advocacy with a tradition

         20  of citizen activism.

         21                 The Mayor's Preliminary Budget

         22  proposal for FY07 sets aside $2 billion of the

         23  city's projected surplus to address long-term

         24  pension and benefit costs to city workers. Included

         25  in the Mayor's 2006 Financial Plan are new
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          2  initiatives for children totaling $75 million, which

          3  include a $15 million increase to fund child welfare

          4  services and additional funding for schools and the

          5  juvenile justice system.

          6                 However, the FY07 Preliminary Budget

          7  also includes over $100 million in cuts to essential

          8  children's services like: child care, child health

          9  clinics, after school programs and infant mortality

         10  initiatives. Appended to our testimony is a chart

         11  detailing these cuts.

         12                 CCC supports the City Council's

         13  commitment to work with the Mayor to find a way to

         14  include funding for core children's services in his

         15  FY '07 Executive Budget proposal and avoid ritual

         16  cuts and restorations.

         17                 Instead of depending on the City

         18  Council to negotiate the same array of vital

         19  services for children and families back into the

         20  budget year after year, the Executive Budget

         21  proposal should be based on the FY '06 Adopted

         22  Budget. Then the Council and the Mayor would be free

         23  to negotiate improvements on a solid base budget,

         24  thereby improving the quality of life for New York

         25  City children and families.
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          2                 We will continue to press the Mayor

          3  to fund important children's initiatives championed

          4  by the City Council and negotiated into the FY '06

          5  city budget. Failing that we will again have to ask

          6  the City Council to protect and restore these vital

          7  services for children and families.

          8                 The City Council must ensure that New

          9  York City gets a fair share of funding from

         10  Washington and Albany. Right now, as the Governor

         11  and the Legislature negotiates the state budget, we

         12  need you - the City Council - to urge the New York

         13  State Legislature to support the Governor's proposed

         14  addition of $62 million to provide accessible and

         15  comprehensive mental health treatment services for

         16  children.

         17                 The first step is keeping the

         18  children's mental health initiative in the FY 06-07

         19  state budget. Having done this  0 the work is

         20  ensuring that new York City gets its fair share of

         21  this funding in order to serve the estimated 115,000

         22  New York City children who have a Serious Emotional

         23  Disturbance (SED). Currently, only 8,895 of children

         24  with SED actually receive licensed mental health

         25  treatment.
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          2                 Additionally, we need the City

          3  Council (and the Mayor) to keep the pressure on and

          4  aggressively campaign in Albany for the money due

          5  our school children for a sound basic education.

          6                 Because of chronic under-funding of

          7  the education capital budget, New York City has a

          8  long way to go to provide all students with an

          9  educationally sound learning environment.

         10                 The average age of school buildings

         11  in New York City (58 years) is beyond the

         12  50-year-life cycle commonly used in facility

         13  planning.

         14                 As a result, many of the city's 1,100

         15  schools are in urgent need of renovation, repair,

         16  modernization and technology, while still others

         17  remain out of compliance with Court ordered

         18  remediation.

         19                 Additionally, construction of New

         20  York City public schools has failed to keep pace

         21  with enrollment increases. As a result, the New York

         22  City public schools suffer from severe overcrowding,

         23  with 12 of 32 school districts classified as

         24  overcrowded, and the system as a whole suffering

         25  from a shortage of 68,000 seats.
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          2                 CCC recognizes that the Governor and

          3  the Legislature have not made needed funds available

          4  to provide New York City students with access to

          5  sound learning environments as recommended by the

          6  courts and court-appointed Special Masters Panel and

          7  have continued the longstanding tradition of

          8  underfunding school facilities in the city.

          9                 Absent state financial support, the

         10  city must not place school construction projects on

         11  hold and must develop a creative funding mechanism

         12  to move these projects along quickly.

         13                 Administration for Children's

         14  Services.

         15                 The Preliminary Budget for CFY07

         16  includes $15.6 million in city funded enhancements

         17  for the Administration for Children's Services.

         18  These investments are designed to reduce risks and

         19  improve front-end performance within the child

         20  welfare system.

         21                 While the attention paid to the

         22  front-end Child Protective Services (CPS) is

         23  critical and must be continued and supported, it is

         24  also necessary for ACS to focus on child safety and

         25  risk reduction in other parts of the system.
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          2                 Safety assessment and risk reduction

          3  must be embedded in every child welfare function -

          4  protection, prevention, foster care, adoption and

          5  independent living - as children and families move

          6  through the child welfare pipeline.

          7                 Mechanisms must be built and enhanced

          8  to assess and reduce risk and maintain child safety

          9  not only during a child protective investigation,

         10  but from the time a family is deemed "at-risk" but

         11  able to retain custody of their children with

         12  services provided, as well as when a child enters

         13  foster care, situations where children remain

         14  together in foster care, or are reunited with their

         15  families and support and supervision is deemed

         16  necessary.

         17                 The work is all about - providing

         18  ongoing safety and risk assessment and risk

         19  reduction, in order to ensure that children have

         20  safe and stable families. To achieve this end,

         21  greater investments are needed in the areas of

         22  foster care and preventive services. Specifically,

         23  we urge the City Council to support the following:

         24                 Foster Care Needs:

         25                 - To reduce foster care caseloads to
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          2  1:15 (1 caseworker to 15 foster cares) - invest $10

          3  million in city funds.

          4                 - To ensure that foster care agencies

          5  are reimbursed for the actual cost of doing

          6  business- invest $5 million in city funds.

          7                 - to provide support for the more

          8  than 50 percent of children in foster care who are

          9  adolescents - invest $2.27 million in city funds.

         10                 Preventive Service Needs:

         11                 - To ensure increased staffing,

         12  improved supervision, and allow preventive providers

         13  to serve additional families - baseline $3 million

         14  in city funds.

         15                 - To reduce preventive service

         16  caseload size in accordance with national

         17  accreditation standards of 1:12 (1 casework to 12

         18  families) - invest $4.2 million in city funds.

         19                 - To support group work for families

         20  with adolescents, greater use of MSW workers, and

         21  improve clinical services capacity of preventive

         22  providers - invest $4.55 million in city funds.

         23                 - As budget negotiations proceed the

         24  City Council must ensure that:

         25                 - funding associated with 2%
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          2  productivity increases, included in ACS' budget, is

          3  spent as agencies achieve compliance with

          4  productivity goals; and

          5                 - Preventive service contracts

          6  receive the annual COLA, based on citywide

          7  agreements, as proposed by the Mayor last year.

          8                 Finally, the Preliminary Budget for

          9  CFY07 for the Administration for Children's Services

         10  includes a total reduction of $19 million in city

         11  funds for child care services: $10 million for

         12  family day care and $9 million for child care

         13  vouchers and related social service supports.

         14                 If these funds are not included in

         15  the Executive Budget, we urge the City Council to

         16  restore them. With regard to the Out-of-School Time

         17  (OST) Initiative, we ask that the Council remain

         18  vigilant in its continued efforts to track the

         19  implementation of the OST initiative. With respect

         20  to child care, a related impact of the OST

         21  initiative has been the elimination of almost 3,000

         22  center-based, school-age child care slots and

         23  associated funding from child care programs that

         24  once served school-age children in addition to

         25  children birth to five.
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          2                 An additional 14,000 slots will be

          3  removed during the second phase of implementation at

          4  the start of 2006-2007 school year. Given the

          5  already short supply of early care and education

          6  opportunities, CCC recommends that additional

          7  resources be allocated to fill classrooms left

          8  vacant by the transfer of school-age child care from

          9  ACS to DYCD to serve young children.

         10                 Department of Homeless Services.

         11                 The number of families and children

         12  in the homeless shelter system have continued to

         13  decrease from is (sic) high of 9,200 families and

         14  16,000 children in May 2003 to 7,836 families and

         15  11,888 children in February 2006.

         16                 During this time, DHS has increased

         17  its focus on homelessness prevention activities

         18  including the implementation of HomeBase, the new

         19  community based prevention strategy to help families

         20  avoid homelessness.

         21                 Moving forward, we strongly recommend

         22  that the HomeBase program be expanded to other

         23  high-risk neighborhoods in New York City.

         24                 In addition, anti-eviction legal

         25  service dollars are housed in several agencies
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          2  including DHS, HPD and HRA.

          3                 We strongly encourage the Council to

          4  restore and enhance anti-eviction legal services

          5  programs and transfer them to DHS to ensure

          6  efficiency and administrative ease.

          7                 Human Resources Administration.

          8                 The Preliminary Budget for CFY07

          9  includes a $2 million reduction to emergency food

         10  programs. We urge you to restore these funds as they

         11  supplement federal and state dollars and ensure that

         12  food pantries and soup kitchens have enough supplies

         13  to serve all clients.

         14                 We would also like to take this

         15  opportunity to express our concern with the State

         16  Executive Budget proposal to implement a full-family

         17  sanction for public assistance recipients.

         18                 Federal welfare reform was

         19  reauthorized in February 2006, which has force (sic)

         20  states to re-evaluate their welfare programs to

         21  ensure they have the ability to fulfill stringent

         22  federal requirements.

         23                 We urge the Council, the Human

         24  Resources Administration, and the Mayor to work with

         25  the State Office of Temporary and Disability
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          2  Assistance (OTDA) and the state Legislature to

          3  ensure that any changes to state law will continue

          4  to help families move from welfare to work and

          5  financial independence and ensure that children

          6  receive benefits to fulfill basic needs.

          7                 As such, we urge the Council, HRA and

          8  the Mayor to strongly oppose the New York State

          9  Executive Budget proposal to implement a full family

         10  sanction.

         11                 We continue to believe that there are

         12  other better ways to get reluctant or

         13  non-cooperative families to leave welfare for work

         14  and would encourage targeted programming to address

         15  the needs of families that are the hardest to engage

         16  in work related activities.

         17                 Instead we urge the Council and the

         18  Mayor in working with the Legislature and OTDA, to

         19  consider programming that would identify ways to

         20  help engage families in work and supportive services

         21  more efficiently as an alternative to full family

         22  sanctions.

         23                 Finally, in thinking about what all

         24  New York City children need, CCC urges you to think

         25  about ways to Secure Every Child's Birthright. Too
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          2  many children face daily conditions that challenge

          3  healthy development and a future where achievement

          4  and economic stability are out of reach.

          5                 Securing Every Child's Birthright,

          6  CCC's new communication and action campaign,

          7  includes policies and initiatives that will produce

          8  lasting structural improvements in well-being that

          9  benefit all New York City children.

         10                 Securing Every Child's Birthright

         11  promotes economic, housing and developmental

         12  security for all New York City children and

         13  challenges federal, state and local policymakers and

         14  fellow New Yorkers to think big about public

         15  amenities, public services and public benefits for

         16  children by seeking to eliminate, not just diminish,

         17  barriers to make it possible for children to grow

         18  into adulthood ready to meet the demands of society

         19  and fully engage in the 21st century economy.

         20                 The Campaign calls on federal, state

         21  and city policymakers to enact legislation, adopt

         22  budgets, develop initiatives, and implement policies

         23  that will secure every child's birthright to be

         24  healthy, housed, educated and safe, including:

         25                 DEVELOPMENTAL SECURITY
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          2                 Help All Young Children Grow Up

          3  Healthy and Strong

          4                 - Newborn Home Visits for every

          5  first-time parent, to provide early detection and

          6  developmental screenings, information on health

          7  insurance, medical care and nutrition, environmental

          8  health reviews for lead paint and window guards and

          9  linkages to community resources.

         10                 - Quality Child Care for all children

         11  age zero to five.

         12                 - Full Day Pre-Kindergarten for all

         13  four year olds and Half Day Pre-Kindergarten for all

         14  three year olds.

         15                 - Child Care Facilities Fund to

         16  finance and develop child care facilities.

         17                 ECONOMIC SECURITY

         18                 Increase the Prosperity, Assets and

         19  Capacity of All Children

         20                 - Birthright Trust Fund accounts to

         21  give every child the assets they need to participate

         22  and succeed in today's economy.

         23                 - Tax Relief for working families

         24  through an expanded Earned Income Tax Credit (EITC)

         25  and other assistance.
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          2                 - Child and Dependent Care Tax Credit

          3  (CDCC) in New York City and a refundable federal

          4  credit to help offset child care costs for working

          5  families.

          6                 HOUSING SECURITY

          7                 - Promote Housing Stability and

          8  Affordability for All Children.

          9                 - Affordable Housing Trust Funds to

         10  support the development and preservation of

         11  affordable housing.

         12                 - Responsible Housing Development and

         13  Zoning Reform that produces more low and

         14  moderate-income housing units.

         15                 - Housing Subsidies to assist

         16  low-wage earning families meet housing costs.

         17                 - Tax Relief for Renter Households to

         18  reduce the tax burden on working families.

         19                 We know that big ideas usually come

         20  with big price tags. But after an initial outlay of

         21  funds, big vision also produces big results that

         22  save money, improve quality of life and increase

         23  revenues.

         24                 Securing Every Child's Birthright is

         25  a multi-year approach that advances federal, state
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          2  and city initiatives that will put achievement and

          3  economic security at every child's fingertips. This

          4  year, we ask the City Council to consider the

          5  following Securing Every Child's Birthright

          6  initiatives.

          7                 Developmental Security

          8                 Add $11 Million in City Funds to

          9  expand the Newborn Home Visiting Program to all

         10  First Time Parents in New York City. DOHMH should

         11  expand its current Newborn Home Visiting Program

         12  that now reaches 3,000 first-time parents in three

         13  high-needs communities.

         14                 A universal home visiting program

         15  would provide every first-time parent in New York

         16  City with a home visit by a paraprofessional who

         17  will offer information on the care, nutrition and

         18  safety of the infant, respond to parents' questions,

         19  raise awareness of other community resources

         20  including economic and social services, and arrange

         21  or reaffirm families' linkages to pediatric primary

         22  care providers where developmental screening and

         23  early detection of problems take place.

         24                 Cost Analysis: The current Newborn

         25  Home Visiting program that provides one visit to
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          2  first time parents serves approximately 3,000

          3  newborns a an overall program cost of $600,000, or

          4  roughly $200 per child. A universal program serving

          5  approximately 54,000 newborns to first time parents

          6  would cost $11 million.

          7                 Economic Security

          8                 Add $22 Million to Create a New York

          9  City Child and Dependent Care Credit (CDCC) for

         10  working families that have children and dependents,

         11  to offset the cost of their care.

         12                 A refundable Child and Dependent Care

         13  Credits (CDCC) currently exist in New York State.

         14                 Cost Analysis: A local CDCC serving

         15  approximately 155,000 families with a set percentage

         16  at 50% of the New York State credit would cost the

         17  city just over $22 million and provide a maximum

         18  credit to families of $1155.

         19                 Restore $765,000 and add $1.235

         20  million for a total of $2 million annually to

         21  provide education, outreach and tax filing

         22  assistance to working families eligible for the

         23  federal, state and city Earned Income Tax Credit and

         24  other valuable tax benefits.

         25                 Substantial effort must now be
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          2  undertaken to ensure that all eligible households

          3  receive valuable tax credits that can result in over

          4  $6,000 in cash back during tax time. According to

          5  data from the Internal Revenue Service, up to 20% of

          6  eligible families are eligible but do not receive

          7  the federal EITC.

          8                 As a result, New York State

          9  potentially forgoes over $700 million in federal

         10  EITC relief alone. In addition, community-based

         11  organizations that contract receive these funds

         12  should provide tax-filing assistance that includes

         13  helping families to open bank accounts and take

         14  advantage of savings and investment opportunities.

         15                 Housing Security

         16                 Lobby the Governor and the New York

         17  State Legislature for the creation of a New York

         18  State Renter Tax Credit.

         19                 Although renters and homeowners

         20  equally bear the brunt of increased property taxes

         21  and increasing energy costs, homeowners receive

         22  almost exclusively, government tax credits available

         23  to counterbalance this rising tide.

         24                 67% of all city households do not

         25  qualify for tax benefits because they are renters. A

                                                            474

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES COMMITTEES

          2  New York State Renter Tax Credit program would

          3  provide more equitable tax relief for New York

          4  renter households, enabling working families to

          5  offset high rent burdens by providing needed housing

          6  assistance through the tax system.

          7                 Thank you for your consideration of

          8  our requests on behalf of New York City Children.

          9

         10

         11  Written Testimony Of:

         12  John-Charles Dwyer

         13  Director of Programs and National Service

         14  New York City Coalition Against Hunger

         15

         16                 Introduction

         17                 Good afternoon. My name is

         18  John-Charles Dwyer, and I am Director of Programs

         19  and National Service for the New York City Coalition

         20  Against Hunger (NYCCAH), which represents the more

         21  than 1,100 food pantries and soup kitchens in New

         22  York City, and the more than one million low-income

         23  New Yorkers forced to obtain food from these

         24  charities. This testimony is submitted on their

         25  behalf.
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          2                 Normally, our Executive Director Joel

          3  Berg would testify. But before the date of this

          4  hearing was set, he arranged for his first serious

          5  vacation in five years, and is on his way to Ireland

          6  as we speak.

          7                 He did want me to assure the Council,

          8  however, that he will be relaxing in his usual

          9  manner: visiting a famine museum.

         10                 Before I go into the details of my

         11  testimony, I would like to thank the Council - and

         12  particularly this Committee and Chairman deBlasio,

         13  who is my representative - for your leadership in

         14  fighting hunger. We greatly appreciate your

         15  leadership in both increasing funding for the City's

         16  Emergency Food Assistance Program (EFAP) and

         17  enacting three bills to expand access to the Food

         18  Stamp Program.

         19                 My testimony has four basic themes:

         20                 1) The unfortunate - and

         21  unfashionable - reality is that poverty and hunger

         22  are continuing to increase in New York City.

         23                 2) The federal and state governments

         24  must play stronger leadership roles in decreasing

         25  hunger.
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          2                 3) The Mayor and the Council should

          3  agree to should create a New York City Office on

          4  Food and Nutrition Policy advised by a Council on

          5  Food and Nutrition Policy. The Council could include

          6  a mix of City Commissioners, advocates, service

          7  providers, and business leaders.

          8                 The Mayor and the Council should also

          9  jointly agree to:

         10                 - continue funding for nonprofit

         11  groups to conduct food stamp benefits outreach;

         12                 - increase funding for the Emergency

         13  Food Assistance Program (EFAP), while setting-aide

         14  some of the new funding to enable food pantries and

         15  soup kitchens to but fresh produce directly from

         16  local farmers' markets (sic);

         17                 - enable more farmers' markets to

         18  open in low-income neighborhoods and accept food

         19  stamps and other benefits;

         20                 - focus more on work supports for

         21  low-income workers;

         22                 - move beyond jurisdictional issues

         23  to agree upon implementation of the provisions

         24  contained in the three food stamps access bills

         25  passed by the Council last year;
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          2                 - increase attention on the new,

          3  universal school breakfast program;

          4                 - further use modern technologies to

          5  better coordinate the delivery of social services;

          6                 - build on the anti-obesity/health

          7  promotion initiative;

          8                 - and expand the City living wage

          9  ordinance.

         10                 4) The Mayor and the Council should

         11  jointly agree to: continue funding for nonprofit

         12  groups to conduct food stamp benefits outreach;

         13  increase funding for the Emergency Food Assistance

         14  Program (EFAP), while setting-aide some of the new

         15  funding to enable food pantries and soup kitchens to

         16  but fresh produce directly from local farmers'

         17  markets;

         18                 Focus more on work supports for

         19  low-income workers; move beyond jurisdictional

         20  issues to agree upon implementation of the

         21  provisions contained in the three food stamps access

         22  bills passed by the Council last year; increase

         23  attention on the new, universal school breakfast

         24  program; furthermore, modern technologies to better

         25  coordinate the delivery of social services; build on
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          2  the anti-obesity/health promotion initiative; and

          3  expand the City living wage ordinance.

          4                 Background on Increasing Hunger and

          5  Food Insecurity in New York City.

          6                 1.8 million New York City residents -

          7  more than 20% of all city residents - now live below

          8  the federal poverty line, about $16,000 for a family

          9  of three. Despite the media hype about our "strong

         10  local economy," even federal statistics show that

         11  poverty is continuing to increase in New York City.

         12                 While poverty has many causes, the

         13  two most important factors in New York City now seem

         14  to be 1) Wages for low-income workers are decreasing

         15  while their costs are skyrocketing and 2) Welfare

         16  reform is too often moving New Yorkers deeper into

         17  poverty than into living wage jobs.

         18                 It is not surprising, then, that bout

         19  two million New Yorkers live in households

         20  classified by the federal government as "food

         21  insecure," meaning that these people either go

         22  hungry or lack an adequate supply of food one or

         23  more times during the year. These households include

         24  approximately 417,000 children - meaning that one in

         25  five children citywide live in homes that don't have
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          2  all the food they need.

          3                 All these numbers represent

          4  significant increases over the previous five years.

          5                 These numbers do not mean that New

          6  York has widespread starvation as now exists in

          7  places like Ethiopia or North Korea. But it does

          8  mean that two million New Yorkers are: skipping

          9  meals; reducing portion sizes; choosing between

         10  food, rent, utilities, and health care; and/or,

         11  ironically, making their families obese because they

         12  are purchasing cheaper food that is less nutritious

         13  but more immediately filling. I detailed the

         14  evidence of this link between hunger and obesity in

         15  a report on East Harlem I wrote for the Coalition

         16  (nyccah.org/media/harlem.pdf).

         17                 This high level of food insecurity

         18  also means that more than one million New Yorkers -

         19  many of whom are in working families - are forced to

         20  take the humbling step of utilizing one or more of

         21  the approximately 1,100 charitable food pantries and

         22  soup kitchens citywide, most of which are affiliated

         23  with religious institutions.

         24                 The issues of hunger, food

         25  insecurity, malnutrition, and poverty are indelibly
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          2  intertwined with each other. When children go

          3  hungry, it increases their susceptibility to

          4  illness, hampers their educational performance, and

          5  increases behavioral problems. When parents are

          6  hungry, it makes it more difficult for them to

          7  obtain and maintain employment and hinders their

          8  ability to properly raise their children.

          9                 Seniors without an adequate supply of

         10  food are far more likely to lose their independence,

         11  stripping them of their dignity and further fueling

         12  the already skyrocketing costs for long-term care.

         13                 In order words (sic), reducing hunger

         14  is a prerequisite for all of the Mayor's broader

         15  efforts to improve public education and empower

         16  low-income families to move out of poverty.

         17                 According to the Coalition Against

         18  Hunger's annual survey, the number of people served

         19  by the city's soup kitchens and food pantries rose

         20  by an estimated 40 percent between 2001 to 2005.

         21                 In 2005, because these agencies were

         22  unable to obtain enough food, money, staff, and

         23  volunteers to help meet their growing need, nearly

         24  half (47 percent) were forced to ration food by

         25  turning people away, reducing portion sizes, and/or
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          2  limiting hours of operations.

          3                 The City's own statistics confirm

          4  these trends. Charitable soup kitchens and food

          5  pantries that receive some funding from the Human

          6  Resource Administrations (HRAs) EFAP provided

          7  172,840 more meals in 2005 than in 2004, according

          8  to the first-ever release by the City of two full

          9  calendar years worth of such statistics. These

         10  agencies served a total of 10.7 million meals in

         11  2005.

         12                 But only half of the city's agencies

         13  receive EFAP funding, so the total number of meals

         14  served by all pantries and kitchens in New York City

         15  in 2005 is far higher than 10.7 million.

         16                 Some people question whether it is a

         17  good thing that more people are going to pantries

         18  and kitchens, proving that somehow the system is

         19  working by making food more available to those is

         20  need (sic).

         21                 Not only would the New York City

         22  Coalition Against Hunger strongly reject that line

         23  of argument, but so would the vast majority of

         24  people who run - or use - such programs.

         25                 The reality that more low-income New
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          2  Yorkers are being forced to obtain food from

          3  charities rather than through stores and markets if

          4  a very sad trend indeed. Because it is a humbling

          5  experience to obtain food from charities - often

          6  waiting on line for extensive period of time and

          7  physically traveling long distances by foot to get

          8  to the agency - people tend to resort to using these

          9  programs only when they are the very end of their

         10  ropes.

         11                 To make matters even worse, as cited

         12  above, because the demand for charitable food is

         13  rising faster than the resources that such agencies

         14  have to mete that demand, about half of all the

         15  feeding charities in the city must ration food.

         16  Thus, not only do people go through great troubles

         17  to get limited amounts charitable food, they are

         18  often unable to get even that.

         19                 While it may seem like the existence

         20  of 1,100 charitable food programs would make it easy

         21  to get charitable food, the reality is that many of

         22  these agencies distribute food for only a few hours

         23  per month.

         24                 In addition, most of these agencies

         25  serve food only during weekday business hours,
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          2  making it most difficult for one of the fastest

          3  growing populations forced to use charitable food -

          4  working families. Contrast this to the more than

          5  9,000 stores and markets in New York City authorized

          6  to accept food stamp benefits, many of which are

          7  open seven days a week and/or 24 hours per day.

          8                 The City's current policies on

          9  homelessness seemed predicated on the assumption -

         10  with which the Coalition Against Hunger agrees -

         11  that sending people to shelters is just about the

         12  worst way to fight homelessness.

         13                 Likewise, I hope that the City

         14  understands that sending people to soup kitchens and

         15  food pantries is just about the worst long-term way

         16  to fight hunger. The best way to way (sic) to end

         17  hunger would be to enable all people willing and

         18  able to work to be able to earn enough in their jobs

         19  to afford all the food their families need.

         20                 Of course, all of us would prefer

         21  that more low-income families would be able to

         22  obtain living wage jobs, and that major costs for

         23  food, health care, child care, transportation, and

         24  prescription drugs would remain affordable enough

         25  for families to be able to purchase all the food
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          2  they need with earned income.

          3                 In the meantime, people should e able

          4  to obtain government nutrition benefits to fill the

          5  gaps. Food Stamp benefits can indeed help people

          6  climb out of poverty, making it easier for people to

          7  stay off welfare and support their families' basic

          8  needs even while performing low-wage labor.

          9                 But even families who cannot climb

         10  out of poverty benefit from receiving food stamps.

         11  Surely we should agree that it is a public good when

         12  a family that is by definition low-income is able to

         13  get an average of $2,400 extra in federal nutrition

         14  benefits per year to help their family obtain the

         15  food they need.

         16                 In short, Food Stamp benefits often

         17  do help families move out of poverty, but even when

         18  they don't, they help move families out of hunger.

         19                 That is why we believe it is good

         20  news to over the last year participation in the Food

         21  Stamp program continued to slowly climb, providing

         22  hungry families much more food than they would

         23  otherwise be able to obtain from pantries and

         24  kitchens.

         25                 But as long as pantry and kitchen use

                                                            485

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES COMMITTEES

          2  continues to soar, our collective work is clearly

          3  cut out for us.

          4                 During the same two-year time period

          5  that pantry and kitchen use climbed so greatly

          6  (2004-2005), participation in the federally funded

          7  Food Stamp Program in the city increased by

          8  141,916-people, providing low-income families with

          9  an estimated $170 million in additional federal

         10  nutrition assistance.

         11                 As of December 2005, 1, 094,609

         12  people in the city received food stamp benefits,

         13  which is 296,213 people more than when Mayor Michael

         14  Bloomberg took office in January 2002.

         15                 However, it is always vital to point

         16  out that participation is still 363,691 people less

         17  than at the peak participation level of March 1005.

         18  The chart below indicates just how much program

         19  participation in New York City has lagged compared

         20  to the national trends.

         21                 Net Change in Food Stamps

         22  Participation 1995-2005. Nationwide +1%; New York

         23  City-25%.

         24                 There is ample evidence from a wide

         25  variety of respected studies - including a
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          2  comprehensive recent study by our colleagues at the

          3  Urban Justice Center (available@urbanjustice.org) -

          4  that most of the reasons for the under-participation

          5  in the Food Stamp Program in New York City are

          6  caused by unnecessary barriers placed in the way of

          7  applicants by HRA.

          8                 Mayor Michael Bloomberg has promised,

          9  in a response to a questionnaire from my

         10  organization, to ensure that all food stamp

         11  applicants get benefits within the 30 days required

         12  by federal law.

         13                 Given that the law is the law after

         14  all, and that the City certainly has the technology

         15  to get food stamp applicants benefits within one day

         16  if they made that a priority, one would think that a

         17  bare minimum of acceptable management practices

         18  would be to meet the federal requirement to provide

         19  a determination of benefits within 30 days. Yet HRA,

         20  by its own admission, still violates this federal

         21  law in nearly one out of every 12 cases. Imagine the

         22  outrage if a firehouse or a police station failed to

         23  respond to one in 12 cases. We should be no less

         24  outraged when families are forced to wait more than

         25  a month just to receive the food to which they are
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          2  legally entitled.

          3                 We are quite pleased that HTA sought

          4  - and received - a grant of nearly one million

          5  dollars from the U.S. Department of Agriculture to

          6  work with our organization and FoodChange to enable

          7  people to apply for food stamp benefits online at

          8  pantries, kitchens, and other community-based

          9  agencies. If this process is implemented rapidly,

         10  and if HRA allows most of the on-line applicants to

         11  avoid going to an HRA office in person, this project

         12  could revolutionize - in a positive manner - food

         13  stamps access in New York City. Many of our

         14  continuing criticisms of the management of the Food

         15  Stamp Program could be addressed at once by an

         16  effective implementation of the on-line application

         17  system.

         18                 Yet, despite all the progress we have

         19  made collectively over the last few years, at a

         20  minimum, hundreds of thousands of low-income New

         21  Yorkers still are eligible, but not currently

         22  receiving food stamp benefits. It is clear that we

         23  still have our collective work cut out for us.

         24                 Participation in Child Nutrition

         25  Programs in the City Is Also Far Too Low
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          2                 My organization and other advocates

          3  have repeatedly praised Mayor Bloomberg for his

          4  efforts to increase participation in the School

          5  Breakfast Program by allowing universal

          6  participation by children regardless of family

          7  income. But, because of management problems at the

          8  school level and because of the reality that very

          9  little outreach has been conducted by the City on

         10  this program, the percentage of eligible children

         11  receiving breakfast increased by only 3.3 percent

         12  since the change, increasing from 16.5 percent in

         13  2002 to 19.8 percent in 2005.

         14                 The 2005 rate is still far below the

         15  29.6 percent participation rate for the rest of the

         16  State. This means that 80 percent of low-income

         17  students in New York City public schools who are

         18  eligible for school breakfasts still fail to receive

         19  them.

         20                 The number of low-income children

         21  receiving federally funded summer meals actually

         22  decreased in 2002 and 2003. Participation in the

         23  federally funded Women's Infants, and Children's

         24  (WIC) program is also below state averages.

         25                 As the Mayor himself has previously
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          2  said, in order for children to fully focus on

          3  learning, they need adequate nutrition. Thus, the

          4  current under-participation in federal funded child

          5  nutrition programs significantly hampers the Mayor's

          6  efforts to improve New York City public schools.

          7                 The federal and state governments

          8  must play leadership roles in decreasing hunger

          9                 While the City can do a great deal to

         10  reduce hunger on its own, the federal and state

         11  governments must also do their jobs.

         12                 At the federal level, Congress should

         13  not only defeat the hundreds of millions of dollars

         14  in cuts to federal nutrition assistance programs

         15  proposed by President, it should enact sweeping

         16  reforms of nutrition and poverty programs in order

         17  to reduce bureaucracy while increasing benefit

         18  amounts.

         19                 Congress should also create long-term

         20  methods to enable low-income families to accumulate

         21  the assets necessary to move out of poverty. {If the

         22  Weiner/Serrano bill is ready, we should also plug

         23  this}.

         24                 At the state level, the Governor and

         25  the Legislature must make it a top priority to fight
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          2  hunger and poverty. They should enact a soon-to-be

          3  introduced bill to create a Food Policy Council

          4  reporting to a Commissioner picked by the Governor

          5  {If the bill has been introduced by then, include

          6  specifics}; pass A.2651 to create a Community Food

          7  Security Program to provide grants to nonprofit

          8  groups; remove the requirement that food stamp

          9  applicants provide finger images; provide enough

         10  funding for the Hunger Prevention and Nutrition

         11  Assistance Program (HPNAP) to keep up with the

         12  growing demand; and revamp welfare reform to give

         13  low-income New Yorkers the tools necessary to obtain

         14  economic independence.

         15                 New York City Office and Council on

         16  Food and Nutrition Policy

         17                 The Mayor and the Council should

         18  agree to should create (sic) a New York City Office

         19  on Food and Nutrition Policy advised by a Council on

         20  Food and Nutrition Policy.

         21                 The Council should include a mix of

         22  City Commissioners, advocates, service providers,

         23  and business leaders.

         24                 The purpose of both the office and

         25  the council could be the development of
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          2  comprehensive, coordinated city food policies with

          3  the goal of providing a plentiful, accessible,

          4  affordable, safe, and nutritious food supply,

          5  utilizing locally and regionally-produced foods as

          6  much as possible, so that all residents of the city

          7  are able to eat a healthy diet and avoid hunger, and

          8  have the opportunity to support a vibrant local and

          9  regional farm and food economy. The office and the

         10  council could have the following goals:

         11                 1. The significant reduction, as

         12  defined by specific, numerical goals and timetables,

         13  and ultimate prevention of hunger and food

         14  insecurity by working towards the goal of assuring

         15  that all residents of New York city have access to

         16  high quality, safe, affordable,

         17  culturally-appropriate and nutritious food, from

         18  local and regional food producers whenever possible,

         19  through adequate purchasing power, including

         20  benefits provided by food assistance programs, and

         21  the necessary facilities to prepare food.

         22                 2. The adoption, by as many New

         23  Yorkers as possible, of a diet that promotes good

         24  health and prevents food- and diet-related diseases

         25  throughout their life spans, and includes, whenever
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          2  possible, locally and regionally-produced foods.

          3                 3. Increased consumer and business

          4  demand for local and regional farm and food

          5  products.

          6                 4. A flourishing and profitable local

          7  and regional food-production system, which maximizes

          8  production of nutritious foods; preserves and

          9  protects open space and the environment; and,

         10  provides sufficient income for farm families and

         11  workers.

         12                 5. Increased effectiveness of, and

         13  coordination among, federal, state, and local food

         14  and nutrition programs, with an emphasis on

         15  ameliorating the impact of poverty and providing

         16  "work support" to people transitioning from welfare

         17  to work and to other low-income workers; and

         18                 6. The full inclusion of food-related

         19  issues in all City disaster planning.

         20                 Other Concrete, Affordable Steps the

         21  City Should take to Decrease Hunger and Food

         22  Insecurity.

         23                 The Mayor and the Council should

         24  jointly agree to:

         25                 1) Continue funding for nonprofit
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          2  groups to conduct food stamp benefits outreach.

          3  Funding should be maintained for existing efforts,

          4  including the $100,000 for the New York City

          5  Coalition Against Hunger to help pantries and

          6  kitchens to conduct such outreach.

          7                 2) Increase funding for the Emergency

          8  Food Assistance Program (EFAP), while setting-aside

          9  some of the new funding to enable food pantries and

         10  soup kitchens to buy fresh produce directly from

         11  local farmers' markets.

         12                 Given the skyrocketing number of

         13  people served by these agencies, the Council was

         14  absolutely correct in adding $670,000 in funding

         15  last year. The Mayor is dead wrong in proposing a

         16  $670,000 cut to this program, particularly in a year

         17  when these agencies are already facing proposed cuts

         18  on the federal level and a stagnating state budget

         19  providing $1.65 million less than three years ago.

         20                 We hope that the Council not only

         21  opposes the Mayor's cut, but again raises funding to

         22  meet the growing demand.

         23                 Currently, most of the food purchases

         24  for this program are purchased by large corporate

         25  food companies that obtain most of their food from
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          2  out-of-state; we urge the Council and the Mayor to

          3  create a pilot program to enable pantries and

          4  kitchens to use some EFAP funds to purchase fresh

          5  produce directly from neighborhood farmer's markets.

          6  This would aid small farmers in New York State and

          7  improve nutrition for low-income families.

          8                 3) Move beyond jurisdictional issues

          9  to agree upon implementation of the provisions

         10  contained in the three food stamps access bills

         11  passed by the Council last year. HRA now carries out

         12  - or says it plans to carry out - all the

         13  provisions of the three bills. While agreeing to

         14  disagree over whether the Council has the authority

         15  to force HRA to comply with these provisions, the

         16  Administration and the Council should publicly agree

         17  upon the more important issue that the processes in

         18  the bills are indeed being carried out.

         19                 4) Enable more farmers' markets to

         20  open in low-income neighborhoods and accept food

         21  stamps and other benefits; We hope the City will be

         22  able to provide matching funds to the Council on the

         23  Environment, NYCCAH, and other partners for such

         24  vital work.

         25                 5) Focus more on work supports for
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          2  low-income workers. The Mayor has been highly

          3  effective in using his bully pulpit as Mayor - as

          4  well as his direction to relevant City agencies - to

          5  support large-scale outreach on the Earned Income

          6  Tax Credit (EITC).

          7                 The Council has also supported

          8  high-profile EITC outreach efforts. The City should

          9  do the same for the Food Stamp Program, which also

         10  enables low-income workers to stay in the workforce.

         11                 6) Increase attention on the new,

         12  universal school breakfast program. The number of

         13  New York City public school children receiving free-

         14  and reduced-priced school breakfasts on an average

         15  day increased by 15,867 (10 percent) during the

         16  2004-2005 school year.

         17                 This increase is clearly due to

         18  success of Mayor Bloomberg's visionary policy,

         19  started in 2003, of making school breakfasts

         20  available to all students "universally" regardless

         21  of income.

         22                 However, the statistics also show

         23  that 81% of eligible students still fail to obtain

         24  free or reduced-cost school breakfasts, which are

         25  funded by the federal government.
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          2                 This means that 657,711 low-income

          3  students go without school breakfast on an average

          4  day, depriving the City of $133 million per year in

          5  federal funding.

          6                 The Mayor could build upon the

          7  success of this program by ensuring that time for

          8  breakfast is more formally built into the school day

          9  and by launching a widespread outreach campaign to

         10  better inform parents and students of the program.

         11                 7) Further use modern technologies to

         12  better coordinate the delivery of social services.

         13                 A centerpiece of the Bloomberg

         14  Administration has been using modern technologies to

         15  improve the operations of government programs.

         16                 The Mayor could build on this success

         17  by ensuring that the new 211/311 line expansion is

         18  tied to the HRA pilot project to enable pantries and

         19  kitchens to enable their clients to apply for food

         20  stamps online.

         21                 That effort should also be

         22  effectively merged with the Mayor's efforts to

         23  create an Integrated Human Services system, and

         24  should include the full range of federal nutrition

         25  benefits, including food tamps, WIC, school meals,
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          2  and after school snacks.

          3                 The City government should take the

          4  lead in creating a system through which all food

          5  pantries and soup kitchens in New York City could

          6  apply for - and report on their use of - the four

          7  major sources of federal, state, and local

          8  government food and funding in one easy-to-use,

          9  publicly transparent, unified, online system would

         10  be jointly managed by the leading public and private

         11  food and anti-hunger agencies in New York City.

         12                 Even though the information now

         13  requested for the four applications to each of these

         14  programs is nearly identical, formatting

         15  requirements force these agencies to provide

         16  separate applications four times. Using modern

         17  technologies to reduce the burden on both these

         18  feeding programs and on government monitors would

         19  reduce both bureaucracy and hunger.

         20                 8) Build on the anti-obesity/health

         21  promotion initiative. A great irony is that hunger

         22  and food insecurity often help make families obese

         23  because they are force to purchase cheaper food that

         24  is less nutritious but also less expensive and more

         25  immediately filling.
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          2                 By opening new farmers' markets in

          3  low-income neighborhoods and by increasing volume

          4  and quality of fresh produce provided to food

          5  pantries and soup kitchens, the Mayor could reduce

          6  obesity and hunger at the same time.

          7                 9) Expand the City living wage

          8  ordinance. We hope that all corporations that

          9  benefit from special City tax breaks at least be

         10  required to pay their workers enough to afford food

         11  and shelter.

         12                 Conclusion.

         13                 I conclude by noting that countless

         14  Americans were shocked to learn, as a result of

         15  Hurricane Katrina, that America still has vast

         16  inequalities based on wealth, race and varied

         17  abilities to access food. I am sad to say that I

         18  wasn't surprised at all.

         19                 The Coalition Against Hunger deals

         20  with very similar problems every day. For low-income

         21  New Yorkers, life is a perpetual, slow motion,

         22  hurricane.

         23                 But we don't have to settle for this.

         24  If the federal state, and city governments took all

         25  - or even most - of the steps suggested in this
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          2  testimony - they could all but wipe out domestic

          3  hunger, while putting a serious dent in domestic

          4  poverty. Now is as good a time as any to start such

          5  an effort.

          6                 (Hearing concluded at 4:45 p.m.)
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          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter, do hereby certify that the

         11  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         12  within proceeding.

         13                 I further certify that I am not

         14  related to any of the parties to this action by

         15  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         16  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         17                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         18  set my hand this 23rd day of March 2006.

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

                                   ---------------------

         24                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.

         25

                                                            501

          1

          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N

          3

          4

          5

          6

          7

          8

          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24                 -----------------------

                              CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.

         25

